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There are four
compelling
reasons to invest
in British Land

1

\ The scale, baluance

‘) and quality of our

' portfolio underpinned
- by our resilient

} balance sheet and

| financial strength



2 3 4

Our ability to generate  Our operational expertise A development pipeline

robust and predictable and customer insight which positions us to
income to support helping us understand capitalise on market
sustainable shareholder | evolving needs and opportunities and
returns and fund driving enduring generate future income
investment demand for our space



At British Land we create Places People Prefer.

By understanding the evolving needs of the
businesses, people and communities woho use

our places, we help them to thrive. Sustainability
and long term thinking are central to our purpose
— to deliver outstanding places and positive
outcomes for all of our stakeholders, through

our placemaking expertise.

£18.2bn 809%

assets owned or under of our assets. including our
management (our share three London campuses and
of which is £13.7bn) with our multi-let retail portfolio.
exposure to a broad are in environments where
mix of uses we can put our placemaking

skills to work

10m sq ft

development pipeline, focused
on Londoen including 5m sq ft
at Canada Water
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verview

BRITISH LAND AT A GLANCE

We are focused on creating
Places People Prefer, curating
the environment inside and out

Total portfolio in 2018

80% of our assets are within our campuses or
multi-let environments, where we can curate Managed environments 300,
the buildings and the spaces between them

¢18.2bn

assels under managernent

24 8m sq ft

of Hloor spacs

Q97 4%

ot upancyrdte British Land owned

rivi years

waighted aver age unexpired lease term

Percertages exclude
Canada Water and Residential

We have proactively repositioned our portfolio

Retail: more multi-let assets Office: more West End exposure

oo NG <o o

N 4.7bn
oo A oo oo NN 1

B Muits fet M West End
B Ctherretad | Ciy
W Nen London
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1,200 different customers
occupy our space, generating
£588m of rental income

London Offices

All of our oftices are in London, of which

78% are located on our three central London

campuses These provide a diverse mix of
space, with a broadening range of uses This
makes them attractive and engaging places
to work and spend time, designed to help
our customners attract the best talent

£90bn

assels ander management

54000

penple work acress our OHizes portfolic

Regent’s Place

Our 310,000 sq ft pre-let
to Dentsu Aegis Network
at 1 Triton Square 1s the
largest West End pre-let
In over 20 years

To read mare information abeat cur
{Office portfola, qo to page 30

Retail

Mutti-let retail centres account for 81%

of our Retail portfolio Our space reflects
consumers’ demands for experience

and convenience-led shopping as well

as the changing way retailers use physical
stores to engage with customers

£8.7bn

assets urder managemsnt

60%

nf rhe poapuEt ar talls witnin
the catchiment of ou~ portfo 1o

Ealing

Aconvenient, local retail
destination benefitting
from access to Crossrail
in 2019

Toread moreinfarmation about cur
Retail portfalo, gota page 38

Canada Water

Aunigue 53 acre mixed use opportunity
in central Lendon, one stop on the Jubilee
Une from Canary Whart, Qur masterplan
envisages a genuine mix of uses including
offices, retaill, leisure, residential and
community space

53 acre

reqzInera i cpportuniy

3.500

new hemas, ind'uding atfordable “ousing

Canada Water

In May 2018 we signed
a Master Development
Agreement with
Southwark Council and
submutted an outline
planning application
for our masterplan

[ACanadaWaterMasterplan

www.canadawatermasterptan.com
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

Another year of progress
for British Land

This has been another year of progress for British Land, despite
the ongoing political and economic volatility we have seen since the
EU referendurn Business and consumer uncertainty was further
compounded by the snap General Election in June 2017, which
delivered a hung Parbament Atso of note was the decision by the
Bank of England to increase interest rates for the first time 11y over
a decade, with the prospect of more rises to come Encouragingly,
UK economic growth has remained relatively resilient, albeit at
levels tower than other major ecenomies, and one thing that remains
unchanged 1s London’s status as a global city in which the worid's
leading organisations want te do business

In this context British Land has performed well The value of our
portfolio was up 2 2% with EPRA NAY up 5 7% to 967 pence a5
occupler and investor demand continued through the year,
particularly in the London office market Underlying earnings per
share was however down 1 1% to 37.4 pence, driven primarily by
reductions due to the significant asset disposals we have undertaken
I over the last couptle of years and lease expiries on properties that we
| have freed up for developrnent. The Board has recornmended a
fourth intertim dividend of 7 52 pence per share, making a total of
| 30 08B pence for the year which, together with the moverrent in NAV,
L brings total accounting return to 8 9% for 2018

in London Offices, we are increasingly seeing our campus strategy
confirmed as a clear and differentiated attraction to potential
occupiers Sophisticated businesses today understand that the way
‘ their people want to live therr lives I1s changing and that the worlds
i of wark and lesure are blurting. They also undarstand that in order
to attract the best talent they need to provide high guality, well
connected offices in places people want {o spend time before, durng
and after the working day This is exactly what our rixed use London
campuses detiver

We are increasingly
seeing our campus
strategy confirmed as a

Evidence of the success of this strategy this year included the targest
pre-let in the traditional West End for over 20 years at 1 Triton Square
in Regent’s Place, to the media company Dentsu Aegis Elsewhere,
Sumitomo Mitsui Banking Corporation, Eurcpe [SMBCE] signed &
pre-let for the lower three floors of 100 Liverpeal Street, where we
are developing what we believe to be one of the best connected and
smartest new buildings in London, right next door te a new Crossrail
station This development is part of our breader transformation at
Broadgate where progress this year has been significant - you can
read more about this on page 18 Jverall, this has been an excellent
year for leasing, our London Office portfolio is 97% occupied and
valuations improved 4 5% - evidence that we continue to provide

our customers with the space they need.

clear and differentiated
attraction.”
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Dividends
Full year dividends [pence per share)

2018 30.08

O A

Clobal Rea Estate S.uslainatrlty Benzhmark
5Star for the secand consecutive year

There i1s no doubt the retail sector continues to go through a period
of challenge and rapid change The structural reasons for this are
complex and well documented, not least the rapid growth of enline
shopping This year though, these challenges have come into sharper
focus as a number of operators have entered inte cempany voluntary
arrangements In many cases, retailers have seen the challenges
caused by leng term structural changes compounded by shorter
term operational 1ssues such as costinftation, business rates
increases and more fragite consumer confidence As an owner

of physical retall space, British Land has been focused on
understanding these {ong term changes for several years We help
our customers to respond to changes and seek to provide the space
that helps them succeed, and this year we continued to be proactive
For example, we completed the substantial refurbishment of
Meadowhall, enhancing its status as a regionat retail destination
centre which is fit for the future, and disposed of £412 mitlion of retai{
properites that we did not feel could play & role in the future shape
of our portfolio The overall shape and size of the Retail portfolio

15 something we remain focused on gomng forward as this market
continues to evolve

Despite these chatlenges, teasing activity in our Retail business this
year has been good, with 1 2 mullion sq it of space let or renewed,

at rates well ahead of estirnated rental value (ERV]) Inadditien, our
Retall portfolio remains virtually full with 98% occupancy These
impressive rentat and occupancy levels are testament to the quality
of our offer and our belief that the best physical retail space continues
to play an important role in enabling retailers to succeed We are not
complacent however, and rematn focused on how we continue to
respond to the ongoing evolution of the retail market

We continually assess how best to deploy our capital based on
the conditions prevailing at the time We do this in the context of
shareholder value and the need to fund our development pipetine, ‘
manage leverage and undertake appropriate acquisition and 3
disposal activity

The NAY discount that emerged in our share price in the period after
the EU referendum has persisted This was a key factor influencing
our decision to undertake a £300 miliion share buyback following
the sale of The Leadenhall Building The buyback was completed in
February This disciplined appreach to shareholder returns and the
use of capital will remain a fecus for the Board going forward

| Inthese more volatile imes, this level of thoughtful activity, the

resilience of our strategy and our diverse, hugh quality portfolio set
British Land apart We are mindful of our short term operating
environment, but our strategy 1s aligned to long term trends, Our
experienced management team, the expertise of cur people and the
increasingly complex insights we collect about how people use our
places allow us to continually evolve our approach to meet customer
needs and work to position British Land to thrive in the future

As a result of our confidence in our strategic direction and outlook
we have proposed & first guarter dividend of 7.75 pence per share
and 31 G0 pence for the year ending 31 March 2619, representing a
further 3% increase on our 2018 dividend

We continue to be recognised for our leading stance on sustainabilrty,
awarded five stars in the Global Real Estate Sustainability Benchmark
for the second year and ranked in the MSCI ESG Leaders Index for
the 11th year We have a 2020 sustainability strategy which 1s aligned
to our corporate strategy, outlined both in this Report [on page 24)
and 1n our separately published Sustamnability Accounts As part

of our core purpose, we proactively design and enhance buildings
and spaces for the health, welibeing and productivity of everyone
who uses them, mcluding cur employees, customers and

local communities

We support the recommendations of the Task Force on Climate-
related Financial Disclosures and manage our portfolio for cimate
resitience Carbon intensity across our pertfolic has reduced by 54%
versus our 2009 baseline, through the National Grid s decarbonisation
and our own efficiency improvements With this 2020 target almost
achieved, we have also gone further, committing to source all our
electricity from renewable sources and partnering with RE100

Throughout the year Board members visited a number of key assets
and held a strategy offsite with key mermbers of the executive team
focused on opportunities which will drive our business in the future
We welcomed three new Non-Executive Directors who bring a
wealth of varied experience to our Board. they are profiled on pages
5810 91 atong with more detail about the structure and activity of our
Board and Committees Duringthe year, Lucinda Bell stepped down
from the Board and from her role as Chief Financial Officer Lucinda
had been with British Land for over 25 years, and her achievements
ang centribution to our business over that ime are significant She
will be missed and | and the Board wish her well in the future We are
delighted to weicome Simon Carter back to British Land as our Chief
Financial Officer Simon has a wealth of experience in property and
will make a real contribution to our business.

Finally, | would like to extend my thanks to the people at British Land,
our partners and everycne who contributes te the success of cur

business They have all played a rote in our progress this year, much
of which is covered in this Report - | hope you find it usefut

John Gildersleeve
Non-Executive Chairman

Far the Chairman s gover nance revigw, >¢e pags 4/
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Chief Executive

Gus, a three-metre gorilla sculpture, was exhibited as
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Strategic Report

CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S REVIEW

Our good results demonstrate the
consistent strategic progress we
have made across the business

This has been another good year across our business We et four |
times as much Lendon office space as tast year - a clear demonstration |
of the attractiveness of our unique campuses In Retall, we let or
renewed over 1 million sq ft of space, well ahead of ERV and at 8%
occupancy our partfolio is effectively futl All of this helped drive
NAV up 5 7% with values up 2 2%

Our financial performance was robust with profits down 2 6% ‘
followsng €1 5 billion net sales of Income producing assets over the
last two years, of which £0 8 bitlion completed this year We have ‘
maintained our capital disciptine, completing a £300 million share
buyback and increasing our drvidend again by 3% while reducing \
LTV to 28%, turther strengthening our financial position Atthe |
same time, we have completed our super-prime Clarges Mayfair \
residential development and the £60 mitlion refurbishment of |
Meadowhall, while doubling our commutted development pipeline |
All of this was done on a carefuily risk managed basis, with 55%
of committed developments already pre-let or under offer This s
a great achievement at an early stage and gives us confidence in
both our strategy and in the quality of the space we are delivering

Future British Land: continuing to evolve our business
The current strength of British Land 1s underpinned by the consistent
strategic actions we have pursued over several years We identify
and invest behind the attractive long term trends which are driving
our core business. inrecent years this has included the development
of our campus strategy, nvestrments inte locations which benefit }
from Cressrait, and most recently the launch of Storey, our flexible |1

workspace offering

Going forward, we are focused on buitding an increasingly mixed use
business and continuing te evolve our model and respond to changing
customer needs Indicatively, future British Land will comprise

- Acampus-focused London Office business with a blend of core '
and flexible space, including the further build out of Storey, l
integrated alongside a strong retail and leisure offering at i
our carnpuses, \

~ A further refined Retail business- including high quality, weil
located Regional and Local assets but focused on a smaller ‘
number of larger, multi-let places with mixed use potentral, )

~ Residential, primarily Build to Rent will play an increasingly
important role in our mixed use business itis a structural ‘

growth market which 1s complementary to our core model i

We will progress existing epportunities within our portfolio

such as Canada Water and explore ways to build further

meaningful exposure

investing in our business and progressing development, while

As we do this, we will remain disciplined regarding our use of capital, \
rernaining mindful of the iImportance of shareholder returns '

8 BritishLand Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Outlook

Businesses remain cautious but continue to commit to London and
the supply of high quality new office space is relatively constramned,
so we expect demand for our space to remain firm In Retail, the
market 1s more challengrng with many occupiers facing short term
headwinds Polarisation is accelerating but we are confident that the
quality and range of our space meets retailers’ evolving needs in the
omn-channel reta:l world.

We are mingful of the current market environment, but the strengths
of our business, including the scale, balance and guality of our
portfolio, the opportumities we have created and our strong balance
sheet mean we lock to the future with confidence

London Offices

Our Offices business had a strong year with values up 4 5%. Leasing
actiwity covered more than 1 2 million sq ft, delivering £40 miilion of
future rent - a strong endorsement of our campus strategy



Our priorities in building the future
of British Land

Further refine the shape of cur portfolio and relative mix
of exposures including expansion of Storey and our flex
office offering, further refining our Retail assets and
exptore options 1n attractive market segments which are
complementary to our existing model, such as residential, |
principally build to rent |
Continue to invest in technology innovations and insights
and builld our operational expertise te understand and
respond to changing customer needs and identify the key
trends in our industry

Further enhance the resilience of our Retail business,
ensuring the future shape of our portfolio 1s optirmised and
focused on assets which we believe will be successfulin
an omni-channel retail world and meet the changing
needs of our customers

Continue to progress cur development projects, focusing
on our London campuses, and furtherincrease the mix

of uses and cccupiers across our assets, reflecting the
evolving demands of customers to drive enduring demand
for our space

Continue to enhance the diversity within our bustness,
promoting mclusien acress our operations and our assets,
and embed our new corporate values

We secured several major lettings at Broadgate, including SMBCE
at 100 Liverpool Street, demonstrating the continued appeal of
tonden to global financial institutions Mimecast, the technology
business, took space at 1 Finsbury Avenue [1FAl and Eataly, the
Italtan marketplace, will open their first UK site at 135 Bishopsgate
This broad range of activity demonstrates our focus on enhancing
the mix of uses and occuplers on the campus to create a seven-day-
a-week destination for London Elsewhere, we signed the largest
West End pre-let iy 22 years at Regent’s Place and our development
at Paddington, 4 Kingdom Street was nearly #0% let ahead of {aunch
in June 2017, significantly ahead of ERV

We are also pteased with the progress of Storey, our flexibte
workspace offer launched in June 2017 It now covers 114,000 sq ft,
with space at each of our three campuses and is now 77% let We
have atlocated additional space at 1FA, 4 Kingdom Street and Wells ¢
Street, so total space witl reach more than 230,000 sq ft in the short
term with further long term plans for expansion

Retail

In Retait, values were up G 3%, with positive ERV growth offsetting
yield expansion Our leasing activity covered 1 2 million sq ft
generating £7 mdlion in additional rent, with incentives unchanged
At 98% occupancy, our pertfolio 1s effectively full andis
outperforming benchmarks on both foottall and sates

We delivered this strong operating performance i the context of
ongoing, leng term structural changes in the market As online
retail grows, many operators are evolving their models to focus on
the optimal size, shape and nature of their physical store network
This year, these challenges were compounded by short term trading
headwinds, and several highly leveraged cperators with chaltenged
models applied for company voluntary arrangements [CVAs)

We recognise these trends, and so for a number of years we have
been actively repositioning our portfolio te focus on well located,
high quality space that reflects people s changmg lifestyles and
drives enduring demand for our assets We have sold £2 3 billion of
retail assets over the last four years, including £419 million this year,
primarily single use assets tbut also multi-let space that does not fit

This year, we updated our values to reflect the way our
business i1s changing

Bring vour Listen and
whole self understand

Be smarter | Build for
together the future

Read mare at www.britishland.com/values

our strategy However, Retail remains a core part of our business
This year we made acquisitions in Woolwich, south east London

and n Ealing, adjacent to our existing £aling Broadway shopping
centre, both are well-connected mixed use assets with development
potential In addition, we completed the £60 million refurtishment
of Meadowhall to ensure 1t 1s well positioned to meet the changing
dermands of consumers into the future

' Development activity

Development ts an important part of how we deliver value This year we
made strong progress on our pipeline of opportunities, with committed
developments more than doubling to 1 6 mitlion sq ft, and risks carefully
managed 55% of the future rent from these developments, estimated
at £63 million, 1s pre-let or under offer and our speculative exposure
remains low at 4 5% of the pertfolio value Commutted construction
costs of £427 million are substantially covered by £373 million of
Clarges Mayfair residential receipts to come post year end

Looking further ahead, we have created a range of opportunities in
our near and medium term pipelines, which we have the flexibility
to progress when the time s right This includes Canada Water,
where our masterplan wiil create a new urban centre for Londan
We signed the Master Development Agreement with Southwark
Counctl and submutted our outline planning application for the
masterplan in May 2018

| Sustainability
- This was our second year holding the Queen’s Award for Enterprise,

the UK s highest business accolade recegnising our econemic,
social and environmental achievernents Our activity this year has
supported 228 peopte into work, through Bright Lights, our skills
and employment programme 35 of our retail and lersure occupiers
participated in Starting out 1n Retail, helping 100 young peopie find
employment, and building on this, we wiit be introducing Starting Sut
in Construction in 2079 In support of the Living Wage Foundation,
we pay all Group employees at least the veluntary living wage rate
and encourage our supplrers to do the same This year, our three
London campuses became Living Wage Accredited Employers,
with everyone we employ to manage and marmtain the campuses,
including contractors, paid at least the London Living Wage

Chris Grigg

Chief Executive

Te read mose vis - www britishland.com/CEOblog
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Strategic Report

OUR BUSINESS MODEL

We apply our placemaking expertise
to create Places People Prefer

Inputs: what makes our model work

Our relationships Our operational expertise Qur finances

- Dur customers and partners

- The {ocal communities in and around
our places

- The suppliers and contractors who build,

manage and maintain our assets

- Qur expert people

~ Our broad range of insights and
information

- The people, systems and insights to
interpret information and inform actions

- leverage managed for our current
needs and future ptans

- Dverse and flexibie finances with a mix
of maturhes

- Partnerships to mitigate risks, bring

expertise and help finance projects

1 Iitvest and
develop

- Sourcing new opportunities

- Creating opportunities
within our portfolio

- Allacating our capitat to
detiver growth and returns

Places

) Momaging our

3 Applyving onr
Joplacemaling - CHVIronments

Cexpertise

Qutputs:

Shareholders

Sustainzble long term
income and value creation

Communities

Inctusive places which foster
opportunities and contribute
posttively to their neighbourhood

To read more about how we engage with stakzheldars, go to page 48
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Customers

High quality environments
which help our customers
succeed today and in the future

Partners

Access to high quality projects
and British Land expertise,
while managing risk



Applving our placemaking expertise

- Relationships across the business we
can leverage to support our mixed use
ptans, which this year helped us sign
global retail brand Eataly at our
Broadgate offices campus

- Enlivenment activities which drive footfall,
including Villa Watala at Broadgate, and the
Craig Dawid concert at Meadowhall

- Forging inks with local communities,
working with suppliers and other partners
through Bright Lights, to suppert 95
apprenticeshups at cur places and inour
local communities

Our placemaking framework

Qur practical approach to creating
Places People Prefer

= We — J—
Comwct Enhance

= We — S

Design Enlwen

What sets

us apart

Invest and develop

- Our unigue office-ted campuses,
each benefitting from excellent
transport connecticns

- Our 10 million sg ft development pipeline,
tocused on London, including 5 rmutlion
sq ft at Canada Water

- The optians we have created within our
pertiolio for future development,
focusing on mixed use space

- Our strong and flexibte balance sheet,
enabling us to fund developments when
the time 1s right on a rick managed basis

Managing our environments

- Abroader mix of uses at our campuses
with 15% of the space being devetoped
at Broadgate to be retail and leisure

- Storey, our flexible workspace business
{aunched last year, providing additional
flexibility to our customers

- Abroader mix of uses at our Retail assets
with 778,000 sq f! leisure extensions inour
development pipeline

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Serategic Report

MARKET TRENDS AND HOW WE ARE RESPONDING

1

We recognise the short term
backdrop while our strategy
is focused on long term trends

UK market backdrop

Continued political uncertainty

The June 2017 general election delivered a hung Parbamant
As a result, an aiready volatile political backdrop was further
destabilised, heightening uncertainty particularly with respect
to Brext

Resilience of London

The most recent estirnates for Brexit-related job tosses inthe
financiat sector are lower than initially feared Technology and
media sectors have been particularly restlient, with Google and
Facebook committing to London, while overseas investment
has remained strong

Consumer and business confidence

Consumer confidence remains fragile with real wages squeezed
by inftation, although there are tentative signs that the cutlook 1s
improving GDP forecasts reduced over the year, and are below
teading global economies reftecting Brexit-related uncertainty

Retailer and restaurant operator challenges

This year has seen a number of operators apply for company
voluntary arrangement [CVAs] as a result of challengesin their
markets These include the impact of online and cost pressure
as a result of higher input prices as well as lower consumer
confidence Casuzl dining operations have been simitarly affected

Interest rate expectations

The Bank of England increased base rates for the first ime

i1 10 years in Novernber 2017, from all-time record low levels,
and has indicated that the pace of interest rate increases could
accelerate f hugh rates of inflation persist

2 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

Long term trends driving our strategy

London’s changing role in global markets

The ease of doing business and access to a diverse rmx of 1alent and
culture have established London as a leading global city Its proven
ability to adapt and prosper means it 1s well-ptaced to withstand
today's Brexit-related headwinds, and continue to attract inward
business investment

Population change and urbanisation

London’'s population continues te change, for example more than
20% of Londoners are expected to be over 40 by 2040, changing the
type of space required There 1s more demand for higher density
development with excellent connections as well as a focus on
promating wellbeing with green and open spaces and a mix of uses

Accelerating technology-driven change

Technology s disrupting conventional ways of doing business,
changing how people and organisations interact with physical
space, but providing opportunities for those guick to leverage new
capabilities In certain sectors such as retail change 1s fundamentat
and businesses are having te respond to remain successtul

Evolving worker and consumer expectations
People expect more from the places where they spend time
They want to move seamlessly between work and leisure, they
want more flexibitity and vaiue added services and they want
space to be well connected

Wellbeing and sustainability
There 1s a broad consensus that growth and devetopment should
be sustainable, with the benefits shared more equally across

! soclety, promaoting a maore inclusive cultuce with the surrounding

|

communities There s a growing recognition of the role that places
can playin promoting mental and physical wellbeing.



We have four
strategic priorities

Right Places

Creating great environments

- Investin well-cocnnected places, where there
is potential for growth and regeneration

- Broaden the mix of uses to appeal to a wider
range of occupiers and local communities

- Enhance and enliven our spaces through
placemaking

- Understand and respond to the changing needs
of the people who use our spaces

Community

- Make a positive contribution tocally and behave
so our places are considered part of their
local community

- Promote social inclusion, interaction and
accessibility, embedding our places in their
neighbourhoeds and local commuruty networks

Expert People

The knowledge and skills to deliver

- Enhance key skiil sets, inctuding in more
operational areas

- Share expertise through collaborative working

- Promote a diverse and inclusive culture

Skills and opportunity

- Help local people and businesses to grow

- Further develop training and development
schemes for people at all levels of our organisation

Customer Orientation

Responding to changing lifestyvles

- Customer insight based on a range of
information helps us to deliver Places
People Prefer

- Expand the use of technology to reflect
its role in the way people work and shop

Wellbeing

- Create places that promote health,
productivity and enjoyment, enabling
our customers to be more successful

Capital Efficiency

Disciplined use of capital

- Actively recycle capital to maximise
risk-adjusted returns

~ Maintain an appropriate batance of risk in both
development exposure and financial leverage

Futureproofing

- Protect and enhance asset value through
environmental stewardship, including energy
generation and efficiency, materials innovation
and {lood risk reduction

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic Report

OUR STRATEGY

Customer Orientation —
responding to changing lifestyles

Delivering space which reflects the way
people want to work also helps employers
attract and retan tatent and promote

. productivity. The types of businesses
demanding space are also changing

We are meeting the nead for greater
flexibility, particularly from the growing
small and medium sized business segment,
by providing space on more flexible terms,
through Storey, our flexible werkspace
offer Launched this year, Storey s an
important and growing part of our campus
proposition It s complementary to our core
offering, providing our customers with
flexible space for short term regquirements
After a positive start, we have plans to grow
this business further

Our customers are the organisations J
located at our assets To make our places
successiul and sustainabte however, we \
also focus on the needs of a3 broader range

of people, including the people who shop or \
wark (n thern and the cormmunities whe |
live in and around them We are focused

on understanding and responding to their
changing needs To do this we have developed
a deep understanding of how people use our
space, based onwhat our customers tell us
This informs our approach to managing cur
assets and guides our Investment actmity, to
ensure we are always focused on the customer

How we work \
Technolegy 1s changing the way businesses
and their people use office space, enabling
peoplie to work more ftexibly or remotely and
providing the infrastructure for smaller ‘
|

companies to compete with larger, well
established businesses

There Is a growtng focus on places that

foster collaboration and networking and |
reflect the overlap between work and leisure
tirne, with a diverse retail, laisure and food !
and beverage offering ctose by, and regular ‘
sgclal events and activities

Wellbeing

How we shop

The retail sector continues to see significant
structural change, with the irnpact of online
fundamentally changing the way people
shop Despite this, our insights demoenstrate
that physical retait remarns core to the retail
proposition, with physical stores playing a
role in 87% of retail sales This may be at the
‘discovery’ phase of the consumer journey,
where stores act as a showroom, the
transaction phase, when the goods are
actually purchased, or the ‘fulfilment

phase, when they change hands.

The rote of the physical store 15 changing.

to support and erhance these phases of the
customer experience We are responding by
evslving the pature of our spaces to perform
the showrooming role as effectively as
possible By improving the food, beverage
and leisure offer at our centres, shoppers
are encouraged to stay longer and spend
more Our surveys show that when customers
engage with our catering offer, reta:l spend
increases by an average of 27% Our Retail
centres also play an important role in the
fulfitment of online purchases, with 27%

of shoppers having used click and collect,
up from 19% three years ago

To make our places more dementia
friendlywe ate rolling out traming,
IMproving sigrage 31t exploring new
opportumties Thisyear, 130 local
peuple affected by dementa also
racorded memor ies for loved ones
threugh our Down Memary Lane
project at erght assets, suppoerting

thair wellbeing and toster ng
carnrmwnity inks

14 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

52%

average insrease n trafficat
retaller's websiie ahead of rnew
siore openings

46,000

customer surveys conducted by
Britsh Land throughout the year



Right Places — creating great
environments inside and out

Regional

12Retal Lertresattrast rgyisiters from
aw de catchrrent for o slarnedtr p

Local

7?7 Retar cen'res fitting i o the daly
life af commun ties

Right Places i1s about identifying places with
the potential to evolve in Lne with changing
lifestyles Increasingly we are focused on
places with a broad mix of uses, altowing
people to integrate their work and leisure
time within attractive and engaging
environments We use our placemaking
framework to achieve this, and it supports
growth and returns across cur bustness

Focusing on London

Our entire Cffice portfolio and nearly $0%
of our development pipeline 1s focused on
London, inctuding our three office-led
campuses and Canada Water, our 53 acre
mixed use regeneration project London
consistently ranks amongst the worid's
leading cities as a place to live, work and
do business, reflecting its diverse pool

of international talent, culture and
entertainrnent as well as its legal and
financial infrastructure Despite the

I and Euston mainline stations

£4.6bn

assets located close to
Cressrall stahions

60v%

af the portiolio i Lomdon
includirga | Di ces

Community

As part ot our Local Cnartar activity
lo promate a sense of commurity at
OUr puawes and make 3 nosilive lazel
ditigrence, we run saveral successful
arts programmes for young people
Through Creat ve Cucriculum, *99 lucal
schoolchilgren vesited aur campdses
this year end created origma, ar lworks,
mspired bywhat lhey had seen and
supported ay professional artists

Canada Water 1s the strongest example of
this, but our ptans at Eden Walk, Ealing and

. The Woolwich Estate will also regenerate

significant areas of London

Focusing on omni-channel retail
QOur Retail portfolio 1s focused on centres
which suppert retallers’ omni-channel
approach Our Regional assets are

. destinations, which attract visttors from

Brexit-retated uncertainties, London's
proven ability to adapt and prosper has
ensured its continued attraction to
international business and capital

Bur London campuses each benefit from
excellent transport infrastructure,
Breoadgate and Paddington Central will
have Crossrait stations immediately
adjacent to the campuses and Regent s
Place has convenient access to six London
underground lines as well as King s Crass

Places which are curated to respond to
changing lifestyles have the potential to
deliver growth and returns long term
This underpins our growing focus on
mixed use development which prioritises
placemaking from the start

British Land

a wide catchment who come to shop,
relax and be entertained, and our Local
assets provide convenience shopping

| for local communities

Our placemaking framework provides
a structure to deliver these different
experiences Our investrent in our Reglonat

. assets has focused on attractive, well-

designed leisure extensions, enabling us
to expand our leisure and catering offer,
providing people with mere reasons to wisit
and to stay longer We are enhancing this
space with events and activities and
improved customer service

At our Local assets, our activity has focused
on connecting more with local communities,
forging strong binks which encourage repeat
visits, for example through our work with
the National Literacy Programme, helping
young children to read, and our Bright
Lights Starting Out In Retail course,
supporting lecal skills and employment

| Annual Reporl and Accounts 2018 15



Serategic Report

OUR STRATEGY

[ [
Camtal E‘fﬁ/czem — Futureproofing
Througreour encrgy of 1 =nrey ana

ETIISSICNs Arogramme, We have

disciplined use of capital

savingaforusand cur custaraers
€6 mibien net] since 2012, wh lst
optimising Lghting, fernper ature and
ar quality ‘o erhance tre wellbeing
of the peccle wha yse our buildings
fhis a sorelps us rotectasse®
volue for investara

£8.5bn

canital activity in the last
five years, incluting
acquisitions, disposais
and capital 2xpendidire

Capital allocation

We have a disciplined approach to capital
allocation Our activity covers a range of
options including funding acquisitions,
investing in our development pipetine to
drive future growth and shareholder returns
We rigorously evaluate the relative rnerits of
each based on their risk-adjusted returns
and prevalling market conditions

The starting point is our annual iRR process,
which forecasts the praspective returns of s
each of our assets We setl assets with the
lowest prospective returns, reallocating
capital te higher growth opportunities In
recent years, disposal activity has focused
on mature and off strategy assets, inciuding
supermarkets and sotus retasl, or offices
which are fully let with tower prospective
returns Acquisitions have focused on
properties with significant growth or
placemaking potential which, in many
cases, are adjacent to existing assets, |
generating washover benefits across the ,
combined space a £300 mithion share buyback whilst doubling . mux of funding, phased maturity, adequate
the size of our devetopment pipeline and ftexibility and Liquidity and strong balance

Developments have delivered some of further reducing leverage sheet metrics :

gur strongest returns, but are inherently

higher risk, particularty when pursued on Debt and equity Strategic partnerships

a speculative basis We seek to rmit our | We manage our debt and equity financing We have a strong track record of working

development exposure to 15% of the total , to balance the benefits of leverage, ! with partners to achieve benefits of scale

investment portfolic by value, with a including higher returns to shareholders, while managing risk 34% of our owned

maximum of 8% to be developed against the risks of a more hughly geared assets are held injownt ventures and funds,

speculatively [ e without a pre-let or portfolto Our prirnary measure of including Broadgate and Meadowhall Within

agreed salel at any time The current leverage Is loan to value [LTV) on a these structures we typically earn fees by

tevel s 4 5%, well within this Lirnit proportionally consolidated basis which providing asset management, development,
we aim to manage through the property corporate and finance services These

Through this approach we have created cycie such that our financial position would experiences, and the relationships we have

attractive devetopment opportunities within remain robust in the avent of a significant i developed, position us wetl to progress

our portfolio, and our balance sheet provides | falt in property values, The scale of our some of our targer opportunities, ncluding

the flexibility to progress these, with costs on | business, quality of our assets ang Canada Water

our committed pipeline substantiatly covered | security of our rental streams enable

by residential receipts Thisis an important us to access a broad range of debt finance For more imlormation cn debt and leverage

advantage, which we balance against the on attractive terms. At a Group level, our goto curFinancial rev ew on page 41 and

benefits to shareholders of a more immediate | approach s to raise funds predormirantly Fmancial pelicies and prinz:pies on page 45

capital return This year we have completed | onan unsecured basis, with a diversified

16 British Land | Annual Report and Aceounts 2018



Expert People — the
knowledge and skills to deliver

Investing in our people

Our peopte strategy focuses on creating a
team which can deliver Places People Prefer
To do this we will continue to enhance the
diversity of our business, further benefitting
from a broad range of skills, backgrounds
and experience

We support all employees with career
progression through personal development
plans and by providing opportunities for
everyone to develop and excel This year,

we invested more than £550,060 in staff
devetopment and professional quatifications,
including a range of online resources available
to all employees, customer focused sales
training which has been rolled out acress
British Land, and our residential Leadershipin
Real Estate programme which has benefitted
57 of our tearn since launchin 2014

In view of our increasing focus on mixed
use property and development, we encourage
cross-team collaboration so that expertise
in one part of the business benefits other
areas We are atso building our marketing
capabilities to help ensure customer
orientation I1s at the core of what we do and
investing In technology, upgrading our core
operationat systems and processes, whilst
enhancing our cyber and data

security processes

Supporting wellbeing and inclusion
To support the wellbemng of our team and

as part of our commutment to building an
inctusive culture, this year we established

our Ethric Diversity Network and our
Parents and Carers Network, alongside

our successful Wormen's Network, BL Pride,
our LGBT and Alties Network and our
Wellbeing Committee Yo help people
balance their working lives with the interests
and responsibtlities they have outside work,
we provide everyone with the technology
they need to work flexibly, with circa 20%
doing so on a formal basis.

We encourage sall of our people to support
local communities through volunteering and
are pleased that 16% of the British Land team
was involved in skills-based volunteering this
year, inciuding roles as charnity trustees and
school governars Since autumn 2017,

20 employees have signed up to the Step

on Board programme, an externat service
that supports employees to volunteer as

. non-executive directors and trustees of

charities and voluntary ocrganisations

' Thus year British Land was awarded our first
! Two Star accredsitation in the ‘Best Companies’
survey published by The Sunday Times, with
particular progress in flexible working and
personal growth Broadgate Estates [our
property management subsidiary) also
achieved its second Cne Star accreditation
Management engages regularly with
ermployees, including threugh twice monthly
staff meetings and specific results and
strategy updates Colleagues at all levels
can participate in our ali-employee share
schemes, aligning their interests with those
of shareholders with 5% of employees
participating 1t our Share Incentive Plan

Tomorrow’s team

We recognise the importance of investing
in tomorrow's workfarce, both for British
Land and our customers and partners
Alongstde our tong-standing internship
scheme, our graduate scheme s now Inits
second year with six graduates recrurted
Three are joining this year, of whom one
came through Pathways to Property, an
initiative led by the University of Reading
to promote property in UK state schools,
which we have supported for five years
Another three are Jjoining next year
Across our portfolio, 20,114 people

" benefitted from our skills, employment

! and educational initiatives in the year

11t

vhris Brigg ranked
"Nk of Aly Executives
ayJTsrancing aro
the =inanoal Times

Skills and opportunity
Through our Bright Lights Starting
Jutir Retail trang programme
we enyaged 3hretal and ceisure
ozcuteers ths year and supported
100 snermip oyed yeeng peeple intc
wohs, grownglocal skills ard
srployment T s s help ng our

rustomer s secure th e skil od
worktcr-e of the fature and
promoting of il imobiaty

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic Report

CASE STUDY - BROADGATE

Broadgate —
where innovation
and finance play

Broadgate is the largest asset by value
within the British Land portfotio. Itis a
mixed use campus comprising offices,
restaurants, retail and leisure set actoss
four landscaped squares.

Covering 32 acres, it 1s central London s
largest pedestrianised area Broadgate
1s adjacent to Liverpool Street Station, a
Crossrail station from 2019, and connects
the creative, tech-focused communities
of Spitalfields. Shoreditch and Old Street

with the City
peaple visit Broadgate Increase i taotfall to
=achyear L wernool Stree" wi'n

the *aunch ef Cros~rail

Investing in our places

75% 64% , We have more than 1 million sg ft of space

under development at Broadgate, across

nf campus warkers of campus workers have

engage with lood ang attended & Tampus event 100 Liverpoct Street, 1 Finsbury Avenye
bever age offer weekly based on our surveys and 135 Bishopsgate, of which 32% 15
based an our surveys iet or under offer, significantly reducing

our development risk

Our plans enhance our bulldings and

the shared spaces between them to appeal
to a broader range of customers and better
connect Broadgate to its surrounding
neighbourhoods

www.broadgate.co.uk i

Sustainability
in action

£3.4m

sacial value added by getting
286 East Londoners into jobs
and apprenticeships with our
supplers and customers at
Broadgate., growing local skills
and employment See page 25

18 British Land | Aonual Repor t and Accounts 2018



A lifestyle neighbourhood

15%

of spac e currertly undes development will be retasd or food
and beverage with 42 000 s 11 let to glabal reta:l brand Faialy

A place for innovation

230,000 sq it

Space taken by TM and creative businesses including Star ing Hark
and Innovate Finance at 2FAand /9,000 sq ft iet to Mimecast at TFA

Enhanced connectivity

Crossrail launchesin 2019, transforming Londen's
connechivity, and bringing our custemers to within
10 minutes of the West End and 30 minutes of Heathrow

Our partners

Our joint venture partners GIC

are fully commuitted to our vision
for Broadgate, enabling us to
progress our develepment pipeline
inaddition to the buildings we are
already delivering, our medium
term pipeline covers a further

1 million sq ft

Sharing experience

Construction workers who
heiped build some of the first
Broadgate buildings werked
atongside new recruits to the
ndustry on the construction
of 100 Liverpool Street

Introducing Storey

During the year we intreduced our flexible
workspace brand, Storey, to Broadgate
at Appeld Studios and 2 Finsbury Avenue

Storey has attracted a new, different type

of occupier to the campus, including smaller,
Innovative businesses and divisions of larger,
established occupiers This 1s additive to the overalt
campus offer and environment, benefits targer
occupters and further diversifies our custormer mix

Sterey crevides over

60,000 sq ft

of T exinle workspace at 3roadga‘e,
of which nearly 99% 15 1et or unde- o fer

www.storey.co.uk

British Land have delivered a
forward thinking, creative and
fexible product with digital
connectivity that aligns well
with our business needs.”

William Newton
President & EMEA MD WiredScore

British Land | Annual Reportand Accounts 2018
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Straregic Report

CASE STUDY - MEADOWHALL

Meadowhall -

a vitbrant destination
for today and tomorrow

Meadowhall, located on the outskirts of
Sheffield, is Yorkshire's premier shopping
destination and one of only six out-of-town
super-regional shopping centres inthe UK, |
it provides 1 5 miliion sq ft of high quatity
retail and leisure space to around 280
occuprers Our planned tetsure extension will
transform the leisure offer, which currently
comprises an 11-screen Vue cinema and

more than 50 restaurants and cafes

3m 24m

peaple 1n Meadowhall 5 imannual foattall
catchment

This year our surveys showed:

49 12%

Increase in dweil time mereasc n
frequency of visrr

1% 5% w

increase innow the noreasea in overall
gua.ty of the architecture  certre rating
s perceved

www.meadowhall.co.uk l Attracting new occupiers

82,000 sq ft

ot lettings to new refaners since we started our refurbiskment

Improving the experience

£60m

refurbishment completedwith a further F46 mitlion
ihvested in store upgrades by nearly 80 brands,
strengthening appeal to new customers, with 28 new
retailers signed, driving improved performance across
thecentie

Thework was carried out overnight without any ioss
mirading hours Durcustomers were incred biy
cooperative and traden as normal, ensuring shoppers
continued Lo enjoy tner visits

20 British Land  Anncal Report and Accounts 7078



Richard Hodgson

Supporting fulfilment as retail evolves

Our most recent survey found that 7% of visitors had used
click and collect facilities on the day of their visit, more than
double the proportion from the same period in 2616

Broadening our target market

Following the successful completion of the redevelopment,
and having attracted & broader range of aspirationat brands,
the shopper profile has become more affluent, with 15 3%
now from the three most wealthy consumer groups {as per
the Acorn classification), compared to 13 3% a year ago

Strengthening community links

7% increase in roubne top up shopping missions demonstrating
Meadowhall's role as a town and community centre

Sustainability
in action

£30m

hoost for the regional ezanory
through the Meadow sl
refurbisrmer: with 89% cf
construztion spend awarded to

[ rnswithin 2o miles of the centre,
ncluding sma:l busiresses
Seapage 25

The area is lighter, brighter and
more aspirational. Sales at Yo! Sushi
have jumped, we're up 20% since

the refurbishment and it'’s growing.”

British Land

Supporting local
employment

24

apprentizest pssupported and
more than 1,700 jobs treated o
deliver the refur bisnment

Experiential shopping

60y

of peop e visl' Meacowhall 01 a destination snopping
trip, witn cur Llanned ieisur e extens:or expected to
strengthen i'srole imat racing vis tors "or g big day 0.

Enlivening our space

15,000

raised for chanty by Christmas concert jeaturing
Craig Dawd

Anral Repaort ond Accounts 2018
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DEVELOPMENT PIPELINE

Our significant development pipeline
positions us well to capitalise on
Sfuture market opportunities in a risk
managed way

Committed W ) Medium term B
Five developments covering 1 6 millon sq ft | 10 developments, totaliing nearty 3 million
with a current value of £572 millon and an | sg 1t inaddiion to our plans at Canada Water,

ERV of £63 mitlion. 55% of this space 15 let
or under offer, significantly reducing our
speculative risk which stands at 4 5% of the ’
portfolio value Costs associated with our
committed developments total £427 million,

a 5 mullion sg ft London regeneration project

135 Bishopsgate

which are substantially covered by residential | Office-led development on our
recelpts to come at our recently completed Broadgate campus, at Bishopsgate,
Clarges development of £373 million where footfall 1s amongst the highest

in Lendon !talian marketplace Eataly
Near term H are taking 42,000 sg ft for their first
Four developments which we expect to start aver UK store, and we are under

in the coming year covering 578,000 sqftof | offer orin negotiations ona further
space with an ERV of £30 mitlion I 269.000sqft

|
328000 s it

Calendar year* l

| 2019

[ar ] a2 [ a3 Q4
1 Finsbury Avenue Plymouth Leisure
Qffice-led refurbishment, at our Leisure extension at Drake Circus
Broadgate campus, with significant ncluding a 12-screen Cinewortd,
retall and feisure element on fower 15 restaurants and a 412-space
floors and fiexibie workspace on car park

upper floors 32% let to technology

company Mimecast 107,000 sq ft
291000 sq ft

" Timeline based on practical completion

Far more infarmation on developments, see
www.britishland com/development
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Meadowhall Leisure

Leisure extension which will add
a new cinema, ¢afé court, gym,
open-air terrace and space for

5 Kingdom Street

Office led development, at the
western end of Paddington Central,
with potential for a broader mux of
uses, including retail and restaurants

leisure, event ang community
use at our Meadaowhalt centre
We have received a resolution
to grant planming

330.000 sq #

1 Triton Square

Office-led development at Regent s
Place which s fully pre-let to
Dentsu Aegis Network, an existing
occupler on the campus, on a 20
year lease At 310,000 s5q 1t thisis
the largest pre-let in the West End
for 20 years and 15 a strong
endorsement of the campus

366.000 sq it

2020

332,000 sq it

o Q2 Q3 Q4

100 Liverpool Street

Office-led development, with

90,000 sq ft of retail and leisure space
Adjacent to Liverpool Street Statien,
at the gateway 1o our Broadgate
campus 37% of office space let to
SMBCE, who are taking the lower
three floors of the bulding on a

20 year lease

522000 sq it

2021 & bevond...

Canada Water

Phase 1 of our mixed use regeneration scheme
at Canada Water covers 1 8 mition sgqft, ofa
total of 3 million sq ft This phase envisages

1 million sq ft of commercial space, 250,000

sq ft of leisure and retail space ang 650 new
homes with 35% affordable housing provision
Our outline planning application for the overall
masterplan was submitted in May 2018

5 million sq ft

@ACanadaWaterMasterplan

www.canadawatermasterplan com

British Land | Annual Repart and Accounts 2018 23



Strategic Report

HOW SUSTAINABILITY CREATES VALUE

We continue to deliver strong economic,
socital and environmental performance

Aligned to the corporate strategy, our 2020 sustainability strategy
is built around four focus areas, which address major sociat,
economic and environmental trends to create value for our

stakeholders and the business.

We provide clear guidance on the high social, environmentat and
ethical standards we expect of employees and suppliers through
policies such as our Supplier Code of Conduct, Local Charter and
Sustainability Brief for Developments The effectiveness of our strategy
and policies ¢can be seen in our strong social and environmental
performance, which reduces risks and creates positive cutcomes

Customer Orientation

Wellbeing

Create places that promote
heaith, Improve productivity
and ircrease enjoymert

Customers

fccaplers and necple
at aur places

Right Places

Community

Make & pasitive contribution
‘ocally and behave a0 our places
ars considered part of the
locat community

Communities

v ocal people and ornanisal ons

Capital Efficiency

Futureproofing

\\\ - e

— o

T

.

Protect and ennanc e assat value
thirnugh environmertal stewsrdsnip,
including energy generat onaro
etfiziency, materials nnavation and
flocd risk reduc tinn

Shareholders

Investers and co-investors

Expert People

Skills and opportunity

~— e

Develop swills and apportunities
t6 help oral people and
business=s grow

Partners

Lacalau hories supplers
and rropityess

2018 highlights include

We design for weltbeing in
everything we do This includes
collaborating with suppliers to
promote a culture of wellbeing
at our places New facilities
launched at Broadgate support
the wellbeing of construction
workers, designed by local
students at the University of
East London

(44

There’s real enthusiasm
Sfrom the team for their new
Jacilities. which have the feel
of a high street restaurant.”

Jeff Tidmarsh

Broadgate Framework Design
Manager at Sir Robert McAlpine

24

7,580 children participated 1in our
Young Readers Programme with
the National Literacy Trust and
customners, across 25 retail centres
and three London campuses.

(¥4

We know that when children
enjoy reading and have books
of their own at home. they do
better at school. atwork and in
{ife; yet a third of children left
primary school last year unable
to read well. Our partnership
with British Land takes us to
the very heart of this {ssue.”

Jonathan Douglas
Director of the National
Literacy Trust

British Land Annua! Report and Accounts 2018

17% imcrease in renewable
energy generated by solar
panels at our places this year
to 800,000 kWh, with more
installations planned We also
procured 77% of all electricity
from certified renewable
sources, as an RE100 partner

(14

It is encouraging to see large
commercial real estate
investors fike British Land
seeking to reduce their carbon
footprints and futureproof
their assets.”

John Macdonald-Brown
CED of Syzygy Renewables

742 local people progressed
into jobs and 159 employers
recruited through Fort Kinnaird
Recruitrnent & Skills Centre,
including our customers We
support this as part of Bright
Lights, our skills and
employment programme

(14

Excellent service. We are able
to furn recruitment around
very quickly due to filling our
interview slots immediately
Jollowing advertising our
vacancies.”

HR Manager
Marks & Spencer, Fort Kinnaird



Case studies: sustainability in action

Meadowhall

Howour irtegrated
approach "o sustanability
ennanced our
refurisnment of
Maadownali this yeat

Input

£325.000

mvestedir Broadgate Connect since 2012, 8 ang
with support Irom 3rish cana ranagsment

Output

264

Fastlondon obscekersrotevey 2np oyabiuty
tramng, bodirgther sk s

Qutcomes

£3.7m 22

s0ua' velus added Broaagdle supoliers
thraugn Lpskiliing and and ocsuprers
getting jobseecz s 1 recruted talent
iiploymert

262

Las Lurdon jobseeker s Helpirgsecure the
snppotiedintoich-ard  skils gur bus ness, suppiy
74 ntoappra st 2atrps, chanand coss arers
croahing posiive tutures  need sgethe far e

for r emizalve s

Far mare an Frincipai risks, sec For mare cn Sustamamhity performr anee
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Strategic Report

OUR KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

How we performed over
the past year against

our strategy

— -

Links to remuneration

@ L ong-Term Annual

|
3 Incentve Plan Ircen.ve award

|

Customer Orientation

Total accounting return (TAR)
Delivering sustainable long termvalue
Total accounting return is our overall
measure of performance it s the
dividend paid plus the growth in EPRA
NAV per share

Responding to changing lifestyles

We recegnise and respond to our
customers’ changing needs, based

on our insights about how people use

our spaces and our operational expertise

Our operational priorities in the year

- Further develop customer insights
- Deliver tachnology driven mnovations

KP{

insights

- 43,000 surveys were conducted across
our Retail portfolio including 12,000 cnhine
surveys completed at 14 of our Retail
centres, 3,000 surveys were completed
of OUF campuses

- Our data shows that consumers who
engage with our catering offer spend 27%
more on retait than those using retail
alone and the addition of lersure, food
and beverage offerings increases dwell
tirne to 90 minutes versus 54 minutes
for a retail-onty user

- Our campus surveys showed that more
retaill was the most requested area of
impravernent with ‘more green spaces
also an important priority

Qur response

- 15% of space upder development at
Broadgate will be retail, leisure or food
and beverage including a cinema at
1 Finsbury Avenue and ltalian
marketplace Eataly at 135 Bishopsgate

- Public realm improvements including a
wosdland walk completed at Paddington
Central and six independent cafes signed

- Successfuiyear at Pergola, an 850 cover
pop up dining concept at Paddington with
179,000 visitors in 2017

- 130,000 sq ft of foed, beverage and leisure
lettings at our Retatl centres

- Our 100 Liverpool Street development witl
benefit from smart technologies, inctuding
brometric screering, enviranmental
optimssation of ighting, temgerature and
air quality and people flow analysis

- Technical solutions implemented at Storay
include super-fast and resitient snternet
connectwvity, tallored to occupier
requirements and a Storey customer
portal to assist in day-to-day management
of the space

Vellbeing
- Progress towards our WELL Gold
target at 100 Liverpool Street,
designing for weltbeing and
productivity
83% shopper score for perception
of wellbeing at our Retail assets
[2017. 84%)]
Embedding wellbeing improvements,
including greenery, social spaces,
garnes areas, improved walkways
and training

() Customer satisfaction
We extensively survey our customers
and other users of our places to assess
our performance and identify
opportunities for improvement

Out of 10

Risk indicators we monitor
- Consumer conhdence

- Employment forecasts for relevant

sectors

- Market letting risk [vacancies, expiries,

speculative development)
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Total accounting return (TAR)

Right Places

2018 performance

This year we generated a TAR of 8 7%
comprising a dividend increase of 3 0% to
30 08 pence per share and 2 EPRA NAV
growth of 5 7% to 967 pence per share

Risk indicators we monitor

- Forecast GDP

- Themargin between property yields
and long term borrowing costs

- Property capital growth and ERV
growth forecasts

Creating great environments
inside and out

We invest in places with potential and use
our placemaking framewaork to deliver
growth and returns

Qur operational priorities in the year

- DBeliver next steps of the Broadgate
masterplan

-~ Submit Canada Water planning

- Deliver flexible workspace offer

KPI

Investing in potential

- Committed development pipeline more
than doubled to 1 6 million sq ft,
devetopment risk wetl managed with
55% of the ERV pre-let or under offer

- Onsite on more than 1 million sq ft of
developments at Broadgate, with 32%
pre-let or under offer

- Onsite at 1 Triten Square, fully pre-let
on the office space covering 310,600 sq ft

- Planning achieved at the Gateway
Building, for a hotel at Paddington Central,
coveripg 105,000 sq ft

- £80 million refurbishment of Meadowhall
completed, with a further £46 million
invested by nearly 80 customers

- Resolution to grant planning achieved on
330,000 sq ft leisure hall at Meadowhall,
in total planning approvals on nearly
800,000 sq ft across the Retail portfotio

- Master development agreement with
Southwark Council at Canada Water,
outline planning application submitted
on the overail masterplan in May 2018

~ 180,000 people have attended events
at the Printworks, our events space at
Canada Water, which was named the
Best New Venue 2017 in the London
Venue Award

- Storey, our branded flexible workspace
offer, launched and now active across
114,000 sq ft, with space at each of our
campuses, now 77% let

Community

- £2 1 milbon community prograrmme
benefitting 39,796 people through
our Local Charter activity (2017
£17 rmultion and 35,600]

- British Land employee volunteering
79% and skills-based volunteering
16%, with a new programme
launched to increase more impactful
skills-based volunteering from 2019
[2017 90% and 16%, 2020 targets
$0% and 20%]

Total property returns
We have underperformed the IPD
benchmark this year by -310bps,
reflecting our lack of exposure
to industrial, the strongest
performing category

2018 7.0%

Speculative development commitment
Development supports value and future
income growth, but adds risk We keep our
comimitted development exposure at less
than 15% of our investment portfolio, with a
maximum of 8% developed speculatively

Yo of standing mvestrnenits

2018 £6.6bn 4.5%
R T 37%
B S PR 3 8%

Risk indicators we monitor

- Property capital return and ERY
growth forecasts

Total development exposure

- Progress of developments against ptan
Speculative development exposure

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018
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Strategic Report

OUR KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Links to remuneration {

Long-Term Annual

Incentive Pian Incentive award

Capital Efficiency

Sustainability performance

We use industry-recognised indices to

track our sustainability performance

and hink this to reruneration

- Dow Jones Sustainabiiity Index
World and Europe 2017 91st
percentile

- FTSE4Gooed 2016 96th percentile

- Global Real Estate Sustatnability
Benchmark 2017 Five Star rating

Disciplined use of capital
We make risk-adjusted decisions to invest

in acquisitions and development whilst
preserving our balance sheet strength

Our operational priorities in the year -
- Beat budget and achieve ieasing targets
- Recycle caprtat to improve returns

Robust financial performance

Marginai decline in profits, down 2 6% to
£380 million, despite net sales of income
producing assets of £1 5 billion over the
past two years and properties moving
mnto developmerit

Dividend increase of 3% proposed for
2018/19, supported by cur actions to
increase cover, despite asset sales

2 4 million sq ft of leasing across Retail
and Otfices, 8 2% ahead of ERV

55% let or under oifer on committed
development pipeline with committed
costs substantially covered by
residentiat receipts

Further diversifying sources of finance
with £300 mslbion Sterling bond 1ssued
LTV reduced to 28 4% despite £2046 mullion
of acquisttions and 3 £360 million share
buyback

Senior unsecured credit rating upgraded
to A" by Fitch

Weighted average interest rate reduced
to an all ime low of 2.8%

Capital recycling

KP1

£419 million of retail sales, making good
progress against target of £500 million
by Navember 2018 and bringing total
disposals to £2 3 billion over four years

- E£103 muliion acquisition of The Woolwich
Estate, 3 4 9 acre retai-anchored
scheme in south east London benefitting
from Crossrait

- Commitment to develop 1 Finsbury
Avenue and 135 Bishopsgate triggering
£117 mitlion investrment into our
Broadgate campus

~ £300 multion returned to shareholders via
a buyback, completed ahead of schedule

Futureproofing

- 92% of developments on track
10 achieve BREEAM Excetlent
for offices and Excellent or
Very Good for retail 12017 100%,
2020 target 100%])

- 54% reduction (n carbon intensity
and 40% reduction in landlord
energy ntensity versus 2009,
index scored (2017 44% and 35%
respectively, 2020 target 55%)

Loan to value (LTV)

- proportionally consolidated

We manage our LTV through the property
cycle such that our financial position would
remain robust in the event of a significant
fall in property values

Weighted average interest rate
- proportionally consolidated
We have reduced our cost of finance to
an all time low supporting our financial
performance.

Risk indicators we monitor

- Financiat covenant headroom

- Period until refinancing is required

- Percentage of debt with interest
rate hedging

- Execution of debt financings

28
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Expert People

2018 performance

We continued to perform strongly on
sustainabitity indices have almost achieved
our 2020 carbon reduction target, and
launched a Supplier Code of Conduct for
ethical, social and environmental 1ssues

Risk indicators we monitor

Health and safety

Energy Performance Certificates
Flood risk

Public trust in business

The knowledge and skills to deliver

Qur team has the expertise to deliver
Places People Prefer

Our operational priorities in the year

- Promote an inclusive, performance
driven cuiture

- Create a more cusiomer focused
organisation

KPI

An open culture

- Ranked inthe top 10 of FTSE 1C0
companies In the 2017 Hampton-
Alexander Review with 40% female
representation across the Executive
Committee and direct reports

- Circa 20% of employees now formally
work flexibly with techneology available
to everyone to do so

- Successful years for BL Pride, our LGBT
and Allies network, our Women s
Committee and Wellbeing Committee,
with a Parents and Carers network
and Ethric Diversity network formed
in the year

- Policy on enhanced shared parental
leave well received

Enhancing customer focus

- Customer-focused sales training roiled
out to everyone in client-facing roles

- Further cross-team collaboration
between British Land and Broadgate
Estates wath common platforms
established for messaging, catendar,
document management, customer
relations and HR systemns

- Signuficant investment 1n technical
security measures and Group wide
employee training and awareness
on cyber security and GDPR

- WorldHost customer service training

rolted out to 21 of 25 of our major centres,
with 18 centres recerving training m
dementia awareness and a range of site
appropriate training across the pertfolio
mcluding Autism Awareness, Mental
Health First Aid Trawung and Supported
Guide trairung, helping people with

sight loss

Further investment in our data and
analytics capabilities including improved
technology at our centres, a data and
analytics platform and a centrat Insights
team operating across Retail and Offices
ensures that data and nsights are an
important factor in our decision making

Skills and opportunity

- 228 people supported into jobs
through Bright Lights, our skills
and employment programme,
working with suppliers, customers
and local partners

- 108% of employees and 70% of
supplier workforce at managed
properties paid the Living Wage
Foundation rate (2017 100% and
72% respectively]

Best Companies survey
The Best Companies survey published
by The Sunday Ttimes provides
an extensive and objective measure
of employee engagement

2018 Twao star

2017 One to watch

e 3
i%"%fﬁfz S One star

Risk indicators we monitor
- Unplanned executive departures

Far our Remuneratior %epart,
SC2 page /6

For how we manage sk ncelvening
Q. strat-qy, sev page 48
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Straregic Report

SOCIAL AND ENVIRONMENTAL REPORTING

Building a supportive and
inclusive culture for our people
and our key stakeholders

Diversity and equality

We are focused on creating diverse and inclusive places and
recognise that to deliver this strategy successfully, we need a
business and culture which promote these values. By creating an
environment where our people feel fully supported, we empower
the whole orgamsation to be more productive

Dur Inclusive Culture Steering Committee, headed by a member
of our Executive Committee, promotes diversity and inclusion
at all levels of the business

Iniatives include

- Diversity and unconscious bias traireng completed and 1s now
implemented for all new starters

- Internship and graduate schemes targeting young pecple
from diverse backgrounds [see page 25]

- Ensuring that patential employee shortlists reflect the Group s
diversity critera

- Diversity networks empowering people to drive change
{see page 17)

- Shared parental pay providing equal enhanced benefits
to all parents

- Diversity and inclusion forum for key suppliers to discuss
challenges and share best practice

- Diversity and inclusion survey, which we have also shared
with key suppliers to support their activities

- Updating our values to reflect the changing way we work
together as 8 business [see page 9)

We are signatories to

- People in Property's guidelines on diversity and inclusion
n recruitment

- The 30% Club, which targets a mymimurm 30% fernate
representation on FTSE 100 Boards

- EW Group’s Inclusive Culture Pledge to develop diversity
across leadership, people, brand, data and future

- Real Estate Balance's CEQ Commuitments for Diversity

Our performance

- 49% of Group employees are female, nctuding three Directors
on the Board and three of our Executive Commuttee (as at
March 2018)

- Ranked sixth In the Hampton-Alexander Review Report, with 40%
fernale representation across the Executive Committee and their
direct reports (as at November 2017)

~ Chris Grigg ranked in the top 20 Ally Executives by OUTstanding
and the Financtal Times for the third year running (rank 11)

- Firstlisted property company to achieve National Equality
Standard accreditation

Diversity and inclusion www.britishland.com/inclusive-culture
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Gender pay gap and balance
Asat 5 April 2017 British Land had 237 employees and 322 ermployees
in Broadgate Estates Currently the mean difference in gender pay at
British Land 1s 3% 4% which 15 1n Line with the average for our peer
group, reflecting the legacy structure of the real estate industry The
average gap for bonuses 1s 06.8% Ourworkforce 1s made up almost
equalty of men and women and men and woemen doing the same job
are paid the sarne, so we look at this as a difference in opportunity,
rather than pay The British Land Board 1s commutted to achieving
better gender balance across all positions i the Company and has
in place recruitment and development practices that it believes will
tead to a material change to this position over time

Gender balance www.britishland com/gender-pay-gap

2018 2017
M F M F
British Land 15.20 124.70 11920 10853
Of which are Board .00 3.00 100D 300
| Of which are Sentor Managers  64.20 32.90 6420 2820
| Broadgate Estates 24350 213.41 22729 20418
| Group total 358.70 338.11 34649 31271

fgures expresseg asfull ime eouwvalent

Supply chain

We ask suppliers to work in a way we believe I1s best practice to achieve
our social, environmental and ethical standards The effectiveness of
. our policies in this area can be seen in our sustainability perfermance
measures on pages 175to 176 This year, we launched our Supplier
Code of Conduct, where we set cut supplier obligations in areas

such as health and safety, human rights, fair working conditions,
anti-bribery and corruption, community engagement,
apprenticeships and environmental management

Supply chain www britishland_com/suppliers

Human rights

Qur respect for hurman rights 1s embedded in how we do business
We are a signatory to the UN Global Compact which supports a core
set of values, including human rights, and have made appropriate
disclosures inrespect of the Modern Slavery Act We are also a member
of APRES, an action programme on responsible and ethical sourcing
across the construction industry For cur performance on aspects
including fair wages and diversity, see pages 175 te 176

Modern Slavery Act disclosure www britishiand.com/MSA

Anti-bribery and corruption

We are committed to the highest legal and ethical standards in every
aspect of our business. It1s our policy to conduct business in a fair,
honest and open way, without the use of bribery or corrupt practices
to obtain an unfair advantage We provide clear guidance for suppliers
and emptoyees, mcluding policies on anti-bribery and corruption,
anti-fraud and code of conduct. All employees receive training on
these 1ssues appropriate to their roles and responsibilities

Anti-bribery and corruption www.britishland com/antibribery




Carbon reporting

Carbonintenstty across our portfolio has reduced by 54% versus
our 2009 baseline, through the National Grid s decarbenisation
and our own efficiency improvements With this 2020 target almost
achieved, we have also gone further, committing to source all our
etectricity from renewable sources and partnering with RE100,
supperting further decarbonisation of the National Grig

Absolute emissions Scope 1 and 2

2018 34,269
2017 47,758

M ' ocaten based metnodolagy ¥ Market based methodology

Scope 1 and 2 emissions intensity (tonnes CO»e)!

Year ended 31 March 2018 N7 2009
Per m? - Offices (net lettable area) 0.055 0069 0118
Per m? - Retail enclosed 0.056 0067 0174
Per parking space - Retail open ar D0.052 0064 0106
Per £m - Bross rentsl and retated

incemne from managed portfolio? 58.03 6739 -

Wz ~ave reported on a'l enrassion sources required under the Comparies Act
2006 [Strategir Repor aad Jrecleis <eports) Regulatiors 2013 These scurres
fallwithun cur consolidated finamo-al statemznts and relate to head cftice
actmvit 25 and convrelied srmissions from ¢ rmanagee porifolio Sccpe 1and 2
er13210n3 cover 96% or oLt muwiti-let rmanaged rortfclic by value We have used
purcndsed eneTgy censumetion d4ta, e GHS Prero o Cerpora e Accounting
ara Reporting Standard [rev sed ed ticn) and om ssior facters frar the (K
Government s GHG Conyer<.on Factors for Company Reporting 2017

- Gross Revtal Inzeme (SR from 2 managec poriforic compnses Group GRI
of £44Y milen 2017 €447 rmiluoni, puas 100% of the GRE ger=rated oy join
ventures and funos of £358 millicn 127117 €437 mullion), less BGRIgenera‘ad
assers outsias the managed portfolio of €235 mrlon (2077 2259 millisn!

Our environmental impacts include carbon emissions across our
portfolio This year, combustion of fuel emissions reduced by 6%,
Largely due to changes in our portfolio Operation of facilities
emissions reduced by 75%, largely due to fluctuations in air
conditioning plant 1Issues Location based emissions from purchased
energy decreased by 20%, largely due to Grid decarbonisaticn and
changes in our portiolioc Market based emissions decreased by 72%,
largely due to more electricity purchased from renewable sources
and changes in our portfolio

Absolute Scope 1 and 2 emissions (tonnes COse)

Year ended 31 March 2018 07 2009
Combustion of fuel: Managed portfolio
gas use and fuel use in British Land
owned vehicles 6,901 7.348 5156
Operation of facilities: Managed portfolio
refrigerant loss from air conditioning 1.3 261 -
Purchase of electricity, heat, steam
and cooling: Managed portfolio
electricity use
focgton based 27,301 34149 41186
Mar kel based 1,875 6,630 -

Task Foree on Climate-related Financial
Disclosures (TCFI)

We support the recommendations of the Task Force
and continue to actively manage climate issues.

Governance

Our Risk Committee, which reperts to the Boara, monitors and
oversees climate Issues Climate risks are identified through a
process Involving trend analysis and stakeholder engagement
They are then incorporated into our risk framework and
managed by the appropriate business areas

Strategy
We actively manage climate 1ssues across our business
Thus includes.

- Upgrading assets with EPC ratings of Fand G

- Improving flood risk assessment and protection

- Procuring electricity from REGO certified renewable
sources, as an RE100 partner (2018 97%])

- Installing low carbon energy generation scurces, where viable

Risks
We reviewed climate risks in 2018 as part of cur wider
materiality review They include

- Rising energy £osts

- Energyand carbon taxation, such as the CRC Energy
Efficiency scheme

- Clmate and energy regulation, such as Minimum Energy
Effictency Standards (2018 5% of portfolio at risk)

- Flood risks, impacting on asset value and insurance
costs (2618 of the 3% of portfolio at high risk, 100%
has flood management plansl

- Costincreases linked with carbon-intensive
construction matenals

Opportunities
- Anticipating occupigr demand for cimate resilient properties
- Delivering energy and carbon cost savings for us and our
customers (2018 £14 rruilion gross and £6 million net
since 2012
- Generating on site energy (2018 1,664 MWh]
~ Qutperforming Buillding Regulations (2018 26% better
on averagel

More intermation
“rinzipal rsks pages 52 to b4

Sustamabs ty performance megsures pages 17510 176

Sastamatnt fy Accourts for agdibona’ et s, full methadology,
expanat an ot changes and Pwu » independent arsurance
www.britishland com/sustanabilityreport

Chmate strategy COF Repo-t www britishland com/sustainabilityreport
Matarianty “ev ew www britishland.com/materiality

Falcies ond Dode of Canduct www.britishland.com/policies
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Strategic Repore

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Against an uncertain backdrop
we remain focused on our strategy

£13.4bn

portfolio valuation

0%

total property return

1.8%

ERVgrowth

4.4 years

weighted aver age lease lzngth
to first break

974

accupancy rate

2.2%

valdatian movement

Market backdrop

The economic environment remained uncertain across the year,
with consumer spending more subdued, as inflatien [measured by
CPH reached & high of 3 1% in Novernber The impact of political and
economic uncertainty relating to the ongoing Brexit negotiations
weighed on investment decisions for UK businesses and in
November 2017, we saw the first interest rate rise in 10 years
However, at 4 2%, unemployment i at its lowest in more than

40 years and inflation 1s slowing, as the impact of Sterling weakness
moederates. S white UK GDP growth forecasts remain below other
major economies, the relative strength of the global economy s
supportive for UK businesses

The investment market
The London investment market proved resiient, with real estate
continuing to offer good relative returns, and the unique attractions

of London remaining persuasive, particularly for overseas investors.

However, buyers have become more selective, with well-let,
best-in-class assets still generating good interest while pricing on
other assets has softened, driving further polarisation The picture

15 similar in retait, where higher quality assets, both large and small,

continue to see demand, although the market remains cautious with
investors generally demanding a ligher yield to compensate for a
perceived increase inrisk
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The Office occupational market

Demand for the best quality space has remained firm, with
businesses continuing to make iong term commitments to London
despite wider uncertamnty Initial estimates for Brexit-related job
losses n the financial sector have been substantially lowered and
financial services companies have continued to take space, although
media and technalogy companies are now a more significant source
of demand Flexible workspace was another important driver, with
its share of take up increased from an average of 7% 1n 2012-16 to
21%1n 2017 Thus represents a shift towards more collaberative

| workplaces on more flexible terms This 1s largely driven by the

growth of small and medium sized businesses, but also many {arger
corporates, who increasingly require flexible workspace in addition
to their core office space

The supply pipeline has moderated substantially since the
referendum, and nearly 50% of all space under construction is
currently pre-let, including nearly 60% of space due for completion in
2018 Asaresutt, occuplers with relatively large space requirements
have limited options in the coming years, which should support rents
on the best quality space.

The Retail occupational market

In Retail, the occupational market became more chaltenging as the
year prograssed The long term structural impact of online continues
to affect operators, and these 1ssues have been exacerbated by short
term factors, notably rising costs and subdued consumer confidence
Retailers continue to rationalise their store networks, and severat
highly leveraged operators with challenged models have applied for
CVAs company voluntary arrangements) However, this negative
sentiment obscures haalthy performances from operators with
strong and differentiated offerings, who are evolving the role of

their stores to reflect the changing way people shop

In the casuat dining sector, operators who over-expanded in recent
years have been similarly impacted by short term cost pressures,
although the overall leisure market remains streng Spending on
leisure has continued to grow and this year 1s expected to reach
nearly £130 bittion, a 17% increase compared to five years ago

As aresult, polarisation is accelerating rapidly The best quality retail
schemes, which meet a much broader mix of uses, inclyding leisure
and entertainment, and which support the important role physical
retall can play in an omni-channel strategy are shll generating good
rental tension and delivering income growth



Our strategy

Our strategy Is to create outstanding places, which reflect the
changing iifestyles of the people who work, live or spend time in

our space - we call this creating Places People Prefer We do this by
understanding and responding to the evolving needs and expectations
of our customers Increasingly people want te combine working,
shopping, socialising and entertainment in a single place Across our
business we are responding to this irend by curating the environment
inside and cutside our buldings to create more of these opportunities,
which inctude a mix of activities As our markets evolve, we will
continue to pesition our business to benefit from the long term
trends to drive enduring demand for our space

London Offices

Our campus approach enables us to successfully differentiate our
space by creating neighbourhoods we can enhance and entiven
through placemaking 78% of our offices are located on our three
centrat Lendon campuses at Broadgate, Paddington Central and
Regent s Place At each, we are delivering a growing mix of uses
alongside our offices, including dining, shopping, leisure and
entertainment as well as events and activities people can enjoy seven
days a week Our newest buildings reflect the changing ways people
are working, with mere collaborative space, distinctive features such
asroof terraces and smart technology, and sustainable characteristics,
alt of which 1s driving good demand from a wide range of occupiers

Storey, our ilexible workspace business, 1s an integral part of that
appreach, helping to attract new cccupiers to our campuses and
allowing us to meet the evolving needs of existing custormers
Importantly, cur campuses benefit from excellent connectivity and
transport infrastructure, which will be further enhanced by Crossrail
at Broadgate and Paddington Central This makes them accessible
and convenient, and will drive footfalt, providing a strong rationale
for extending the retail and leisure offer

Retail

We believe that physical stores have a key role as a part of

a successful amni-channel retail strategy, but that the market s
polarising towards the best locations, Size should be appropriate
to the catchment and quality of space and services are key
Placemaking 1s an important part of how we can add value as
owners and managers of property by curating our space to meet
the needs of our customers, we can support the way the role of
the store is chanaing This s where our investment is focused

There are typically three phases to a modern consumer Journey
discovery’, ‘transaction and fulfilment’ Qur Regional centres
typically support the ‘discovery’ phase, they attract visitors from

a wide catchment so we are enhancing the nature of this space to
encourage people to stay ionger and spend more by enlivening our
space with more leisure and entertainment Gur data shows that
when customers engage with our catering offer, their retail spend
1S typicaily 27% higher

The second stage 1s the actual transaction’, which may take
place in store or online For retailers, transactions which are
made [or fulfilled] In store are preferred, as they do not incur the
cost of last mite delivery, reducing pressure on margins

The third stage s ‘fulfilment Retailers are focused on rightsizing ‘
their store networks, but are committed to maintaining good
coverage, with stores increasingly playing a role in logistics and
distribution Across our portiolio 27% of shoppers now use click and
collect, up from 19% three years ago, and here, our Local centres,
which provide convenient shopping for local communities, have a
particular role te play

Broadgate Estates

In May 2018, we announced the sale of the third-party portfolio
of Broadgate Estates, our preperty management business, to
international real estate adviser Savills This transaction enables

" us to fecus exclusively on our own assets and enhance the service

we provide to our customers as our business becomes increasingly
mixed use

Portiolio performance

Total

Valuat on ERV Yeld broperty

Year ended Valuation rnoverrent growth =hift return
31 March 2018 £ E Y bps %)
Offices 6,705 45 21 (7] 90
Retail 6,596 03 16 6 57
Residentiat 132 164 n/a nfa 46
Canada Water 283 (70] n/a nfa [39]
Total 13,716 22 18 1 70

The portiolio value was up 2 2%, driven primarily by our leasing
activity, in particular the pre-letting of our developments which saw
a valuatiorrgain of ¢ 6% ERY growth was positive in Retail and Offices,
but was stronger in the first half, particulariy in Retaill Gffice yields
contracted 7 bps mostly in the first half reflecting our leasing
success, whilst Retail saw yield expansion of 6 bps. which was more
pronounced inour Local centres Overall, the portiolio equivalent
yield was broadly flat at 4.8%

The portfolio underperformed the IPD all property total return index
by 210 bps over the year, largely reflecting the continued strength of
the industrial sector within the index, where we have no exposure
Dffices outperformed the sector benchmark by 70 bps on a total
returns basis while Retasl underperformed by 50 bps

We have completed the first phase of our valuer appointment policy,
which restricts the engagement of valuers en individuat assets to
10years As aresult, this year, £5% of the portfolio was subjectto 2
change in valuer Despite some variations on individual assets, there
was no matenal impact at a subsector tevel, and therefore overall
All of these changes were reported at half year and full details on

" our policy can be found in the Governance section of our website

Investment and development

Canada

Retsil  Gffices Resdential Water Total
From 1 Aprit 2017 fr tm tir fm im
Purchases 199 - - 7 206
Sales'? (419} (577 1312) - .308]
Development spend 31 82 54 23 190
Capitat spend 57 5 - - 62
Net investment N321  [499) 1258} 30 {850)
Gross investment 706 664 366 30 1,766
Cr aproparboral y consoiicaled basis 1 weding the Group s shere of ot

ventures and ‘unds

"Incledes £575 melhon Leadenhall Bu ding disposal exchanged during the yeer
erden 31 March 2087 ard comp eted this year Incluaes sale of Richmong which
ex” nanged during the year 3nd completed post year end

- Inzludes 793 raillicn of Clarges commpletinns which excnanged prier to FY1E,
of wrich £168 mihion copleted after the year end
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PERFORMANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

£1.8bn

gross mvestrert achtivity

¢1.3bn

disposals

£0.5bn

acgusilians and capifal expenditure

24m sq ft

fettings and renewa.s

+8.29%

lettings and renewals ahead of LRV

The gross value of our investment actewity since 1 April 2017, as
measured by our share of acquisitions, disposals, capttal spend
on developments and other capital projects, was £1 8 billion This
Includes our share from the sale of The Leadenhall Buitding of
£575 million [100% £1.15 biilion] which completed in the year,
£419 million retail sales in line with book value and more than
£200 rmullion of asset purchases

We exchanged or completed residential sales of £119 million in the
year, on average 16% ahead of most recent valuations In addition,

we have completed on £193 million of Clarges saies which exchanged
prior to T Aprit 2017, of which £168 million completed post year end
This brings total completed and exchanged sales at Clarges to

£344 raillion to date

This year, devetopment spend has totalied £190 millicn, with the
majority relating to Broadgate devetopments and Clarges Capital
expenditure of £62 million relates to income enhancing investment
and more generat asset enhancement Inthiatives including at
Meadowhall, Glasgow Fort, Peterborough and Teesside

Development activity
Bsitish Land share

ERV let/
Current Costto under
Sgit value complete  ERV offer Reswential
At 31 March 2018 0G0 frn £m £m fm exchanged
Completed inyear 170 4B8 17 2 1 3442
Committed 1,614 572 427 43 35 -
Near term 578 55 436 30 - -
Medium term 2,992
Canada Water
Phase 1 1,848

On a praportionally consolidaled basis nzluding the Group s share of jaint ventures
and funds lexcept area which 1s shown at 100%)

Total site area 15 5 mithon ag ft,
2 ofwhich £123 million completed te date imzluding £168 multion post year end
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Across our portfolio, we have created attractive development
opportunities in Line with our strategy, giving us the optionality
to progress whenthe time 1s right This1s a unigue advantage in
the current environment, where we see imited opportunity to
make accretive acquisitions, given the continuing strength of
investment markets

We believe that space which meets a broader range of needs
will be most successful long term, so our development pipeline
focuses on our London campuses where we see the potential to
further enhance the mix of uses, with retail and residential in
addition to our core office space

In line with our disciplined approach to capital allocation, we
carefully manage our development risk, and pre-tetting our space

1s an important part of that approach 55%% of the £63 mutlion ERV in
our committed pipeline i1s already pre-let or under offer and our total
speculative exposure Is just 4 5% of partfolio gross asset value (GAV],
well below our internal risk threshold for speculative development

of 8% In addition, costs to come on our committed pipeline of

£427 milbion are substantially covered by residential receipts to
come of £373 million from our Clarges Mayfair development.

Locking forward, our medium term pipeline comprises a broad mix
of opportumties including mixed use schemes at Eden Walk, Kingston
and Ealing where we see potential to deliver sizeable residential
schemes alongside an improved retail offer At Canada Water, we are
creating a new urban centre for Lendon, which will comprise offices,
retail and leisure as wetl as residentiat We signed a Master
Development Agreerment with Southwark Councit and subrmuitted our
outline planning application for the masterplan in May 2018 Intotal,
our medium terr pipeline covers 4.8 miilion sq ft, with the major:ity
of projects currently income producing or held at low cost

| Construction cost forecasts continue to suggest that the rate of

growth has moderated from the tevel in recent years. However,
pressure on labour costs and smited capacity in the industry sndicate

! the rate of cost inflation will Increase in 2019/20 back to closer to

3-4% per annum To manage this, 89% of the costs on our
committed development programme have been fixed

More detalls anthe porttolio, property performance, sndividust
developments and assets scid and acqustad during the year can
pe found i the detarled supplementary tables on pages 166 to 174




LONDON OFFICES

Strong leasing activity driven
by our campus strategy and
good market demand

H

ighlights

Portfolic value up 4 5%, with the West End up 5 8% and the
City up 2 8%

Yield contraction of 7 bps overall, with 13 bps contraction

in the West End, weighted towards the first half, and 2 bps
expansion in the City

ERV growth of 2 1%, with the West End up 2 5% and the City
up 15%

70 bps ahead of IPD on a total return basis, 100 bps ahead
on a capital basis, with ERV growth 100 bps ahead

Leasing activity covered 1 2 million sq ft, four times the area
achieved last year, adding £40 rmitlion te future rents, under
offer orin negotiations on a further 548,000 sq ft

Rent reviews covered 226,000 sq ft, 10% ahead of passing rent
Activity generating Like-for-like income growth of 2 4%

£664 million lexcluding residential sales at Clarges} of gross
caprtal activity, including our share of The Leadenhall
Building 575 rtllion)

Tim Roberts
Head of Offices

Campus review

78% of cur cffices are located on our three central London
campuses, Broadgate, Regent s Place and Paddington Central
Each benefit from excellent transport links, as well as vibrant lccal
neighbourheods, which supports our placemaking initiatives and
makes them more dynamic and interesting places to work and visit.

Broadgate

At Broadgate, our leasing activity covered nearly 530,000 sq ft,
including 169,000 sq ft at 100 Liverpootf Street, to SMBCE, the
European subsidiary of SMBC [Sumitorno Mitsus Banking
Corporation) Having commutted to this building en a speculative
basis at the end of 2014, we are now 37% let on the office space by
area, and are seemng good levels of interest on the remaining space
A key focus remains increasing the mix of uses at our campuses, and
this year we signed a major deal with Eataly, the italian marketptace
at 135 Bishopsgate, where they will open their first UK location
covering 42,000 sq ft This 1s animportant letting for the campus,

in line with our objective to make Broadgate an internationalty
recognised centre for new food, retail and cutture We are under
offer or in negotiations on a further 269,000 sq ft of office space at
this development, together accounting for around 80% of the space
At 1 and 2 Finsbury Avenue [1FA and 2FA], we are building
Broadgate s reputation as a centre for innovation and finance

We have let 79,000 sq ft to Mimecast at 1FA and are under offer on

a cinema {11,000 sg ft], together representing more than cne third
of the building At 2FA, we have let 14,500 sq ft on a short term basis

_ to Starling Bank, as well as a host of lettings in the technology and

creative sectors through Storey, our ftexible workspace bustness
which covers 60,000 sq ft at Broadgate at 2FA and Appold Street

This year, we were pleased that Broadgate was the winner of two
Revo Opal Awards The first recognised how cur commercialisation
strategy had helped transform and positively enhance the
environment at Broadgate, and the second recognising our Winter
Forest as a best in class build, execution and visitor experience

Regent’s Place

At Regent s Place, cur leasing activity covered 411,000 sq ft, with

our pre-let to Dentsu Aeqis of alt the office space at 1 Tniten Square
accounting for 310,000 sq ft, the largest pre-let in the West End for
22 years As part of thus letting, Dentsu Aegis have an option to return
their existing space at 10 Triton Streetin 2021, which (f exercised,
would have a compensating adjustment covering the rent free

period of the letting at 1 Triton Square
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LONDON OFFICES CONTINUED

QOur Offices portfolio in London

<0.dbn

portfol ovaluaten (B tishLand share]

4.3 years

weighled average {ease engrh
o first break

96.7%

occupancy rate

Facebook reaffirmed thesr comnmtment to the campus, taking
afurther 39,400 sq ft at 10 Brock Street, bringing their total
occupation to 213,000 sq ft across two buildings, doubling their
intiat requirement This s a good example of how we have been
able to accommodate the needs of our occupiers as their business
expands or needs change, so we are pleased that Storey 1S now
operational across 23,000 sq ft at 338 Euston Road We also signed
Flykick, a new kick-boxing gym at 350 Euston Road, which opened
in March 2018, 1n line with our focus on enlivering our spaces and
diversifying the mix

The Regent s Place Community Fund 1s also entering its second year,
bringing together occupiers to support local charities and make a
positive local difference inits first year, over 2,600 people benefitied
from projects addressing employability, social cohesion and health
and wellbeing

Paddington Central

Paddington was our best performing campus, up in value

more than 7% 1n the year as we benefitted from the placemaking
actwvities we have undertaken across our five years of ownership
This has delivered a total unlevered return of 12% per annum

4 Kingdom Street {147,000 sq ft), reached practicat compietion in
April 2017 and was nearly 0% let ahead of launch in June 2017,
to occupiers including Vertex, Sasol and Mars, whose activities
span pharmaceuticals, energy and food products Storey s now
operational across 15,000 sq ft and a further 25,000 sq ft has
been atlocated

Pergolia, an outdoor drinking and dining experience which welcomed
179,000 people in 2017, reopened for the summer season at the end
of April We are continuing to improve the food, beverage and teisure
offering at Paddington with six operators, including a gym, barbers
and a number of Independent cafés, together covering 12,500 s¢ ft,
signed In the period We completed stage one of our public realm
improvement programme and are now underway with stage two,
which will enhance and enliven the canal-side space.
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Storey

Since its launchin June 2017, Storey, our flexible workspace brand,
has made good progress We introduced the concept in response to
changing customer needs, and to broaden the range of services we
offer carnpus occupiers It 1s now operationat at all three of our
campuses, as well as International House, Ealing, covering a total of
114,000 sq ft, of which 77% 15 now let We are differentiating our offer
to appeal to Innevative businesses that have outgrown cenventional
co-working space, as well as larger organisations seeking additional
space on more flexible terrms in addition to their core requirement,
Marketing and fit out are tallored accordingly, so our occupsers are
able to create their own brand within our space, but benefit from
shared facilities in the buitding as well as the advantages that our
campuses provide

The average size of occupier 1s 52 employees and the average lease
length 1s 27 months [21 months term certain], with existing occupiers
from our campuses accounting for mere than half of the space taken.
AIM-listed robotic software company Blue Prism have taken space
at 338 Euston Road and at Broadgate our activity 1s supporting the
campus's emergance as a centre of technology and innovation,

i with lettings to Wipro s strategic and digital arm, Digitat +Designit,

Tantatum, an automotive technotogy innovator, and Rotageek,
which offers data-driven emptoyee scheduling services

The premium to ERV we are achieving 1s at or above target, and
we have atlocated a further 119,000 sq ft to Storey from within the
portfolio, of which 73,000 sq ft wiil be at 1FA 10,000 sq ft will be
club space at 4 Kingdom Street, where customers witl be able

to host events and meetings and benefit from collabaration with
fetlow Storey and other campus occupiers This brings total space
committed to Storey to more than 230,000 sq #t.

Residential

Clarges Mayfarr, our super prime residential development, reached
practicat completion in December 2017 To date we have completed
or exchanged on 24 residential units totalling £344 rmithon and will
commence marketing of the remaining 10 valued at £141 million,
this summer. This scheme, which has delivered profits of more



Paddington Central

InMarch 2013, we ra sed nearty L500 milion to fund attrar ve
nvestrrent opportunities through a share plazing Four
months tater, we acquir=d Padd ngton Central for £ 470 -millior.,
andsn 2015, One Shelden Sadare tur C210 rmalhon, at the
entrarce to the campus

InFebruary 2015we cormmitiedto the speculatve
developraent of 4 Kengdom Street Whencompleted, i was
nearly %1% let ahead of the launchin une 201/, atrents 5%
ahead of pre-referendum ERVs Taday, top rents across
Paddi-yg'enr are more than 20% bogher

Ower the last fve years we nave rvested over £°0 miluon
upgrading the carmpus environmert, making it rmare attraciive
and engaging, and last year added Pergola, a pop-ap dining
concept which has welcomed nearly 180,00Cwisitars The
evoluton of Paddington continued this year We row have four
canal boats of weich three are restaurants and recent lettirgs
tp six.ndeperdsnt fooa and ~estacrant operaters have rearly
doabled the food and beverage a loration We also have
consent tora 332,000 sg it oftice-'ed deve.cpment at

5 Kingdore Strest and g 03,00Csg f hotel

than £200 mitlion to date, lof which residential accounts for over
£150 million] demonstrates our expertise In residential The offices
elemnent of this scheme reached practical completion in June 2016
and Is nearly 0% let

Offices development

Over the year, we have committed to nearly 1 rmilhon sq ft of
development opporturities on our London campuses, more than
doubling our develepment commitments, but without a material
increase in our speculative exposure 56% of the ERVinour
committed office developments is pre-let or under offer

We achieved planning consents covering more than 1 million sq ft
across our three campuses, and are already on site on more than
?6% of this space

Committed pipeline
Our commutted pipeline covers 1 5 miliion sq ft This includes 366,000
sq ftat 1 Triton Square, Regent’s Place, but the majority 1s at Broadgate

We are making good progress at 100 Liverpool Street, our 522,000 sg ft
development adjacent to the Crossrail station at Liverpool Street
Station The building targets the Platinum WiredScore certification
tor connectivity, a BREEAM Excellent rating for sustainabibity and the
WELL Gold certsfication for wellbeing, our ptans include 20,000 sg ft
of outdoor terraces on five tevels providing cutside spaces for office
workers to come together We have pre-let 37% of the office space to
SMBCE and are seeing good interest on the 90,000 sq ft of retail space
here Also at Broadgate, we are on site at 17A {291,000 sq ], which
willinclude a cinema and roof terrace, and 135 Bishopsgate (328,000
sq ft], with 42,000 sg ft of retail pre-let to lalian marketplace Eataly
In total we are delivering more than 1 million s¢ ft at Broadgate, of
which 15% of the space will be retail or leisure, with 32% of the total
ERV pre-let or under offer

Near term pipeline

Looking ahead, our near term pipeline covers 445,000 sq ft of
opportumities we would look to progress in the next 12 months
It ncludes the Gateway Building at Paddington Central, and our
opticn at Blossom Street in Shoreditch

In line with our strategic focus on expanding the mix of uses at our
campuses, we were pleased to achieve planning consent for the
Gateway, a 105,000 sq ft premium hotel at Paddington Central

Roatrop of 4 K -.gdarm Stresat

At Blossom Street, Shoreditch, we have an option over two acres

of land which expires in February 2019 We have consent for a
340,000 sq ft mixed use developrnent, integrating 258,000 sq ft of
character office space, with retail and residential, to create a mixed
use development that bulds on the hustoric fabric of the area Our
plans envisage a mix of floorplates, to appeal to small and growing
businesses, particularly in the fechnolegy and creative sectors, with
the potentiat for some space to be allocated to Storey We will rmake
& decision on this develepment before the end of this calendar year

Medium term pipeline

Looking further ahead, we have created cptions across our portfolio,
which provide opportunities to grow and develop our business well
into the future Our medum terrm office pipetine covers 14 mitlion sq ft,
of which three-quarters 1s at Broadgate

At 2-3 Finshury Avenue {2FA and 3FA], we have consent for

3 563,000 sg ft development, adding 374,600 sq ft to the existing
space, but would seek a significant pre-let betore mak:ng any
commitment Inthe meantime, the space I1s generating a goed incorne
through short term more flexible lets and 1s proving particularly
successful amongst technology and creative occuprers 20,000 sq ft
has been let to TMT and creative occupters through our core business
at 2FA, and a further 60,000 sq ft by Storey at 2FA and Appold Street
We recently achieved vacant possession at 3FA, and the space s
enjoying sirmilar success, with 44,000 sq ft of short term lets agreed
aswellas 1,700 sq ft of events space which we expect to launchin
the coming months This short term activity provides us with oplions
over when we commence development We are progressing our
plans at 1-2 Broadgate, in total covering 507,000 sq ft, including a
significant retail, teisure and dining element Vacant possession|is
not expected untl the end of 2012 but we expect to make a planning
application towards the end of this year

At 5 Kingdom Street, at Paddington Central, we have existing
consent for a 240,000 sq ft office-led scheme, our pians will increase
this to more than 332,000 sq 1t and we expect to submit a revised
application later this year The site sits above the Box, a 70,000 sq ft
site which will become redundant on the completion of Crossratl,
when ownership reverts to British Land This represents an
interesting opportunity to create an alternative use, potentially retail,
leisure, conference or events space, which will further differentiate
our campus otfermg
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RETAIL

Quality space driving

operational outperformance

in polarising markets

Highlights

~ Portfolio value up 0 3%, with the multi-let portfolio down 0 5%
offset by positive movements on our solus and leisure assets

- Inthe multi-tet portfolio, Reglonats were marginally up tin
vatue whilst Locals were down 1 5%

- Yield expansion of 6 bps overall, with ¢ bps expansionn the
multi-let portfolio, more pronounced in the Local portfolio

- ERVgrowth of 1.6%, with 1 9% growth in the multi-let
pertfelio reflecting our successful teasing activity

~ Underperformed IPD by 50 bps on a total return basis and
70 bps betow on a capital basis, ERV growth was 70 bps
ahead of the index

- Leasing activity covered 1 2 mithian sq ft, adding £7 million
tofuture rents

- Virtually full with occupancy at 98%

~ Completed more than 100 rent reviews, 4 2% ahead of
passing rent

- Nearly ?0% of leases reaching expiry were etther retained or
replaced on terms ahead of ERV. with a further 5% re-let in
the shartterm

- Actinity generating like-for-like income growth of 1.2%

- Footfall up 0 3%, 340bps ahead of benchmark, retailer sales
down 1.4%, 130bps ahead of benchrmark

- Grossinvestment activity of £7046 million, with saies of
£419 million, overall in tine with book value, £199 million
of acquisitions, mcluding £152 mullion of regeneration
opportunities in Londen, benefitting frem Crossrasl
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Charles Maudsley
Head of Retail, Leisure & Residential

Operational review

We have a focused leasing strategy, informed by our insights,

which keeps our offer relevant in today’s market, this means we

are targeting growth subsectors and meeting customer needs
Compared with 2015, we have undertaken 8.8% more leasing to
health and beauty operators, and 5 6% more in outdoor and sports
clothing' At the same time, we have reduced leasing to sectors
where sales have declined, notably general fashion 1s down more
than 10%

 We are also leveraging our Insights to demonstirate the attractions

of our assets to potential occupiers This year for example, we
signed Decathlon at Ealing after providing compelling research
on the strategic fit between its demegraphic profite and the local
catchment, and at Broughton, Chester, Footasylum opened 1ts
first out of town store, having dernonstrated to the occuprer that a
physicat store was an opportunity to enhance their previously low
brand awareness ta over one mullion residents in the catchment
Early mdications are that it i1s trading well This approachis integrat
to cur leasing strategy across the portfolio and mstrumental in
encouraging operators to open out of town stores, with recent
examples including Lush, Ann Summers, Disney and Joules all
opening at Glasgow Fort, and Hotel Chocolat at Teesside, Stockton
In addition, our rent to sales ratio remains attractive at 1%

At Meadowhall, we have seen a strong response to our £60 miltion
refurbishrent, with nearly 80 occupiers investing £46 miltion
upgrading their stores We have signed 28 new occupilers, ncluding
ontine retailer Joe Browns #irst phys:cat store, and Australian
homewares brand House, who opened one of their first UK stores
here We have strengthened the premium offering to reftect the
improving catchment, with Godiva, Michael Kors, Flannels,

Tag Heuer, Neal's Yard. Joules and Nespresso all signing We have
relocated or upsized a further 21 occupiers and renewed or re-geared
leases on another 14 This year, deais were signed 13% ahead of ERV,
and our activity has generated ERV growth of 2.8% We are also
pteased that our investment has benefitted the {ocal cornmundy,
with 69% of construction spend going to local businesses and

24 people supported into apprenticeships.



Our Retail portfolio

£06.6bn

portfabio valuator [Brtish Land shat e

79 years

weighted average leass length lo
first break

98.0%

oLcupancy rate

315m

annual tootfaly

Qur portfebec has the ootent'al to reack

60%

ol *he popuiation

Crnaeropochonally censolidaisd basis mciuding the Group s
share of jpintventures and fu ~os
Do upancy reducos i 97 5% treating spate as vacant wnerz
orsupErs have gone .nto 1qu dation post 31 Marcn 2018

Source CACIRetall Foororint 2014
Note Catchrrant neludes Breadgate

Across the market, sales and footfall are down but our assets have
continued to outperform Footfall was up 0 3% across the multi-let
portfelio, outperforming the market by 340 bps with the scale of

our outperformance continuing to grow A number of our centres
performed particularly well, ncluding Stockton, Teesside, where we
are on site with a £30 mitlion refurbishment, and SouthGate, Bath,
where the dining offer has been revitalised, introeducing new brands
like Comptoir Libanais, Thaikhun, Franco Manca and Absurd Bird
Retaiter sales [which only capture in store sales) were down 1 6%

at our centres, but were ahead of market by 130 bps

Inwhat has been a rmore challenging occupler market, we are
conhdent in the relative strength of our portfolio The combined

" We have invested £88 miltion into the portfolio, of which 70% 15 Income

impact of administratiens and CVAs during the year was 0 6% of total .

grossincome or £3 7 million and the portfolio s virtuatly full with
occupancy of 8%

Capital activity

We are committed to reshaping our Retail portfolio to focus en
assets which best align with our strategy This has been ongoing
tor some time In the last four years, we have made £2 3 billion of
retail asset disposals This year, we sold £41% milion of assets
{£662 million on a gross basis!, in line with book value, of which
£122 million were made in the second half, 7 6% ahead of book
value, and we are now under offer on a further €72 million

Acguisitions of £199 million in the period included a Tesco JV swap,
which resulted in a net £73 million of superstore disposals We also
acguired The Woolwich Estate and 10-40 The Broadway in Ealing for
a total of £152 million These acquisitions are in line with our focus on
wetl-connected assets with mixed use potential, strong or improving
locat demographics and where we can put our placemaking expertise
towork Both areas benefit from Crossrail, and have already seen
sigrificant regeneration ahead of that This brings total gross activity,
including development and capital spend, to more than £700 milhion

producing capex, and the remainder focusing on improvements to
the public rezlm We have a strong track record of delivering value
with assets benefitting from material iInvestment [more than 5% of
vaiue} delivering a total return outperformance of ¢ 80 bps, aver the
last three years, driven by ERV growth

Retail devetopment
Across the Retall portfolio, we achieved 44 planning consents
covering nearty 800,000 sq ft

We completed our 66,000 sq ft leisure extension at New Mersey,
Speke, which added an 11-screen cinerma, pre-let to Cineworld, and
six restaurant units Overall, the scheme s BD% let or under offer,
and will open in sumrmer 2018

: Committed pipeline

We are on site with a 107,000 sq ft teisure extension at Drake Circus,
Plymouth, which wall add a 12-screen cinema and 15 restaurants
We expect to reach practical complietion towards the end of 2019
and are already 38% let or under offer

Near term pipeline

Our near term pipeline includes leisure extensions at Stockton,
Teesside (84,000 sq ft) and Forster Square, Bradford (49,000 sq ft]
At Teesside, we received a resolution to grant planning for our
masterplan, which includes & redevelopment of the existing
terrace, theintroduction of smaller retai and restaurant units

. and improvements to the public realm, overatl adding 51,000 sq ft,

but we will seek a significant pre-let before committing to this
development We expect to submit a planning application for our
plans at Bradford this year
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RETAIL CONTINUED

Fort Kinnaird, Edinburgh

Britist Lant has maraged Fort Krnaird, a 560,030
zq b sthoppir g s heme in Edinourgh, since 2708 In
the tast five years, we nave investzd avar £12 noilhon,
nrludinaa 57,000 sa ttleicare extensior i~ 2015,
adding a seven-screen Gdeon winerme, a ~ew play
areaforchioren, and o ranoe of restaurants
including iz2a Express, Nordo s ard Five Buys The
erviranrmient has beer improved through shapfront
warks, additicnal new panting and refurbishmert of
datedunits Occuplers who fave benetitted from this
n:lude J0 Sparts, Frimarnk, Waterstor es and Currys

Fort Kinnaird provides e ployment tor 2,000 local
peoole, and accounts far one retall job in every 2610
Edinburgh In 2017 we employed 28 apprentices anc
all 12 participants in our Bright Lights Starting Out
in Retail and Hospitatity programme secured
employrient

Medium term pipeline

Our medium term pipeline includes our 330,000 sq ft leisure
extenston at Meadowhatl, where we secured a resolution to grant
planning consent Our plans will transform the centre s leisure offer
with new dining and entertainment options, a new cinema, café
court, gym, open-air terrace and space for leisure, event and
community use We also submitted planning for a 268,000 sq ft
leisure extension at Serpentine Green, Peterborough, which will add
139,000 5q ft. Qur mixed use opportunities include a £400 million
redeveloprnent of Eden Walk, Kingston, where we have consent for
380 new homes, 28 new retail units, 12 restaurants and cafés and
35,060 sq ft of flexible office space At Ealing, we are working up
plans for a wider mixed use devetopment

Canada Water

At Canada Water, we are working with the London Borough of
Southwark on ane of London's maost significant development projects
Our long term viston for the area, spanning 53 acres, will deliver

a major new mixed vse urban centre for this part of London,

Just one stop on the Jubitee Line from Canary Wharf, in Zone 2

In March 2018, we were delighted to receive Southwark Cabinet
approval to enter into a Master Development Agreement with
Southwark Council, which was signed in May 2018 Under the terms
of the agreement, we have negotiated a new headlease, which
conselidates our holdings including the Printworks, the Surrey
Quays Shopping Centre and the Mast Leisure Centre] into a single
500 year headtease, with Southwark Councit as the lessor This
structure effectively aligns the ownership of these assets, with
British Ltand owning 80% and Southwark Council owning the
rematning 20% Southwark Council will have the apportunity to
participate in the development of the individual plots, up to a
maximurn of 20%, and returns will be pro-rated accordingly
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This agreement enabled us to submut our planning applicatton in
May 2018, which included a detaited apphication for the project’s
first three buildings. comprising workspace, retail, homes lof which
35% will be affordablel and a new leisure centre These buildings
are part of a major first phase of the development covering a total
of 18 mitlion sq ft of mixed use space Thisincludes one million sq ft
of workspace, 250,000 sq tt of retail and leisure space and 650
homes The overall masterplan, of which phase 1foerms part. s
expected to deliver up to 3,000 new homes, two million =g ft of
workspace and one mitlion sq ft of retail, [eisure, entertainment
and community space

Subject to planning approvals, construction of the first detaited plots
could begin 1n spring 2019 Petential structures will be explored
when we have greater visibility on timing, but we are already seeing
interest In the space from a range of sectors and discussions are
underway on several busldings

In the meantime, the success of the Printworks, cur award-winning
entertainment space 1n the old Daily Mail Printworks, 1s building
awareness of the area Wth capacity for 5,000, it has welcomed
more than 250,000 visitors since taunch, and has hosted bands
including So Solid Crew and Django Django as well as the
Beavertown Brewery Extravaganza, bringing over 70 of the

world s best breweries together The space has proved to be such

a commercial success, as well as an effective driver of footfall,

that it has now been incorporated inte our development plans

While the gross valuation ot Canada Water was marginatly up to
£283 mitlion, the net valuation was down 7%, reflecting feasibility

' costs Incurred over the year which were not recoverable through

the valuation, pending achievement of planning
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Overview

Financial performance for the year was robust with underlying
earnings per share down 11% at 37 4 pence and Underlying Profit
down 2 6% at £380 million, despite significant sales EPRA net asset
value per share [NAV] Increased by 5 7% reflecting a portfolie
valuation gair: of 2 2% on a proportionally consolidated basis and
the impact of the £300 million share buyback programme

We have continued to reposition the portfolio with £1 8 bitlion of gross
capitat activity [£0 8 billion of net capital activity) since 1 April 2017
This comprises £1 0 bilbion of dispesals of Income producing assets
representing 7% of the total portfolio, primarly single-let Retail !
assets and our 50% interest in The Leadenhall Building which
exchanged in the previous financialyear Sales were made atan
average yield of 4% We completed or exchanged on residentiat sales
of £0 1 billion during the year and completed £0.2 billion of further
residentiat sales at Clarges post year end

The net proceeds from this activity provide capacity for reinvestment
into our pertfolio, particularly through the development opportunities
we are now progressing with a forecast yield on cost of around 6%
We have maintained & disciplined approach to capital and completed
our £300 mullion share buyback pregramme in February 2018,
purchasing 47 6 million ordinary shares at an average price of

630 pence This has increased NAY by 15 pence and added

0 4 pence to EPS this year During the period we have also reinvested
£0 3 billion 10 our developments and capital expenditure across
the portfolio, and made £0 2 tullicn of acguisitrons.

Underiying Profit was down 2 6% reflecting the impact of net sales
over the past two years and {ease expiries at properties going into
development This has been targely offset by leasing success at our
developments, like-for-like rental growth and financing activity, as
well as one-off surrender premia received IFRS profit before tax
was £501 mittion, up frem €195 mullion in the prior year, primarily
due to the positive property valuation movernent in the period

Our financial metrics rema:n strong LTV has decreased 150 bps

10 28 4% from 29 9% at 31 March 2017, primarily through net sales,
offset by the share buyback Ourweighted average interest rate 1s
atits lowest level at 2 8% This financial strength provides us with
the capacity to pregress opportunities, including our development
pipeline, whitst retaining significant headroom to our covenants, We
have been active in debt markets, including rssuing our £300 riltion
Sterling unsecured bond Our senior unsecured credit rating has
been upgraded to ‘A by Fitch

Shareholder returns remain a priority We increased the dividend
3% to 30 08 pence for the year ended 31 March 2018, resulting in &
dwidend payout ratio of 80% The Board propose a further increase
of 3% next year o 31.00 pence, a quarterly dividend of 775 pence

| Presentation of financial information

The Group financial statements are prepared under [FRS where the
Group's interests in joint ventures and funds are shown as a single
line itemn on the income statement and balance sheet and all
subsidiaries are consolidated at 100%

Management considers the business principally on a propertionally
conseclidated basis when setting the strategy, determiming annual
priorities, making investrment and financing decisions and reviewing
performance This includes the Group's share of joint ventures and
funds on a line-by-line basis and exciudes nen-controlling interests
in the Group s subsidiaries The financial key performance indicaters
are also presented on this basis

A summary income statement and summary balance sheet which
reconcile the Group income statements to British Land s interests on
a prepoertienally consolidated basts are included in Table A within the

. supplementary disclosures

Management monitors Undertying Profit as this mere accurately
reflects the Group's financial performance and the underlying
recurring performance of our core property rental activity, as
opposed to IFRS metrics which include the non-cash valuation
movement on the property portfolio Itis based onthe Best
Practices Recommendations of the European Public Real Estate
Association [EPRA) which are widely used alternate metrics to their
IFRS equivalents
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Management also monitors EPRA NAV as this provides a transparent | The £34 mitlion decrease in net rental income during the year was
and consistent basis to enable comparison between European the result of divestment activity and development expiries partiaily
property companies Linked to this, the use of Total Accounting offset by surrender premia, leasing of developments and like-for-like
Return allows management to monitor return to shareholders based | rental growth

on rmovements IN a conststentty applied metric, being EPRA NAV, and
dividends paid.

Net sales of income producing assets of £1 5 bitlion over the last two
years have reduced rents by £44 mutlion in the year

Loan to value [proportionally consolidated) 1s also monitored by
management as a key measure of the level of debt employed by the Lease expinies relating to properties in cur development pipeline
Group to meet its strategic objectives, along with a measurement of reduced net rents by £22 millien, including £6 mililon at 100

risk It also altows comparison to other property companies who Liverpoot Street where we are on site and progressing wetl with

stmilarly momtor and report this measure development, £5 million at the substantially pre-let 1 Triton Square
scheme, £5 miltion at TFA where we started on site in August 2017,

Income statement and £6 miltion at 135 Bishopsgate where we are now committed

1. Undertying Profit having let 42,000 sg ft to Eataly These are partially offset by one

Underlying Profit 1s the measure that 15 used internally to assess otf surrender premia received, the majority being a £15 miluon

Inceme performance No company adjustments have been made n surrender premiumn received from Royal Bank of Scotland in

the current or prior year and therefore this 15 the same as the pre-tax | June 2017,
EPRA earrings measure which includes a number of adjustments

to the IFRS reported profit before tax This is presented below on Development lettings, notably at 4 Kingdom Street and Clarges,
a proportienally consolidated basis- have contributed £6 million to rents in addition to Like-for-like rental
© growth of 1 8%, exciuding the iImpact of surrender premia Retail
m7 2018 | growthwas 1 2% driven by asset management activities, such as
Seutiap fm Em | cplitting units, as well as teasing of vacant space tn Offices,
Gross rental Income 643 613 | Lke-for-like growth was 2 4% driven by fixed uplifts at rent reviews
Property operating expenses (33 {37) | as \.u['ili afs lelaimg of fcolmp{eted developments that are now In
Net rental income 1 g0 576 | e likerfor-like portfolio
Net fees and other income 17 15 | 1.2 Administrative expenses
Adrministrative expenses 12 [86) (83) | Administrative expenses decreased by a further £3 rmillion this year
Net financing costs 13 (1511 (128) | @saresultof lower variable pay Due to theimpact of sales on rents,
Underlying Profit 390 280 the Group's operating cost ratio Increased by 130 bps to 16 9%
nostymng (2016/17 15 6%
Non-controlling interests
i Underlying Profit 14 14 | 1.3 Net financing costs
EPRA adjustments’ 1209) 107 19
Ll:R: p;oﬁk ;t:’f;re tax 1 i 371;5 3:21 — %5
nderiying 8p 1] —_—
RN e
IFRS basic EPS 2 188p 48.7p (b4
Dividend per share 3 2%920p 30.08p (151)
EPRA adjustments consist of investment and develapment property
revaluations, gains/los=es on investment and racing property disposats,
changes i the far vatuz of timancat instrurnents and assoz ated L.0s¢ out L0515
These items are presentedin the captal and ather’ column of the conzoligated
income staternent
i Farong Net Developments Ehare 2008
1.1 Net rental income i Activty awestment buykack
20 _____"__,___.6__...._ Financing costs have come down by £23 mutlion thes year.
[44)
Debt transactions undertaken over the last two years reduced
financing costs by £19 million in the year This includes repayment of
BLT debt following the net sales of five properties and exit from the
joint venture in April 2017, and early redemption of our é 75% and
516 9125% 2020 debentures. In December 2017 we also successfully
tendered and repaid £84 mitlion of our 5 357% 2028 and 5 0055%
2035 Debentures Prior year activity includes early repayment of the
£295 million TBL Properties Limited secured [oan and close-out
of related swaps.
2017 Net Expineson Surrender  Develop-  Like-tor-lke 2018
dwestment  develop- premia ment rental
ments lettings growth
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In Septernber 2017, the 1 5% convertible bond was cash settled using
existing bank faciities This has proven to be highly efficient financing
since its 1ssue In September 2012 we estimate that it has saved

£40 mitlionin financing costs compared to a fixed rate Sterling bond
atthe time

Alsoin September we 1ssued a £300 million unsecured Sterling bond
for 12 years at a coupon of 2 375%, the towest for a UK real estate
company in this market As well as diversifying both our scurces of
funding and our maturity profile, it also established a benchmark for
us i the unsecured Sterling market

During the year we agreed a new £100 rrullion bilateral bank revolving
unsecured credit facility [RCF }and extended £225 million of existing
facilities in May, following the year end, we compteted an amendment
and extenston of cur largest syndicated RCF at £735 mullion, with

12 banks, at aninitial margin of 90 bps and new maturity of five years,
which may be extended by a further two years at our request and on
each bank’s approval This facility, together with the bilaterals,

adds further liguidity and flexibility to our debt portfolio

Net divestment activity reduced costs by a further £15 muillion,
the impact of whichis partially offset by development spend

At 31 March 2018 we had interest rate hedging on 80% of our debt
{spetl, and on 0% of our projected debt on average over the next
five years

1.4 Underlying Earnings Per Share

Underlying EPS15 37 4 pence based on Underlying Profit after tax of
£380 millon EPS decline of 11% aganst the Underlying Profit decline
of 2 6% was driven by the 0 4 pence berefit of the share buyback
programme, which would be 1 4 pence on an annualised basis

2.1FRS profit before tax

The main difference between IFRS profit before tax and Underlying
Profit is that it includes the valuation movement on investment and
development properties and the fair value movements on financial
instruments [naddition, the Group s investrnents injoint ventures
and funds are equity accounted in the IFRS income statement but
are ncluded on a proportionally consolidated basis within
Underlying Profit

The IFRS profit before tax tor the year was £501 million, compared
with a profit before tax for the prior year of £195 rullion This reflects
the pesitive valuation movement on the Group s properties which
was £346 million more than the prior year and the valuation
movement on the properties held in joint ventures and funds which
was £145 million more than the prioryear, resulting from ERV
growth of 1 8% in the current year This was partially offset by higher
capital financing costs of £176 muliion more than the prior year
primarily due to recycling of cumulative losses within the hedging
and transtation reserve in relation to & hedging mstrument which

15 ne longer hedge accounted The recognition of these amounts in
capital financing charges in the income statement has a imited
impact on EPRA NAY, with financing and debt management activity
undertaken in the year leading to a 5 pence reduction in EPRA NAV
per share

IFRS basic EPS was 48 7 pence per share, compared to 18 8 pence
per share in the prior year, driven principally by positive property
valuation movements The basic weighted average number of shares
inissue during the year was 1,013 million §2016/17 1,029 million)

!

3. Dividends

The fourth interim dividend payment for the quarter ended 31 March
2018 will be 7 52 pence to give a full year dividend of 30 08 pence,
anincrease of 3 0% Payment will be made on 3 August 2018 to
shareholders on the register at ciose of business on 2 June 2018
The final dividend will be a Property Income Distribution and ne
SCRIP alternative will be offered

This resulis inan increase in the dividend pay-out raho to 80% for
the year [2016/17 77%]

The Board proposes to increase the dividend by 3 0% in 2018/1% to
310 pence per share, with a quarterly dividend of 775 pence per
share The Board has taken into account tuture profit shape,

our preferred payout range and the external environment

Balance sheet

M7 2018

Sectior £rn €m

Properties at vatuation 13940 13,716
Other non-current assets 156 185
14,096 13,901

Other net current liabilities (364)  (368)
Adjusted net debt 6 14,2231 (3,973)
Other non-current biabilittes (11] -
EPRA net assets 9498 9,560
EPRA NAV per share 4 915p F67p
Non-controlling interests 255 254
Other EPRA adjustments’ [277) _ {3cs)
IFRS net assets 5 9476 9,506

Prapottionally Jorschidaied basis
FPRA net assets 2xclude the mark-ro-market on derwatives and related gent
acjustrrents, tha mark 10 mar<etonthe: crve-title conds as well as deferred
taxation cn property and derivative revoluations They include the tracing
praper ous at valuation frather trar lower of cost and net reahisable value| and
are adjustad for the giuive impact of share optians No dilut-on agjustrmant 1s
made for tre £350 mill on zero cowoen corvertiole pond matarmg in 2024
Detals of the EPRA adwstments are noleged n Table Bwithir the
supp'emen'ary d scwosures

4. EPRA net asset value per share
a7

15 2
32 S
29] Isi

15
JL17 0 Maluaon Ueder Dwvideads “imanding Share {ither M8

perfa lyrg ardecbt  bayoak

mnan g Fiatt nangge-

ment “ests

EPRA NAV per share has increased 5 7%, reflecting a valuation
increase of 2 2% for the year [Hi +1 4%, HZ +09%] This s the result
of stable yields and ERV growth of 1 8% resulting frem healthy
leasing activity and investor appetite for long term, secure income
streams In addition, property performance includes the benefit of
compieting the sale of The Leadenhall Building ahead of book value,
which contributed £32 million to capital profit, and an uplift of

£59 million following completion of Clarges
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Retail valuations are up ) 3% with marginal outward yield movernent l
of 6 bps and ERV growth of 1 6% the multi-let portiolio, which ‘
accounts for B1% of our Retail assets, was down C 5% but saw ERV
growth of 1 9% driven by leasing success

Office valuations were up 4 5% driven by inward yield movemnent
of 7 bps and ERV growth of 2.1% Valuation increases are driven

by successful leasing, devetopments lup 10 6%] and strong sales
activity The campuses account for 78% of the Offices portfolio and
all delivered strong performance, reflecting the attractiveness of
our campus approach

The 5 pence impact of financing and debt management costs
prirnarily relates to early repayment of debentures, term debt and
termination of interest rate swaps Our share buyback programme
has contributed 15 pence to EPRA NAV {

5.1FRS net assets

IFRS net assets at 31 March 2018 were £9,506 million, anincrease .
of £33 mitlron from 31 March 2617 This was primarily due to [FRS
profit before tax of £501 million and other comprehensive income {
of £141 mullion, partially oftset by £302 million of dwdends paid i
as well as £300 mullion of share purchases under the share
buyback scheme

Cash flow. net debt and financing

6. Adjusted net debt’
5,015
3 E——
53 N (01
_— HENE - (300)
(zosi {302}
14,223) 13,973
¢
20017 Disposals Acgur Deveiop Net Do Shae  Other 208
SHIONS ment  cashtrom dends  puvback
ard opera-
[0 tons

© Adiusted net dent 1o a proporticnally consaiidated measare It represents
the Group net debt as disclosed in note 171 the finanuial statements and
the Group's shai e of joint venture and funds net debt exclyding tha smark-ta
market an derivatives, related debt adjustments and noa-controlling interests
Areconciliation between the Group ret debt and adjusted net debt s included
in Table Awithin the supplementary disclosures

Net sales reduced debt by £0 8 brlion in the year Completed
disposals during the year included the sale of The Leadenhall
Buitding for £573 miltion (BL share) and, in line with our strategy of
focusing on multi-let assets, 20 superstores totalling £302 million
|BL share] We completed purchases of £206 million during the year,
including The Woolwich Estate

We've also spent €122 rrillion on developrnents and a further
£87 million on capital expenditure related to asset management
on the standing portfolio The value of committed developments
15 £572 mithion, with £427 million costs to come Speculative
development exposure ts 4 5% of the portfolio after taking into
account residential pre-sales. There are 578,000 sq it of
developments in our near term pipeline with anticipated

costs of £436 million
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7. Financing
Grous FPropertianally consal dated

2017 2018 2017 2018
Net debt/
adjusted net debt’ £3.094m €3,046m £4,223m  £3,973m
Principal amount
of gross debt £3,062m  £3,007m £4,520m £4,265m
Loan to value 22 6% 22.1% 299% 28.4%
Weighted average
interest rate 2 4% 2.0% 31% 2.8%
Interest cover 45 5.3 36 4.0

Werghted average
maturity of
drawn debt

6 Pyears  8.years 77years 8.6years

Group data as presanted in note 17 ¢t the tinancial statements

The proportionally consclidated ngures ircode the Grour s share of joint
vanture and funds ret gebt ano exclude the mark-lo-market an dervalives
and reiated gsbr agusiments and nan confrollirg iNterests

Our balance sheet remains strong LTV and weighted average
Interest on drawn debt have been reduced since 31 March 2017

At 31 March 2018, our proportionally consolidated LTV was 28 4%,
down 150 bps from 29 9% at 31 March 2017 due to net disposals,
offset by the share buyback This 1s positioned to suppert investment
into our devetopment pipeline as well as maintain significant
headroom Note 17 of the financial statements sets out the
catcutation of the Group and proportionally consolidated LTV

The strengih of our business is reflected in British Land's senior
unsecured credit rating which was upgraded by Fitchto 'A'in
February 2018 The iong term tssuer default rating was also
upgraded tc ‘A-

We maintained focus on ensuning our debt 1s cost effective Gur
weighted average interest rate 1s at an all time low of 2 8% driven
by proactive financing and debt management actions, together
with market rates Ourinterest cover has also impraved to 4 Ox at
31 March 2018 from 3 6x at 31 March 2017

Our werghted average debt maturity is almost nine years following
1ssuance of the £300 mitlion unsecured Sterling bond, and maturity
of the convertible

At 3t March 2018, British Land has £1 8 bitlion of committed
unsecured revolving bank facilities, €1 2 tullien undrawn. These
facilities have maturities of more than two years Based on our
current commitmenis, these faciities and debt maturities, we have
no requirement to refinance untit early 2021

Further information en cur approach to financing 15 provided in the

Financial policies and principles section of the audited Annual Report
for the year ended 31 March 2018

Chris Grigg

! Chief Executive



FINANCIAL POLICIES AND PRINCIPLES

We focus on having an appropriate
balance of debt and equity funding
which enables us to deliver our

property strategy

Leverage |
We manage our use of debt and equity finance to batance the henefits |
of leverage against the risks, including magnification of property
valuation movements A loan to value ratio {LTV ] measures our
teverage, primarily on a proportionatly consolidated basis including
our share of joint ventures and funds and excluding nen-controlling
interests At 31 March 2018, our proportionally consolidated LTV
was 28 4% and the Group measure was 22 1% We manage our LTV
through the property cycle such that our financial position would
remain robust in the event of a significant fall in property values
This means we do not adjust our approach to leverage based on
changes in property market yields Conseguently, our LTV may be
hugher in the low point In the cycle and will trend downwards as
market yields tighten

Debt finance

The scale of our business combined with the quatlity of our assets
and rental income means that we are able to approach a diverse
range of debt provigers to arrange finance on attractive terms

Good access to the capital and debt markets 1s a competitive
advantage, allowing us to take advantage of opportunities when they
arise The Group’s approach to debt financing for British Land s to
rasse funds predominantly on an unsecured basis with our standard
financial covenants [set out on page 47) This provides flexibility

and low operatiena! cost Our joint ventures and funds which choose
to have external debt are each financed in ring-fenced structures
without recourse to British Land for repayment and are secured

on their relevant assets. Presented on the following page are the ;
five guiding principles that govern the way we structure and !
rnanage debt }

Monitoring and controlling our debt
We monitor our debt requirement by focusing principally on current 1
and projected borrowing levels, available facilities, debt maturity and
interest rate exposure We undertake sensitivity analysis to assess i
the impacts of proposed transactions, rnovemnents in interest rates
and changes in property values on key balance sheet, iquidity and !
profitability rattos We also consider the risks of a reduction in the
availability of hnance, including a temporary disruption of the debt
markets Based on our current commitrents and avaliable tacilities,
the Group has no reguirement to refinance until early 2021 British
Land's committed bank facitities totat £1 8 bilion, of which

£1.2 billion was undrawn at 31 March 2018

Managing interest rate exposure

We manage our interest rate profile separately from our debt,
considering the sensitivity of undertying earnings to movemnents
in market rates of interest over a five-year period The Board sets
appropriate ranges of hedged debt over that period and the longer
term Our debt finance is raised at both fixed and vanable rates
Derivatives [primarily interest rate swaps and caps) are used to
achieve the desired interest rate profile across proportionally
consolidated net debt At 31 March we had interest rate hedging
on 80% of our debt |spot], and on 60% of cur projected debt on
average over the next five years, with a decreasing profile over
that peried The use of derivatives 1s managed by a Derivatives
Committee The interest rate management of joint ventures and
tunds s considered separately by each entity’s Board, taking into
account appropriate factors for its business

Counterparties

We monitor the credit standing of our counterparties to rmunimise
risk expesure in placing cash deposits and arranging dervatives
Regular reviews are made of the external credit ratings of the
counterparties

Foreign currency

Our policy 1s te have no matenial unhedged net assets or labilities
denominated in foreign currencies When attractive terms are
available, the Group may choose to borrow In currencies other
than Sterling, and will fully hedge the foreign currency exposure
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Our five guiding principles

Diversify
our sources
of finance

Phase
maturity
of debt
portfolio

Maintain
liquidity

Maintain
flexibility

Maintain
strong
balance
sheet
metrics

We momitor finance markets and seek to access different sources of finance when the relevant market conditions are
favourable to meet the needs of our business and, where appropriate, those of our joint ventures and funds The scale and
qualbity of our business enables us 1o access 2 broad range of unsecured and secured, recourse and non-recourse debt
We develop and maintain long term relationships with banks and debt investors We aim to avotd reliance on particular
seurces of funds and borrow from a large number of lenders from different sectors in the market across a range of
geographical areas, with a total of 30 debt providers in bank facilities and private placements alone We work to ensure
that debt prowiders understand our business, adopting & transparent approach to prowde sufficient disclosures to enable
them to evaluate their exposure within the overall context of the Group These factors increase our attractiveness to debt
providers, and In the last five years we have arranged £4 1 billion [British Land share £3 6 billion] of new finance in
unsecured and secured bank loan faclities, Sterling bonds, US Private Placernents and convertible bonds In addition we
have existing long dated debentures and securitisation bonds A European Medium Term Note programme has atse been
maintained to enable us to access Sterling/Furo unsecured bong markets when it 1s appropriate for our business, this was
used for our £300 millien Sterling unsecured bond issuance (n September 2017

£4.3bn

total drawn debt [proportianalty consalidated]

The maturity profile of our debt 15 managed with a spread of repayment dates, reducing our refinancing nisk in respect of
ttrning and market conditions As a result of our financing activity, we are ahead of our preferred refinancing date horizon
of not less than two years The current range of debt maturities 1s within one to 20 years Inaccordance with our usual
practice, we expect to refinance facilities ahead of their maturities

8.6 years

average dr awn debt maturity [proportionally censolidated)

In addition to our drawn debt, we always aimn to have & good level of undrawn, committed, unsecured revolving bank
facilities These facilities provide financial Liguidity, reduce the need to hold resources in cash and deposits, and minimise
costs arising from the difference between borrowing and deposit rates, while reducing credit exposure We arrange these
revolving credit facilities in excess of our committed and expected requirements to ensure we have adeguate financing
availability to support business requirements and new opportunities An example of this s our recent amendment and
extension of the £735m revolving credit facility, in advance of its maturity, for a new five-year term

£1.2bn

ungdrawn revolving credit facshities

Our facilities are structured to provide valuable flexibility for investment activity execution, whether sales, purchases,
developments or asset management inthatives Our unsecured revolving credit faciliies provide full operatienat flexibility
of drawing and repayment (and cancellation If we require] at short notice without additional cost These are arranged with
standard terms and financial covenants and generally have maturities of five years Alongside this unsecured revolving
debt our secured term debt in debentures has good asset security substitution rights, where we have the ability to move
assets in and out of the security pool

£1.8bn

tolal revolving credst fatilities

We use both debt and equity financing We manage LTV through the property cycle such that our financial position would
remain robust in the event of a significant fall in property values and we do not adjust our appreach to leverage based

on changes in property market yields We manage our interest rate profile separately from our debt, setting appropriate
ranges of hedged debt over a five-year period and the longer term

Cur senior unsecured credit rating (A and long term ICR credit rating | A-') were upgraded by Fitch during the year

284 A 4.0«

LTV iproportionally consolidated] semarunsecured credit rating interest cover (proportionally consolidated!
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Group borrowings

Unsecured inancing for the Group includes bilateral and syndicated
revolving bank facilities [with imtial terms usually of five years, often |
extendablel, US Private Placements with maturities up to 2027, the |
Sterling unsecured bend maturing in 2029, ang the convertible bond 5

maturing in 2020

Secured debt for the Group [excluding debt in Hercules Unit Trust
which 1s covered under 'Borrowings in our joint ventures and funds )
is provided by debentures with longer maturities up to 2035

Unsecured Borrowings and covenants

The same financial covenants apply across each of the Group's
unsecured facilities These covenants, which have been consistently
agreed with all unsecured lenders since 2003, are

- Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital
and Reserves

- NetUnsecured Berrowings not to exceed 70% of
Unencumberad Assets

No Income or interest cover ratios apply to these facilities, and there
are no other unsecured debt financial covenants in the Group

The Unencumbered Assets of the Group, not subject to any secunity,
stood at £7 7 brltion as at 31 March 2018

Although secured assets are excluded from Unencumbered Assets
for the cavenant calculations, unsecured lenders benefit from the
surplus value of these assets above the related debt and the free
cash flow from therm During the year ended 31 March 2018, these
assets generated £53 million of surplus cash after payment of
interest In addition, while investments in joint ventures do not form
part of Unencumbered Assets, our share of free cash flows
generated by these ventures (s reguiarly passed up to the Group

Unsecured financial covenants

e 2L 0te 077 2018
At 31 March % % % % %
Net borrowings to adjusted
capital and reserves 40 38 34 29 29
Net unsecured borrowings |
to unencumbered assets 31 28 2% 26 23

Secured borrowings

Secured debt with recourse to British Land 1s provided by debentures
at fixed interest rates with long maturities and Lirmited amortisation
These are secured against a combined pool of assets with common
covenants, the value of those assets 1s required to cover the amount
of these debentures by a minimum of 1 5 imes and net rental income
must cover the interest at least once We use our rights under the
debentures to actively manage the assets in the secunity pool, In Line
with these cover ratios We have reduced cur debenture debt by

£284 milhion over the last three years as we continue to focus on \
unsecured finance at a Group level, and have reduced the assets
held in the security pool accordingly

Borrowings in cur joint ventures and funds

External debt for our joint ventures and funds has been arranged
through long dated securitisations or secured bank debt, according
to the requirements of the business of each venture

Hercuies Umit Trust and s joint ventures have term loan facilities
maturing in 2019 and 2020 arranged for their business and secured
on property portfolios, without recourse to British Land. These lcans
incluge LTV ratio [with maximum levels ranging from 40% to 65%j
and sncerne based covenants

The securitisations of Broadgate [£1,565 million), Meadowhall

{£643 million} and the Sainsbury’s Superstores portiolio

€251 miltion), have weighted average maturities of 10 8 years,

71 yearsand 4 1 years respectively The key financial covenant
applicable 1s to meet interest and scheduled amortisation (equivalent
to 1 times cover], there are no LTV covenants These securitisations
have quarterly amortisation with the balance cutstanding reducing
to approximately 15% to 20% of the original amount raised by
expected final maturity, thus mitigating refinancing risk

There is no obligation on British Land to remedy any breach of these
covenants in the debt arrangement of joint ventures and funds
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Streategic Reporve

MANAGING RISK N DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY

Effective risk management is integral
to our objective of delivering
sustainable long term value

British Land core strengths

High guality commercial portfolis focused on London
campuses and multi-let retail centres around the UK

Long term strategy positioning the business to benefit
from long term trends

Customer focused approach to respond to

changing lifestyles

Diverse and high quality cccupier base

High occupancy and secure cash flows

Well balanced and risk managed developrment pipeline

Execution of asset management and

development activity

Ability to source and execute attractive

investrment deals

Efficient capital structure with good access

to capital and debt markets

Strong sustainability performance

Far British Land, effective risk management 1s a cornerstone

of delivering our strategy and integral to the achievement of our
objective of delivering sustainable long term value We maintain a
comprehensive risk managerment process which serves ta identify,
assess and respond to the full range of financial and non-financial
risks facing our business, including those risks that could threaten
solvency and liguicdity, as well as identifying emerging risks

Our approach is not intended to elirminate risk entirely, but instead
to manage our risk exposures across the business, whilst at the
same time making the most of our opportunities

Our risk management framework

Our integrated approach combines a top down strategic view with
a comptementary bottorn up operational process outlined in the
diagram on the right

The Board has overall responsibibity for risk management with a

particular focus on determuining the nature and extent of exposure to
principal risks it 1s willing te take in achieving Hs strategic objectives
The amount of risk we are willing to take 15 assessed in the context of

the core strengths of our business [as summansed above) and the
external environment 1n which we operate - this 1s our Fisk appetite

The Audit Committee takes responsibility for overseeing the
effectiveness of risk management and internal control systems
on behalf of the Board, and also advises the Board on the principat
risks facing the business including those that would threatenits
solvency or liquidity
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The Executive Directors are responsible for delivering the Company s
strategy, as set by the Board, and managing risk Qur rnisk management
framework categorises our risks into external, strategic and
operational risks. The Risk Cormmuittee [comprising the Executive
Directors and sentor management across the business] 1s responsible
for managing the principal risks in each category in order to achseve
our performance goals

Whilst uttimate responstbility for oversight of risk management
rests with the Board, the effective day-to-day management of risk
1s embedded within our operational business units and forms an
integral part of how we work This bottom up approach ensures
potential risks are identified at an early stage and escalated as
appropriate, with mitigations put in place to manage such risks.
Each business unit maintains a comprehensive risk register
Changes to the register are reviewed quarterly by the Risk
Committee, with signihicant and emerging risks escalated

to the Audit Commitiee.

To read more about the Board and Audit Committee’s risk oversight,
see pages &7, 72 and 73

Top down Bottem up
Strategic risk management Operational risk management
Review exlernal e
environment
Robust assessment Assess effectiveness
of principal risks . of nsk management
- BOARD: systems
Set risk appetite COMMITTEE, -
and parameters Report on principal nsks
- and uncertanties
Determine strategic
action pomnis .
tdentify principat risks Consider completeness
- of identified risks
Direct delivery of RISK and adeguacy of
strategic actions n CK;MLQ'TEJT”T\‘?PF/ mitigating actions
CXEC 't
Une with nsk appetite e o0 -
- Consider aggregation
Monitor key of risk exposures
risk indicators across the business
R T T =
Execute strategic Repart current and
achons emerging risks
_ BUSINESS -
Renort on ke UN TS ldentity, evaluate and
mE |nd|cator); rmitigate operational nsks
— " recorded in risk register

B




Our risk appetite

Change inrisk
appetitein the
year

Principal
internal risks

Keyrisk indicators
{including current optimal thresholds)

Invesimert -

Fxecution of targeted a. cuisiions and F
slrategy ' G%

disposals inlne with capital allocaton plan

T

loversesn by Investrnant Cornmities

- Annual IRR precess wii h forecasts
prospective returns of each asset

Par<entage of portfolio in non-core sectors

Develgpment -
strateqgy

Total developrment excosure <15% /25
of ivesiment perifalio by val.e &
- Speculatve development exposure <8%

of Investment portfotio by valae
— Progress on execution of key gevelopment
proects ggamnst pltan

Capral
structure

Manage our leverage such that 1 TV should
net exceed a maximurm threstold f marke!
yiglds wers 1 rse 10 prev ous peaks

- Financal rovenat headroom

@

Finance
sira‘egy

Period until refinancng 1s reguired
of not less than twa years

- Foroenlags of debt wilhntersst rare
fecging gver next five yedrs

&

Pauole - Jnplarned exscutive depariures

€
@

- Wagnted average unexpirec ease terr |

- Employee ergagement | Best
wormpanies surveyl

o me
sus*anan ity

Mar ket letting « sk ncuging vacan es,
upmaming exsoiries, and break: and
specdlative devalopment

- Concentranon of 2xpasdic to mdwidual
custorers or soolars |

Kev

Thangs frem tast year .

@ Jnonarged

Cur risk appetite is reviewed annually as part of the annual strategy
review process and approved by the Board This evaluation guides
the actions we take in executing our strategy We have 'dentified

a suite of Key Risk Indicators [KRis] to monitor the risk profile

[as summarised abovel, which are reviewed quarterly by the Risk
Committee, to ensure that the activities of the business reman
within our risk appetite and that our risk exposure is well matched
to changes in our business and our markets Theseinctude the
most sigrificant jJudgements affecting our nsk exposure, Including
our invesiment and development strategy, the level of occupational
and development exposure, and our financial teverage

The Board considers the risk appetite annually and has concluded it
15 broadly unchanged from last year and 1s appropriate to achieve our
strategic objectives Our strategy, which s based on long term trends, |
endures, and our financiat capacity, flexibility and optionality enable |
us to adjust to the evolving political and economic uncertainties.

During the year we have maintained a balanced approach to risk !
We've had a strong focus on capital discipline, demonstrated by

selling £1 3 bilion of mature ang off-strategy assets, reinvesting !
partly in our share buyback programme, selective acguisitions and
profitable development, whilst reducing our LTV further to 28 4%
We have substantial headroom and eperational optionality to continue
to progress our unigue develapment pipeline, including at Canada
Water, whilst at the same time carefully managing our risk profile

Our risk focus

The external environment remains ditficult, and the Board s
continuing to monitor the potentiat risks associated with the UK
leaving the European Union [Brexit’] As exit negotiations are
ongoing, the final cutcome remains unclear and it1s too early to
understand fully the impact Brexit will have on our business and
our markets, The matn impact of Brexit 1s the potentiat negative
impact on the macro-economic envirenment, but it could alse
impact cur iInvestment and occupler markets, our ability to execute
our investment strategy and our income sustainability

During the year, the Risk Commuitiee has focused on some key
operational risk areas across the business and has undertaken
deep dive reviews Into specific areas of risk including

- Dataprotection [GDPR] and implementing a project to manage
personal data appropriately

- Retailer tenant risk and managing our expesure to :individual
customers or sectors in light of a more chatlenging market
backdrop

- Enhancing our crisis management strategy for both physical
and cyber risks including a simulation exercise for senior
management

~ Management of health and safety and envirorwmental risks across
the portiotio In particular, fabric investigations were carried
out on our entire portfolio following the Grenfell Tower fire
Our Health and Safety management system was re-certified
under BS OHSAS 18001

~ Identifying and managing key supplier relationships and the
launch of our Supplier Code of Conduct
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Strategic Report

MANAGING RISK IN DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY CONTINUED

Our prineipal risks and assessment

Our nisk management framework 1s structured around the
principal risks facing Brittish Land The Audit Commmuttee on behalf
of the Board has undertaken a robust assessment of the principal
risks and uncertainties that the busmess is exposed o In Light of
the long term trends we are facing [see page 12], together with the
challenging backdrop of political and econemic uncertainty Whilst
the nature and type of the principal risks are considered to be
unchanged from the previous year, several of our principal risks are
elevated las shown by the risk heat map belowl, betng the political

and regulatory cutlook, commercial property investor demand,
occupler demand including tenant default and the risk to our iIncome
sustainability One risk, capital structure, 1s considered to have
reduced reflecting cur lower leverage

The principal risks are summarised below [and detailed on pages 52
to 55), including an assessment of the potential impact and liketihood
and how the risks have changed in the year, together with how they
relate to our strategic priorities

Qur risk assessment

Change _n

Key strategic inrisk
priorities assessment
affected inyear

Principal
risks

External risks
@ELGHOW‘-\C cutiouk

Political and
requlatery cutlook

®e®
®R®
2®

@ Comrercial
progerty investar
dermard

Qccuper demand
and terant default

©8

@Avallabmty and ast @

ottinarra
®8a

Internal risks — strategic

@ bnvestrient strategy @g@
Development g@

strategy

@ Capital structure @

Likelihood

@@ e 2206

@ Catastrophic
business everil

e @ ®

Fmance strategy @

Internal risks — operational

@ oo -

2®

Key

@

ncarme
sustainabiity

@

@

no
Ug

Other group risks

In addition to our principat risks, there are also a nurnber of other
risks that are largely operational in nature and are managed
centrally with appropriate processes and mitigation plans in place
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Strategic priorities
Customer Ornientation @
Right Places

Capital Efficiency

N
2

Irpact

Note The anove illustrates priuipal rekswhie b by sheir natus e are those whics nave tne potential
fo sagriticantly impast the Group s strategic objec tives, fmansial posit on or reputaher The heat map
tughlights net sk, aftes taring account of prnepal matigations

Change year on year

Unchanged

@ Increased
@ Reduced

Lxpert People

These risks comprise.

- Operating model including - Effective control
reliance on third parties environment

- Culture — Fraud and corruption

- Information systems and - Compliznce and legal

framework
- Supply chain management

cyber security



Viability statement

Assessment of prospects

The Group s annual corperate planning process includes the
completion of a strategic review, reassessing the Groups risk
appetite and updating the Group s forecasts

The Group's strategy provides the focus for our annual priorities
and is formally reviewed annually This process is led by the Chief
Executve through the Executive Comrittee and includes the active
engagement of the Board. Part of the Board's role s to consider
whether the strategy takes appropriate account of the Group's
principal risks The latest updates to the strategic plan and

Group s risk appetite were approved by the Board in March 2018

The strategy and risk appetite drive the Group's forecasts These
cover a five-year penod and consist of a base case forecast which
includes committed transactions only, and a forecast which also
includes non-commutted transactions the Board expects the
Group to mzke in line with the Group's strategy A five-year
forecast is considered to be the optimal balance between the
Group's long term business model to create Places People Prefer
and the fact that property investment 1s a long term business
[with weighted average lease lengths and debt maturities in
excess of five years), offset by the progressivety unreliable nature
of forecasting in later years, particularly given the historically
cyclical nature of the UK property (ndustry

Assessment of viability

For the reasons outlined above, the period over which the
Directors consider it feasible and appropriate to report on
the Group s viability 1s the five-year period to 31 March 2023

The assumptions underpinning these forecast cash flows and
covenant compliance forecasts were sensitised to explore the
resilience of the Group to the potential impact of the Group 5
sigrificant risks, or a combination of those risks

The principal risks table which follows on pages 52 to 55
summarises those matters that could prevent the Group from
delivering on its strategy A number of these principal nisks,
because of their nature or potential impact, could alse threaten
the Group s ability to continue in business mits current formif
they were to sccur

The Directors paid particular attention to the risk of a downturn

in economic outlook which could impact property fundamentals,
including investor and occupier demand which would have a
negative impact on valuations, and give rise to a reduction in the
availability of finance The remaining principal risks, whilst having
an impact on the Group's business model, are not considered hy
the Directors to have a reascnable Likelihood of impacting the
Group s wability over the five-year pertod to 31 March 2023

The sensitivities performed were designed to be severe but
ptausible, and to take full account of the availability of rmitigating
actions that could be taken to avoid or reduce the impact or
occurrence of the underlying risks relating to a 'downturn scenario’

- Downturn in economic cutlook key assumptions inctuding
occupancy, void periods, rental growth and yields were
sensitised in the downturn scenarto’ to reflect reasonably
Likely levels associated with an econamic downturn, including
- areductionin occupier demand, with a fall in occupancy rate
of 5% and ERV declines of 6%

- areduction ininvestment property demand to the level seen
In the last severe downturn in 2008/200%, with cutward yietd
shift to 8% net init:al yield

- Restricted availability of finance based on the Group's current
commitments and available facilities there 1s no reguirement
to refinance until early 2021 In the normal course of business,
financing 1s arranged in advance of expected requirements
and the Directors have reasonable confidence that additional
or replacement debt facilities will be put in place Inthe

downturn scenario, the following sensitivity of thus

assumption was conducted

- areduction in the availability of finance, for the final two
years of the five-year assessment period from early 2021
alongside the Group's refinancing date

The outcome of the downiurn scenario was that the Group's
covenant headroom based on existing debt (i e the level by which
investment property values would have to fall before a financial
covenant breach occurs] decreases from the current 60% to, at its
lowest level, 22%. indicating covenants on existing facilities would
not be breached

inthe 'downturn scenario , mitigating actions would be required
to enabte the Group to meet its future abibities, including through
asset sales, which woutd allow the Group to continue te meet its
Liabilities over the assessment period

Viability statement

Hawing considered the forecast cash flows and covenant
compliance and the impact of the sensitivities in combination
inthe downturn scenario, the Directors confirm that they have

a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue
in operation and meet its babilities as they fall due over the pericod
to 31 March 2023

Going concern

The Directors also considered it appropriate te prepare the
financial statements on the going cencern basis, as explained
Iin the Governance review

> Tar=ad more informaticn angaing . aroarn, go to page 67
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Straregic Report

PRINCIPAL RISKS

External risks

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Economic
outlook

Responsible
executive:
Chre Giigg

Political
and regulatory
outlook

Responsible
executive:
Chris Grigg

Commercial
pr()perty
investor demand
Responsible
executives:

Charles Maudsley.
Tir Roberls

The UK econemic climate -
and future movementsin
interest rates present
risks and opportunities in
property and financing
markets and the
businesses of our
customers which can

Tae Risk Commuttes reviews the coar om ©
erwvronmi=nt 10 which we operate quarlerly (o assess
whether any changes to tha econamez oatlavk jusuty
are assessment of the risk appette of the busiress
- Reyirdicaters irc uding orecast GO growth,
employmeant rates, husiness ang consumer

confide 1ce, interest rates and inflatisn/de ation

are zonsidered, as well as central bank guidance

impact both the delivery and governmert policy upda‘es

of our strategy and We 5 N recs ol o dower

our financial e Stress tes olur business plan agains a\ ownt,
c N . cial pos

performance. in ecanorric autlook to ensure our financial pasitan

Significant political events -
and regulatory changes.
including the decision to
teave the EU, bring risks
principatly in two areas:

Reduction in investor -
demand for UK real estate
may resultin falls in asset
valuations and could arise
from vartations in:

1s sutfienily flexible and resibient

- Qurresitient business megsl focuses ona high
qua typartfolio, with secure income streams and
robust firarces

Whiist we are notable to n*luence the outcome
ut significant political events, we da lake the
uncertamty related to such events and the range
of possible outcomes .mta atcount when making
afrategic investment and inancing decssons
Reluctance ot mvestars -
anc busmesses 1o

make Investment and
accupationai dec.sions
whilst the cutcorne
refmaing uncertaim and

Intert-ally we review ard mo-uter proposais and
emerging polioy and legs aticr to enstre that we
take the pecessary sieps 1o ensure compliance i
spplicable Addit unally we engage public affars
consultants to ersure that we are properly by efed
anth o potential pol cy and - egulatory mplizacans
ot polih-al everta We a’=o mamtar publy trust n
busimess Wnerc sppropriate, we act with ather
indusiry participants ang representative bocies

to contr bute to polcy and regulatory debate

We monitor and respord ta sociat ane polit al
reputatinnzal chal-enges re evant to the ndustry

Or deterrminatian of the
outcome, the rnpact an
the case far investraent
nthe JK, et on
speci'T policics and
regulation ntroducea,
particulgrly those
which directly impact
real es’ate or our
cuslomers

The Risk Commirtee reviews the property markes
quarierly lu assess whether any changes tothe
market cLtlock present risks ang opportunibes
which shoule be reflected i tne exerution o' our
s'rategy andour captal allocation plan The
Committea considers 1ngdhoators suoh as margin
between property yields and borrowing costs
and property capital growth forecasts, which arc
considered alongside the Commitiee members
knowledge and experience 0f markst actvily
and frends

I'te heath of the UK
SC0NoMmy

The atlractiveness of
investment inthe UK

Avar abihity of finance

Relative atiractiveness -
of other asset o asses

We forus on prime assets and sectars whithowe
beleve will be less susceplible aver the med-um
term ta a reduction 1M oicupier ang investor demand
- Strong relationships with agents and direct invester s
active In the market

We stresstest our busaness plan for the effect of

a change N property yields

Key

Changa from last yea

r

@ Risk exposure has increased
@ Mo sigrificant change in rsk exposure

@ Risk expasure has reduced
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Change in risk assessment in the vear
The derision ta leave “he FU carlinues toirmeac’

@ the ezonemic gutiaok Noanetheless, UK economic
growth has remamed relatively resilient ara hos fared
better than many experted, albet growing at levels
lower tran ather rrapor economies

Consurer speading has satencd &s w:flation has

squeezed bousehold spending, although there are scrme

carly s gns that inflation 1 moder ating Thers has,

however, been sgrme offsel from a stronger glapal

ecengmy Lquity and farergr exchange markets have

been less volatile im the year, a.though remain sensitve

to exiernal shocks '

The Banx of England intreased wterest rates for the hirst
time ina decads, with the prospect of more rises ra
came Increases are expected to be bmited and gradua.
and to remain low py histerical standards

We are mendiu' of the nngoing paliica, and e2onomi.
uncertainties, however we are cont deat " at the
resihience of our busiress with gLt sustainable lo~g term
1zotne streams and balanice sheet strengea, togetner
with the actions we have taken, leaves our business

well posiioned

({F\ Wh Is* a Brexit transstion peniad has been agreed I
WA to 2020, uncertarity sermams aver the outcome af

negotiatens on aur future relatonshipwith the £,
‘nrluding crutializsues of market access, [3bour
movement and trade Furtharmare, the globa:
geopoht cal and trade environments rema.n uncertan
The present hung Pacliamer t alsc c-eates domesatic
poticy uncerrginty

Interms of ssgnificant regulatory snanges, the General
Data Prefect on Requlation [BDPR] ccmes inta force

on 5 May 208 and w L contrel and govern the Lee of
peraonal dala, affecling pperatipns s0ross the bes ness
In these mo« e voiatile imes, we will tenefit 'rem our
leng terer, secure rental sneome, with 2 /% of our
porifatic occupieq and oar financ.al c apacity and
flexinibty to agjus® t¢ evolving condiors

(@\ Overal property transaction volumes hed up
L/ relatwely wel, i1 3017, howaover, investars are
beLoming nCreasingly selective and marke® pricing
polarsed, wth continued softering :n demand ‘or rrore
secordary assels

The historically wide gep between property yierds and
nterest rates has continued to underpn demand for UK
real esta‘e, albe interes: rates are expected tc iz
slightly nths medium term

I terms ot our sectars

Uifize mvestrment volumes cortinue to benefit from
Gemand ror overssas Nvestons, bat Investors are
Increasigly selective Interms of *herr requirermnts,
aiten seekingwell let, best- n-class stack or
cpporturities with an achucvabite growth stary Supply
of fugh quabity new space arrass both the West End
and Sy markets is relatively constrained i the short
terrmn London office prirme yields have bean stable
thraughout 2017

Retarl investment valurmes remain subdued, abed
activity increased towards the and of 2017, parucularly
for1etail parks Investor demand forrata |
increasingly focused on smalter ot sizes with secure
ncorme streams Retasl prime yields remain stable,
but secondary asset prices are expected io weaken
further as polarisation in retail continues

Wa have _ontinued to be active and succassfuily sold
£13 billion of assets, averall above valuation




Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in the vear

Occupier
demand

and tenant
default
Responsible
executives
Char.es Maudsley,
[ Roberts

Availability
and cost
of finance

Responsible
executives:

{ ucirda Be!

luntil zar.ary 2018,
Crris Grgg

{arrer January 2018]

latastrophic
business
event

Responsible
executive:
Chris Urigg

Underlying income,
rentat growth and capttal
performance could be
adversely affected by
weakening occupler
demand and cccupier
failures resulting from
variations in the health
of the UK a2conomy and
corresponding weakening
of consumer confidence,
business activity and
investiment.

Changing consumer and
business practices
including the growth of
internet retailing, flextble
working practices and
demand ‘or cnergy
efhicient bui'dings, new
rechnologies, new
teqisialion anc alter ~ative
loranons may ~esultin
ea-liertnan an' ¢ psted
obsowscence of aur
auldings tevalving
occupler ard ~egutalory
reguiremertsare not met

Reduced availability of
finance may adversely
impact ability to refinance
debt and/or drive up cost.
These factors may also
result in weaker investor
demand for real estate.

Regulation and capital
costs of lenders may
mcrease cost of finance

An external event such
as a civit emergency,
mcluding a large-scale
terronist attack, cyber
crime, extreme weather
oceurrence,
epvironmental disaster
or power shortage could
severely disrupt global
markets [including
property and finance) and
cause significant damage
and disruption to British
Land's portfolro and
operations.

- The Risk Committes reviews indwators of
ot cup.er gemand guarterly inclugmg ¢ onswimes
confidan: e sarveys and employrment ano LRV
growth forecasts, slongside tne Committere
marbers knowledge and exper ience of octupier
plans, trading performance and leasng s tivity
i guiding execution of our strafegy

— We have a hagh guality, siversified ozcupier base

- and monrtor conrentratior of exposure to inawidual
oLcupiers or sectors We perform nigoraus otouner
cavenant chazks ahiead of approvirg deals ard on an
30guing bas:s sc hratwe can be prosctive In ™Managing
eXposurs 10 weaker olcupiers

- Ongoing engagement with our customers Thraugh
our Key Uccupier Account pragramme we work
togetherwith our cczupiers o find ways 1o best meet
therr evolving reguirements

- Oursusianability straiegy Lnks action an orcupier
health and wellbeing, energy efficie~cy, cormmunity
and sustamable design to aur busiress stiategy
Oursocal and ervironmental targets help us Zomply
with new leqislatton ard respond to custormer
demands, forexample, we expect al cur oftize
deve cpments t¢ be BREEAM Excellent

- Market borrawing ratas and rzal estate credi
ava lzbility are monitered by the Risk Commitee
quarterly and reviewed regularly .nerdactoguide
aur finanzng ast 905 nexacuting our strategy

- We momtor curproesred LTV ard our debt
reau renents usaig several internally generatzd
repcrts focused on berrowing levels, debt maturity,
avallable facilites and rtorest rate exposure

- Wemairtam goac lorg lerm retationships with our
key "imarang partness

- Theswcza'sandouality af our busiress enables (s to
atcess a dwverse canga of soucesof financewitna
spread of repayent dates We aim always to nave
a good level of undrawn, cammitted, unsecured
revaly ng tacilities (¢ ensure wa nave adequale
financing avallability to suppor® business
requ rements and oppar tuaities

- Weworkwith industry hages and other refevant
or gatisations to particpate indebat-: or emerging
finance regulatianswhere cur iInterests and those
G ourindustry are af e ted

-~ We maintain a carmprehensive crisis rgsponse plan
azross &'l business urits as well as a nead offine
ausiness continuity glan

- The Risk Corrrrutter menitor s the Home Office
terror3ir toreat levels and we have acdessto
security tr reat intormabar setvices

- Asact amergency piceedure- are regualat ly reviewcd
and szenanio fusted Physical se urity measures ars
N plar= at propet tizs and deveoprnent s.tes

- Qur Sustaicabiity Commitice rroniiars
environmental and cimaie change reks Assel fsk
as-essienls are carped Gui o assess arangs of
ks nelading seourity, flood, environimertal,
health and safety

- We haveirnplerrented _orporate cyber securnty
syntems which are suppleriented by e dent
rnanagement, d sastar recovary and business
contiruity poans, allabwhichare cegularly reviswed
te oeabile te respoad to - hanges nthe threat
latris ape and orga wsahiordl requinensnty
We also have aporopridle Insuran.=in plar
dcross tre pocttalio
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(ﬁ}\ IN *%e MOre UNZeriain enviiorment, we 4 e seeng
4 pelar sation of occuper demand azceleratirg with
an infreasing focus an the pest qualny spdace Irthes
context our l2asing activity Bos been good, with

? 4 milhan sg§t of space let or renewsy acrass the
perttolio, atrateswell anzad ol ERV, ardour parttct o
ramams virtuaty full with /9% ozcupancy

Interms of aur sectors

In the Landon cifice mmas ket, occuplers are more
trcughtful sbout therr - egLorerr ents as a ~esult of
poiticaland economic uncertainty However, w2
continue to see both miernational and British
compa 1 es making commutrmerts ' Longor,
conficent af its enduring status as a glubal city n
which the wortd s leading erganisations want 1o de
business Take up has remamnec res:lient partly
underpinned by strong demand for l'ex ble
workspaze, demonstrating tne “nanging occupler
marker, as well as good denand for Grade A space

- Wthretalers facing economiz and structural
challenges, the wder occupalional rarket has been
moie coulicus with polarisation of oorupler derand
cornirung Whilst mare recently, we have seena
number ot cperators apoly for company voluntary
arrangemerts, as some retaile: s struggee to compete
with the 7ise of anling shopp'ng and increased costs,
there are mary retailers whs.h continue to trade well
danagrow sales The growtb inimportance of anling
means th o way nwhich oocupars and then
customers are using phy=iZal spacte s changing
However the store and its valus 1s st.llintegral to
supperrewdlers ocrmni-~hanne. approach, and thare
remadins demanc fer the best space, where retailars
~ar growszales with lower orcupancy Josts

&) Alth oug® there has cant nucd Lo be mar ket
€D L

vo.a1 Ly react ng ta macro econom cand poldiza’
un-erteintes, debt markets have remaired open There
continues to se gaad avalab Lty of fimarce o debi and
zapital marke's Lasecured and securedlirem a range
of lerders far LK REITs and atvier guac guality real
estatz nveslers Cevelopment finance s more cifficull
ro obtain with fewer lenders parucipat ng Projects
withoal pre- efs require strang Sponsors
rlerest mmargits/spreads have peen relatively stable,
put marketfg crates rave increased, pushurg ovaral
debt prizing up [altt augh st b low oy historical
stardat us)

We have continued 1o acd ess the debt rrarkets and
durimg the year raised f400 mihion of new finarce
includ ng a L300 mullicn unsecLree Ste-ling bond,
aswetl as exrending L225 rmullion of revowving
Lreditfacdities

o

@ The evalsatior of the | kely impact of this risk

* < has nct  hanged notably sirce the prior year
Ihe Hume Office threat level from imternational
terroramremamns Severe During e year, we have
sarried outa nais smulation exeroise and wnhanled
aur protedures wher= appropriate

W ore mind*ul of cyber securiy risiks, particulany
following a number ol recent zaati-profile hawss,

and navz » antimued ta enhante o security postion
and provide emgroyee traiming and awarengzss on
syber secanity



Serategic Report

PRINCIPAL RISKS CONTINUED

Internal risks

Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Change in risk assessment in the vear

Investment
strategy
Responsible
executives:

Chris Grigg,
Charles Maudsley,
T Raoberis

Development
strategy
Responsible
executives:

Chriz Grigg,
Charles Mauasley,
T Roberts

in order to meet our
strategic objectives we
aim to invest in and exit
from the right preperties
atthe right time

Underparformance could
result from changes in
market sentiment as
well as inappropriate
deterpynation

and execution of our
property investment
strategy, including:

Sector selection and
weighimg

- Timing of investmeant
and divestrent
dec gicns

- Exposureto
dévelopments

- Assel tenant, region
caqceniration

- Co-investment
arrangaments

Development provides
an opportunity for
outperformance but
usually brings with it
elevated risk.

Thus s reflected in our
decision-making process
around which schemes to
develop, the timing of the
development, aswell as
the execution of these
projects.
Development strategy
addresses several
develaprnent risks that
could adversely impact
undarlying income and
capital performance
including
- Development tetting
axpusuie
- Caonstrugtion iming
and rosts Including
Lonstructon 2ost
inflation]
- Major contractor falure
- Adverse planmng
dgements

—
Key

34

Change frorm last year

6} Risk exposure has increased

@ No aignificant change in risk exposure

@ Risk exposure has reduced

—  Qurinvestmen strategy s determined to e
consistent with our target risk appetite and 15 cased
onthe evaluation of the exiernal envircnment

Frogress aganst the strateqy and zortinuing
alignmentw'th aur risk appetite 1s discussed at
each Risk Commuittee with refarence to the pioperty
markets and the exter nal economic mwrsnment

- The Bpard carres out an annual ~eview of the
overall corporate stralegy including the current
and prospective asset portfolio allacatiar:

- Indmidual investment decisions are suibject o
robust nisk evaluation oversesn by our Investment
Corninittee msluding consider ation of returns
relative ta risk adjusted hurdle rates

- Review of prospective performance of individual
assels ana ther business plans
We toster collaborative relationships with our
Lo-Investors and enfer into ownership agreements
which balance the interests ot tne parties

~  We marage our levels of total and specutative
develgprnent exposure as a proportion of the
myvestmuent portfolio value with.m  target range
taking into account sssociated risks and the unpact
on key financial metrics This ik monitared quarterly
by the Risk Cornmittee alongwith progress of
developrnznts against ptan

~ Frierte camoniting to a gevelopment a d=talled
appraisal s undertaken Tnis 'ncludes corsideraticn
of relurns rewtive to risk adpusted hurdle rates and
15 averseen by vur Investment Committes

Pre lets are used to reduce developrent letting risk
whare consdered approprate

- Competitive tendering of construclion contracts
and, where appropriate, fixed price Contralis
enteredinto

- Detailed selection and close rmonitaring of
ZoNIrac s including Lovenan* reviews
Experienced develooment management team
closely menitors design, construction and overall
delivery process

- FEarlyengagament and sirong relabionships with
planming authoriies

- We also actvely engage witn the ccmmunities in
which we operate, as detaled i our Lacal Charter,
to ensure that our deveiepment activiies consider
the 'nterests of all stakeholders

We manage environmental and social risks across
our developrent suppty chair by cngaging with our
suppitars, in:zluding through our Supplier Code of
Conduct, Sustainability 8rief for Developments and
ilealth and Safety Policy
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@ (Tur strategy 15 aligned to fong term trends, ard
cur figh gaality portfolo s positaaned to benefit
from incressing polarisation and to attract @ broader
range of occupers

We have raninued to be active In execubing our capdal
atlocation plans and have soud £1 3 billion of assets in
the year overall ahead of valuation, primartly mature
ang off-strateqy assets The retail markel fazes
structural chatlenges and we have continued to
rashape our Retarl portfolo with £419 rmillion of sales
Inthe year, intotal £2 3 bitlion overthe last four years

We have maintained strong capitat dis<ipline, ang
have focused respurces Oh progressing our UnIGue
developrent programme, selective gcgquisifons and
a £300 million share buynack Overall we were a net
chvestar af £0 8 billion of proper hies over the course
of the yoear

@ Development s an important part of our business
¢/ andg has delivered somre of our strangest returns,
but s . nherently tugher risk, par ticularly when pursued
ora speulative basis We limit our development
exposure to 15% of the totalimvesiment portfolio by
value, wilh a maxymurn of 8% 1o be devaloped
speculatively

During the year, we have doubied our cominitied
development pipel.ne, representing o fofal
develop~ent exposure of & 2%, whiist carefully
managing the risk by secaring substantial pre-lets,
assucnihere has beenonly @ mingr increase n
speculative expasure, which now stands at 4 5% of

the partfolio GAY Committed construction costs are
substantially covered by:esidential receipts to come



Risks and impacts

How we monitor and manage the risk

Capital structure
- leverage
Responsible
executives.

Luw nda Belt

[until Jar.ary 2018},
Chos Grigg

[after lanuary 2018,

Finance
strategy

Responsible
executives

Lutinca Bel'

lurt cenua-y 2018,
Chris Grieg

[after Jancary 2014

People
Responsible
executive:
Chr = Grigg

Income
sustainability
Responsible
executives-
Luginga Bell

Jurdr Lsnuary 2018],
Chris Grigg

‘after sanuary 20°8),
Charles Maudsiey,
Tirn iRocer f=

Our capital structure
recognises the balance
between performance,
risk and flexibility,

- Leverage magnifies
capital returns, sath
positive and negeiive

- Anincreasein leverage

increases the ~sk of
abreachof covenants

o botrowing faciaties

and mayncreass
finanze rosts

Finance strategy
addresses risks both to
continuing solvency and
profits geherated

Fa'ume lo i anage

r=tnansing ~eguirements

may rzsull .~ a shortage
a' fundsto sustar i~e

operat ons gt the busimess

or repay farilities as they
fall due

A number of critical
business pracesses and

decisions ligin the hands

of afew people.

Faluretorecruit, develop

ardrstain staff and
Directo swith the right

skills and experienze may

resultin signine
underpertgrmance or
mgact =2 efiestiveness

of oparations and gecisiar
making 1mturs irpaitng

busness perforimance

We are mindful of
maintaining sustainable
income streams which
underpin a stable and
growing dividend and
provide the platform
from which ta grow

the business,

We cansider sustainability

of our Incorne streams i

- Executignof
mnvestmant strategy
and rapital recyeling,
~otany hiring
of rel wesiment nt
sale prgr ends

- Nalatard stracture
of leasing achvity

- Nat. = and im ng of

dastl Managernent and

devetaprent a- ity

¢ manage our use of debr and equity finance *o
balance the herehits of leverage against the 1 aks
We aim ta marage our loan ta value | TV] through
the property cye le such that our financial posidion
would remair robust in the event of a significant fall
n proper by verues This means we do not adjust our
approach 1o iever age hased on changes inproperty
marke: ylelds
We manzge our inves' ment actuwity, ime sa1ze and
tiemueg of which can be uneven, 38 well as our
development commitrents ta ensure that ourt TV
level remairs appropriate
We leverage odr 2quity ano achieve beneflirs of scale
while spreading nisk through joint ventures and
tunds whecn are typically partly financed by cebt
without recourse to British Land

Fiva key principles guide our finan: ng, employed
together to marage the r wksm this area diversify
our spurzes of hinance, prase maturity of debt
portfolio, mairtam aguidity, maintain fiex bility,

and wa ntain sireng balance sheet metrics

We mantor the perice antilfinancing s required,
whizh s a key ceterminant of finans ng activity Jent
and vapital market condfians a-e reviewed regularly
toidentity f-pa-wing oppartunities that meet our
busiress requirements

Etnancial L ovenant beadsoomis evaluated reqularly
and m conjLnzt onwith fransaciions

We are commitled fo mamtaiming «nd enhars ng
relationships with our key firans ing cartrers

We a-e monotul of rel=vant eamerging *egulat on

wh oh gs e potentia toirpart the way that we

f pance the busirzss

Cur AR s'ra‘egy s designed tc muimise Tk
trough
- ~oried ard skiled recrotimesnt progesses

- talent pecformance mansgement and suo
pla=in ng far key coles

253100

Fughiy competitive compensation and benef.ts
- pecple geveloprent asd traimeng
The =3k s measured “hrough employes
engogement surveys [reluding the Best
Corrpanies survey’, employes turncvar ar d
retention reetrics We manitor this thrgugh the
~wrnber of unplannad executive depariures in
additizn to conductng exit interviews

We engage with our e-nployees and sugplicis 1o
make clear cur requiremerts IN ManagGing <ay risks
meluting health and safety, fravo end rribery and
otherscuat and environimental risks, o3 getaled in
cur policies and odes of Zendudt

We Lndertake comprehensive profit and cash flow
forecasting MLorporating =oenarnao ondlysis 1o model
the mpact of proposed transacthions

Proactive assel rmanagemenrt aporaach to mainian
strorgo-cupier ing-up We monitas 00 market
NG eXpO3Ure 1IN0 IUAING vac ancizs, Up.LCImng
sxpiries and braaks and spe-uiative development as
wel as aurweighleo average goexpired w2ase term
We Fave & Figh quality ard divecsified occugier base
and rmonitar concentraton of exposur: tondividual
0IruUpers OF se 108

We are pioactive in addressing key izase breaks
ang expiries [ rmanimise penods of varancy

We ootvely engage withthe commundios nowhich
we operale, as delaled in our Local Charter, 1o
ensure ws provide buldirgs that meet the weads

ot all relevant stakeho'ders
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Change in risk assessment in the vear
(@7 Qur balanze sheet metrics remaen strang, botn
4 the prepartionally consolidated luan ‘o value

[LTVY] andweighted average intarest rate have been
rduced aiongside imoroved inlerest - over We have

decreased L7V by afurther 150 bps 1o 28 4% from
299% at 31 March 2077, prirmariy throughr 2t
dizposals "his financal strangth provides us with
the “apacity to progress opportunil €5 mcwuding owr

deve opmert pipeline whiist retainirg s gn hizant
neadroom tovur Lovenants

@ The sca'e of our busimess, auality of our agsets
</ ang security of our rertat streams enaple us to
access a broad range of gabl finance onattractive
terms Following issdance of the €300 million
unsecured Sterling bond, our weigh'ed average debt
matariy s almest n ne years, and based an current
commitmerts and avaraole oebt facilites, we have no
requiremner toref nanze ur learly 2041 Our
comrmitted bank tacil tes total £1 8 billion of which

£ 2b llanwere undrawn a* 33 Mach 2018 The
strengtn of our business s reflected nour senior
unseoured cred tranng which was upgraded by £ *ch to
A lfromm A Jdurirgthe year

() Expert Pzanle 1s ane of the tour core focus
areds of pur strategy ang & key facior i our
perfermance We Lorinug 'o erpower aur p2apls

(6 make tra most o' “herr polerhial though *raining
and development

We are fcoused ar bu loing a supsortive and inclusive
culture tor gur people and we ware the first Listed
proparty company to achieve the Nationa® Equality
Starda~d arcrecitation nthe year

Ju-ing theyear, sta'l ‘arr over Mas remaired relatively
ww al 15% and our bugh 'evel of staff engagerren® was
recognised by achizwng a Two Star rabing in the Sanoay
Times Best Compdnies to Wark For survey

@ We are murdbus at tqe challenges facing the retail
Y./ marketwhich has seena number of operatars
anpty for conrpany vorantary arrangements We
contimue 1o @chive ¥y rgnifar our exXposuce ‘o ol CUpIers
a* risk of defoslt and admiristration and are selective
apout the 3201 rs and operators we fargot

We also recoarisa th at inde ivering our niveshment
stalegy ard seding some of our retute assets, we
*ave had *o by CON=10us of the 1mpact onour roome
inthe snorttarra

However, our Incoma streams are undecpinned by
atugh quality, diverse oocupier base with hughy
nrcapancy, and look.ng forward cur developrnent
pipeline offers significant potental o gener ate
fuiure incaimsa

o
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We have created a woodland walkway outside 2 Kingdom
Street and enlivened the space inside with independent
coffee shops and flex:ble workspace.
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Governanee

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Our Board develops strategy

and leads British Land to
achieve long term success

Non-Executive Chairman and Executive Directors

John Gildersleeve &

Non-Executive Chairman

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in September 2008 and as
Chairman in January 2013

Skills and experience: john ts deputy chairman of TalkTalk Telecom
Group PLC John atso serves as chairman of Nobie Foods Ltd He
was formerly deputy chairman and senior independent director of
Spire Healthcare Group ple, chairman of EM! Group and Gallaher
Group and chairman of Carphone Warehouse Group inow Dixons
Carphone plc) He was alsc a non-executive director of Lloyds TSB
Bank PLC, Vodafone Group and Pick n Pay Stores {South Africa)
and an executive director of Tesco plc

Charles Maudsley

Head of Retail, Leisure & Residential

Appointed to the Board in February 2010

Skiils and experience: Charles joined British Land in 2010 from
LaSalle Investment Management where he was Co-Head of Europe,
Managing Director of the UK business, a member of the Management
Board and an International Director Prior to joining LaSalle, he was
with AXA Real Estate Investrent Management for seven years where
he was Head of Real Estate Fund Management in the LK

58
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Chris Grigg

Chief Executive

Appointed to the Board in January 2009,

Skills and experience: Chris has mere than 30 years experience
in the real estate and financiat industries in a range of leadership
roles Until November 2008, Chris was chief executive of Barclays
Commercial Bank, having joined Barclays in 2005 Prier to that,
Chris spent over 20 years at Gotdman Sachs, latterly as a partner
Chrisis a non-executve director of BAE Systems plc, a board
member of both the British Property Federation and the European
Pubtic Reat Estate Association and member of the 30% Club

Tim Roberts

Head of Gffices

Appointed to the Board in July 2006,

Skills and experience: Before joiming British Land 1n 1997 Tim was

a partner at Drivers Jonas, in the Investment Agency team He was
formerly a non-executive director of Songbird Estates Tim s also

a Trustee of LandAud, the property industry charity, and chatr of therr
Grants Committes and 1s & board member of the Westrminster
Property Association



Non-Executive Directors

William Jackson (® N

Senior Independent Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in April 2011 and Senior
Independent Director in July 2017

Skills and experience: William 1s managing partner of Bridgepomnt,
one of Europe’s leading private equity groups, which he has led since
2001 He also serves as chairman of the board of Pret A Manger and
president of Dorna Sports SL [the rights holder to the Moto GP world
motoreycting championships] He has served on a range of boards
durtng his career, ncluding Hamptons Group Limited and Altiarice
Medical Holdings Lirmited, and has extensive operational and
transaction experience

Alastair Hughes #

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in January 2018

Skills and experience: Alastairis a fellow of the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveysrs He s a non-executive director of Schroders
Real Estate Investment Trust Lirmited and has over 25 years of
experience in global real estate markets He1s a former director of
Jones Lang LaSalle Inc [JLL] having served as managing director
of JLL inthe UK, as chief executive for Europe, Middle East and
Asta and then as regional CEO for Asia Pacific

Lynn Gladden ®

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Cirector «n March 2015

. Skitls and experience: Lynn 1s Shell Professor of Chernical
Engineering at the University of Cambridge and will take up the
role of Executive Chair of the Engineering and Physical Sciences
Research Council in October 2018 Lynn is also a commissionar
of the Royal Comrmission for the Exhibition of 1851, a fellow of
both the Royal Society and the Royal Academy of Engineering,
and a non-executive director of 1P Group ple Lynn was pro-vice-
chancellor for research at Cambridge until the end of 2015

Nicholas Maepherson A

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Birector in December 2014

Skills and experience: Nicholasis chairman of C Hoare & Co and

a director of The Scottish American investment Company PLC

He also serves as a crossbencher in the House of Lords, a visiting
Professor at King's College London and a Trustee of the Royal Mint
Museum Nicholas was the Permanent Secretary to the Treasury for
over 10 years from 2005 to March 2016, leading the department through
the financial crisis and the subseguent percd ot banking reform

He Jjoined the Treasury in 1985 and held a number of roles prior to
his appointment as Permanent Secretary Nicholas trained as an
economist and has worked at the CBl and Peat Marwick Consulting
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Governinee

BOARD OF DIRECTORS CONTINUED

Non-Executive Directors

Preben Prebensen R

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a8 Non-Executive Directar in September 2017

Skills and experience: Preben 15 group chief executive of Close
Brothers Group ple He spent over 23 years in a nurnber of sentor
positions at JP Mergan Preben was previously chief executive

of Wellington Underwriting plc from 2004 to 2006, and then

chief investrnent otficer and a mernber of the group executive
committee at Catlin Group Limited

Laura Wade-Gery 7

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in May 2015

Skills and experience: Laura 1s a non-executive director of John Lews
Partnership ple, a non-executive director and chatr of the remuneration
committee of Immunecare Limited, a trustee of the Royat Opera
House, a director of Snape Maltings Trading Limited and a member
of the Government Digitat Strategy Advisory Board Between July
2011 and September 2014, Laura was executive director Multi
Channel at Marks and Spencer Group ple Previously, Laura

served i a number of semor positions at Tesco PLC and was

a nen-executive director of Trimty Mirror plc
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Tim Seore ® »

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in March 2014

Skills and experience: Tim 15 a non-executive director of Pearson plc
and HM Treasury, sits on the board of trustees of the Royal National
Theatre, and is chairman of the Football Association’s audit
committee He was formerly chief financial officer of ARM Holdings
PLC and held senior financial positions at Rebus Group Limited,
Willlam Barrd ple, LucasVarity plc and BTR plc From 2005 to 2014,
he was a non-executive director of National Express Group PLC,
includng time as interim chairman and six years as senior
independent director

Rebecca Worthington A

Non-Executive Director

Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in January 2018

Skills and experience: Rebecca 1s group chief financial officer of

| Countryside Properties PLC She spent 15 years &t Quintain Estates

and Develoepment PLC, first as finance director and Latterly as deputy
chief executive Rebecca was a hon-executive director and chair of
the audit commuttee at Hansteen Holdings plc untit 20 March 2018,
and a nan-executive director of Aga Rangemaster Group plc to
September 2015. Rebecca qualtfied as a chartered accountant

with PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP



Incoming Executive Director

Simon Carter

Chief Financial Officer

Appointment date 21 May 2018

Skills and experience: Simon joins British Land from Logicor, the

owner and operator of European {ogistics real estate, where he has

served as chief financial officer since January 2017 Prior to joining
Logicor, frem 2015 to 2017 Simon was finance director at Quintain

Estates & Development Plc Simon previously spent cver 10 years with
British Lang, werking ina varety of financial and strateqic roles, ang was
a member of our Executive Commuttee from 2012 untl his departure

in January 2015 Stmon also previously worked for UBS in fixed income
and qualified as a chartered accountant with Arthur Andersen Simon

holds a degree in econemics from the University of Cambridge

1

Company Secretary

Brona McKeown

General Counsel and Company Secretary

Appointed as General Counsel and Company Secretary in
January 2018

Skills and experience: Before joming 8ritish Land, Brona was
Genersl Counsel and Company Secretary of The Co-operatwe
Bank plc fer four years as part of the restructuning executive team
Immediately prior to that she was Interim Generai Counsel and
Secretary at the Coventry Building Seciety Untit October 2011,
Brona was Global General Counsel of the Corporate division of
Barclays Bank plc, having joined Barclays in 1998 Brona trained
and spent a number of years at a large City law firm

Changes to the Board

Lucinda Bell Stood down as Execuotive Director and
Chief Financial Otficer on 19 January 2018

Aubrey Adams Retired as Non-Executive Director
on 31 December 2017

Simon Borrows Retired as Non-Executive Director
on 18 July 2017

Lorg Turnbull Retired as Non-Executive Directer

on 18 July 2017

Board Committee membership kev
- Audit Corrmities mmerbar Qemuneration Jomrmittes mismbsr

Nosminaho o Commitiee member @ Charmanora Board Committae

Directors’ core areas of expertise?

Property
af

Finance 419%
Retall and consumer 12%

Academic
Public sector

Son e Jirectors are recresen =N cre fan cne LAt LGgory
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Govermunee

CHAIRMAN'S GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Welcome to the Corporate
Governance and Remuneration
sections of our Annual Report

| would tike to thank Lucinda for her commitment to British Land
tor over 25 years, six years of which were as an Executive Director,
and wish her all the very best for the future We look forward to

" welcorming Simon Carter as an Executive Director and Chief

. Financial Officer when he joins the Group on 21 May 2018

| am pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report for the

year ended 31 March 2018. During the year we also welcomed three new Non-Executive

The Board's responsibility for leading the Company and averseeing Worthington and | look forward to working closely with them

the governance of the Group continues to be supported by a robust over the coming years All Directors in role at 31 March 2018 watl
structure which allows for constructive debate and challenge by its stand for election or re-election at the 2018 AGM

members This appreach enables the Directors to make effective

decisions, at the right time and based on the right infermatien This year, we appointed independent Board Evaluation [IBE] to

As Emention In my statement on pages 4 and 5, our level of Details of the process undertaken and a summary of the outcomes
thoughtful activity and the resitience of our strategy set British Land | are set out on page 66 However, | am pteased to report here that the
apart We take this thoughtfuiness and consideration into our review concluded that your Board, its Commitees and (15 individual
governance structure and | recently asked that a review of our members continue to operate effectively and with due diligence
governance policies be undertaken to ensure that they remain !

appropriate for our business and in Line with best market practice I and we will report on progress in the 2019 Annual Report
Governance underpins the way in which the business of the Group The Board also reviewed and approved a new Diversity and Inclusion
15 managed, our behaviour and our corporate culture This year, Policy thus year Further detail on this 1s given in the Nomination

we are reporting agamst the 20146 UK Corporate Governance Code Committee Report on pages 74 to 75 and in the Social and

[the Codel available at www.fre.org.uk | am pleased to report that environmental reporting section on page 30

the Board has continued to apply good governance and considers

that the Company has complied with the provisions of the Code All Directors will attend this year's AGM which wsll agan provide
throughout the year an opportunity for all sharehelders to hear more about our

| should also like to take this opportunity to thank our Non-Executive
Directors who retired during this year The diligence and commitment
shown by Aubrey Adams, Simoen Borrows and Lord Turnbull during
their long tenure have been exemptary and have contributed to the
good governance of the Group

Directors Preben Prebensen. Alastair Hughes and Rebecca

undertake the triennial externally facilitated Board evaluation

We tully intend to implement the recommendations made by IBE

performance during the year and to ask guestions of the Board

The tollowing Corporate Governance Report, including the reports ook forward to welcorming you on 17 July 2018

of the Audit, Normination and Rermuneration Committees, outiines
how the Company has applied the Code’s principles and provisions —

A
Board changes e
As mentioned onh page 5, the Board has continued to evolve during
the year with a number of changes to its memberstip Lucinda Bell | John Gildersleeve

stepped down as an Executive Director and as Chiaf Financial Officer | Non-Executive Chairman

on 19 January 2018, and left British Land en 4 April 2618
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GOVERNANCE REVIEW

Our governance structure is
an integral part of the way we
design and deliver our strategy

Leadership
The Board

" As at 31 March 2018 the Board comprised the Chairman, esght
independent Non-Executive Directors and three Executive Directors
Biographies of the Directors are set out on pages 5810 41 and include
details of the skills and experience each brings to the Board

Ourrigerous and transparent procedures for appointing new
Directors are led by the Nomination Commuttee Non-Executive
Directors are appomnted for specified terms and atl continuing
Directors offer themselves for election or re-electton by sharehotders
at the AGM each year provided the Board, on the recormmendation of
the Normination Commuttee, deems it appropnate that they do so

The composition of the Board s fundamental to its successin
providing strong and effective leadership The Nomination Cormnmittee
15 responsible for reviewing the composition of the Board and sts
Committees and assessing whether the balance of skilis,

experience, knowledge and diversity 1s appropriate to enable

thern {o operate effectively

Board of Directors (as at 31 March 2018)

-/

W Non-Fxas utve Charmtan
M cgependet Non-Exe ot ve Jimectors

W Cxeouive Directors

We continue to have a strong mix of experienced individuals on the
Board The majority are independent Non-Executive Directors who
are riot only able to offer an external perspective on the business, but
also constructively challenge the Executive Directors, particularly
when developing the Company's strategy The Non-Executive
Directors scrutinise the performance of management in meeting
their agreed geals and objectives, and monitor the reporting of

that performance

The hugh calibre of debate and the participation of all Directors,
Executive and Non-Executive, in its meetings allows the Board to
utilise the experience and skills of the iIndividual Directors to their
maximum potential and make decisions that are in the best
interests of the Company

. Role of the Board

The Board has reserved key decisions and matters for its own
approval, including its core respensibilities of setting the Group s
strategic direction, overseeing the delivery of the agreed strategy,
managing risk and establishing the culture, values and standards

of the Group as a whole Matters below the financial bmit set by the
Board are delegated to a commuttee of any two Executive Directors
with all decisions taken reported to the next following Board meeting

The Board culture 15 one of openness and constructive debate, the
Directors are able to voice their opinions 1n a relaxed and respectful

environment, aliowing coherent discussion When running Board
 meetings, the Chawrman maintams a collaborative atmosphere and

ensures that all Directors centribute to the debate The Chairman
also arranges informal meetings and events throughout the year to
help build constructive relationships between the Board members
and the senior management team

The Chairman meets with individuai Directers outside formal
Board meetings to allow for open, two-way discussion about the
effectiveness of the Board, its Committees and its members
The Chairman 1s therefore able to rema:n mindfut of the views
of the individusl Directors

Division of responsibilities

There is a clear written division of responsibilities between the
Chairman [who 15 responsible for the leadership and effectiveness of
the Board] and the Chief Executive [who 1s responsible for managing
the Company’s business)

- The Board has delegated authority for the day-to-day management

of the business to the Chief Executive, with specific areas of the
business being managed by the other Executive Directors The
Executive Directors are involved in, or aware of, all major activities
and are therefore extremely well placed to ensure that any dec:sions
align with the Group s agreed strategy

The Executive Directors make decisions within predefined
parameters detegated by the Beard, although any preposal may still
be taken to the full Board for consideration and approval where this
is considered appropriate, even if they fall within those parameters

Three standing Committees have been established the Audit,
Nomination and Remuneration Committees, to which certain powers
have been delegated Membership of each of these Committees is
comprised solely of independent Nen-Executive Directors. The reperts

' of these three standing Committees are set out on pages 69 to 91

Management Commuttees have also been established to make
recommendations on matters delegated to them by the Board,
its standing Committees or the Executive Directors

¢ This governance structure {set out on the following page] ensures

that the Board is able to focus on strategic proposals, major

. transactions and governance matters which affect the tong term

success of the business
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Governance structure

. Board of Directors
Develops strategy and leads British Land to achteve long term success, determines the risks British Land faces, the level of risk it
1s prepared to take to achieve its strategy and ensures that systems of risk management and control are in place It also provides
teadership and governance for the Company as a whole, having regard to the views of shareholders
and other stakeholders

The Board has reserved certain matters to its own approval [see www.britishland.com/governance) with others being delegated
to Board or Management Committees as appropriate

Audit Committee Nomination Committee Remuneration Committee
Oversees financial and narrative Leads process for Board Sets the Executive Directors
reporting, provides assurance on the apporntrents and succession Remuneration Policy and the
effectiveness of internal control, risk planning, ensures that Board and remuneration of the Chairman and
management systemns and audit senlor management have appropriate Executive Directors, approves annual
processes, reviews the effectiveness skills, know{edge and experience to and long term performance
and cbjectivity of external and ’ operate effectively and deliver obtectives and awards
internal auditors strategy, reports on diversity Sew report an pages /6 to 91
Secrepurt on pages % to 73 See repart on pages 74 10 73

Chief Executive and Executive Directors
Overall responsibility for day-to-day management of the business and implermentation of approved strategy
lies with the Chief Executive with specific areas of the business managed by the other Executive Directors

-

Executive Committee
An advisory committee that operates under the direction and leadership of the Chief Executive Membership comprises
all Executive Directors and semior rmanagement from across the business Considers day-to-day operational and
financial performance, performance of the Group's assets and overall development programme

Investment Committee Risk Cemmittee Health, Safety and
Reviews, approves or recommends Oversees management and reporting Enviranment Committee
significant transactions including of strateqic and operational risks, Drives actions in pursuit of the
acquisitions, disposals and recornmends appropriate risk Company's health and safety and
developments of assets up to appetite levels and momtors risk environmental stewardship goals and
an agreed financial trmit axposure, reviews operation of fisk reviews performance against actions
management processes

Sustainability Committee Community Investment Committee
Monitors performance and progress Oversees the strategic management
; agaminst sustamability targets and key of the Community Investment Fund
mnitiatives, assessing emerging and approves and moenttors all
social, ethical and environmental related spend
| Issues, assoclated risks and
ritigating actians
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Strategy days

The Board held :ts annual offsite strategy event during March 2018
The strategy days are structured to provide the Directors, and the
Non-Executive Directors in particular, with an opportunity to focus on
the development of, and challerge to, the Group's corporate strategy

The format of the 2018 event was different from prior years with one
entire session given over to the consideration of key questions on
future direction Te stimulate this conversation, a3 number of external
speakers were invited to the session held earlier in the day and to the
following dinner 1n order to give a wider social and econaomic context
to discussions

Board meetings

Regular Board and Committee meetings are scheduled throughout
the year and the Directors ensure that they allocate sufficient time to
discharge their duties effectively, Occasionally, Board meetings may
be heid at short notice when Board-level decisions of a time-critical
nature need to be made

The tabie below sets out the changes that have taken place to the
Board, together with details of each Director’s attendance at Board
mestings during the year ended 21 March 2018

Datecf Cate of
appc ntment weaving the

Director ls nee * April 20171 Bpard  Atandaniz
John Gildersleeve 7/8
Chris Grigg 8/8
Charles Maudsley 8/8
Tim Roberts 8/8
Lynn Gladden 8/8
Alastair Hughes 01 Jan 2018 3/3
William Jackson 8/8
Nicholas Macpherson 7/8
Preben Prebensen 01 Sep 2017 5/5
Tirn Score B/8
Laura Wade-Gery 8/8
Rebecca Worthington 01 Jan 2018 2/3
Former Directors

Lucinda Ball 19 Jan 2018 5/6
Aubrey Adams 31 Dec 2017 5/5
Simon Borrows 18 Jul 2017 2/3
Lorg Turnbull 18 Jul 2017 2/3

Absences at Board meetings were due to commitrments predating
Jomning the Board, iltness or upavailability for meetings held at
short notice.

The Board agenda is set by the Chairman, in conpunction with the
Chief Executive and Company Secretary Each scheduled meeting
includes a Management Report delivered by the Chief Executive and
regular updates on the activities of various standing and management
Committees Discussions also take place on strategic proposals,
major acguisitions, disposals and developments and legat and
governance matters,

During the year ended 31 March 2018 particular areas considered
by the Board, either directly or following receipt of reports from its
standing Committees, include

- Outcomes of the annual strategy days and progress towards
agreed outcomes

Consideration and approval of risk appetite and the principal

risks faced by the Company

- Use of capital and the implermentation of a £300 million share
buyback programme

- bLaunch of the Flexible Workspace brand {Storey}

- Review of the outcome of a muiti-agency crisis management

exercise at one of British Land's assets

Results of the externally facilitated Board performance evaluation

- Approval of full vear and half year financial results, the Annual

Report and the Notice of AGM

Declaration of guarterly interim dividends

- Dwversity and gender pay

Cyber security and information technology

- Preparations for the General Data Protection Regulation
which comes into force 1n May 2018)

- Health and safety compliance

Governance review

- Sustainability

Care 1s taken o ensure that infermation 1s circulated in good time
before Board and Cornmittee meetings, and that papers are
presented clearly and with the appropriate tevel of detail to enable
the Board to discharge its duties All papers are circulated one week
prior to meetings and clearly marked as being ‘For Decision’ or

‘For Informatien To enhance the delivery of Board and Committee
papers the Board uses a Board portat and tablets which provide a
secure and efficient process for meeting pack distribution Under

" the direction of the Chairman, the Company Secretary facilitates

effective information flows between the Board and its Committees,
and between senior management and Non-Executive Directors

In March 2018 the Board undertook a site visit to Meadowhall in
Sheffield, a joint venture asset with Norges Bank Invesiment
Management Since the Board last visited tin 2015, 3 £60 mitlion
refurbishment had been undertaken, creating a go-to space
providing cutstanding customer experiences As well as reviewing
the results of the refurbishment, the Board considered the next
phase of the Meadowhall development prograrmme including the
detivery of the Leisure Hall where we have secured a resolution to
grant planning consent from Sheffield City Council

Effectiveness

Board induction

On appointment, all Directors whether Executive or Non-Executive
recewve a comprehensive induction Each new Director ts invited to
meet the General Counsel and Company Secretary or Head of
Secretariat to discuss thew induction in detail, following which the
programme is tallored specifically to therr requirements and adapted
to reflect their existing knowledge and experience

Each induction programme woutd ordinarily inctude
~ Meetings with the Chairman, Executive Directors, Committee

Chairmen, externai auditor or remuneration consultants
|as appropriate)

- information on the corporate strategy, the investment strategy,

the tinancial position and tax matters [including details of the
Company’s REIT status]

- Anoverview of both Retail and Offices porttolios provided
by members of the sentor management team

- Visitsto key assets During 2017 and 2018 these included visits
to Broadgate, Canada Water, Meadowhall and Paddington

- Details of Board and Comrmnittee procedures and Directors
responsibilities

- Details on the investor relations programme

- Information on the Company's approach to sustainability

All induction documents are made available on our secure electronic
Board portal and are therefore available to Directors both during and
after their induction
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Training and development |
The Chairman and Company Secretary agree what Board wide
tramning or development may be appropriate Duning the year ended
31 March 2018, the Board considered papers and presentations on
legal and regulatory developments, technology opportunities or
chatlenges and sustainability-related developments as well s
receving regular briefings on the views of stakeholders ang the .
external environment

Directors are atso entitled to seek independent advice in retation to
the performance of their duties at the Company's expense, subject
to having first notified the Chairman or the Company Secretary

Non-Executive Jirectors letters of appointment set out the time
commitments expected from them Following consideration, the
Norninatton Committee has concluded that all the Non-Executive
Directors continue to devote sufficient time to discharging their
duties to the required high standard

3
|
Commitment J

British Land’s policy Is to aliow Executive Directors to take one
non-executive directorship at another FTSE company, subject to
Board approval External appointments of the Executive Directors
are disclosed tntheir biographues Any fees earned by the Executive
Diractors are disclosed on page 87 of the Remuneration Report

Conflicts of interest

The Directors are required to avoid a situation in which he or she
has, or can have, a direct or indirect conflict with the interests of
the Company The Board has established a procedure whereby
the Directors are required to notify the Chairman and the Company
Secretary of all new outside interests and actual or perceived ‘
conflicts of interest that may atfect them 1n their roles as Directors
of British Land All potential conflicts of interest are authorised by
the Board at the earliest opportunity and the register of Directors
interests s reviewed by the full Board at least annuaily

The Board also reviews the Directors’ Interests Policy on an annual
basis Following the last review in Novemnber 2017, the Board
concluded that the policy continued to operate effectively

Re-election

The Board has reviewed the Nomination Committee’s assessment
of whether each Non-Executive Director remains independent in
character and judgement and whether there are relationships or
circumstances which are Likely to affect, or could appear to affect,
that judgement As a result, the Board as a whole considers that
each of the Non-Executive Directors i1s independent, is of the stature
and has the required experience to perform his or her role as an
independent Director The results of the externally facilitated Board
evaluation alsa confirm the Board's belief that each Non-Executive
Director standing for election ar re-electron at the 2018 AGM
remains committed to their role wathun British Land and continues
to perform effectively
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Board evaluation
During the year, the effectiveness of the Board and its Committees
was conducted by Independent Board Evaluation (IBE]

Stage 1
October 2017
IBE metwith the Chairman to discuss and agree
the focus of the evaluation

\/’

Stage 2
November 2017
IBE attended Board and Committee meetings

~_

Stage 3
February 2018
Individuat interviews held with each Board Director,
the Company Secretary and the Head of Secretariat

\/

Stage 4
March 2018
IBE attended further Board and Committee meetings

\/

Stage 5
March 2018
Draft report discussed with Chairman prior to finalisation
and presentation to the whole Board

\/

Stage é
March/April 2018 - post Board presentation
IBE provided feedback to the Chairmen of the Audit, Noermimation
and Remuneration Committees on the performance of each
Committee The performance of the Chairrman was also
discussed with the Senior Independent Director who
subsequently met with the other Non-Executive Directors to
further consider the Chairman’s performance, taking into
account the views of the Executive Directors

In addition to the formal Board evaluation, the Board Chairman
met each Non-Executive Director individually during the year to
discuss their contrabution fo the Board

Outcomes

Overall, the evaluation report from IBE reflected well on the
Board Its members are seen as engaged and committed while
the Board's culture remains open, respectful and constructive

IBE made a number of recommendations to the Board, based
on the Board's own suggestions, including

- Increasing the Board s interaction with the wider
management team

- Working to define Beard values in conjunction with the
Company values and take forward the Board's wark on
culture and employee engagement

- Using informal Board sessions to enable alignment around
complex or evolving issues

The Board intends to implement the recommendations made
by IBE and will report on progress in the 2019 Annual Report

IBE has no other connection with Briish Land



Accountability

Financial and business reporting

The Board 1s responsible for preparing the Annual Report and
confirms in the Directors responsibility staternent set out on page 95
that they believe that the Annual Report, taken as a whole, 1s farr,
balanced and understandable, and provides the infermation
necessary to assess British Land's position, performance, business
model and strategy The basis onwhich the Company creates

and preserves value over the long term Is described in the

Strategic Report

The Audit Commitiee reviewed the procedure undertaken to enable the
Board to previde the fair, balanced and understandable confirmation
to shareholders Meetings were held between the Group Financial
Controller, Head of Investar Relations and other senior employees to
review and document the key considerations undertaken and a
detailed report was then presented to the Audit Committee

Risk management and internal control

The Board determines the extent and nature of the risks 1t 1s prepared
1o take in order to achieve the Company's strategic objectives The
Board has responsibility for the Company's overall approach to risk
management and internal control which includes ensuring the
design and impiementation of appropriate sk management and
internal controt systems Oversight of the effectiveness of these
systems is delegated to the Audet Commitiee which undertakes
regular reviews to ensure that the Group 1s :dentifying, considering
and mitigating as far as practicable, the most appropriate risks for
the business

The Board confirms that, through the Audit Committee, a robust
assessment of the principal risks facing the Company, including
those that would threaten its business model, future performance,
solvency or liquidity, was carried out during the year

British Land’s approach tc rigk, including the roles of the Board,
and the Audit Committee in setting risk appetite and monitoring risk
exposure, 15 detailed in the "Managing risk in delivering our strategy
section on pages 48to 51

Aswell as complying with the Code, the Group has adopted the
best practice recommendations in the FRC Guwdance on risk
management, iInternal controt and related financial and business
reporting” and the Company s internal control framework operates
in line with the recommendations set out In the internationally
recognised COSO0 Internal Control Integrated Framework

The Company 1s committed to conducting its business in an
ethical manner, with integrity and in Line with all relevant taws
and regulations The Group has adopted a number of policies and
procedures including policies and training on anti-bribery and
corruption and fraud awareness, information security and GDPR
All employees are made aware of the Group s policies through the
ernployee handbook, regular bulletins and recerve trammng
appropriate to their roles and responsibitities

The Audit Committee reviews the effectiveness of the Group s
system of internal control annually, including the systems of control
for material Joint ventures and funds. The Group's internal controt
system 1s built on the following fundamental principles, and 1s
subject to review by internal audit

- Adefined schedule of matters reserved for approval by the Board

- Adetailed suthorisation process no matertal commitments are
entered into without therough review and approval by mere than
one authorised persen

- Formal documentation of all significant transactions

- Arobust system of business and financial planning including
cash flows and profitability forecasting, with scenario analysis
performed on major corporate, property and flnancing proposals

- Arobust process for property mvestment appraisals

;- Monitoring of key outcames, particularly expenditure and

performance of significant investments, against budget
and forecast

- Clearly defined policies and review ot actual performance
against policies

- Benchmarking of property performance against external
sources such as Investment Property Databank

- Keycontrols testing

- Acomprehensive property and corporate insurance programme
and a formal whistle-blowing policy

During the course of its review for the year ended 31 March 2018,
and to the date of this Report, the Audit Cornmittee has not identified,
nor been advised of, a failling or weakness which it has determined

to be significant

Going concern and viability statements

BDuring the year the Board assessed the appropriateness of using
the ‘going concern basis of accounting in the financial statements
The assessment considered future cash flows and debt faciities

{to assess the liquidity msk of the Company) and the availability of
finance [to assess the selvency nisk] The assessment covered the
12-month period reguired by the going concern’ basis of accounting

In accordance with the Code, the Board has also assessed the
prospects of the Group over a tive-year period which 1s deemed
apprepriate for the viability statement In preparing the viability
statement the Board considered the principal risks set out on pages
52 to 55 and the sensitivities of cash flow and debt covenant
forecasts, all of which are considered to have a reasonabie Likelihood
of impacting the viabiity of the Company Full details of this ’
assessment are set out on page 5%

Following these assessments the Directors believe that the Group
1s well placed to manage its fiinancing and other business risks
satisfactorily and have a reasonable expectaticn that the Company
and the Group have adequate resources to continue 1n operation
for at least 12 months from the date of the Annual Report. They
therefore consider it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis
of accounting in preparing the financial statements

The Board also considers that the Company and the Group will be
abte to continue In operation and meet its Labibities as they falt due
over the period ending 31 March 2023

Taxation

Our principles of goed governance extend to our responsible
approach to tax Our tax strategy I'Our Approach to Tax |, available
on our website www.britishland.com/governance, i1s approved by
the Board and is in ine with the Group’s long term values, culiure
and strategy

Remuneration
The Directors” Remuneration Report 1s set out on pages 76 1o 71

The Remuneration Policy was approved by shareholders at the 2016
AGM and ts summarised on page 78. We are not making any changes
to the Remuneration Policy this year
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Relations with stakeholders l
The Board 1s commutted to mamntaining open channels of )
communication with alt of the Company's stakeholders Animportant
part of this 1s providing a clear explanation of the Cempany s strategy
and objectives, and ensuring that feedback i1s acknowledged,
considered and, where appropriate, acted upon Stakeholder
feedback 1s essential to the success of our business, so we ensure
the Chairman, Senior independent Director, Chief Executive and
other Executive Directors are available to address any concerns

our stakeholders may wish to raise

British Land aims to be informative and accessible to all
shareholders Announcemnents relating te the Group s financial
resuits and key events are provided in a timely manner and are easily
accessible via our website and sociat media The Group website also
provtdes detailed information on our assets, as well as case studies
iliustrating our strategy, including cur sustainabibity activities

British Land has a dedicated Investor Relations team which s
avallable to respond to any guestions or concerns iINvestors may
have on an ad hoc basis

All stakeholders are abte to contact the Company directly via
the contacts page on our website www.britishland.com/contacts

Annual General Meeting

All Directors attend the AGM, which provides retail shareholders

n particular with an opportunity to hear directly from the Beard on
the Company's performance over the past year, its strategy and the
objectives for the year ahead The AGM also provides shareholders
with the opportunity to ask questions and a number of the Directors,
including the Chairman, make thernselves available for informal
discussion after the meeting has concluded

The 2017 AGM was attended by approximately 125 shareholders
All resolutions were voted on by way of a poll and passed by

the required majority The results of the AGM voting are announced
to the London Stock Exchange as soon as practicable following the
AGM and alse made available on the Company’'s website

Retail shareholders

Qur Shareholders Centre’ on our website www.britishland.com/
shareholders-centre incluges information on the AGM, dividends,
shareholder communication, how to contact our registrar, Equiniti,
and other useful rescurces for shareholders

tnstitutional investors

Institutional Investors and analysts receive regular communications
from the Company, including details of Investor Relations events
|see the chart to the nightl, one-to-one and group meetings with
Executive Directors, and tours of our major assets This year, our ;
investor relations activity included a presentation and asset tour at
Paddington Central, foliowing the completion of our 4 Kingdom Street
development In totat, the Chief Executive, former Chief Financial
Offrcer and Investor Retations team met with representatives from over
205 instituttons during the year ended 31 March 2018 We periodically
commission an ndependent investor percephion study, which provides
teedback on our strategy and highlights matenal cencerns from key
investors and 15 presented to the Board

The Executive team I1s committed to ensuring that shareholder views,
both positive and negative, are relayed back to the Board The Chief
Executive provides a written report at each schegduled meeting which
includes direct market feedback on activity during the period
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Key investor relations activitics
during the vear included

May 2017
Full year resu 18 trasentat on
Full year resuils roadshow, June 2017
London ) Investor property conferenc 2,
- Investar roadshow, Netheriands
Us/Canada - [nvesior properiy confersnce,
London
Private Client round table
presentation, London
- Analyst & Investor presertatior,
- Padd ngton Central
July 2017
- AGM
September 2017
- Investor property
conference, London
} Inveslor property tour,
November 2017 Paddingtan Cantral
Industry dinner — Thought Laadersh p event,
- Haltyear resulls Broadgate

- Hzli year results
roadshow, Loendon
Two Imvesior propery
warerences, Lendon Januarv 2018
inveslor property
conference, Londan

- Inves’or propetty tour, Broadgate

- Invesior preperty taur, Starey

February 2018

Private Client round taole

presentatior, Londen March 2018
- ‘nvestor property leyr Storey
Retail rourdtable
presentation & lunn

Lenders and bondholders

. The Board recegnises the contribution made by our lenders and
i bendholders Through our Treasury teamn, the Group maintains

an open diatogue with our debt providers which helps the Board
understand their investment appetite and criteria

Community

Bnitish Land recogruses that the people who bive in and around our
assets are essential to creating Places People Prefer, and therefore
to the success of our business Investing tnthese communities is
animportant part of our approach, and our Local Charter details
how we butld trust by making positive contributions locally Our
‘Community Funding Guidelines’ set out how we allocate funding.
with & particular focus on iInthiatives close to our assets that provide
opportuntties to local people through education, employment and
traiming Both documents can be found on our website at
www.brilishland.com/policies.



REPORT OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE

We monitor the quality and

integrity of the financial

reporting and valuation process

| am pleased to present the report of the Audit Committee for the
year ended 31 March 2018.

Intine with the focus on improved governance and clear, relevant
and cencise reporting, this report of the Audit Committee
highlights the main issues which arose during the year and

how they were addressed

Key areas of focus

Uttimately, the Cornmittee continues 1o play a key role in overseeing
the integrity of the Group's financial statements, including assessing
whether the Arnuat Report s fair, balanced and understandable,

as well as ensuring that a sound system of risk management and
internal control 1s In place

During the year, the Committee has reviewed the process for
identification and mitigation of key business risks, challenging
management actions where appropriate The Committee has also
reviewed the appropriateness of the accounting treatment of
significant transactions, including asset acquisitions and disposats
Together with the angeing scrutiny of the process for valuing
investment and development assets, the Committee also reviewed
the outcomes and effectiveness of the tender of valuation services
undertaken during the first half of the financial year

This year saw the implementation of the first phase of the new valuer
appointment policy [see page 73 for further detaits) with ¢ 45% of the
portfolio subject to new valuers at 30 September 2017 Further
transitions will take place over the next two years with the mitial
imptementation of the valuer appointment policy due to be completed
in 2019 The Committee has appreciated the continued professionalism
of allits valuers during the tender process

Committee composition and governance

The year to 31 March 2018 has seen significant change to the
membership of the Committee As mentioned in the 2017 Annuat
Report, Simon Borrows retired from the Committee at the conclusion
of the 2017 AGM In addition, having served on the Board and this
Comrnittee for nine years, including a period as Commuttee
Chairman, Aubrey Adams retired at the end of the 2017 catendar
year | would like to thank them both for the diigence and insight

they provided during their tenure and Aubrey, in particular, for his
knowledge and experience of the UK property market

We also welcomed three new members to the Committee during
the financial year Nicholas Macpherson, who has served for a full
year, Rebecca Worthington and Alastair Hughes Details of the
knowledge, experience and skills each brings to the Committee are
set out below

The Committee continues te be composed solely of independent
Non-Executive Directers with sutficient financial experience,
commercial acumen and sector knowledge to fulfil their
responsibilities The changes inmembership, together with
attendance at Cormnmittee meetings during the year, are set out
in the following table

Date of
Committee Date of

Director Pasition appointment resignation Attendance
Tim Score Chatrman 20 Mar 2014 33
Alastair Hughes  Member 1 Jan 2018 1/1
Nicholas

Macpherson Member 1 Apr 2017 3/3
Rebecca

Worthingten Member 1 Jan 2018 111
Aubrey Adams Member  15ep 2008 31 Dec 2017 2/2
Simon Borrows  Member 12 Apr 2011 18 Jul 2017 11

MNicholas was the Permanent Secretary to the Treasury for over

10 years from 2005 to March 2016, leading the department through
the financial crisis and the subsequent peried of banking reform

He joined the Treasury in 1985 and held a number of roles prior to
his appointment as Permanent Secretary Nicholas trained as an
economist and has worked at the CBl and Peat Marwick Consutting
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Rebecca has worked in the real estate industry since 1998 and brings
valuable insight into residentiat real estate as well as financial,
operational and governance experience as a result of her role as
group chief financial officer of Countryside Properties PLC, and
former roles as finance director of Quintain and chair of the auds
committee at Hansteen RHoldings and Aga Rangemaster Group

Alastair has over 25 years of experience in real estate markets
His experience as former Chief Executive of JLL for Eurepe,
Middle East and Africa and then regional CEO for Asia Pacific,
and his non-executive directorship of Schroders REIT, brings an
in-depth knowledge of global commercial real estate markets

The Board is satisfied that the Commitiee as a whote has
competence relevant to the real estate sector For the purposes
of the UK Corporate Governance Code, Rebecca and | are deemed
to meet the specific requirement of having significant, recent and
relevant financial experience

Mermbers of the senior managerment team, including the former
Chief Financiat Officer, General Counsel and Company Secretary,
Group Financiat Controller, Head of Financial Reporting and
representatives of both external and internal avditors are invited to
attend each Committee meeting Inaddition, the Chairman of the
Board, Chief Executive Officer, Head of Investor Relations, Head of
Planning and Analysis and other key employees are invited to attend
part, or all, of specific Committee meetings

The Committee meets privately with both external and internal
auditors after each scheduled meeting and continues to be satisfied
that neither is being unduly influenced by management As Committee
Chairman, | additionally hold regular meetings with the Chief
Executive Officer, Chief Financial Dtficer and other members of
management to obtain a good understanding of key issues affecting
the Group and am thereby able to identify those matters which
require meaningful discussion at Committee meetings {also meet
the external audit partner, internal audit partner and representatives
from each of the valuers privately fo discuss any matters they wish
to raise or concerns they may have.

Committee effectiveness

The Committee's effectiveness during the year to 31 March 2018
was assessed as part of the triennial iIndependently facilitated
Board evaluation precess This review considered the structure,
membership and role of the Committee as well as the Board s
perception of the quality and thoroughness of its work The review
concluded that the breadth of expertence braought to the Committee
by ts new members provided the Board with confidence that st
would continue o operate thoroughly and effectively and that the
financial governance of the Company was conducted with
diligence and due process

The Commuttee also reviews its terms of reference on an
annual basis The current terms of reference were approved
by the Board in March 2018 and are available on our website
www.britishland.com/committees

The information below sets out In detail the activity undertaken
by the Committee during the year ended 31 March 2018 1 hope
that you Tind 1t usefulin understanding our work

Tim Score
Chairman of the Audit Committee
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Role and responsibilities
The principal responsibilities of the Committee are

Financial reporting - Monttoring the integrity of the Company’s
financial statements and any format anncuncements relating
to financtal performance, and considering significant financial
reporting issues, judgements and estimates

External Audit - Dversight and remuneration of the external
auditor, assessing effectiveness and making recommendations
to the Board on the appointment of and the policy for non-audit
services provided by the external auditor

Inter nal Audit - Monitoring and reviewing reports on the work
performed by the iternal auditor and reviewing effectiveness,
including 1ts plans and resourcing

Risk management and internal controls - Reviewing the
system of internal control and risk management

Investment and development proper ty valuations -
Considering the valuation process and outcormne and the
effectiveness of the Company s valuers

Financial reporting

The Committee continues to review the content and tone of the
preuminary results press retease, Annual Report and half year
results at the request of the Board Drafts of the Annual Report
are reviewed by the Committee Chairman and the Committee
as a whole prior to formal consideration by the Board, with
sufficient time provided for feedback

The Comimittee reviewed the key messaging included tn the Annual
Report and half year results, paying particular attention to those
matters considered to be important to the Group by virtue of their
size, complexity, level of Judgement required and potential impact
on the financial staterments and wider business model Anyissues
which were deemed to be significant were debated openly by the
Committee members and other attendees, including management,
external and internal auditors.

The Committee has satisfied ttself that the controts over the
accuracy and consistency of the mformation presented in the
Annual Report are robust The Committee therefore recommended
to the Board that the Annual Report presented a fair, balanced and
understandable overview of the business of the Group and that it
provided stakehotders with the necessary information to assess
the Group's position, performance, business modet and strategy

During the year, the Group recetved & letter from the Financial
Reporting Councit confirming that the 2017 Annual Report had been
subject 1o a review by its Conduct Comrittee, which s responsible
for overseeing the FRC's work in promating high quality corporate
reporting and ensuring compliance with relevant accounting and
reporting requirements and rules No questions or queries were
raised as a result of this review, no response from the Company
was requested and no further action was undertaken.

A number of minor matters were noted for improvement which, in
the view of the Conduct Comtnittee, would be of benefit to the users
of the Annual Report Conseguently, we have made changes to the
Annual Report this year in line with these recommendations.
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The significant issues considered by the Committee in relation to the financial statements during the year ended 31 March 2018, and the
actions taken to address these 1ssues, are set out in the fellowing table

Significant issues considered

How these issues were addressed

Gomng concern
statement

Viability
statement

Accounting for
significant
transactions

REIT status

Valuation of
property
portfolio

Revenue
recognition

The appropriateness of
prepaning the Group financiat
statements on a going
concern basis

Whether the assessment
undertaken by management
regarding the Group's long
term viability appropriately
reflects the prospects of
the Group and covers an
appropriate period of time

The accounting treatment

of significant property
acguisitions, disposals and
financing transactions 1s 2
recurring risk for the Group
with non-standard accounting
entnes required, and in some
£ases management
Judgement applied

Maintenance of the Group s
REIT status through
comphiance with certam
conditions has a significant
impact on the Group's results

The valuation of investment
and development properties
cenducted by external valuers
1s inherently subjective as it1s
undertaken on the basts of
assumptions made by the
valuers which may not prove
to be accurate

The autcome of the valuation
1S significant to the Group in
terms of investment decisions,
results and remunsration

For certain transactions,
judgement ts applied by
management as te whether,
and to what extent, they should
be treated as revenue for the
financial year

The Commuttee reviewed management s analysis supporting the going concern basis
of preparation This inctuded consideration of forecast cash flows, availabinty of
committed debt facilibes and expected covenant headroom The Committee also
received a report from the external auditor on the results of the testing undertaken
onmanagement s analysis

As aresult of the assessment undertaken, the Cornmittee satishied itself that the
going concern basis of preparation remained appropriate

The going concern statement 1s set out on page 67

The Committee considered whether management’s assessment adequately reflected
the Group's risk appetite and principal risks as disclosed on pages 52 to 55, whether
the pericd covered by the statement was reasonable given the strategy of the Group
and the environment i which it eperates, and whether the assumptions and
sensitivities dentified, and stress tested, represented severe but plausible scenarios
in the context of solvency or liguidity The Committee also considered a report from
the external suditor

The Committee concurred with management’s assessment and recommended the
viability statement to the Board

The viability statement, together with further defails on the assessment undertaken,
15 set out on page 51

The Committee reviewed management papers on key judgements, including those for
significant transactions, as well as the external auditor s findings on these matters

In particular, the Committee considered the accounting treatment of The Leadenrhall
Building transaction, the share buyback programme, Storey [British Land's flexibie
workspace offering launched in the year} and the acquisition of The Woolwich Estate

The external auditor confirmed that management's judgements in relation to these
transactions were appropriate and reasonable and the Commuttee agreed with this
conclusion

The Committee reviewed the Company's compliance with the REIT tests
Management presented details of the methodology and results of their process
for REIT testing, with any change in long term trends, and the level of headroom,
hightighted The Commuittee also considered the external auditer's review of the
REIT tests performed by management

The Committee concluded that the Company s REIT status had been maintained
in the year

The external valuers presented their reports to the Committee prior to the half year
and full year results, providing an overview of the UK property market and
summarising the per formance of the Group s asseis Significant judgemnents are
also hightighted

The Committee analysed the reports and reviewed the valuation outcomes,
challenging assumptions made where thought fit In particular, with the
implementation of the first stages of the new valver appointment policy,

the Committee paid specific attention 1o those assets which were subject to
a new valuation instruction during the year

The Committee was satisfred with the vatuation process and the effectiveness of the
Company's valuers The Commuttee also approved the relevant valuation disclosures
to be included in the Annual Report

The Committee and the external auditor considered the appropriateness of the
accounting treatment applied by managernent in relation to revenue recognition
in particular, the Comnmittee considered the treatment of Clarges Residential urit
sales, taking into account the timing of legal completions following practical
completion of the property in the year

The Committee considered the scope of the accounting standard and agreed with
the reasonableness of the judgement rmade
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External Audit

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (PwC] was appointed as the Group s
externat auditor for the 2013 Annual Report following a formal
competitive tender The Committee wili consider the need for a
competrtive tender for the role of external auditor every five years
and, in accordance with legisiation and 1ts own terms of reference,
will ensure that a competitive tender iakes place at least every 10
years There are no contractual obligations i place whuch would
restrict the Commuttee’s selection of a different auditor. The Group's
audit engagemant partner is John Waters, who has beeninrole since
PwC s appointment The Committee will ensure that the rotation of
audit partner s undertaken as required by legislation to the extent
that thus 1s not underiaken earlier by PwC

The Commuttee I1s responstble for overseeing the relationship with
the external auditor and for considering their terms of engagement,
remuneration, effectiveness, independence and continued
objectivity The Commuttee annually reviews the audit requirements
of the Group, for the business and in the context of the external
environment, placing great importance on ensuring a high quatity,
effecthive External Audit process

Fees and non-audit services

The Committee discussed the audit fee for the 2018 Annual Report
with the external auditer and approved the proposed fee on behatlf
of the Board

In addition, the Group has adopted a policy for the provision of
non-auds services by the external auditor The policy helps to
safeguard the external auditor s independence and objectivity The
policy aliows the externat auditor to provide the following non-audit
serwces to British Land where they are considered to be the most
appropriate provider-

- Audit retated services inctuding formal reporting relating to
horrowings, shareholder and other circulars and work in respect
of acquisitions and disposals In some circumstances, the
external auditor 1s required to carry cut the work because of their
office In other circumstances, selection would depend on which
firm was best suited to provide the services required

- Sustainebility assurance PwC currently provides an assurance
opinon to the Company over selected sustainabiity data Thrs
appomtment is reviewed annually

tn addition, the fallowing protocots apply to non-audit fees

- Total non-audit fees are imited to 70% of the audit fees in any
one year Additionally, the ratio of audit to non-audit fees s
calcuiated in ine with the methodology set out in the 2014
EU Regulations

- Commuttee approval 1s required where there might be questions
as to whether the external auditor had a confbict of interest

- The Audit Committee Chairman is required to approve in advance
each additional project or incremental fee between £25,000 and
£100,009 and Committee approvat 1s required for any additional
projects over £100,000

During the vear two engagernents relating to sustamability
assurance and financial model assurance required approval
These engagements were approved by the Audit Committee
Chairman on the basis that PwC were best placed to provide these
services and that they created no conflict of interest with therr role
as externat auditor

Total fees for non-audit services amodnted to £0.2 mithion, which
represents 20% of the total Group audit fees payable for the year
ended 31 March 2018 Details of all fees charged by the external
ayditor during the year are set out on page 113
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The Commiitee s satisfied that the Company has complied with
the provisions of the Statutory Audit Services for Large Companies
Market Investigation IMandatory Use of Competitive Processes and
Audit Committee Responsibilities) Order 2014, published by the
Competition & Markets Authority on 26 Seplember 2014

Effectiveness

Assessment of the annual evaluation of the external auditor’s
perforrmance was undertaken by way of a questionnaire completed
by key stakeholders across the Group, including sentor members
of the Finance team The review taok into account the guality of
plannming, debivery and execution of the audit [Including the sudit

of subsidiary companies), the technical competence and sirategic
knawledge of the audit team and the effectiveness of reporting
and communication between the audit team and management

PwC also provide the Committee with an annual report on its
independence, objectivity and compliance with statutory, regulatory
and ethical standards For the year ended 31 March 2018, as for

the prior year, the external suditor confirmed that it continued to
maintain appropriate internal safeguards to ensure its iIndependence
[ and objectivity

( The Commuttee concluded that the quality of the external auditor’s
work, and the knowledge and competence of the audit team, had
been matntained at an appropriate standard during the year

r The Committee therefore recommended to the Board that a

[ resolution to reappoint PwC as externat auditor to the Group be

put to shareholders at the 2018 AGM

, Internal Audit

The role of Internal Audit is to act as an independent and objective
assurance function, designed to improve the effectiveness of the
governance, risk management and internal controls framework
in mitigating the key risks of British Land Ernst & Young LLP(EY]
continde to provide internal audit secvices to British Land and
attended alt Committee meetings to present their audit findings
and the status of management actions

During the year, the Committee reviewed and approved the annual
internal audit ptan, iIncluding consideration of the plan’s alignment to
the principal ricks of the Group and its joint ventures Internal audits
completed during the year included those in relation to IT, third party
management, fraud resiience, insurance, company secretariat,
procurement, human resources, accounts payable and payrotl
{phase 2. Overall, no significant control issues were identified
although several process and control improvernents were proposed,
with follow up audits scheduled where necessary

Effectiveness

The annual effectiveness review of the internal auditor included
consideration of the Internat Audit charter which defines EY's role
and responsibilittes, rewiew of the quality of the audit work undertaken
and the skilts and competence of the audit teams The Commuttee
concluded that EY continued to discharge its duties as internal
auditor effectively and should continue inthe role for the year
commencing T April 2018

Risk management and internal controls

The Board has delegated responsibility for overseeaing the
effectiveness of the Group's risk management and internal controt
systems to the Commuttee The Commtiee has oversight of the
activities of the executive Risk Committee, receiving minutes of

alt Risk Commuttee meetings and discussing any signifrcant
ratters raised
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At the full and half year, the Commitiee reviewed the Group's
principal risks inclyding consideration of how risk exposures have
changed during the period and any emerging risks in the Company’s
risk register Both external and internatl risks are reviewed and their
effect on the Company's strategic aims considered The Committee
considered the Group's risk appetite, concluding that it remains

set at an appropriate ievel to achieve the Group's strategic goals
without taking undue risk The Board accepted the Committee’s
recornmendation that no changes were reguired to the Group's risk
appetite for the forthcoming year. The Committee also reviewed the
status of key risk indicators throughout the year against the risk
appetite set, focusing on any which were outside optimal ranges

During the year ended 31 March 2018, the Committee gave particular
atiention to the risk refating to catastrophic operational events
including ensuring that safety Investigations were undertaken on the
British Land portfalio following the Grenfel!l Tower fire and that crisis
response plans were In place for both physical and cyber risks The
Comrmittee also undertakes annual reviews of the Group's Treasury
Policy lwhich includes policies on Liguidity, interest rate and foreign
currency management] and the Group's msurance prograrmnme

Half yearly, the internal auditor reports to the Committee on the
effectiveness of internal controls, including an analysis of control
1ssvesdentified by management through the excephtions reporting
process Care s taken to ensure that identified risk areas are
considered for incorporation in the Internal Audtt plan and that the
findings of internal audits are taken into account when identifying and
evaluating misks within the business Key observations are reported
to, and debated by, the Committee During the year, it was agreed
that exceptions reporting should include operational matters as well
as financial For the year ended 31 March 2018, the internal audstor
confirmed that the system of risk management and internal control
had been effective

At the reguest of the Remuneration Cormnmittee, the Committee
considers annually the level of risk taken by management and
whether this affects the performance of the Company and thereby
incentive awards granted to the Executive Directors and senior
management Taking into account the reports received on internal
key controls and risk management, and the results of the internal
audit reviews, the Comrmuttee concluded that for the year ended
31 March 2018 they were not aware of excessive risk taking by
management which cught to be taken into account when
determining incentive awards

The Group’s whistleblowing arrangements, which enable all staff,
including temporary ang agency staff, supptiers and occupiers to
report any suspected wrongdoing, remained unchanged during the
year These arrangements, which are monitored by the Generat
Counsel and Company Secretary and reviewed by the Committee
annually, include an independent and confidential whustleblowing
service provided by a third party The Committee receved a
summary of all whistleblowing reports received during the year
and concluded that each had been dealt with appropriately

The Commuttee also reviewed the Group's tax strategy which sets
out the Group s approach to risk management and governance in
relation to UK taxation. its attitude towards tax planning, the level
of risk the Group 15 prepared to accept tn relation to tax and its
relationship with HM Revenue & Customs The resulting document
['Our Approach to Tax'l was approved by the Board in March 2018
and is available on the Company's website [www.britishtand.com/
governance)

Additional information on the Company’s internal controls systems
is set out tn the ‘Managing risk in delivering our strategy’ section
on pages 48 1o 49

Investment and development property valuations

The external valuation of British Land s property partfolio 1s a key
determinant of the Group s balance sheet, 1ts performance and the
remuneration of the Executive Directors and senior management
The Comrmttee 1s committed to the rigorous menitoring and
review of the effectiveness of its valuers as well as the valuation
process itself

As set out 1n the 2017 Annual Report, a new palicy has been adopted
regarding the appaintment of external valuers. The key elements of
this policy are

The duration of any valuer’s appointment to a specific asset Is
limited te 10 years |except where that asset has been market
tested in the period)

An agreed panel of valuers with the required level of market
knowledge and service provision wilt be mamntained

- Incumbents cannot be re-appointed to an asset

- Therewill be & minimum of two valuers on each of cur main
sectors, with each valuer covering a meaningful proportion
of both the overatl portfolio and relevant sector

To ensure a manageable transilion of assets to new valuers, the
Committee agreed that the initial implementation process would
be spread over three years, running 2017-2019 The first phase of
tendering |c 45% of the portfolic] was completed during the first

" half of the current inancial year with a further ¢ 20% scheduled to

transition in both 2018 and 2019 The Group s valuers are now CBRE,
Knight Frank, Jones Lang LaSalle [JLL) and Cushman & Wakefield

The Committee reviews the effectiveness of the external valuers
bi-annually, focusing on a quantitative anatysis of capital values,
yield benchmarking, avaiability of comparable market evidence
and major outliers to subsector movements, with an annual
qualitative review of the level of service received from each valuer

The valuers attend Committee meetings at which the full and half
year valuations are discussed, presenting their reports which include
detaits of the valuation process, market conditions and any significant
judgements made The external auditor reviews the valuations and
valuation process, having had full access to the valuers to determine
that due process had been followed and appropriate infermation
used, before separately reporting its findings to the Committee The
valuation process 15 also subject to regular review by Internal Audit.

British Land has fixed fee arrangements in place with the valuers
in retation to the vatuation of wholly-owned assets, iniine with
the recommendations of the Carsberg Committee Report

Copies of the valuatior certificates of CBRE, Knight Frank, JLL
and Cushman & Wakefield can be found or our website

at www.britishland.com/reports

Focus for the coming year
During the year ending 31 March 2019 the Committee watl continue
te focus on the processes by which the Board :dentifies, assesses,

_ monitors, manages and mitigates risk particularly In light of the

continued uncertainty arising from the UK s decision to leave the EU
The Commuttee will also continue to momitor key risk areas for the
business, particularly those scheduled for review by internal auart

- includmg, but not imited to General Data Privacy Regulation

compliance, cyber security and crisis management
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The Committee leads
the process for Board
appointments

Welcome to the repart of the Nomination Committee for the year
ended 31 March 2018.

Role and responsibilities
The Commuttee’s principal responsibilities rematn

- Rewviewing the structure, size and composition including the
skills, knowledge angd experience and diversity) of the Board
ang its Comnmittees and recommending changes to the Board

- Considering succession planning for Directors and other
Senior executives

— Reviewing the independence and time commistment requirements
of Non-Executive Directors and

- Making recommendations as to the Directors standing for
election or re-election at the AGM

Full details of the Commuittee’s role and responsibitities are set
out inits terms of reference available on our website at
www.britishtand.com/committees

Committee composition and governance

Following Lord Turnbull's retirement, the Committee has three
members: Willlam Jackson and Tim Score, both independent
Non-Executive Directors, while | continue to Chair the Committee

| would like to thank Lord Turnbull for the support and advice he has
provided to the Commuttee during his tenure

Details of the Committee’s membership and attendance at meetings
are set out In the following table

Date of
Committee Date of
Director Position appoirntment resignation  Attendance
John Gildersleeve Chairman 1 Jan 2013 3/6*
Witliarn Jackson  Member 11 Apr 2011 &4
Timn Score Member 1 Apr 2017 4f6
Lord Turnbull Member 1Apr20D6 18 Jul 2017 M

" lohn Gitdersleeve was unable to attend one meeting due to illness

74 British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

' chris Grigg, Chief Executive, was invited to attend all Committee

meetings during the year.

Luke Meynell of Russell Reynolds [and formerly of The Zygos
Partnership) was invited to attend one Commuttee meeting during
the year

I Diversity

i The Cornmittee, the Board of Directors and British Land as a whole
continue to pay full regard to the benefits of diversity, including
gender diversity, both when searching for candidates for Board

: appointments and when the Company 1s searching for candidates
for other appamtments

The Committee recommended an updated Board Civersity and
inclusion Palicy to the Board during the year The rewised Policy
aspires for wormen to represent 30% of Board membership by 2020,
as well as having regard to other aspects of diversity when making
recruitment decisions at both Board and senior management tevel

British Land currently has three female Board members Lynn
Gladden, Laura Wade-Gery and Rebecca Worthington, alt of whom
are Non-Executive Directors This represents 25% female Board
membership as at 31 March 2018 12017 23%)

The Board Diversity and Inclusien Policy also sets out British Land's
commitrnent to strengthen the gender balance on British Land’s
ieadership and sentor management teams The Board recogmses
that successful delvery of our strategy 1s underpinned by creating
an environment where all our people feel fully supported We have
estabtished an Inclusive Culture Steering Commuitee, headed by a
member of our Executive Committee, to promote dwersity and
incluston at all levels of the business The Steering Committee has
implemented a number of inrtratives such as diversity tramnmng for
atl new joiners and the establishmeant of support networks Further
information on diversity within British Land 15 set out on page 30.

We also recently pubtished our gender pay gap report. The report
15 available on our website lwww.britishland.com/governance) and
summanrised on page 30

Board membership

The Committee regularty reviews the structure, size and composition
of the Board in order to ensure it 1s made up of the right people with
the requisrte skills and experience, including diversity of thought and
approach, who can provide strong and effective leadership to the
business andg support delivery of the Company’s strategy



Aswas anticipated in tast year's Annual Report, Simon Borrows
and Lord Turnbull retired from the Board at the conclusion of the
2017 AGM In addition, Aubrey Adams retired from the Board at the
end of the 2017 calendar year and Lucinda Bell stood down as an
Executive Director and Chief Financial Cfficer on 19 January 2018

The process undertaken by the Committee to identify, select and
make recommendations to the Board in relation to the appomtment
of three Non-Executive Directors and a new Chief Financial Otficer
15 set out below

Appointment process for Board Directors

Role requirements
The Commitiee prepared detailed role specifications
setting out the skills, knowledge, experience and
attributes required for the role(s)
The Chief Executive was also involved in preparing
the role specification for the Chief Financial Officer

\/

Search process
Under the direction of the Committee, Russell Reynolds
{previously The Zygos Partnershup), an external search
consultancy, was engaged to facilitate the search process

\/

Review
Details of preferred candidates were presented to, and
considered by, the Committee and, in the case of the
Chief Financial Ofticer, the other Executive Directors
Shortlisted candidates were invited to Interview by the
Commuittee, Chuef Executive and other Directors as appropriate

\/

Recruitment
The Cemmuttee considered the feedback from interviews and
made recommendations to the Board as to the appointments of
Preben Prebensen, Alastair Hughes and Rebecca Worthington
as Non-Executive Directors and Simon Carter as Executive
Director and Chief Financial Otficer

The appointments were formally announced fallowing
approval by the Board

Other than the provision of recruitment consultancy services neither
Russell Reynolds nor, previously, The Zygos Partnership has any
cennection with British Land

Suceession planning

The Committee 15 responsible for reviewing the succession plans
for the Board. including the Chief Executive The succession plans
for the Executive Directors are prepared ontmmediate, medium and
long term basis while those for Non-Executive Directors reflect the
need to reqularly refresh the Board Such plans take account of the
tenure of individual rmembers The Committee’s review of Executive
Director succession ptans include consideration of the process for
tatent development within the orgamisation to create a pipeline te
the Board

The Cheef Executive, with the support of the HR Director, 15
responsible for developing succession plans for executives and
senior management which are precented to and considered by
the Committee

Independence and re-election

Prior to recommending the re-appointment of any Non-Executive
Director to the Board, the Committee assesses their continued
independence, the time commuiment required and whether the
re-appointment would be in the best interests of the Company
Detailed consideration (s given to each Non-Executive Director's
contribution to the Board and its Comnuttees, together with the
overall balance of knowledge, skills, experience and diversity

Non-Executive Directors’ tentires (as at 31 March 2018)

W Lnger §yoat
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Having served for more than six years, the Committee undertook

* a particularly ngorous review of William Jackson's contributions
. to the Board and the Committees on which he serves, together with

his continued independence The Cormrmittee unanimously concluded
that Willlam remained independent 1n character and judgement and
continued to discharge his responsibilities as a Non-Executive
Director effectively William did not participate in the discussion
relating to his re-appaintment

Following their review, the Committee is of the opimon that each
Non-Executive Director continues to demenstrate commitment to
his or her role as a member of the Board and its Committees,
discharges his or her duties effectively and that each makes a
valuable contribution to the leadership of the Company for the benefit
of all stakeholders Accordingly, the Committee recommended to
the Board that resolutions to elect or re-elect each Non-Executive
Director be proposed as appropniate to the AGM alongside the
resolutions to re-elect the Executive Directors

Therefore, In accordance with the Cede, each of the Directors in role
at year end and the date of this Annual Repert will offer themselves
for election (in the case of Alastair Hughes, Preben Prebensen and
Rebecca Worthington] or re-election in the case of all other
Durectors] Inaddition, Simon Carter witl take up his appointment on
21 May 2018 and offer himself for election at the AGM Biographies
for each Director can be found on pages 58 to &1

Committee effectiveness

This year the review into the Committee s effectiveness was
undertaken as part of the triennial externally facilitated Board
evaluation }am pleased to report that the evaluation concluded that
the Committee had handled the various successionissues well over
the past year and continued to operate effectively

+ Focus for the coming vear

Having overseen major changes to membership of the Board over
the last 12 months, the Committee intends to focus its attention for
the coming year on improving the gender balance of the leadership
tearn and undertaking a fermal structured review of the succession
ptans for sentor management

John Gildersleeve
Chairman of the Nomination Commitiee
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT. LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Our Remuneration Policy
aligns management incentives

with our strategy

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of the Board, | am pleased to present the Directors’
Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 March 2018, which
includes an ‘At A Glance’ summary and the Company's Annual
Report on Remuneration

The Annual Report on Remuneration, which describes both how the
Committee has implemented the Remuneration Policy during the
year and our intentions for the coming year, is set out on pages 79
to 91 Asusual, the Report on Remuneration will be subject to an
advisory vote at this year s AGM and | hope to continue to have

your support

Our Remuneration Policy was approved by sharehotders in July 2016
with over 97% support and a summary 1s set out on page 78 The full
Policy 1s availabte in the 2016 Annual Report and on our website at
www.britishland.com/committees

Our ¢current Remuneration Policy wilt remain in force until the 2619
AGM During the tatter part of 2018, the Committee will therefore
consider what f any, changes are required to the Remuneration
Policy te support the Company's strategy We wili fully engage with
shareholders, employees and other stakeholders fo ensure that their
views are taken into consideration In recormmending any changes to
our Remuneration Policy, we will also take account of the outcome of
the current review of the UK Corporate Governance Code

Committee membership

As disclosed in last year’'s Annual Report, Lord Turnbull retired
from the Board, and this Commuttee, at the conclusion of the
2017 AGM | would like to thank Lord Turnbull for hus commitment
te the Cormmittee during his term of office and wish him well

In his retirement
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Lynn Gladden and Laura Wade-Gery were members throughout
the year and we were pleased to welcome Preben Prebensen to
the Committee on 1 September 2017

Board changes

As previcusly mentioned by the Company s Chairman, there

have been a number of Board changes this year |ucinda Bell stood
down from the Board on 19 January 2018 and left British Land cn

4 April 2018 During this peried, Lucinda continued to receive her
salary and ernployment benefits in full

Lucinda is eligible fer an annuat bonus for the 2017/18 financial year,
subject to the satisfaction of a combination of corporate and personal
objectives After over 25 years of service to British Land, Lucinda 1s
considered to be a ‘good leaver and, as such, her outstanding
executive share plan awards will be treated 1n line with the good
leaver provisions in the respective plan rules Full details are
provided on page 86

As announced in January 2018, Simon Carter will join 8ritish Land
as an Executive Director and Chief Financial Officer on 21 May 2018
On appointment, Simon Carter’s basic salary will be set at £485,000
In tine with the approved Remuneration Policy, Simon’s pension
contribution will be set at 15% of salary and his maximum annual
bonus plan and LTIP opportunities for the year wiil be set at

150% and 250% of salary respectively, consistent with the other
Executive Directors To replace a deferred payment forfeited on
joming British Land, Simon will be awarded shares worth €675,000,
which have to be held for at (east one year

Remumeration in respect of the vear ended 31 March 2018
As noted by the Company Chairman, in the context of the econemic

and pohitical uncertainty that we have seen sthce the EU referendum,
and over the last year in particular, British Land has performed well

. Over the year ended 31 March 2018, the Company delivered good

financtat results gnd took important steps for tong term vaiue creation

The total returns from our property investments are expected to
outperform the market modestly As a result, payouts from our
annual incentive plan are expected to be between 55% and 57 5%
of maximum for the Executive Directors. This shows that the
Company's remuneration policies have worked as originally
intended when the annual incentive policy was set and approved
by shareholders.

For our tong term incentives, with our three-year performance
relative to the original benchmarks underperforming the median of
these benchmarks, we expect the LTIP maturing this June 2018 to
lapse in full along with half of the MSP awards vesting this year



Remuneration in respect of the year commencing !
1 April 2018 |
Salary and fees

The Cormnmittee has discussed and reviewed the Company's annual
salary review framework for all employees It has also reviewed the
salaries of the Executive Directors and concluded that these should

be increased by 2% in line with the average increase for the wider
employee population Thisis the first increase since 2015,

The Commuttee reviewed the annual tee payabte te the Chairman,
which has also not Increased since 2015, and cencluded that this
should be increased to £385 000 [representing a 4 2% increase,
equating to an average increase of 14% over the three-year period}
for the year commencing 1 Aprit 2018

The Board also reviewsd the fees payable to the Non-Executive
Directors and concluded that the base fee should be increased to
£62,500 from £61,00C, which represents a 2 5% Increase

Annual incentives

Inrespect of the annual incentive awards for Executive Directors,
the Commuttee has set strict weightings and targets for each
performance measure For the coming year, we will continue with
70% of any potential award being dependent on successfully
achieving financial targets, with 20% based on achieving qualitative
criteria and 10% on individual targets Further informationis
provided on page 79

Long term incentives

The Committee proposes to grant long term incentive awards during
this coming year at 250% of salary, the same level as last year
Details on the proposed grants, including pertormance conditions,
are set out on page 80

We will be using the sarme three performance measures as
previously, but have refined the way we will be assessing the Total
Property Return component to make it more relevant to the assets
the Company owns

Below Board-level incentives

The Commuttee’s remit also includes oversight of the Group's
remuneration policy for the wider employee population inthis
respect the Commuittee has approved a change to the long term
share incentive arrangements for the senmior management population
by approving the use of Restricted Share Awards

Previousty the semior management population had participated i the
Long-Term incentive Plan [LTIP) on & stmilar basis as the Executive
Directors However, for 2018 for certain employees other than
Executive Directors, the Commiitee has approved the use of
Restricted Shares instead of or [for the non-Board members of the
Executive Committee] in combination with, a tower level of LTIP The
lower level of LTIP award takes into account the increased certainty
of value of Restricted Shares

The introduction of Restricted Shares creates a stronger alignment
with the interests of other shareholders from the date of grant, ;
together with being @ more valued and retentive remuneration
package for senior management

The Restricted Shares wili vest after three years subject to
continued service

Gender pay gap

We have recently published our first gender pay gap report
fwww.britishland.com/gender-pay-gap) As required by legislation,
this information i1s based on data at a snapshot date of 5 Aprit 2617
when Bnitish Land had 237 employees and Broadgate Estates
Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary, had 322 employees

Our pay gap reflects an industry-wide picture where we have more
men than women in senior higher paid roles rather than unequal pay
for simlar work The British Land Board is committed to achieving
better gender balance across all positions in the Company and has
in place recruitment and development practices that st believes will
lead to a matenial change in this position over time

Our workforce 1s made up almost equally of men and wormen
We pay men and women who do the same jobs equaily, with each
role benchmarked annualty against external data

We have made significant progress over recent years whilst
recognising that there 1s more work to be done to reduce the extent
of the imbalance in the future n 2013 we were a founding supporter
of ‘Pathways to Property’, a programme set up to encourage young
people from a wide range of diverse backgrounds into the real estate
sector and 1n 2017 we welcomed a graduate trainee to British Land
from the first cohort to complete this programme

British Land was the first FTSE 100 property company to achieve

the Natienal Eguality Standard fAugust 2017) We are also one of a
handful of FTSE 100 compan:ies who have introduced company-
enhanced shared parental pay as well as intreducing flexible working
practices in many areas of the business, female mentoring
programmes and maternity coaching

We will continue to measure our gender pay very regutarly to come
to understand if what we are doing i1s working and to identify areas
where there 1s further need for change

Committee effectiveness

As with the other Board Commuttees, this year’s evaluation of the
effectiveniess of the Remuneration Committee was undertaken

as part of the triennial ndependently facilitated Board evaiuation
process |am pleased to report that the review concluded that the
Cornmittee continued to operate diligentty and effectively, that its
members had an appropriate balance of skills and experience and
carried out their duties In @ sensible and pragmatic way

Recommendaticn

British Land continues tc strive to apply best practice inits
remuneration poticies and to listen carefully to sharehotder
feedback We therefore hope that you show your support for our
approach to remuneratton by voting for’ the Directors’
Remuneration Report at the 2018 AGM

William Jackson
Chairman of the Remuneration Commuttee
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT AT AGLANCE

Executive Directors’ remuneration
The tables below show the 2018 actual remuneration against potential opportunity for the year ended 31 March 2018 and 2017 actual
remuneration for each Executive Director Full disclosure of the single total figure of remuneration for each of the Directors 1s set out in the

tabie on page 81

Chris Grigg

Chief Executive B - £000
2018 actual £2.244
2018 potential’ £4.878
2017 actual £1.938

0 1,000 2,000 3,000 4000 5000 600C

Tim Roberts

Head of Offices L £0060
2018 actual £1,125
2018 potential’ £2,535
wi7acwal [ €953

0 500

M Salary W Beoefrs WFensor

1,000 1,500 2,000 2,509 3,000

W Arnual inceatve Lorgterminsentives

2018 potential assurnas that botn annual and wong term in. entives pay out in fall

Summary of Remuneration Policy
The Remuneration Policy summarised below was approved by sharehotders on 19 July 2016 The Policy will apply untd the AGM in July 2019
The Remuneration Policy 1s set out in full in the 2016 Annuat Report and 1s availabte on our website www.britishland.com/cemmittees

Element of remuneration

Link to strategy

Charles Maudsley

Head of Retail, Leisure & Residential €aq0o
2018 actual £1.081
2018 potential’ €2,477
2017 actual £943
0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000

Lucinda Bell (to 19 January 2018)

Chief Financial Officer £'000
2018 actua B £941
2018 potential’ £2.060
2017 actual £1,002

0 500 1,000 1500 2,000 2,500 3,000

Framework

Fixed Sasic salary  Alfracts and retans Expert Peaple with Maximun Llevel canmol be greafer than the upper quarn.e af 'he comparator
the approprate degree of expertise arg group Reviewed annually and in~reases typically in une with irflation and
experience to de'iver agreed strateay general salary increases throughout the Group

Maximumtec of {7,500 p a inaggrega‘e for atl qual fying appontments 1o
sdbsidiary boards
Henetis Benelits are restncted toa maxnr urn of £ 23,000 p a for car allowance and
the amount required to cantinue providing agreed benefits at a s'mitar evel
year-on-year
Pensicn Defined banefil scheme - target beneli’ s the pension *hat can be provided
cantributior by the 31 March 2012 Liferime allowance (£1 8 million] uplitted by R
Detined contribution arrangements - cash allowancas in Leu of pension
are made at betwsean 15-35% of salary
Variable Annua! Performance messures related to Batisk Land s Maximurn ooporiunity s 150% of basi salary 2/3rdis paid incash when
Incentive stratagic focus ard the Exezutive Dineclar s granted with the rernaining 1/3rd inet of taxl used 1o purchase shares on behalf
indwidual area of responsibibiy are set by the ol the Executive Director tAnnuat Incentive Sharest which must be beld for a
Comrnittes gt the begmming of the financiatyear  furtherthres years from the date of grant whether or not the Lxecutwve MDirector
remains an employee of British L and
Langterm - Total Property Return [TER] Iinks reward Maxirdarn vaiue of an LTIF award 15 300% of basw salarywhich may be inthe
Incentive 10 gross property performance form af perforimanre shares or markef valus options ar a roirbination of both
- Total Accounting Return {TAR] links rewa-d
o net property perfarmance and shareholder
distributions
- Total Shareholder Return (TSR] directly
correlates reward with sharehotder returns
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION

How we intend to apply our
Remuneration Policy during the
year commencing 1 April 2018

——

The following pages set out how the Committee intends to apply the Remuneration Policy during the coming year.

Executive Directors’ remuneration

?@ Basic salaries

Basic salaries for our current Directors have been set at the following levels for the year commencing 1 April 2018
Basic salary
£

Director

Chris Grigg 856,800
Charles Maudsley 455174
Tim Roberts 435175
Simon Carter [from 21 May 2018} 485,000

FHE| Annual Incentive awards

The maximum benus opportunity for Executive Directors remains at 150% of salary The performance measures for the Annual Incentive
awards have been selected to reflect a range of quantitative and qualitative goals that support the Company s key strategic objectives
The performance measures and werghtings for the year commencing 1 April 2018 will be as follows

Proportion ¢f Annual
Incentive as a percentage

Measure of maximum opportunity
Quantitative measures 70%
Total Property Return relative to IPD (sector reweighted) 42%
Profit growth relative to budget 8%
Qualitative measures 20%
Right Places - Progress on key projects including develepments 5%
Customer Orientation - Company reputation with alt stakeholders 5%
Capital Efficiency - Execution of targeted acquisitions and disposals %
- Progress on strengthening the dividend
Expert People ~ Promoting an inclusive, performance driven culture 5%
Individual objectives Performance against individual success factors 10%

The Commuittee has set targets for the quantitative measures for the corning year and wilt disclose these i the 2017 Remuneration Repoit
as they are felt to be commercially sensitive In assessing how the Executive Directors performed during the year commencing | April 2018,
the Commuttee will take into account their performance against all of the measures and make an assessment in the round to ensure that
performance warrants the level of award determined by the table above

As disclosed in 2017 the Committee agreed that for Annual Incentive awards, the sector weighted IPD March Annual Universe benchmark
[which Includes sales, acquisttions and developments and so takes info account active asset management as well as a more representative
peer group) weuld be most suitable However, due to timing of publication of the March Universe benchmark, the Company’s actual
performance against IPD metrics s untikely to be known when the 2019 Annuat Report 1s approved by the Board The 2019 Remurneration
Report will therefore include an estimate of the vesting value of Annual Incentive awards for that financial year, with the actual awards,
based on the final IPD March Annual Universe Data, set out in the following Annual Report lfor the year ending 31 March 2020)
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT: ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION CONTINUED

@\3 Long term incentive awards

An LTIP award witl be made to Executive Directors during the year commencing 1 April 2018 It is anticipated that the grant size of LTIP
awards will be 250% of salary for each Executive Director This continues to be below the maximum available under the policy of 300%
of salary approved by shareholdersn July 2016

The performance measures that apply to this LTIP award will be as follows

Measure Link to strategy Measured relative to Weighting
Total Property Return (TPR| The TPR measure I1s designed TPR performance will be assessed against the 4£0%
The change in capital value, less  to link reward to strong performance of an IPD benchmark

any capital expenditure incurred,  performance at the gross

plus net income. TPR1s property tevel

expressed as a percentage of

capital employed over the LTiP

performance pertod and s

calculated by IPD

Total Accounting Return (TAR) The TAR measure is designed to  TAR will be measured relative 1o a comparator group 40%
The growth in British Land s link reward to performance at consisting of the 17 largest FTSE property companies

EPRA NAV per share plus the net property level that takes  that use EPRA accounting lincluding Brittsh Land)

dividends per share paid over the  account of gearing and our

LTIP performance period distributtons to shareholders

Total Shareholder Return [TSR)  The TSR measure is designed Half of the TSR measure will be measured relative to 20%

The growth in value of a British
Land shareholding over the LTIP
perfoermance period, assuming
divtdends are reinvested to
purchase additional shares

to directly correlate reward
with the return delivered
to shareholders

the performance of the FTSE 100 and the other half
will be measured relative to the performance of a
comparator group consisting of the 17 largest FTSE
property companies that use EPRA accounting
[inciuding British Land)

Performance against the LTIP measures will be assessed over a period of three years 100% of the propertion of the TAR and TSR awards
attached to each measure will vest «f British Land's performance 1s at an upper quartile level If performance against a measure 1s equa!
to the median, 20% of the proportion attached fo that measure wiil vest and if performance 1s below median the proportion attached to

that measure will lapse There wili be straight-tine vesting between median and upper guartite performance for each measure

For the TPR award, 20% of the award will vest for matching a sector weighted IPD index reflecting the Company's property assets

There will be straight-line vesting between this index performance and the higher of 1 1x the iIndex performance and 100 basis points

per annum outperformance The Commuttee retains the discretion te reduce the formulaic vesting amount if 1t feels that there is a

material inconsistency between the level of reward and relative performance delivered

Non-Executive Directors’ fees
Fees paid to the Chairman and Non-Executive Directors are positioned around the m:d-market of cur comparator group of companies
[FTSE 100 companies with broadly simiar market capitalisations to British Land) with the aim of attracting individuals with the appropriate
degree of expertise and experience The fee structure set out below was adopted st the 2016 AGM and incorporates a 2.5% increase to the
annual fee for the Non-Executive Directors and a 4 2% increase to the Chairman’s fee for the year commenacing 1 April 2018

Chairman s annual fee {385,000
Non-Executive Directors’ annual fee f462.500
Senior Independent Director’s annual fee £10,600
Audit Commttee or Remuneration Committee Chairman s annual fee £20,000
Audit Commuittee or Remuneratton Committee member s annual fee £8,600
Nomination Committee member s annual fee £4.000
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How we applied our

Remuneration Policy during
the vear ended 31 March 2018

The foliowing pages set out how we implemented the Directors’ Remuneration Policy during the year ended 31 March 2018 and the
remuyneration received by each of the Directors

Single total figure of remuneration {(audited)
The following tables detatt all elements of remuneration receiwvable by British Land s Executive Directors in respect of the year ended
31 March 2018 and show comparative figures for the year ended 31 March 2017

Other
iterns in the Pensionor
Taxable nature of pension Annual Long term
Salaryffees benefits  remuneration allowance incentrves?  incentives Total
2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018 2018
Executive Directors £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Chris Grigg 840 22 15 294 724 349 2,244
Charles Maudsley 444 22 12 67 370 164 1.081
Tim Roberts 448 23 12 89 380 173 1,325
Lucinda Bell [to 19 January 2018) 398 18 12 24 337 152 941
The preportion of L usinda Bell 5 salary, nansfits and annual incentives which ralate to the penod from 19 Langary to 31 Merck 2018 are set cut in the Paymments o
past Dirzetors misciosurs on page 84
- 2013 Annuadlncgnlive cutoames are subjact to the publcation of iinal 20 resalts
2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017 2017
£000 £000 £009 £000 €000 £000 €000
Chris Grigg B40 23 14 294 418 349 1938
Charles Maudsley 446 23 13 &7 231 163 943
Tim Reberts 448 23 12 85 222 163 953
Lucinda Bell 493 23 13 78 245 150 1,002

Notes to the single total figure of remuneration table

géi Fixed pay

Taxable benefits: Taxable benefits include car allowance {between £16,170 and £16,800), private medical insurance and subsidised gym
membership The Company provides the tax gross-up on subsidised gym membershup and the figures included above are the grossed
up values

Other items in the nature of remuneration inctude life assurance, permanent health insurance, annual medical check-ups, professional
subscriptions, the vatue of shares awarded under the all-employee Share Incentive Plan and any notional gain on exercise of Sharesave
options that matured during the year

Pensions: Nerther Chris Grigg nor Charles Maudsley participate in any British Land pension plan and instead receve cash allowances of
35% and 15% of basic salary respectively, in lieu of pension For the year ended 31 March 2018, these payments amounted to £294,000 and
£66,938 respectively Lucinda Bell and Tim Roberts are both members of the British Land Defined Benefit Pension Scheme The table below
details the defined benefit pensions accrued at 31 March 2018 [or date of leaving the Board in the case of Lucinda Bell)

Defined benefit

pension acerued at Normal
37 March 20182 retirement
Executive Director €000 age
Tim Roberts M &0
Lucinda Bell' (1o 19 January 2018) 107 40
Lu mda Bell remained an active ember of the Brtish Lang Defined 3onefit Binsion Sooeme unte hercepar-ura from the Sor pany and Apol 20014 forlowing wih o0
she hooame a defarred insrmber of *hat s e
Thearriuce pe s o s based onservice to the yeor end or, fearlier, the date of leavirg the Board and tinal pensionable salacy at that date

There are no addional benefits that will become recewable by a Director inthe event that a Director retires early
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DIRECTORS REMUNERATION REPORT ANNUAL REPORT ON REMUNERATION CONTINUED

Variable pay
Annual Incentive FY18

The level of Annual Incentive award is determined by the Committee based on British Land's performance and each individual Executive
Director’s performance against their individual targets during the year For the year ended 31 March 2018 the Committee’'s assessment
and outcemes are set out below

Range of parfarmance
berween 25% and 100%

100% pay-nut
2%2% pay-out 5C% pay-out {no inzreasea
[0 pay-out |performance  pay aul above Outcorme
below this n Line witt this maximum as Y% of
Quantitative measures Weighting point) expectations]  pay-outpoint)  Qutcome salary Performance achieved against target range
lotat property 14 T% 27 19, - Target range of malzhing sector weighted index (o
returns vs =0 47%, . outperformirg it oy 1% TPR of 7 3%, exceeding the
lestimateat estimated threshoic of weighted IPD index by 20bps
159 1% 22 &% - “argetrang= of matching the budget ¢
Lndernymg 280 ' cutperform ngit by 3 5% Pre’tachievernertinine
Profit ¢ with expectation at £380m [This targetis
cornrrerzial v sersitive so Fas rol been disclosed]
Sub-total 70% Sub-total 29 8% AL TY
Qualitative measures Performance achieved against measures
- Progress on Broadgate campus visien - an site
Fogress on gewt;p‘\:’;’g ; ”E o lft L twath
Right Key projecis ., - CanadaWater cevelopment agreemant with
Ptaces including 5% . 5 0% 5% Southwark Council
developments - Cor~pleted Meadowhall extension and resoiwiion fo
grant plann ng achieved for the leisure extension
- Completion of Clarqes Maytar
- Flexible workspace brand sterey (aunghed across
altthree Office campuses
e - Retail footfali and bike tor-like sales cantin.e to
Carnpany
Cuslomef reputat onwith 8% . 0% 4 59 outpertform the benchmarks by 340bps and 130bps
Orientation 4| stakeholders respactivel
p ¥
- Contirued ~ecognition of sustanability credent-als
arross hve key indices [GRESE, MSCI, EPRASBPR,
CJSI Worid Index and F TSE4Sood)
Lxecution - Ahead or Prafit vs Budget
ottarqeted_ - Fitchupgreded credd rating to A {lrom A-rar
:;guollbs‘tr;gg;b senior unsecured debt
Capital ) K o 5 750 " Oebut 1ssue of Sterling bord tor £300 milian
Efficiency E;;i%ﬁ?zﬁ:‘ﬂ 2% " " - WAIR at hustoric low of 2 8%
,he"d‘%dmd agmd - Complzted £300 millian share buyback programma
execution of at average share price of £4 30
degt financing - Dwdend growth mantained at 3%
- National Equality Standard achievea
Prormating an - Actueved 2 Star Rating in Best Comipanies
< 9
Expert irzlusive, o . ” Board ard 5 ) " . .
Pecple performarce ¥ , 50% 75% - Board ard senior management appoitments —
driven cutture threz Non-Executive Directors, Chisf Financal
Dfucar and other senor appointments
Sub-total 20% Sub-total 18 D% 27 D%
) Quantitative and gualitative 47 8% N 1%
Individual measures’ 10% 75 97% 1 2-14 5%

Total 553 575% 879-B8 2%

The Comrmittee assesses 10% of the bonus oppartundy an the individual contribiution by each Exec utive Directar towar ds g series of preset objectives winch are closely
aligned to the gualitative measures set aut i the above table

The Comrittes determined that the |evel of award would be 7 5% of basic salary for each Executive Director with Chnis Grigg receving an additional 2 17% reflecting

his strong indwidual performance, Tim Roberts recawving an addiiorat 1 5% reflecting his personal performance and that of the Office business and Lucinda Bell
recervng an additionasl 1 22% in ine with her remurerationterms on 'leaving
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@ Leng termincentives

The information in the long term ncentives colurnn in the single total figure of remuneration table [see page 81] retates to vesting of awards
granted under the following schemes, including, where applicable, dividend equivalent payments on those awards and interest accrued on
those dividend equivalents

Long-Term Incentive Plan

The awards granted to Executive Directors on 22 June 2015, and which will vest on 22 June 2018, were subject to two equally weighted performance
conditions over the three-year period te 31 March 2018 The first measured Brinsh Land's TPR relative to the funds i the Decernber IPD UK Annual
Property Index [the Index}, while the second measured TAR relative to a comparator group of British Land and 16 or so other property companies

The TPR element 1s expected to lapse, based an British Land s adjusted TPR of 7% when compared to the tunds in the Index The TAR
element is also expected to lapse based on British Land's TAR of 27% The actual vesting rate of the TPR and TAR elements can only be
calculated once resutts have been published by IPD and alt the companies within the comparator group respectively The actual percentage
vesting will be confirmed by the Commuttee in due course and details provided in the 2019 Remuneration Report

Estimated value Estimated dividend
Performance Number of performance of award on vesting equivalent and interest
Executive Director shares or option shares/option awarded £000 £000
Chris Grigg Performance shares 154,949 0 0
Market value options 206,599 0
Lucinda Bell Performance shares 121,254 0
Charles Maudsley Performance shares 109,756 0
Tirn Roberis Pertormance shares 109,756 0 1]

2017 comparative As set out inthe 2017 Annual Report, the 2014 LTIP awards lapsed in full on 23 June 2017 as expected

Matching Share Plan

The performance conditions for the MSP Matching awards granted on 29 June 2015 were i} TSR relative to a comparator group of British
Land and 16 other property companies and [n) British Land s gross income growth [GIG) relative to the iPD Quarterly Universe ithe Universe]
These performance conditions are equally weighted The MSP Matching awards will vest on 29 June 2018

Korn Ferry Hay Group Limited [Korn Ferryl has confirmed that the TSR element of the award will vest at 0% as British Land s TSR
performance over the period was -% 8% compared to a median of 40 6% for the comparator group The GIG element 1s expected to vest at
100% as British Land ¢ annualised GIG over the period of 4 7% 15 expected to exceed the expected growth of the Universe by mere than the
upper hurdle As a result, 50% of the MSP Matching awards granted in June 2015 are expected to vest As disclosed for the 2015 LTIP abeve,
the actual percentage vesting will be confirmed by the Commuttee and details provided in the 201% Remuneration Report

Number of Estimated value Estimated dividend

Matching Shares of award on vesting equivalent

Executive Director awarded £000 £000
Chris Grigg 94,348 308 41
Lucinda Bell 40,950 134 18
Charles Maudsley 44.226 145 19
Tim Roberts 46,682 163 20

2017 comparative In June 2017 the Committee confirmed that the 2014 MSP Matching awards would vest as to 50% on the vesting date
[being 30 June 2017) The long term incentsves figures in the 2017 comparatives of the single total figure of remuneration table have therefore
been updated {0 reflect the actual share price on vesting {601 10 pence] rather than the average for the 90-day period used in the 2017 Annual
Report of 608 078 pence
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Share scheme interests awarded during the vear (audited)

Long-Term lncentive Plan

The total value of each Executive Director s LTIP award for the year ended 31 March 2018 was equivalent to 250% of basic salary at grant
At grant each Director 1s able to indicate a preference as to the proportion of the award that they wish to receive as either performance
shares or market value options The share price used t0 determune the face value of performance shares and the fair value of options,
and thereby the number of performance shares or options awarded, is the average over the three dealing days immediately prior to the
day of award For the award granted in June 2017, no Executive Director elected to receive market value cptions and the share price for
determiming the number of performance shares awarded was 617167 pence The performance conditions attached to these awards are
set out In the Remuneration Policy approved by shareholders in July 2616 and summarised on page 80

Performance shares
Percentage vesting on

Number of Face End of achievernent of minimum

Grant  performance value performance Vesting  performance threshold

Executive Director date shares granted €000 period date %
Chris Grigg 28/06/17 340,264 2,100 3i/03/20 28/06/20 20
Charles Maudsley 28/06/17 180,765 1116 31/03/20 28/04/20 20
Tim Roberts 28/06/17 180,765 1116 31/03/20 28/06/2D 20
Lucinda Bell 28/06/17 199,702 1.232 31/03/20 28/08/20 20

Sharesave Scheme

The foliowing options were granted to Executive Directors during the year under the all-employee Sharesave Scheme The exercise price 1s
set at a 20% discount to the average market price of the Company’s shares over the three dealing days immediately preceding invitation to
the Scheme The cost of exercise 1s met entirely by the Director and 1s accumulated by deductions from satary from grant to vesting

Total to be
deducted  Number of Earliest
from salary options Face value Exercise exercise
Executive Director Grant date £000 granted £000 price date Expirydate
Lucinda Bell 21/06117 g 1771 g 508  01/09/20  28/02/21

Directors’ sharecholdings and share interests (audited)

Directars’ shareholdings at 31 March 2018

The following table shows the Executive Directors interests in fully paid ordinary British Land shares, including shares held by connected
persons, M5P Bonus Shares, Annuat Incentive Shares and shares held in the Share Incentive Plan All interests are beneficial

Holding at 31 March 2018

lor date of departure from Holding at
Dwector the Board, if earlier) 31 March 2017
Chris Grigg 1,297,818 1,257,368
Charles Maudsley 251,194 230,383
Tirn Reberts 245,748 244114
Lucinda Bell (at 19 January 2018} 246,471 226 0198

Sharehotding guidelines

The minimum sharehoetding guidelines reguire Executive Directors to hold ordinary shares with a value equal to a set percentage of salary
There I1s no set timescale for Executive Directors to reach the prescribed target but they are expected to retain net shares received on

the vesting of long term incentive awards untit the target is achieved Shares that count towards the holding guideline are unfettered

and beneficially owned by the Executive Directors and their connected persons Deferred annual incentive shares, MSP Bonus Shares,
locked-in SIP shares and atl unvested awards do not count towards the requirement

The guideline shareholdings feor the year commencing 1 April 2018 are shown below

Unfettered
Guideltne as holding as Total holding as
percentage Unfettered percentage of Total a percentage
of basic Guideline holdingat  basicsataryat shareholdingat of basic salaryat
Executive Director salary holding'  31March2018  31March 2018 31March 20187 31 March 2018
Chris Grigg 2725% 794393 1,232,206 Y2 1297818 997
Charles Maudsley 150% 104,264 217,143 312 251,194 361
Tim Roberts 150% 104,264 230,230 331 265,748 38?2

Calculated ona share price of 442 pence on 29 March 2018
¢ Seelhirectors shareholgimgs lable apove which include MSP Bonus Shares and all shares hetd i the SIP

The guideline shareholding for Simon Carter has also been set at 150% of salary
The shareholding guidelines for Executive Directors were last increased with effect from 1 April 2015 when the holding requirernent for

each Director was increased by 25% of basic salary. The Commuttee regularly reviews the guidelines together with the Executive Directors’
shareholdings, but has not proposed any change for the year commencing 1 April 2018
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Acquisitions of ordinary shares after the year end

The Executive Directors have purchased or been granted the following fully paid ordinary British Land shares under the terms of the
partnership, matching and dvidend etements cf the Share Incentive Plan

Date of

purchase or Purchase Partnership Matching Owvidend
Executive Director award price shares shares shares

Chris Grigg 16/04118 65079 23 4L
04/0518 67077 109

14705418 694 464 21 47

Charles Maudsley 16/04/18 65079 23 46
(14/G5/18 67577 87

14/05/18 66 464 21 47

Tirm Roberts 16/04/18 65079 23 46
04/05/18 67577 20

14405118 496 464 21 42

Unvested share awards
Number Subject to End of
outstanding at perfermance performance

Executive Director Date of grant 31 March 2018 measures period Vesting date
Chris Grigg LTIP performance shares’ 72/06/15 154,949 Yes 31/03/18 22/06/18
LTIP performance shares 22/06/16 229979 Yes 31/03/12 22/06A1%
LYIP performance shares 28/06/17 340,264 Yes 31/03/20 28/04/20
MSP Matching Shares! 29106115 94,348 Yes 31/03/18 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares 29/06/16 96,718 Yes 31/03/19 29/06119
Charles Maudsley LTIP performance shares’ 22/06/15 109.754 Yes 31/03/18 22/06/18
LTIP performance shares 22/06/%6 122174 Yes 31/03/19 220617
LTIP performance shares 78/06/17 180,765 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
MSP Matching Shares' 79/06/15 44,276 Yes 31/03/18 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares 29/06/16 47,206 Yes 31/03/19 29/06/19
Ttm Roberts LTIP performance shares' 22/06/15 1039756 Yes 31/03/18 ?2H06/18
LTIP performance shares 22/06/14 61.088 Yes 31/03/19 22/06/19
LTIP pertormance shares 28/06/17 180,765 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
MSP Matching Shares' 29/06/15 46,682 Yes 31/0318 29/06/18
MSP Matching Shares ?9/06/16 46,006 Yes 31/03/19 29/06/19
Lucmnda Bell LTIP performance shares' 22/06/15 121,254 Yos 31/03/18 272/G6/18
LTIP performance shares’ 22/06/16 134976 Yes 31/03/19 22106119
LTIP performance shares- 28/06/17 199,702 Yes 31/03/20 28/06/20
MSP Matching Shares' 29/06/15 40950 Yes 31/03/18 29/G6118
MSP Matching Shares’ 29106116 47206 Yen 31/03/19 29/06/19

The LT'P and MSP awerds gran‘ed in june 7019 21e also ndtudedwithin *he 2018 Long ternincent ves coly~n arvhe single tolal bigur e of remuneration talie
gn page 81 The degres to which pertormance measwras 9ave been or are expected to be arhreved, and tne resultant proportions of the awarcs expecied lo vast,

are delailed on page 83
- These awards will vaet un a pro-rata basis on the applable norrral vesting aate f and to the axtent Ihat performanze wond bors are nel at that time

Unvested option awards [not available to be exercised)

Number

cutstanding at

Ogtion

Subjectto

price performance

performance

End of Date

becomes

Exercisable

Executive Director Date of grant 31 March 2018 pence measures period exercisable until
Chris Grigg LTIP options’ 22/06/15 206,599 8245 Yes 3/03/18  22/06/18  22/06/25
Tim Roberts Sharesave options 19/06/13 2348 5110 No nfa  OV8%18  28/62N19
Sharesave cptions 23/06/14 3135 5740 No nfa 010919 29/02/20
LTIP options 22/06/14 244,353 7305 Yes /B3y 22061 22/06426
Lucinda Bell Sharesave options? 22/06/15 1,291 6970 No nfa 010918 28/02/19
Sharesave oplions® 21706417 1,771 HUH O No nfa  W0%720 0 28/02/0
The LTIP optons granted in lune 2019 a1e also incluged within the 2018 org terinircentives colur nof the single total figure of remme neratrontabe on
page 81 Thedegree tywhichperfarmance o zasl 108 have bean ar are expeied fo pe =r fneved, and the resyliant proporticns of the awards 2xpoc s Lo vest,
are ceta led onopage 87
These Sharesave npt ans aps=don 4 Apr | 2018, the date arwtnch Luinda Bl Lot Brob=h Land
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Vested option awards (available to be exercised)

Number
outstanding Qption
at 31 March price Exercrsable
Executive Director Date of grant 2018 pence uniil
Chris Grigg LTIP options 29/G6/09 7,791 387 29/06/19
LTIP options 11/06/10 1,073,825 LET 110620
LTIP options 28/06/1 695,657 575 28/06/N1
LTIP opttons 1410912 143,494 538 14/09/22
Lucinda Bell LTIP options 11/06/10 7997 447 1/06/20
las at 19 January 2008] | 1ip ontions 14/12/10 11764 510 14412420
LTIP options 14/0912 138,289 538 14/09/22
LTIP options' 05/08/13 87119 501 05/08/23
This award vested at tne level of 56 3% under the performance tonditions

Options exercised during the year ended 31 March 2018
Market price
on date of
Number Optionprice  Date became Date exercise
Executive Director Date of grant exercised pence exercisable exercised pence
Lucinda Bell Sharesave options 23/06/14 1.567 574 m/0917  26/02/18 650 20
LTIP options 11/04/10 60,000 L47 11/06/13 26/1/17 627

Payments to past Directors (audited)

During the period from 19 January 2018 to 31 March 2018, Lucinda Belt remained an employee of British Land and received salary of £94,808
and taxable benefits of £4,223 Lucinda remained a member of the SiP until her departure from British Land on 4 April 2018 Under the Rules
of the SIP. Lucinda recerwved matching shares in February and March 2018 with a total valve of £603 Inadditien, Lucnda will receive an
additional £80,350 in relation to the Annuat Incentive awards for the year ended 31 March 2018 which related to the period after she had
stepped down from the Board A contribution of £10,000 plus VAT was also made to L.ucinda's legal fees

Payments to Lucinda Bell on leaving British Land (audited)

After over 25 years at British Land, Lucinda Bell informed the Board in October 2017 of her intention to stand down from the Board and to
teave the Company Following the completion of the search for a replacement Chief Financiat Officer, Lucinda Bell stood down from the
Board on 19 January 2018 and left British Land as planned on 4 April 2018 Lucinda’s remuneration terms on leaving were in ine with the
Remuneration Policy approved by shareholders at the 2016 AGM

Lucinda received her satary and employment benefits in full to the date of her departure and will receive payrents in lieu of notice for the
remainder of her 12-month notice period to 4 October 2018 The maximum amount payabie for this pertod comprises base salary of £246,500,
car allowance of £8,350, pension contributions/allowance of £52,500 and the value of other benefits of £2,546 These payments may be
reduced by the value of any atternative paid employment secured during this period As mentioned in the Committee Chairman's letter on
page 76, Lucinda is eligibte for an annual bonus for the 2017/18 financial year, subject to the satisfaction of a combination of corporate and
personal abjectives In line with the Remuneration Policy, two-thirds of any annual bonus wilt be paid in cash and one-third will be used to
purchase British Land shares which must be held for a further period of three years

Lucinda ceased to participate in the Company's all-employee employee share plans on departure and any unvested Sharesave awards
lapsed at that time Lucinda s vested executive share awards remain exercisable until 4 October 2018

The Commuttee deterrmined that Lucinda be treated as a 'good leaver’ under the Company's executive share plans Consequently,
awards tincluding any dividend equivalents] will continue to vest on the normal vesting dates subject to the extent to which the applicable
performance critena have been met and where relevant any ime pro-rating reduction applied The vesting levels of these awards will be
confirmed In the Annual Reperts for 2019 and 2020 respectively

Other disclosures

Service contracts

All Executive Directors have [and inthe case of Simon Carter, will have] rolling service contracts with the Company which have notice periods
of 12 months on either side

Normal notice Normal notice

Date of service period to be given period to be given

Director contract by Company by Director
Chris Grigg 19/12/2008 12 months 12 months
Charles Maudsley a3/11/2069 12 months 17 months
Tirn Roberts 14/11/2006 12 months 12 months
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Inaccordance with the Code, all continuing Directors stand for election or re-election by the Company's shareholders on an annual basis
The Directors’ service contracts are avallable for inspection during normal business hours at the Company's registered office and at the
Annual General Meeting The Company may terrminate an Executive Director’s appointment with immediate effect without notice or payment
in Lieu of notice under certain circumstances, prescribed within the Executive Director’s service contract

Executive Directors’ external appointments
Executive Directors may take up one non-executive directorship at another FTSE company, subject to British Land Beoard approval

Chris Grigg was appointed a non-executive director of BAE Systerns plc on 1 July 2013 During the year to 31 March 2018, Chris received
atee of £85,845 hincluding £5,845 of overseas travet allowances and benefits deemed to be taxable] from BAE Systems ple, which he
retained in full {2017 £84,000) Lucinda Bell was appointed a non-executive director of Roterk plc on 10 July 2014 During the period from
1 April 2017 to 19 January 2018, when she stood down from the Board, Lucinda receved a fee of £45,125 frem Rotork pic, which she
retained in fult (2017, £47.910)

Relative importance of spend on pay

The graph below shows the amount spent on remuneration of all employees [inctuding Executive Directors) retative to the amount spent on
distributions to sharehoiders for the years to 31 March 2018 and 31 March 2017 The remuneration of employees increased by 2 4% relative to
the prior year, while distributions to shareholders increased by 2% Distributions to shareholders include ordinary and, where offered, scrip
dividends No scrip alternative was offered during the year ended 31 March 2018 The graph alse shows the split between property income
distnbutions [PID] and non-property income distributions {non-PID]

Relative importance of spend on pay Remuneration of employees Distributions to shareholders

inctuding Directors B PID cash dividends paid
2017/18 _ £85m _ B Wages and salaries to shareholders

LT e T ke B Annualincentives # PID tax withholding

B Social security costs Non-PID cash dividends

201617 — £63m o B Pension costs paid to shareholders
b £296m B Equity-settled share-based
payments

Total shareholder return and Chief Executive's remuneration

The graph below shows British Land s totsl sharehotder return for the nine years from 1 April 2009 to 31 March 2018 against that of the FTSE
Real Estate Investment Trusts [REIT) Total Return Index for the same period The graph shows how the total return on a £100 Investment in
the Company made on 1 April 2009 would have changed over the nine-year period measured, cempared with the totat return ona £100
investment in the FTSE REIT Total Return Index The FTSE REIT Total Return Index has been selected as a suttable comparator because itis
the index in which British Land's shares are classified

Total Shareholder Return
Rebased to 100, 1 April 2009

400 — - — — - - —_—
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The base point required by the regulations governing Remuneration Report disclosures was close to the bottom of the property cycle
at 1 April 2009 Since British Land’s share price had nict fallen as much as the average share price of the FTSE REITs sector at that time,
a higher base point for subsequent growth was set
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The table below sets out the tolal remuneration of Chris Grigg, Chief Executive, over the same period as the Total Shareholder Return graph
The quantum of Annual Incentive awards granted each year and long term incentive vesting rates are given as a percentage of the maximum
opportunty available

Chief Executive 200%/10 2010/11 201/12 2012/13 2013114 2914/15 2015/16 2018/17 2017/18
Chief Executive’s single total figure

of remuneration (€060} 2,082 7379 5,353 4,810 5,398 6,501 3,623 1,938 2244
Annual Incentive awards against

maximurn opportunity (%) o7 83 75 75 90 96 &7 33 57

Long term incentive awards
vesting rate against maximum
opportunity {%] n/a n/a Yo 43 98 93 54 15 16

Chief Executive’s remuneration compared to remuneration of British Land employees

The table below shows the percentage changes in different elements of the Chief Executive’s remuneration retative to the previous financial
year and the average percentage changes in those etements of remuneration for employees based at British Land's head office over the
same period Head office employees have been chosen as an appropriate comparator groug for this purpose as employees based at British
Land's head office carry out work of the most similar nature to the Chief Executive

Average change
Yalue of Chief Executive Value of Chief Executive Change in Chief Executive in remuneration of
remuneration 2018 remuneration 2017 remuneration British Land employees
Remuneration element £606 £0G0 % %
Salary B840 840 0 618
Taxable benefits 22 23 -315 741
Annual Incentive 724 418 70 81 2185
Non-Executive Directors’ remuneration (audited)
The table below shows the fees paid to our Non-Executive Directors for the years ended 31 March 2018 and 2017
Fees Taxable benefits! Total
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
Chairman and Non-Executive Directors £800 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
John Gildersleeve [Chairmanl] 389 349 43 49 412 418
Lynn Gladden 3 69 1 1 70 70
Alastair Hughes (from 1 January 2018) 17 - - - 17 -
Willlam Jackson 100 87 - - 100 87
Nichotas Macpherson [frem 19 December 2016) 69 17 - - 49 17
Preben Prebensen [from 1t September 2017} 40 - - - 40
Tirn Score 23 89 - 93 89
taura Wade-Gery 34 69 1 - 70 69
Rebecca Worthington [from 1 January 2018] 17 - - 17 -
Aubrey Adams [to 31 December 2017) 52 69 - - 52 69
Simon Borrows (to 18 July 20171 21 69 - - 21 &9
Lord Turnbull fto 18 July 2017 25 89 - - 25 89

Taxable henents in¢lude the Chairmar s chauffeur cast and cxpenses incutreo by other Non-Executive Directors The Company orovides the lax grass up on these
benefits and the tigures shown above are the grossed up values
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Shareholding (audited)

Although there are no shareholding guidelines for Non-Executive Directers, they are each encouraged to hold shares in British Land
The Cempany facilitates this by offering Non-Executive Directors the ability to purchase shares quarterly using their post-tax fees During
the year ended 31 March 2018, Lynn Gladden, William Jacksen, Tim Score and Laura Wade-Gery have each received shares in full or part

satisfaction of their Non-Executive Directors’ fees

The table below shows the Non-Executive Directors’ shareholdings as at year end or the date of retirement from the Board (f earligr:

Holding at Holding at
Director 31March 2018 31 March 2017
John Gildersleeve 5,220 5,220
Lynn Gladden 13,950 7.837
Alastair Hughes 7,274 . -
William Jackson 128,123 123,858
Nicholas Macpherson 4,600 2,300
Preben Prebensen - -
Tim Score 34,134 22,415
Laura Wade-Gery 8,059 4,831
Rebecca Worthingten 3,000 -
Aubrey Adams las at 31 December 2017) 30,000 30,600
Simon Borrows [as at 18 July 2017) 300,000 300,600
Lord Turnbull {as at 18 July 2017) 21,258 21,258

Inaddition, on 11 April 2018, the following Non-Executive Directars were allotted shares at a price of 645 2675 pence per share i full er part

satisfaction of their fees

Nan-Executive Diractor Shares ailotted
Lynn Gladden 1,550
Willam Jackson 1,017
Tim Score 2,811

775

Laura Wade-Gery
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Letters of appointment (audited)
Alt Non-Executive Directors have a letter of appointment with the Company The etfective dates of appointment are shown below

Director Effective date of appeintment

John Gildersleeve [Chairman] 1 Septernber 2008 [Non Fxeculive Director), 1 January 2013 {Chas rnanl
Lynn Gladden 20 March 2015

Alastair Hughes 1 January 2018

William Jackson 11 Aprid 201

Nicholas Macpherson 19 December 2016

Preben Prebensen 1 September 2017

Tim Score 20 March 2014

Laura Wade-Gery 13 May 2015

Rebecca Worthington 1 January 2013

All continuing Non-Executive Directors stand for election or re-election on an annual basis The letters of appointment are available for
inspection during normal business hours at the Company’s registered office and at the AGM

The appointment of the Chairman or any Non-Executive Directors may be terminated immediately without notice if they are not reappointed
by shareholders or if they are removed from the Beard under the Company’s Articles of Association or if they resign and do not offer
thernselves for re-election In addition, appointments may be terminated by erther the indwidual or the Company giving three months written
notice of termination or, for the Chairman, six months written notice of terrination

Neither the Chairman nor the Non-Executive Directors are entitled to any compensation for loss of office for any reason other than accrued
and unpaid fees and expenses for the period up to the termination

Remuneration Committee membership

Membership of the Commuttee was changed during the year with the retirement of Lord Turnbull and appointment of Preben Prebensen
As at 3 March 2018, and throughout the year under review, the Committee was comprised wholly of independent Non-Executive Directors
The members of the Commuittee, together with attendance at Cormmittee meetings, are set out In the table below

Date of appointment

Directer Position fto the Committee) Date of resignation Attendance
Willlam Jackson Chairman 14 January 2013 416
Lynn Gladden Member 20 March 2015 616
Preben Prebensen Mermber 1 September 2017 414
Laura Wade-Gery Member 13 May 2015 b/6
Lord Turnbull Member 1 April 2006 18 July 2017 2/?

During the year ended 31 March 2018. Committee meetings were alsc part attended by John Gildersieeve [Company Chairmanl, Chris Grigg
[Chief Executive), Lucinda Betl {Chief Financial Officer], Charles Maudsley [Executive Director), Etaine Williams {Company Secretary and
General Counsel to 31 August 2017), Bruce James interim Cornpany Secretary from 1 September 2017 to 15 January 2018), Brena McKeown
[General Counsel and Company Secretary from 15 January 2018) and Ann Henshaw [HR Director) other than for any itern relating to their own
remuneratton A representative from Korn Ferry atso routinely attends Committee meetings

The Committee Chairman holds regutar meetings with the Chairman, Chief Executive and HR Directer to discuss all aspects of remuneration

within British Land He atso meets the Committee’s independent remuneration advisers, Korn Ferry, prior to each substantive meeting to
discuss matters of governance, remuneration golicy and any concerns they may have
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How the Committee discharged its responsibilities during the year
The Committee’s role and responsibilities have remained unchanged during the year and are set out in full in its terms of reference which
can be found on the Company’s website www.britishland.com/committees The Committee's key areas of responsibility are

- Setting the Remuneration Policy for Executive Directors and the Company Chairman, reviewing the remuneration policy and strategy
for members of the Executive Committee and other members of executive management, whilst having regard to pay and employment
conditions across the Group

- Determining the total individual remuneration package of each Executive Director, Executive Commitiee member and other members
of management

- Monitoring performance against conditions attached to all annual and long term incentive awards to Executive Directors, Executive
Commuttee and other members of managerment and approving the vesting and payment outcomes of these arrangements

- Selecting, appointing and setting the terms of reference of any iIndependent remuneration consultants

In addition to the Committee’s key areas of responsibitity, during the year ended 31 March 2018, the Committee also considered the
following matters

- Review:ing and recommending to the Board the Remuneration Report to be presented for shareholder approvat

- Appraisal of the Chairman s annuat fee, remuneration of the Executive Directors including achievement of corporate and ingividual
performance, and pay and Annual Incentive awards below SBoard level

- Considering the extent to which performance measures have been met and, where appropriate, approving the vesting of Annual Incentive
and long term incentive awards

- Granting discretionary share awards, reviewing and setting performance measures for Annual Incentive awards

- Considering the impact of the share buyback on incentive plans

- Reviewing the Committee's terms of reference

- Considering gender pay gap reporting requirements

- Departure terms for Lucinda Bell

- Recruitment terms for Simon Carter

- Receming updates and training on corporate governance and remuneration matters from the independent remuneration consultant

Remuneration consultants

Korn Ferry was appoimted as independent remuneration adviser by the Committee on 21 March 2017 following a competitive tender process
Korn Ferry is a member of the Remuneration Consultants Group and adheres to that group’s Code of Conduct The Committee assesses the
advice given by its advisers to satisfy itself that it 1s objective and independent The agvisers have private discussions with the Committee
Chairman at teast once a year in accordance with the Code of Conduct of the Remuneration Consultants Group Fees, which are charged on
a tirne basis, were £129,246 lexcluding VAT] Korn Ferry also provided general remuneration advice to the Company during the year

Yoting at the Annual General Meeting
The table below shows the voting outcomes of the resolutions put to shareholders regarding the Directors’ Remuneration Report [at the AGM
in July 2017} and the Remuneration Policy lat the AGM in July 2016)

Votes Totalvotes Votes
Resclution Votes for % for against % against cast withheld
Directors Remuneration Report {2017] 722118468 98 24 12,935,360 Y76 735,003,828 7.872.061
Directors’ Remuneration Policy [2016] 727144638 $713 21,494 166 2?87 748638804 7869489

This Remuneration Report was approved by the Board on 16 May 2018

William Jackson
Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
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DIRECTORS REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES

Directors’ Report and additional disclosures

The Directors present their Report on the affairs of the Group,
together with the audited financial statements and the report of the
auditor for the year ended 31 March 2018 The Directors’ Report is
also the Management Report for the year ended 31 March 2018 for
the purpose of Disclosure and Transparency Rute 4 1 8R Information
that Is relevant to thts Report, and which is incorporated by reference
and including infermation required in accordance with the UK
Companies Act 2006 and Listing Rule ¢ 8 4R, can be located in the
following sections

Information Section in Annual Report Page
Future developments of the Strategic Report 810 25
business of the Company

Risk factors and principal risks Strategic Report  48to 35
Financial instruments - Strategic Report 45to 47

risk management objectives
and policies

Dividends Strategic Report 43
Sustainability governance Strategic Report 31
Greenhouse gas emissions Strategic Report 31
Viabitity and going cencern Strategic Report 51 and 67
statements

Governance arrangements Governance 6210 91
Ermployment policies and Strategic Report 17 and 30
employee involvement

Capitalised interest Financial statements 119 to 120
Additional unaudited Other information 164 to 176

financiat information unaudited

Annual General Meeting (AGM)

The 2018 AGM will be hetd at 11 00am on 17 July 2018 at

The Montcatm London Marble Arch, 2 Wallenberg Place, London
WIH7TN

A separate circular, comprising a tetter from the Chairman of the
Board, Notice of Meeting and explanatory notes on the resolutions
being proposed, has been circulated to sharehelders and 1s available
on our website at www.britishland.com/fagm

Articles of Association

The Company’s Articles of Association [Articies] may only be
amended by spectal resolution at a general meeting of sharehoiders
Subject to applicable law and the Company's Articles, the Directors
may exercise all powers of the Company.

The Articles are available on the Company’s website at
www.britishland.com/governance.
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Board of Dircctors

The names and biographical details of the Directors and details

of the Board Committees of which they are members are set out
on pages 38 to &1 and incorporated into this Report by reference
Changes to the Directors during the year and up to the date of ttus
Report are set out on page 61 The Company s current Articles
require any new Director to stand for election at the next AGM
following their appointment The current Articles also require each
Directer to stand for re-election at the third AGM following their
election However, in accordance with the Code and the Company s
current practice, all continuing Directors offer themselves for
election or re-election, as required, at the AGM

Details of the Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company and
any awards granted to the Executive Directors under any of the
Company's all-employee or executive share schemes are gtven in
the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 91 The Service
Agreements of the Executive Directors and the Letters of Appointment
of the Non-Executive Directors are atso surnmarised in the Directors’
Remuneratton Report and are avariable for inspection at the Company s
registered office

The appointment and replacement of Directors s governed by the
Company s Articles, the Code, the Companies Act 2006 and any
retated legislation The Board may appoint any perscn to be a
Director se long as the total number of Directors does not exceed
the imit prescribed in the Articles In addition to any power of
removal conferred by the Compariues Act 2004, the Company may
by ordinary resolution remove any Director before the expiry of ther

. period of office

Directors’ interests in contracts and conflicts

of interest

No contract existed during the year in relation to the Company’s
business in which any Director was materially interested

The Company s procedures for managing conflicts of interest by the
Directors are set out on page 66 Provisions are also contained inthe
Company's Articles which aliow the Directors to authorise potential
conflicts of interest

Directors’ liability insurance and indemnity
The Company maintains appropriate Directors’ & Gfficers’ hability

! insurance cover i respect of any potential legal action brought
' aganst its Directors

The Company has also indemnified each Director to the extent
permitted by law against any liability incurred in relation to acts or
omissions arising In the ordinary course of their duties The indemnity
arrangements are qualifying indernnity provisions under the
Companies Act 2006 and were in force throughout the year




Share capital

The Company has one class of shares, being ordinary shares of

25 pence each, all of which are fully paid The rights and obligations
attached to the Company s shares are set out inthe Articles There
are no restrictions on the transfer of shares exceptn relation to
Real Estate Investment Trust restrictions

The Directors were granted authority at the 2017 AGM to allot
relevant secunties up tc a norminal amount of £85,817 956 as well as
an additional authority to allot shares to the same value on a rights
issue This authority will apply until the conclusion of the 2018 AGM
At this year s AGM, shareholders will be asked to renew the authority
to allot retevant securities

At the 2017 AGM, the Directors were also given power by the
shareholders to make market purchases of ordinary shares
representing up to 10% of its 1ssued capital at that time, being
102,981,547 ordinary shares This authority will aiso expire at the
2018 AGM and tt 1s proposed that the renewat of that authority will
be sought.

In July 2017, the Board decided that the strength of the investment
market and the continuing discount in the Company s share price
meant that the best use of capital would be to undertake a share
buyback As aresult, during the year ended 31 March 2018, the
Company repurchased 47,607,139 ordinary shares of 25 pence each
for an aggregate consideration of £300 million This represents

4 B5% of the issued share capital lexcluding shares held in Treasury)
at that date All shares repurchased during the year were cancelled

The Company continued to hold 11,266,245 ordinary shares in
treasury during the whole of the year ended 31 March 2018 and
to the date of this Report

Further details relating to share capital, including movements during
the year, are set out In note 20 to the financiat statements

Rights under an employee share scheme

Employee Benefit Trusts [EBTs] operate in connection with some of
the Company's employee share plans The trustees of the EBTs may
exercise all nights attached to the Company's ordinary shares in
accordance with their fiduciary duties other than as specifically
restricted in the documents which govern the relevant employee
share plan

Waiver of dividends

Blest Limited acts as trustee |Trustee) of the Company's
discretionary Employee Share Trust {EST] The EST helds and, from
time to time, purchases British Land ordinary shares in the market,
for the benehit of employees, including to satisfy outstanding awards
under the Company's various executive employee share plans

A dwvidend warver s in place from the Trustee in respect of all
dividends payabie by the Company on shares which 1t holds in trust

Substantial interests

All notsfications made to British Land under the Disclosure and
Transparency Rules IDTR 5] are published on a Regulatory
Information Service and made availlable on the Investors section
of our website

As at 31 March 2018, the Company had been notified of the
following interests in its ordinary shares in accordance with DTR 5
The information provided s correct at the date of notification

Interests in Percentage

ordinary hotding

shares disclosed %

BlackRock, Inc 98,113,953 998
Norges Bank 51,439,045 499
GIC Private Limited 41121137 39¢9
APG Asset Mapagement N V 39,851,884 400

Since year end, BlackRock, inc has subrmitted a number of
netifications to the Company, all of which have been disclosed to the
market The latest notification dated 23 April 2018 advises that they
indirectly hold 98,224,793 ordinary shares, representing 9 99% of the
Cempany s issued share capital

Change of control

The Group's unsecured borrowing arrangements include provisions
that may enable each of the tenders or bendhelders to reguest
repayment or have a put at par within a certain periog fotlowing a
change of control of the Company In the case of the Sterling bond
this anses if the change of contro! also results ina rating downgrade
to below investment grade In the case of the convertible bond there
may also be an adjustment to the conversion price applicable for a
limited period following a change of control

There are no agreements between the Company and its Cirectors
or employees providing for compensation for loss of office or
employment that occurs specifically because of a takeover, merger
or amalgarmation with the exception of provisions in the Company’s
share plans which could result in options and awards vesting or
becoming exercisable on a change of control

Payments policy

We recognise the importance of good supplier relationships to the
overall success of our business We manage dealings with suppliers
In a fair, consistent and transparent manner

Events after the balance sheet date
Detalls of subsequent events, if any, can be found In note 26 on page 146

Political donations
The Company made no political donations during the year [2017 nil)
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DIRECTORS REPORT AND ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

Community investment

Our financial donations to good causes during the year totalled
£1,687,000 (2017 £1.351,000] Our Comnrnunity Investment Committee
approves all expenditure from our Community Investment Fund and
reports to the Executive Committee on an annual basis

In addition, the Company atsc supports fundraising and payroll giving

for causes that matter to staff This support includes

- 50% uplift of statf payrolt giving contributions [capped at £5.000
per person and £50,000 per annum for the whole organisation)

- A staff matched funding pledge, matching money raised for
charity by staff up to £750 per person per year

We also support fundraising by the teams managing our retail and
office properties around the UK by

- Matching up to £1,000 for site fundraising initiatives per year,
per location

- Extending our staff matching funding piedge to on site employees
of Broadyate Estates Lirmited, our wholly-owned subsidiary

Our community investment s gutded by our Local Charter, which
we updated in 2018 to increase focus on five priorities around
our places

- Connecting with local communities

- Supporting educational inibatives tor local peopte

- Supporting local traiming and jobs

- Supporting local businesses

- Contributing to local people s wellbeing and enjoyment

Through our community investment and Local Charter activity, we
connect with communities where we operate, make positive local
contributions, help people fulfil their potentral, help businesses grow,
and promote wellbeing and enjoyment This all supports our strategy
to create Places Peopte Prefer

Community
investment in
action

Young pecple taking
part inone of the
educ ational inttiatves
we support, Linking
to career paths in

our sector
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Health and safcty

We have retained formal recogrition of our focus on health and
safety through a successful audit of our OHSAS 18001 accredrtation
We continue toimprove our approach to health and satety
management to ensure that we consistently achieve best practice
across all activities 1n the business [construction, managed portfolio
and head office} to deliver Places People Prefer to our employees
and our customers

RIDDOR* for the vear ended 31 March 2018
Total RIDDOR
incidents Injury rate
2018 07 2018 2017
Construction 3 2 0.13 008  per 100,600
hiours worked
Retail 30 22 0.01 001 per 100,000
footfail
Otfices & 8 12.88 2351 per 100,000
workers
Head Office 0 0 0 0 per 100,000
futl irne
equivalents
* Reparting of Im;uries, Diseases and Dangerous Oczurrentes Regulations 2013

. Auditor and disclosure of information
f Each of the Directors at the date of approval of this Report
confirms that

information that has not been brought to the attention of the
auditor
- The Director has taken ali steps that he/she should have taken
, tomake himself/herself aware of any relevant sudit information
. and to establish that the Company’s auditor was aware of
that information

|
1
|
i - Sofar asthe Director s aware, there I1s no relevant audit
]
f
|
i

PwC has indicated its willingness to remain i office and, on the
recommendation of the Audit Commuttee, a resolution te reappoint
PwC as the Company’s audrtor will be proposed at the 2018 AGM

The Directors’ Report was approved by the Board on 16 May 2018
and signed on 1ts behalf by

Brona McKeown

General Counsel and Company Secretary
The British Land Company PLC
Company Number 621520




DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report
and the financial staterments in accordance with applicable law
and regulation

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements
for each financiat year Under that law the Directors have prepared
the Group financtal statements in accordance with Internationatl
Financial Reporting Standards [IFRSs) as adopted by the European
Union and the parent Company financial statements in accordance
with United Kingdem Generally Accepted Accounting Practice
[Untted Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101
‘Reduced Disclosure Framework , and appiicable law]

Under company taw the Directors rust not approve the financial
staterments unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair
view of the state of affairs of the Group and Company and of the profut
or loss of the Group and Cornpany for that period In preparing the
financial statements, the Directors are required to

- Select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently

- State whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union
have been fellowed for the Group financiat statements and United
Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101, have been
followed for the parent Company financial statements, subject to
any material departures disciosed and explained in the financial
statements

- Make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable
and prudent

- Prepare the financial statements on the gotng concern basis
unless it 1s Inappropriate to presume that the Group and Cempany
wilt continue In business

The Directors are responsidle for keeping adeguate accounting
records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group and
Company's transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at
any time the financial pesition of the Group and Company and enable
them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’
Rernuneration Report comply with the Companies Act 2006 and, as
regards the Group financiat statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulation

The Directors are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Group and Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the Company's website Legislation i the United Kingdom governing
the preparation and dissermination of financial statements may differ
from legistation in other jurisdictions

The Directors consider that the Annual Report and accounts, taken
as awhole, 15 fair, balanced and understandable and provides the
information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group and the
Company’s performance, business model and strategy

£ach of the Directors, whose names and functions are tisted in the
Board of Directors on pages 58 to 40 confirm that, to the best of
their knowledge

- The Company financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with Umited Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice (United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 ‘Reduced Disclosure Framework , and appticable law], give
atrue and fair view of the assets, liabihties, financiat position
and profit of the Company

- The Group financial statements, which have been prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the Eurcpean Union, give
atrue and far view of the assets, Liabilities, financiat position
and profit of the Group

- The Strategic Repert and the Directors’ Report inctude a fair
review of the development and performance of the business and
the position of the Group and Company, together with a description
of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces

By order of the Board

Chris Grigg
Chief Executive
16 May 2018
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Finaneial starements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC

Report on the audit of the finanecial statements
Opinion
In eur opinuon

- The British Land Cormpany PLC ¢ Group financial statements and
Company financial statements (the ‘financiat statements jaive &
true and fawr view of the state of the Group s and of the Company's
affairs as at 31 March 2018 and of the Group s profit and cash
flows for the year then ended,

- the Group financial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European Urion,

- the Company financial statements have been property prepared in
accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting
Practice [United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS
101 "Reduced Disciosure Framework ', and appticable lawl, and

- the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 and, as regards the
Group financial statements, Article 4 of the |AS Regulation

We have audited the financial statements, included within the Annual
Report and Accounts 2018 [the "Annual Report”}, which comprise

- the Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018,

- the Consotidated incomne Statement for the year ended
31 March 2018,

- the Consolidated Staternent of Comprehensive Income for the
year ended 31 March 2018,

- the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended
31 March 2018,

~ the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for the year
ended 31 March 2018,

- the Company Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2018,

- the Company Statement of Changes in Equity for the year ended
31 March 2018; and

- the notes to the financial statements, which include a description
of the significant accounting policies

Gur opinion is consistent with our reporting to the Audit Commitiee

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit In accordance with International Standards
on Auditing (UK) ["ISAs [UK}") and applicable law Our responsibilities
under ISAs [UK] are further described in the Auditors’ responsibilities
for the aud:t of the financial statements section of our report

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 15 sufficient

and appropriate to provide a basis for aour opinion

Independence

We remained independent of the Group :n accordance with the
ethicat requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial
statements in the UK, which inciudes the FRC s Ethicat Standard, as
applicable to Listed public Interest entities, and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibitities in accordance with these requirements

To the best of cur knowledge and belief, we declare that non-audit
services prohibited by the FRC s Ethicat Standard were not provided
to the Group or the Company

Other than those disclosed in note 5 to the financial statements, we
have provided no non-audit services to the Group or the Company in
the period frorm 1 Aprit 2017 to 31 March 2018

Our audit approach

Overview

- Cur 2018 audit was ptanned and executed having regard to the fact
that the Group's operations were largely unchanged in nature
from the previous year Additionally, there have been no significant
changes to the vatuation methodology and accounting standards
relevant to the Group In light of this, our approach to the auditin
terms of scoping and key audit matters was largely unchanged
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~ We taillored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed
enough work to be able to give an spinion on the financial
statements as a whole The Group financial statements are
prepared on a consolidated basis, and the audit team carries out
an audit over the consolidated Group balances i support of the
Group audit opniony The following joint ventyres are also audited
to Group matenality Broadgate and Meadowhall

Materiality
— Overall Group materiabty £131 8 million {2017 €135 0 rmilkion],
based on 1% of total assets

- Specific Group materiality, applied to underlying profit, £1¢ 6 million

{2017 £19 4m)which represents 5% of underlying pre-tax profit
- Overall company materiabity £287 0 mition {2017 £283 ¢ million),
based on 1% of total assets

Key audit matters

- Vatuation of investrment and development properties
- Revenue recognttion

- Accounting fortransactions

- Taxation

The scope of our audit

As part of designing cur audit, we determined materiality and
assessed the risks of material misstatement 0 the financral
statements In particular, we looked at where the directors made
subjective judgements, for example i respect of significant
accounting estimates that involved making assumptions and
considering future events that are inherently uncertain

We gained an understanding of the legal and regulatory framework
applicable to the Group and the industry in which it operates, and
considered the risk of acts by the Group which were contrary to
applicable laws and regulations, including fraud We designed audit
procedures to respond to the risk, recogrising that the risk of not
detecting a material misstaternent due to fraud 1s higher than the
risk of not detecting ane resulting from error, as fraud may invoive
deliberate concealment by, for example, forgery or intentional
rmisrepresentations, or through cellusion We focused on laws and
regulations that could give rise to a material mysstatement inthe
tinancial staternents, including, but not Lirmited to, the Compantes Act
2006 and the UK tax legislation as applicable to a REIT

Our tests included, but were not bmited to, review of the financiat
statement disclesures to underlying supporting documentation, and
enguiries of management and review of minutes of those charged
with governance

There are inherent Limitations i the audit procedures described
above and the further removed non-compliance with laws and
regulations rs from the events and transactions reftected in the
financial statements, the less likely we would become aware of it

We did not identify any key audit matters relating to irregularities,
including fraud Asin all of our audits we also addressed the risk of
management override of (nternat controts including testing Journats
and evaluating whether there was evidence of bias by the directors
that represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in the auditors’
professicnal judgament, were of most significance in the audi of
the financjal staternents of the current period and include the most
sigruficant assessed risks of material misstatement lwhether or not
due to fraud] identified by the auditors, including those which had
the greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allocation of
resources In the audit, and directing the efforts of the engagement
team These matters, and any comments we make on the results of
our procedures thereon, were addressed n the context of our audit
of the financial statements as a whole, and 1n forming our opimon
thereon, and we de not provide a separate opinion on these matters
This 15 not a complete lList of all risks identified by our audit



Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Valuation of investment and devetopment properties - Group
Refer to pages 69 to 73 [Report of the Audit Commitiee), pages 109 to
11 [Accounting policies) and pages 119 to 123 [Notes to the Accounts]

The Group's investment property portfolio is split between office 1n
Central London, retail across the UK, the assets at the Canada Water
site1n East London and other properties in Central London The
valuationin the Consolidated Balance Sheet 15 £9,997 mullion

The valuation of the Group's Investment property portfolio 1s
inherently subjective due to, among other factars, the individual
nature of each property, its location and the expected fuiure rentals
for that particular property For developments, factors include
projected costs to complete and timming of practical completion

The valuations were carried out by third party valuers, CB Richard
Elbis, Jones Lang LaSalle, Cushman and Wakefield and Knight Frank
Ithe "valuers”) The valuers were engaged by the Directors, and
performed their work in accordance with the Royal institute of
Chartered Surveyors [ RICS”) Vatuation - Professional Standards
The valuers used by the Group have considerable experience of the
markets (n which the Group operates

in determining & property s valuation the valuers take into account
property-specific information such as the current tenancy
agreements and rental income They apply assumptions for yields
and estimated market rent, which are influenced by prevailing
market yields and comparable market transactions, te arrive at

the final valuation For developments, the residuat apprassal method
is used, by estimating the fair value of the completed project using

a capitalisation method less estimated costs to completion and a
risk premium

The sigruficance of the estimates and judgements involved, coupled
with the fact that only a small percentage difference in individual
property valuations, when aggregated, could result ina matenal
ronsstatament, warrants specific audst focus inthis area

There were also certain specific factors affecting the valuations In
the year. Properties under development, compteted developmenits
that are now valued as standing investrnent properties and standing
investment propertres that have been reclassified to development
properties continue to be a key audit matter

We read the valuation reports for all the properties and confirmed
that the valuation approach for each was in accordance with RICS
standards and surtable for usein determining the carrying value for
the purpose of the financial statements

We assessed the valuers’ qualbfications and expertise and read the:ir
terms of engagement with the Group to determine whether there
were any matters that might have affected their objectivity or may
have imposed scope Uimitations upon their work We also considered
fee arrangements between the valuers and the Group and other
engagements which might exist between the Group and the valuers
We found no evidence to suggest that the objectivity of the valuers

in ther performance of the valuations was compromised

We obtained details of every property held by the Group and setan
expected range for yield and capital value movement, determined by
reference to published benchmarks and using our experience and
knowledge of the market We compared the investment yields used by
the valuers with the range of expected yields and the year on year
capital movement to our expected range We also considered the
reasonableness of other assumptions that are not so readily comparable
with published benchmarks, such as Estimated Rental Value

We attended meetings with management and the valuers, at which
the valuations and the key assumptions therein were discussed

Our work covered the valuation of every property in the Group, but
the discussions with management and the valuers focused on the
largest properties in the portfolio, properties under development or
where the valuation basis has changed in the year, the Canada Water
site and those where the yields used and / or year on year capitat
value movement suggested a possible outlier versus externally
published market data for the relevant sector

Where assumptions were outside the expected range or otherwise
appeared unusual, and/or valuations showed unexpected
movements, we undertook further investigations and, when
necessary, held further discussions with the valuers and obtained
evidence to support explanations received The valuation
cormmentaries provided by the valuers and supporting evidence,
enabled us to consider the property specific factors that may have
had anmpact on value, including recent comparatble transactions
where appropriate

We saw evidence that alternative assumptions had been considered
and evaluated by management and the valuers, befere deterrmining
the final valuation We concluded that the assumptions used in the
valuations were supportable in light of available and comparable
market evidence

We performed testing on the standing data in the Group’'s information
systerns concerning the valuation process We carried out
procedures, on a sample basis, 1o satisfy ourselves of the accuracy
of the property infoermation supplied to the valuers by management
For developments, capitalised expenditure was tested on a sample
basis to Invoices, and budgeted costs to complete compared with
supporting ewidence lfor example construction contracts]

It was evident from cur interaction with management and the
valuers, and from our review of the valuation reports, that close
attention had been paid to each property's individual characteristics
at a granular, tenant by tenant level, as wetl as considering the
overall quality, geographic location and desirability of the asset as
awhole Noissues were identified in our testing
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Finanecial statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS  REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC CONTINUED

Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Revenue recognition - Group
Refer to pages &9 to 73 IReport of the Audit Cormirittee), page 109
to 111 [Accounting policies) and page 113 [Notes to the Accounts)

Revenue for the Group consists primarily of rental income Rental
Income i1s based on tenancy agreements where there (s a standard
process in ptace for recording revenue, which is system generated
There are certain transactions within revenue that warrant additional
audit focus because of an increased inherent risk of error due to their
non-standard nature

These include spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent
increases - these balances require adjustments made to rental
Income to ensure revenue I1s recorded on a straight line basis over
the course of the lease

We carried out tests of controts over the cash and accounts receivable
processes and the related IT systerns to oblain evidence that postings
to these accounts were reliable For rental incoeme balances, we then
used data-enabted audit technigues to identify all standard revenue
journals pested using these systems and processes

The remaining journals retated to non-standard transactions
These included reclassifications within revenue, accrued income,
and bad debt provisions For each category of non-standard
revenue summarised above, we understood the nature and
assessed the reasonableness of journals being generated, and
performed substantive testing over a sample of these items
There were no exceptions arising from our testing over
nen-standard revenue transactions

For batances not included within rental incorne, such as service
charge income, we performed substantive testing on a sample basis
No issues were 1dentified in our testing

Accounting for transactions - Group and Company
Refer to pages 49 to 73 [Report of the Audit Commuttee), pages 109
to 111 {Accounting policies] and pages 112 to 147 [Notes)

There have been a number of transactions during the year
These warranted additional audit focus due to the magnitude of
the transactions and the potential for complex contractual terms
that Introduce judgement into how they were accounted for Key
transactions subject to additional audit focus for the Group were

- lnvestment property acquisitions of £250 million, including the
acquisition of The Woolwich Estate |"'Woolwich™] for £103 million

- Investment property disposals of £185 mulhion

- Share buyback of £300 msllion

- Issue of 2 375% £300m unsecured bond

- Partial close out of interest rate derivative 103 (IRD 103') for
£14 1 rrullion cash settlement

- Anamount of £15m [the Group's share} received from RBS in
relation 1o the surrender of their tease at 135 Bishopsgate,
within the Broadgate joint venture

Key transactions subject to additional audit focus for the
Company were

- Share buyback of £300 million

For each transaction, we understood the nature of the transaction
and assessed the accounting treatment in relation to the Group's
accounting policies and relevant IFRSs

For acquisitions and disposals, we obtained and read the key
supporting decumentation such as Sale and Purchase Agreements
and completion statements Consideration received or patd was
agreedto bank statements

For the sites acquired at Woolwich which have been accounted for
as an asset acquisition, we assessed the accounting treatment in
relation to IFRS 2 Business combinations and IAS 40, acquisition of
investment property We read the sale and purchase agreements
and agreed that the purchase met the criteria to be recogrised as
an asset acquisition We audsted the acquisition accounting and the
subsequent re-measurement to fair value at the batance sheet date
We agreed the proceeds paid to bank statements and checked the
transfer of legat title of the assets passed to British Land No i1ssues
were found as a result of these procedures

For the share buyback, we read the broker contracts and audited

the accounting for the buyback in accordance with IAS 32 For shares
repurchased by the Group, we tested the subsequent cancellation

of the shares acquired and checked the assoctated costs of the
transaction were correctly recognised within reserves iretained
earnings) From our audit procedures performed, no exceptions
were noted 1n the accounting for the share huyback programme

A2 375% Sterling Unsecured Bond, maturing September 2029, was
1ssued In Septemnber 2017 The new bond 1s held at amortised cost,
with @ book value of £297 & millon We exarmined the bond issue
documents and the accounting treatment applied in Line with 1AS 39
and are satishied that the treatment applied (s appropriate

The group partially closed a long standing cash flow hedge derwative
during the year, breaking the hedge relationship. This resulted in the
recycling of £115 3m from the hedging and transiation reserve and
EY4 1m of closeout costs beng recogmised in the income staterment
We tested the accounting treatment applied in tine with 1AS 3% and
have no 1ssues to report

For the £15m recewed from RBS, we read the surrender agreements
that detail the payment We agreed recept of the amount to bank
staternents We concur with the treatment adopted
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Key audit matter

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Taxation
Refer to pages 69 to 73 [Report of the Audit Comrrittee), page 111
|Accounting policies) and pages 113 and 130 [Notes to the Accounts)

The Group's status as a REIT underpins its business model and
shareholder returns Forthis reason, it warrants special audit focus
The obligations of the REIT regime include requirements to comply
with balance of business, divdend and income cover tests The
Broadgate joint venture 1s alse structured as a REIT and as such,
REIT compliance is also of relevance for this joint venture in addition
to the overall Group

Tax provisions are in place to account for the risk of challenge of
certain of the Group's tax provisions Given the subjective nature of
these provisions, additional audit focus was placed on tax provisions.

We re-performed the Group s annual REIT complance tests, as well

as those tests for the Broadgate REIT Based on our work performed,
we agreed with management’s assessment that all REIT compliance
tests had been met to ensure that the Group and Broadgate maintamn
their REIT status.

We evaluated the tax provisions and movements made within the
year We obtained sufficient supporting evidence for provisions
released during the year We discussed provisions raised and
increased during the year with management and cbtained evidence
to support the levels of provisions recorded We read relevant
correspondence between the Group and Her Majesty's Revenue and
Customs to obtain evidence over the completeness of provisions
Based on our work performed, we are satisfied that the assumptions
and judgements used by the Group are reasonable

How we tailored the audit scope

We tailored the scope of our audit to ensure that we performed enough work to be able to give an opinion on the financial statements as a
whole, taking into account the structure of the Group and the Company, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which

they operate

In establishing the overali appreach to cur audit, we assessed the risk of material misstatement, taking into account the nature, tiketihood
and potenttal magnitude of any musstatement Following this assessment, we applied professional judgment to determine the extent of

testing required over each balance in the financial staternents

The Group and Company financial statements are produced using a single consolidation system that has a direct interface with the general
ledger The Group audit team performed all audit procedures over the consolidation for the purposes of the Group audtt, which inctuded
testing over the general tedger systern and its interface with the consclidation system The Group also has investments in two joint ventures
IBroadgate and Meadowhall), which were subject to audits of their complete financial information by the Group audit team

This work gave us sufficient appropriate audit evidence for our opinion o

Materiality

n the Group financial statements as a whole

The scope of our audit was influenced by our application of materiabity We set certain quantitative thresholds for matenality These, together
with qualitative considerations, helped us to determine the scope of our audit and the nature, timing and extent of our audit procedures on the
individual financial statement Line iterns and disclosures and in evaluating the effect of misstatements, both individually and 1n aggregate on
the financial statements as a whole

Based on our professional judgement, we determined materiality for the financial statements as a whole as follows

Company financialstatements
€287 0 mullion 12017 £283 0 mullion}
1% of total assets

The parent company’s main activity 1s the hofding
of investrments in subsidiaries Given this, and
consistent with the prior year, we set an overall
parent company materiality level based on total
assets For purposes of the Group audit, we capped
the overall matersality for the company to be 0% of
the Group overall materiality

Group financial statements
£131.8 mullion [2017- £135 0 mitlion)
1% of total assets

A key determinant of the Group's value 15 direct
property investments Due to this, the key area
of focus in the audit 1s the valuation of
investment properties Onthis basis, and
consistent with the prior year, we set an overall
Group materality level based on total assets

Overall materiality

How we determined it

Rationale for benchmark
applied

In addition, for the Group we set a speciiic matenality level of £19 4m [2017 £1% 4m] for rtems within underlying pre-tax profit This equates to
5% of profit before tax adjusted for capital and other items In arriving at this judgernent we had regard to the fact that the underlying pre-tax
profitis a secondary hinancial indicater of the Group [Refer 1o Note 2 of the hnancial statements page 112where the term s defined in full}

For the Group and Company, we agreed with the Audit Committee that we would report to them misstatements identified during our audit
of underlying pre-taxitems above £1m (2017 £1m] as well as misstatements belew that amount that, 10 our view, warranted reporting for
qualitative reasons We agreed with the Audit Committee that we woulid report to them any other misstatements identified during our audit
above £6 bm (2017 £6 7m] as well as misstatements below that amount that, in our view, warranted reporting for quatitative reasons
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Fimaneial statements

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS REPORT TO THE MEMBERS

OF THE BRITISH LAND COMPANY PLC CONTINUED

Going concern
Inaccordance with SAs [UK] we report as follows

Reperting obligation

Oulcome

We are required to report if we have anything material to add or
draw attention to in respect of the directors’ statement inthe
financial statements about whether the directors considered it
appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting in
preparing the financial statements and the directors’ identification
of any material uncertainties to the Group's and the Company's
ability to continue as a going concern over a period of at least
twelve months from the date of approvat of the financiat
statements

We have nothing material to add or to draw attentionto Asnot
all future events or conditions can be predicted, this statement
is not a guarantee as to the Group's and Company s ability to
continue as a going concern

We are required to report if the directors’ statement relating to
Going Concern in accordance with Listing Rule 9 8 6RI(3l1s
materially inconsistent with our knowledge obtained in the audit

We have nothing to report

Reporting on ather inforimation

The other information comprises alt of the information in the Annuat
Report other than the financial statements and our auditors’ report
thereon The directors are responsible for the other information
Our opinion on the financiat staterments does not cover the other
information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opiniai or,
except to the extent otherwise explicitly stated 1 this report, any
form of assurance thereon

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the ather information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information 1s materiatly inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge cbtained in the audit,
or otherwlise appears to be materially misstated If we identify an
apparent material inconsistency or material misstatement, we are
required to perform procedures to conclude whether there s a
material misstaterment of the financiat statements or a material
misstatement of the other information If, based on the work we have
performed, we conctude that there 1s a materiat misstaternent of this '
other information, we are required to report that fact We have
nothing to report based an these responsibilities

With respect to the Strategic Report, Directors Report and
Additional Disclosures and Corporate Governance Statement,
we also considered whether the disctosures required by the UK
Companies Act 2004 have been included

Based on the responsibilities described above and our work
undertaken in the course of the audit, the Cormparues Act 2006
{CADS), 1SAs [UK) and the Listing Rules of the Financial Conduct
Authority [FCA) require us atso te repert certain opirtons and
matters as described below [required by ISAs {UK]) unless
otherwise stated]

Strategic Report and Directors’ Report and Additional Disclosures
I our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audsit, the information given in the Strategic Report and Directors’ i
Report and Additional Disclosures for the year ended 31 March 2018
1s consistent with the financal statements and has been preparad in
accordance with applicabie legal requirements [CAQé6)

in Light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and
Company and their envirenment obtained in the course of the audit,
we did not identify any material misstatements in the Strategic
Report and Directors Report and Additional Disclosures [CAQ6]
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Corporate Governance Statement

in our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audst, the information grven in the Corporate Governance Staternent
[on page 67 in the Governance Review section] about internal
centrols and risk management systems in relation to financial
reporting processes and about share capitat structures in
compliance with rules 72 5and 7 2 6 of the Disclesure Guidance and
Transparency Rules sourcebook of the FCA ["DTR"} 1s consistent with
the financial statements and has been prepared in accordance with
applicable legal requirements [CAD6}

In Light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company
and their environment obtained 1n the course of the audit, we did not
identify any material misstatements in this information [CAD4)

In our opirion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the
audit, the mformation given in the Corporate Governance Statement
(on pages 63 and 64 1n the Governance Review section} with respect
to the company s corporate governance code and practices and
about its administrative, management and supervisory bodies and
their comrittees complieswithrules 722, 723 and 7.2 7 of the
DTR [CAQ8)

We have nothing to report arising from our responsibility to report if
a corporate governance staterment has not been prepared by the
comparny {CADé)

The directors’ assessment of the prospects of the Group and of
the principal risks that would threaten the solvency or liquidity
of the Group

We have nothing material to add or draw attention to regarding-

- The directors’ confirmaticn on page 50 of the Annual Report that
they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks
facing the Group, tncluding those that would threaten its business
model, tuture performance, Solvency or liquidity

- The disclosures in the Annual Report that describe those risks
and explam how they are being managed or mitigated

- The directors explanation on page 51 of the Annual Report as to
how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what
period they have done 50 and why they consider that period to be
appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a
reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue In
operation and meet its liabilities as they fatl due over the period
of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing
attention to any necessary qualifications or assumptions




We have nothing to report having performed a review of the
directors’ staternent that they have carried out a robust assessment
of the principal risks facing the Group and statement in relation to
the tonger-term viability of the Group Our review was substantially
less in scope than an audit ang only consisted of making Inguiries
and considering the directors’ process supporting their statements,
checking that the statements are in alignment with the relevant
pravisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code {the "Code”), and
considering whether the statements are consistent with the
knowledge and understanding of the Group and Company and their
environment obtamned in the course of the audit [Listing Rutes)

Other Code Provisions
We have nothing to report in respect of our responsibility to
report when

- The statement given by the directors, on page 67 that they
consider the Annual Report taken as a whole te be fair, balanced
and understandable, and provides the information necessary for
the members to assess the Group's and Company s position and
performance, business model and strategy 1s materially
inconsistent with our knowtedge of the Group and Company
obtained in the course of performing our audit

- The section of the Annual Report on page 69 describing the work
of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee

- Thedrrectors’ statement refating to the company’s compliance
with the Code does not properly disclose & departure froma
relevant provision of the Code specified, under the Listing Rules,
for review by the auditors

Directors’ Remuneration

In our opinion, the part of the Directors” Remuneration Report to be
audited has been properly prepared in accordance with the
Cornpanies Act 2006 [CAQé)

Responsibitities for the financial statements and the audit
Responsibitities of the directors for the financial statements

As explained more futly in the Directors Responsibilities Staternent
set out on page %5, the directors are responsible for the preparation
of the financial statements in accordance with the applicable
framework and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view
The directors are atso responsible for such internal control as they
determine 5 necessary to enable the preparation of financiat
statements that are free from maternial misstaternent, whether

due to fraud ofr error

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsibie
for assessing the Group s and the Company s ability to continue as
a going cencern, disclosing as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors either sntend to liguidate the Group or the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so

| Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

QOur objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditors report that includes our opinion Reasonable assurance

15 a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit
conducted i accordance with ISAs [UK) will always detect a material
misstaternent when it extsts Misstatements can anise from traud or
error and are considered rmaterial if, Individually or inthe aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to infiuence the economic
decisions of users tzken on the basis of these financial statements

A turther description of our responsibilities for the audit of
the financial statements is tocated on the FRC's website at
www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities This description
forms part of our auditors” report

Use of this report

This report, including the epinions, has been prepared for and only
for the company s members as a body in accordance with Chapter 3
of Part 16 of the Cempanies Act 2006 and for no other purpase

We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility
for any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report

15 shown or Into whose hands it may come save where exprassly
agreed by our prier consent (nwriting

Other required reporting

Companies Act 2006 exception reporting

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you H,
1IN our epinicn

- we have not recewved all the information and explanations we
require for our audit, or

- adenuate accounting records have not been kept by the company,
or returns adequate for our audit have not beenreceved from
branches not visited by us, or

- certain disciosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law
are not made: or

- the company financial statements and the part of the Directors
Remuneration Report to be audited are not in agreement with the
accounting records and returns

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility

Appeintment

Foltowing the recommendation of the audit committee, we were
appointed by the members on 18 July 2014 to audit the financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2015 and subsequent
financial periods The period of total uninterrupted engagement 1s
4 years, covering the years ended 31 March 2015 to 31 March 2018

. John Waters (Senior Statutory Auditor)

for and on bebalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutery Auditors
London

16 May 2018
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Financial statements

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

018 m7
Capital Capital
Underlying'  and other Total Under'ying and cther Tatal
Not= £m £m £m tm tm L
Revenue 3 541 78 43% 356 33 589
Costs 3 134} 64) {200) (122) 126} 148)
3 425 14 439 434 7 441
Joint ventures and funds [see also below) 1 115 36 151 132 (80} 52
Administrative expenses (82} ~ (82) [84] - (841
Valuation movement 4 - 202 202 - 144) 144)
Profit lossl on disposal of investment properties
and Investments - 18 18 - [5) (5}
Net financing costs
- financing incorne 6 1 - 1 2 42 44
- financing charges 13 {65) (163 [228) 180} 129) (109
[64) 1163) [227) 178) 13 [65]
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation %4 107 501 404 1209) 195
Taxation 7 - 6 ] 1 1
Profit for the year after taxation 507 196
Attributable to non-controlling interests 14 - 14 14 LAl 3
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 380 113 | A3 390 1187 193
Earmings per share
- hasic 2 48.7p 18 8p
~diluted 2 48.5p 14 7p
All results derive from continuing operations
208 2017
Capital Caprtat
Underlying'  and other Total Unaet ying ang other Total
Nate €m £m £m fm fm £m
Results of joint ventures and funds accounted
for using the equity method
Underlying Profit 15 - 115 132 - 132
Valuation movemnent 4 - 52 52 - (93] {93
Capital financing costs - 13} {13] - 161 {6}
{Loss) profit on dispesal of investment properties,
trading praperties and investments - {3 (3) - 18 18
Taxation - - - - 1 i
i1 115 36 1581 132 (80) 52

See dehnitionn note 2
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDGED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 2017
£m £m
Protit for the year after taxation 507 196
Other comprehensive income {loss):
items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Net actuarial gain [loss] on pension schemes ¢ hz)
Vatuation movernents on owner-cccupied properties {3) -
& [12]
Itemns that may be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:
Gains llosses] on cash fiow hedges
- Group 12 [21)
- Joint ventures and funds 8 1
20 (20
Transferred to the Income statement [cash flow hedges}
- Interest rate derivatives 120 16
Deferred tax on tems of other comprehensive iIncome 5 -
Other comprehensive income [loss) for the year 141 [16)
Total comprehensive income for the year 648 180
Attributable to non-controlling interests 16 3
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 632 177

British Land | Annual Report and Accounts 2018

103



Finaewizl statements

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

2018 '
T £m C
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Investment and devetopment properties 10 9,507 9073
Cwner-occupied properties 0 90 94
9,597 2167
GOther non-current assets
tnvestments in joint ventures and funds 1 2,822 2766
Gther investments 12 174 154
Deferred tax assets 16 4 4
interest rate and currency derivative assets 7 118 217
12,712 12,308
Current assets
Joint venture held for sale " - 540
Trading properties 10 328 334
Debtors 13 35 171
Cash and short ferm deposits i7 105 N4
468 1159
Total assets 13,180 13,467
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Short term borrowings and overdrafts 17 271 (464]
Creditors 14 {324} 1458}
Corporation tax [22) 130}
1373] 1952)
Non-current lLiabilities
Debentures and (oans 17 (3,101} (2,817}
Other non-current habilities 15 {52) 178}
interest rate and currency denivative liabilities 17 138 1144)
{3,301) 13,039}
Total liabilities N {3,674) 13,991}
Net assets 9,508 9.476
EQUITY
Share capital 248 240
Share prermium 1,300 1,298
Merger reserve 213 213
Other reserves 33 71
Relained earnings 7,458 7.547
Equity attributabie to sharehoiders of the Company 9,252 9.221
Non-controlling interests 254 255
Total equity 9,506 9.476
EPRA NAY per share’ 2 957p 9150

£a jesqrey nioe?

G K

Chris Grigg
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

John Gildersleeve

The financial statements on pages 104 to 147 were approved by the Board of Directors and signed oniis behalf on 16 May 2018

Company number 621920
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

2018 2017
Ngte £m £m
Rental income received from tenants 446 464
Fees and other income recetved 78 &4
Operating expenses paid to suppliers and employees (1731 {149
Cash generated from operations 251 379
Interest paid (73) 92}
Interest receved 4 8
Corporation taxation {payments| repayments 71 ?
Distributions and other recevables from joint ventures and funds 13 78 59
Net cash inflow from operating activities 353 363
Cash flows from investing activities
Development and other capital expenditure (190) (225}
Purchase of investment properties [165) 87)
Sale of investment and trading properties 212 761
Payments received in respect of future trading property sales 8 8
Disposal of joint venture held-for-sale 1 B48 -
Disposal of Tesco joint venture 68 -
Purchase of investments 9 9]
indirect taxes paid in respect of investing activities 7 ]
Investment in and loans to joint ventures and funds {1751 (50]
Capital distributions and loan repayments from jomt ventures and funds 36 83
Net cash inflow from investing activities 346 470
Cash flows from financing activities
Issue of ordinary shares 2 3
Unttissues attributable to non-controtling interests 2 -
Purchase of own shares {301) (8l
Dividends paid 19 (304) 1295}
Dividends paid to non-controlling interests (15) 4
Acguisiion of units In Hercules Unit Trust (4) (1%
Payments on closeout of interest rate derivative habilites (18] {13
Receipts an closeout of interest rate derivative assets 27 -
Decrease ih bank and other borrowings {626) [526)
Drawdowns on bank and other borrowings 529 31
Net cash oytflow from financing activities (708) (833)
Net decrease in cash and €ash equivalents ] -
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 Aprd 14 114
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 105 114
Cash and cash equivalents consists of:
Cash and short term deposits 17 105 114
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Financial statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Hedgimg
and He- Non-
Share Share irasnslaten  value'os Merger  Retamnsc ~ontronling Total
Taplar  premum reserve reserve reserve  earings Total  interests eguity
im Lo in fro m frn £m £ £m

Balance at 1 Aprit 2017 260 1,298 1112 15 213 7,547 9221 255 9,476
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 493 493 14 507
Revaluation of owner-occupied property - - - {31 - - (3t - 3
Gans on cash flow hedges -~ Group - - 10 - - - 10 2 12
Gains on cash flow hedges -~ joint ventures
and funds - - - 8 - - 8 ~ 8
Transferred to the income statement
[cash flow hedges])

- Interest rate dervatives - ~ 120 - - - 120 - 120
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - ~ - - - g 9 - 9
Reserves transfer - - 2) 2 - - - - -
Deferred tax on terns of other comprehensive income - - {5 - - - 15} - {s]
Other comprehensive income - - 123 7 - ? 139 2 141
Total comprehensive income for the year - - 123 7 - 502 632 16 648
Share issues - z - - - - 2 - 2
Urnt issues attributable to non-controibng interests - - - - - - - 2 2
Purchase of own shares 12) - - - - {289k  [301) - (301}
Purchase of units from non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 14} (4}
Dwidends payable in year (2% 64p per share) - - - - - (3g2i (302§ - (302}
Dwidends payable by subsidaries - - - - - - - 5) 15}
Balance at 31 March 2018 248 1,300 11 22 213 7,458 9,252 254 9,506
Balance at 1 April 2014 260 1,295 1107) 14 213 7667 9342 277 9,619
Profit for the year after taxation - - - - - 193 193 3 196
Losses on cash flow hedges -~ - {21} - - - [21) - [21)
Exchange and hedging movements in joint ventures
and funds ~ - - 1 - ~ 1 - 1
Reclassrfication of gains on cash flow hedges

- Interest rate derivatives - - 14 - - - 16 - 16
Net actuarial loss on pension schemes - - - - - {12) (12 - 12
Other comprehensive [loss) income - - [5) 1 - 112) 18] - 16]
Total comprehensive income for the year - - (51 i - 181 177 3 i80
Shareissues - 3 - - - - 3 - 3
Fair value of share and share option awards - - - - - 2 2 - 2
Purchase of own shares - - - - - 8 (8 - 8]
Purchase of umts from non-controlling interests - - - - - - - 0y il
Gaen on purchase of units from non-controtiing
Interests - - - - - 1 1 - 1
Dimdends payable in year (28.78p per share] - - ~ - - {294} 12961 - 294}
Dwidends payable by subsidiaries - - - - - - - 14l [14]
Balance at 31 March 2017 240 1,298 [112) 15 213 2547 8221 255 9.47%

' lhe balanue at the Gegmmmg of the current year includes C19m m relation to tanslation and [E127)m 0 relation ta heaging [2618/17 9 and {£14rn))
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NOTES TO THE ACCCQUNTS

1 Basis of preparation, significant 2ccounting
policies and accounting judgements

The financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

have heen prepared on the historical cost basis, except for the
revaluation of properties, investments held for trading and
derivatives The financial staterments have atso been prepared

In accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
[IFRSs] as adopted by the European Union and interpretations
rssued by the IFRS Interpretations Comimittee IFRSIC), and
therefore comply with articte 4 of the EU 1AS regulation, and in
accordance with the Companies Act 2006 In the current financial
year the Group has adopted 2 number of minor amendments to
standards etfective in the year 1ssued by the IASB and endorsed
by the EU, ncne of which have had a material impact on the Group
The accounting policies used are otherwise consistent with those
contained in the Group’s previous Annual Report and Accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2017

A number of new standards and amendments to standards and
interpretations have been 1ssued but are not yet effective for the
current accounting period None of these are expected to have a
material impact cn the consolidated financiat statements of the Group

Certain standards which could be expected to have an impact on the
consclidated financial statements are discussed in further detail
below The Group conducted an impact assessment of the new
standards which are effective next year based on the Group's current
actvities and have quantified the impact The results of the impact
assessment confirm that the new standards witl lead to Limited
changes to presentation and disclosure and will have an immaterial
impact on the conseolidated financial statements

IFRS 9 - Financial instruments (effective year ending March 2019)

- The new standard addresses the classification and measurement
of financial assets

- The alignment of the classification and measurement moedel
under IFRS 7 will result in changes in the classification of alt
financial assets excluding derivatives These changes wilt not
have a guantitative impact on the financial statements

~ {FRS 9 introduces an expected credit loss model, requiring an
expected credit loss to be recognised on all financial assets held
atamortised cost The quantitative impact based on batances as
at 31 March 2018 will result (n the recognttion of an expected
credit loss of £5m, with a corresponding reduction in financial
assets held at amortised cost of £5m The Group has previously
provided for a matersally similar balance against trade and other
recewables and therefore the resutting reclassification of
existing provisions will not have a materiai impact on the net
assets of the Group

- IFRS 9 introduces changes to the qualifying criteria for hedge
accourting and expands the financial and nen-financiat
instruments which may be designated as hedged items and
hedging instruments in order to align hedge accounting with
business strategy The changes to hedge accounting under IFRS ¢
will result 1n gqualitative enhancernents to the interest rate and
foreign currency risk management disclosures The changes
introduced by IFRS 9 wilk not have a quantitative impact on the
consolidated financiat statements of the Group

{FRS 15 - Revenue from contracts with customers [effective year

ending 31 March 2019}

- The new standard combines a number of previous standards,
setting out a five step modet for the recognition of revenue and
establishing principles for reporting useful information to users
of inancial statements about the nature, tining and uncertainty
of revenue and cash flows arising from an entity’s contracts with
customers The new standard does not apply to rental income,
which1sin the scope of IAS 17, but does apply to service charge
income, management and performance fees and trading property

disposals The changes introduced by IFRS 15 will resuttin
miimal gualitative changes to the revenue disclosure and will
not have a quantitative impact on the conselidated financial
statements of the Group

IFRS 16 - Leases [effective year ending 31 March 2020]

- For lessees, IFRS 14 will resutt in almost all operating leases
being brought on balance sheet, as the distinction between
operating and finance teases will be removed The accounting
for lessors will however not sigrificantly change As a resutt,
on adeption of the new standard, these changes will have
an immatersal impact on the consolidated financial statements
of the Group

|

|

. Going concern

+ The financial statements are prepared on a going concern basis
. as explained in the corporate governance section on page 51

Subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates {including funds]

The consclidated accounts include the accounts of The British LLand
Company PLC and all subsidiaries (entities controlled by British
Land] Controlis assumed where British Land 15 exposed, or has
the rights, to variable returns from its involvement with investees
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over
those investees

The results of subsidiaries, joint ventures or asscciates acquired or
disposed of during the year are included from the effective date of
acquisition or up to the effective date of disposal Accounting policies
of subsidiaries, joint ventures cr associates which differ frem Group
accounting policies are adjusted on consclidation

Business combinatiens are accounted for under the acquisiticn
method Any excess of the purchase price of business combinations
over the fair value of the assets, habilities and contingent Liabilities
acquired and resulting deferred tax thereon i1s recognised as
goodwill Any discount received Is credited to the iInceme statement
in the pertod of acquisiticn

Ail intra-Group transactions, balances, income and expenses

are ebminated on consolidation Jomt ventures and associates,
including funds, are accounted for under the equity method,
whereby the consolidated balance sheet incorporates the Group's
share linvestor's share] of the net assets of its joint ventures and
assoclates The consolidated income statement incorporates the

I Group s share of joint venture and associate profits after tax Their
profits inclugde revaluation movements on investment properttes

Distributions and other recervables from joint ventures and
" associates lincluding funds} are classed as cash flows from
operating activities, except where they relate to a cash flow arising
from a capital transaction, such as a property or investment
disposal Inthis case they are classed as cash flows from
Investing activities

Properties

Properties are externally valued on the basis of far vatue at the
balance sheet date Investment and cwner-occupied properties are
recorded at valuation whereas trading properties are stated at the
tower of cost and net realisabie value

Any surplus or deficit arising onrevaluing investment propertiesis
recogmised in the capital and other coturnn of the income statemnent

Any surplus ansmg onrevaluing owner-occupred properties above
cost s recognised in other comprehensive income, and any deficit
arising in revaluation below cost for owner-occupied and trading
properties is recognised in the capital and other colurnn of the
income statement
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Finaneiaf statements

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

The cost of properties in the course of development includes
aftributable interest and other asseciated cutgoings including
attriputable developrnent personnel costs Interest s calculated on
the development expenditure by reference to specific borrowings,

where relevant, and otherwise on the weighted average interest rate t
| comprehensive Income as a movement 1N the hedging and translation

of British Land Company PLC borrowings Interest 1s not capitalised
where no development activity 1s taking place A property ceases to
be treated as a development property on practical completion

Investment property disposals are recognised on comptetion
Profits and losses arising are recognised through the caprtat and
other column of the iIncome statement The profit on disposat s
deterrmined as the difference between the net sales proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset at the commencement of the
accounting period plus capitat expenditure in the period

Trading properties are instially recognised at cost less impairment,
and trading property disposals are recogrised 1n Line with the
revenue policies outlined below

Where ihvestment properties are appropriated to trading properties,
they are transferred at market value if properties hetd for trading are
appropriated to investment properties, they are transferred at book
value In determining whether leases and related properties represent |
operating or finance leases, consideration is given to whether the '
tenant or landlord bears the risks and rewards of ownarship.

Financial assets and liabilities

Trade debtors and creditors are initizlly recognised at fair value
and subsegquently measured at amortised cost and discounted
as appropriate

Other ivestments (nclude loans and recervables held at amortised
cost and investments held for trading classified as fawr value through
profit or loss Amortised cost of loans and receivables s measured
using the effective interest method, less any imparrment Interest is

recognised by applytng the effective interest rate Investments held
for trading are initially recorded at fair value and are subsequently
externatly valued on the same basis at the balance sheet date Any
surplus or deficit arising on revaluing investments held for trading 1s
recognised (n the capital and other column of the iIncome statement.

Where an investment property 1s held under a head lease, the head
lease 1s inthially recognised as an asset, being the sum of the premium
pald on acquisition plus the present value of memimurn ground rent
payments The corresponding rent hability to the head leasehoider

15 included in the balance sheet as a finance lease obligation

Debt instruments are stated at their net proceeds cnissue Finance

charges including premia payable on settlement or redemption and
direct issue costs are spread over the period to redemption, using
the effective interest method Exceptional finance charges incurred
due to early redemption hincluding premiums) are recognised in the
ncome statement when they eccur

Convertible bonds are designated as fair value through profit or loss
and so are initially recognised at fair value with ali subsequent gatns
and losses, including the write-off of 1Issue costs, recognised i the
capital and other column of the iIncome statement as a component of
net financing costs The interest charge in respect of the coupon rate
on the bonds has been recognised within the underlying component
of net financing costs on an accruals basis
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As defined by |AS 39, cash flow and fair value hedges are inutially
recognised at fair value at the date the derwvative contracts are
entered into, and subsequently remeasured at fair value Changes
in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as
effective cash flow hedges are recogrised directly through cther

reserve Changes inthe fair value of derivatives that are desighated
and qualify as effective fair value hedges are recorded in the capital
and other column of the income statement, aleng with any changes
in the fair value of the hedged item that (s atiributable to the hedged
risk Any meffective portion of all derrvatives is recognised in the

" capital and other column of the iIncome statement Changes in

the fair value of derivatives that are not in a designated hedgmng
relationship under IAS 39 are recorded directly in the capital and
other cotumn of the income statement These derivatives are carried
at fair value on the balance sheet

Cash equivalents are hmited to instruments with a maturity of less
than three months

Held for sale assets

Assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount is
expected to be recovered or settled principatly through sale rather
than through continuing use The asset must be avallable for
immediate sale and the sale must be highly probable within one year
of the reporting date Held for sale assets are measured at the lower
of carrying value and fair value less costs to sell mpairment losses
on tnitial classihication as hetd for sale and gains or losses on
subsequent re-measurements are included in the capital and other
column of the income statement

Revenue

Revenue comprises rental income and surrender premuia, service
charge income, management and performance fees and proceeds
from the sale of trading properties

Rental mcome, including fixed rental uplifts, from inyvestment
property leased out under an operating lease 1s recognised as
revenue on a straight-line basis over the lease term Lease
incentives, such as rent-free periods and cash contributions to
tenant fit-out, are recognised on the same straight-line basis being
an integral part of the net conssderation for the use of the Investment
property Any rent adiustments based on open market estimated
rental values are recognised, based on management estimates, from
the rent review date in relation to unsettled rent reviews Contingent
rents, being those lease payments that are net fixed at the mnception
of the tease. including for example turnover rents, are recogrised in
the period in which they are earned

Surrender premia for the early determination of a lease are
recognised as revenue immediately upon receipt, net of dilapidations
and non-recoverable outgoings relating to the lease concerned.
Service charge income Is recognised as revenue In the period to
which it relates

Management and performance fees receivable are recognised as
revenue in the period to which they relate Performance fees are
recognised a! the end of the performance periad when the fee
amount can be estimated reliably and 1t 1s wirtually certain that the
tee will be received

Proceeds from the sale of trading properties are recognised when
the risks and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the
purchaser This generatly occurs on complgtion Proceeds from the
sale of trading properties are recognised as revenue In the capital
and other column of the Income statement All other revenue
described above s recognised in the underlying column of the
inmcome statement



Taxation

Current tax s based on taxable profit for the year and 1s calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

at the balance sheet date Taxable profit differs from net profit

as reported in the income statement because it excludes items

of income or expense that are not taxable [or tax deductible)

Deferred tax is prowded on items that may become taxable in the
future, or which may be used to offset against taxable profits in the
future, on the temporary differences between the carrying amounts
of assets and liabilities for financiat reporting purposes, and the
amounts used for taxation purposes on an undiscounted basis
Onbusiness combinations, the deferred tax effect of fair value
adjustments is incorporated in the conseolidated balance sheet

Employee costs

The fair value of equity-settied share-based payments to employees
ts determined at the date of grant and is expensed on a straight-line
basis over the vesting period, based on the Group's estimate of
shares or options that will eventually vest Inthe case of options
granted, fair value 1s measured by a Black-Scholes pricing model

Defined benefit pension scheme assets are measured using fair
vaiues Pension scheme lLiabilities are measured using the projected
unit credit method and discounted at the rate of return of a high
qualtty corporate bond of equivalent term to the scheme liabrities
The net surplus {where recoverable by the Group) or deficitis
recogrised 1n full in the consolidated balance sheet Any asset
resulting from the calculation s limited to the present value of
avallable refunds and reductions in future contributions to the plan

The current service cost and gawns and losses on settlement and
curtailments are charged to operating profit Actuarial gains and
tosses are recognised in full In the period in which they occur and are
presented in the conselidated statement of comprehensive income

Contributions to the Group's defined contribution schemes are
expensed on the basis of the contracted annual contribution

Accounting judgements and estimates

fnapplying the Group's accounting policies, the Directors are
required to make judgements and estimates that affect the
financtat statements

Significant areas of estimation are

Valuation of properties and investments heid for frading

The Group uses external professional valuers to determine the
relevant amounts The primary source of evidence for property
valuations should be recent, comparable market fransactions on
anarms-length basis However, valuations of the Group s property
portfolio and investments held for trading are inherently subjective,
as they are made on the basis of assumptions made by the valuers
which may not prove fo be accurate

Other less significant areas of estimation include the valuation of
fixed rate debt and interest rate derivatives, the determination of
share-based payment expense, the actuar:al assumptions used
in calculating the Group s retirernent benetit obligations and
taxation provisions

f The key areas of accounting judgement are

REIT status British Land 15 a Real Estate Investment Trust [RE!T)
and does not pay tax on its property iIncome or gains on property
sales, provided that at least 90% of the Group s property income s
distributed as a dividend to shareholders, which becormnes taxable

in their hands In additien, the Group has to meet certain conditions
such as ensuring the property rental business represents more than
75% ot total profits and assets Any potential or proposed changes

to the REIT legislation are momtored and discussed with HMRC

It is management's intention that the Group will continue as a REIT
for the foreseeabie future

Accounting for joint ventures and funds tn accordance with IFRS 10
‘Consolidated financial statements’, IFRS 11 Jomt arrangements’,
and IFRS 12 'Disclosures of interests in other entities’ an assessment
1s required to determine the degree of control or influence the Group
exercises and the form of any control to ensure that the financial
statement treatment 1s appropriate The assessment undertaken by
management mcludes a consideration of the structure, legal form,

© contractual terms and other facts and circumstances in relation to
the entity in guestion, prior to reaching a cenclusion This assessment
is updated annually and there have been no changes in the judgement
reached in relation to the degree of control the Group exercises
within the current or prior year Group shares i joint ventures and
furds resulting from this process are disclosed innote 11 to the
financial statements

Interest In the Group's joint ventures 1s commonly driven by the
terms of the partnership agreements which ensure that controlis
shared between the partners All significant joint venture arrangements
of the Group are held in structures in which the Group has 50% of the
voting rights Joint ventures are accounted for under the equity
method, whereby the consolidated balance sheet incorporates the
Group's share of the net assets of its joint ventures and associates
The consolidated income statement incorporates the Group's share
of joint venture and associate profits after tax

© Accounting for transactions Prepertytransactions are complex in

" nature and can be matenial to the financial statements Judgernents

" made 0 relation to transactions include whether an acquisition 1s a
business combination or an asset, whether held for sale criteria have
been met for transactions not yet completed, and accounting for
transaction costs and contingent consideration Management
consider each transaction separately in order to determine the most
appropriate accounting treatment, and, when cons:dered necessary,
seek independent advice
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

2 Performance measures

Earnings per share

The Group measures financial performance with reference to underlying earnings per share, the European Public Real Estate Association [EPRA)
earnings per share and IFRS earnings per share The refevant earnings and weighted average number of shares lincluding dilution adjustments]
for gach performance measure are shown below, and a reconcibiation between these Is shown within the supplementary disclosures [Table B)

EPRA earnings per share is calculated using EPRA earnings, which 1s the IFRS profit after taxation attributable to shareholders of the
Company excluding investment and development property revaluations, gains/losses on investing and trading property disposals, changes
inthe fair value of financial instruments and associated close-out costs and therr related taxation The 2012 convertible bond was repaid in
the current year inthe prior year diluted EPRA earnings per share did not include the dilutive impact of the 2012 convertible bond, as the
Group s share price was below the exchange price of 693 pence IFRS diluted earnings per share included the dilutive impact as 1AS 33
ignores this hurdle to conversien In the current and prior year, both EPRA and IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015
convertible bond as the Company's share price had not exceeded the level required for the convertible conditions attached to the bond to
trigger conversion into shares

Underlying earnings per share is calculated using Underlying Profit adjusted for underlying taxation |see note 71 Underlying Profitis the pre-tax
EPRA earnings measure, with additional Company adjustments No Company adjustrments were made in either the current or prior year

2018 2007
Relevant Reevant
Relevant number Earnings Relavant “amber Larnings
earnings of shares per share sarnings of shares per share
Earnings per share £m million pence Lin mthon pence
Underlying .
Underlying basic 380 1,013 375 390 1,029 379
Underlying diluted 380 1,016 374 390 1.033 378
EPRA
EPRA basic 380 1,013 375 390 1,029 37¢%
EPRA diluted 380 1,016 37.4 390 1,033 378
IFRS
Basic 493 1,013 48.7 193 1,029 188
Diluted 493 1,016 48.5 160 1,091 147

Net asset value

The Group measures financial position with reference to EPRA net asset value [NAV] per share and EPRA triple net asset value INNNAV] per
share The net asset value and number of shares for each performance measure are shown below Areconciliation between IFRS net assets
and EPRAnet assets, and the relevant number of shares for each performance measure, 1s shown within the supplementary disclosures
iTable B} EPRA net assets s a proportionaily consotidated measure that 1s based on IFRS net assets excluding the mark-1o-market on
derivatives and related debt adjustments, the mark-to-market on the convertible bonds as well as deferred taxation on property and
derivative valuations They inctude the valuation surplus on trading properties and are adjusted for the dilutive impact of share options

The 2012 convertible bond was repaid in the current year In the prior year EPRA NAV and EPRA NNNAV did not include the dilutive impact of
the 2812 convertible bond, as the Groug s share price was below the exchange price of 693 pence In the current and prior year, both EPRA and
IFRS measures exclude the dilutive impact of the 2015 convertible bond as the Company s share price had not exceeded the level required for
the convertible conditions attached to the bond to trigger conversion into shares

2018 2017
Relevant Net asset Relevant Net asset
Relevant number value per Relevant ~umber value per
net assets of shares share net asscls of shares share
Net asset value per share £m million pence Cm miltan pence
EPRA
EPRANAY 9,560 98¢ 967 9498 1,038 915
EPRA NNNAV 9,044 989 914 8938 1,038 861
IFRS
Basic 9,506 983 967 9476 1,029 921
Diluted 9,606 989 741 7,876 1.096 201

Total accounting return
The Group also measures financial performance with reference to total accounting return This 1s calculated as the increase in EPRA net
asset value per share and dividend paid in the year as a percentage of the EPRA net asset value per share at the start of the year

2018 2017
increasein  Dividend per Total Decreasein  Dwidenio per 1otdl
NAV per share share paid accounting  NAV per sharc share paid accounting
pence pence return pence pence return
Total accounting return 52 29.64 8.9% [4) 2878 2 7%
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3 Revenue and costs

2018 77
Capital Capital

Underlying and other Total Jndsrlying and other Total

£m £m £m £m Lim [ 2]

Rent recetvable 441 - 441 A48 - 449
Spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent Increases (6 - {6l (9] - {91
Surrender premia [ - & 2 - 2
Gross rental income 441 - 441 442 - 442
Trading property sales proceeds - 78 78 - 33 33
Service charge Income 1) - &5 62 - 62
Management and performance fees [from joint ventures and funds] [ - & ? - 9
Cther fees and commissions 48 - 48 43 - 43
Revenue 561 78 639 556 33 589
Trading property cost of sales - (64} (64 - [26] (26}
Service charge expenses 164) - (66 {62l - (62)
Property operating expenses (291 - 129) (23] - [25)
Other fees and COMMISSIONS EXPENSES 41} - {41) [35) - {35]
Costs (135} (64) {200) {122) [26) [148)

425 14 439 434 7 441

The cash element of net rental iIncome recogrised during the year ended 31 March 2018 frem properties which were not subject to a secunty
interest was £301m [2016/17 £276m). Property operating expenses relating to investment properties that did not generate any rental income
were £2m [2016/17 £2m] Contingent rents of £4m (2016/17 £2m] were recognised in the year

4 Valuation movements on property

2018 017
£m £m
Consolidated income statement
Revatuation of properties 202 144)
Revatuation of properties held by joint ventures and funds accounted for using the eguity methed 52 {23]
254 [237]
Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
Revaluation of owner-occupied properties {3 -
251 [237]
5 Auditors' remuneration — PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
2018 A7
£m £
Fees payable to the Company's auditors for the audit of the Company s annual accounts 0.3 02
Fees payable to the Company s auditors for the audit of the Company s subsidiartes, pursuant to legislation 0.4 04
Total audit fees 0.7 06
Audit-related assurance services 0.1 01
Total audit and audit-related assurance services 0.8 07
Other fees
0Other services 0.2 01
Total 1.0 08

In addition to the above, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP were remunerated for non-audit fees in PREF, an equrty accounted property fund
[see note 11] The Group s share of fees totalled €0 1m [2016/17 £0.1m} PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are not the external auditors to PREF
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6 Net financing costs

2018 27
£m fi-
Underlying
Financing charges
Bank toans and overdratts (211 [26]
Derivatives 28 23
Other loans (76) 83}
Obligations under head leases 2) 12)
{71 188)
Development interest capitatised b 8
(65) [80)
Financing income
Deposits, securities and liguid investments 1 2
1 2
Net financing charges - underlying 164} 178)
Capital and other -
Financing charges
Valuation movements on translation of fareign currency net assets 1 -
Hedging reserve recycling’ (106) -
Valuation movemnents on fair value denwvatives (791 51
Vaiuation movements on farr vatue debt 80 (48]
Recycling of fawr value moverment on close-out of derwatives (14} (0]
Capital financing costs’ (27} (19)
Valuation movement on non-hedge accounted dervatives t1él 7]
(143} 129]
Financing income
Fair value movement on convertible bonds - 42
- 42
Net financing (charges) income - capital 1163) 13
Net financing costs
Total financing iIncome L L4
Totat financing charges 1228} 09}
Net financing costs [227) (65

interest payable on unsecured bank loans and related interest rate derivatives was £9m [2816/17 £13ml Interest on development expendtture
15 capitalised at the Group s weighted average Iinterest rate of 2 0% (2016/17 2 4%] The weighted average interest rate on a proportionatety

consolidated basis a1 31 March 2018 was 2 8% [2014/17 31%)

' Represents areclassification of cumulative losses within the heaging and transtation reserve to capitat pront and loss, inretaton ¢ hedging instrarments wrich have

been closed out or are no longer hedge accourted
- Primarly debenture honds redemption and tender offer ard purctase costs
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7 Taxation

2018 2017
£m Erm
Taxation income {expense)
Current taxation:
UK corporation taxation 19% [2016/17 20%] - 3)
Adjustments in respect of prior years 1 4
Total current taxation income 1 1
Deferred taxation on revaluations and derivatives 5 -
Group total taxation & 1
Attributable to joint vertures and funds - 1
Total taxation income ] 2
Taxation reconciliation
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 501 195
Less profit attribytable to joint ventures and funds’ 151 i52]
Group profit on ordinary activities before taxation 350 143
Taxation on profit on ordimary activities at UK corporation taxation rate of 19% [2016/17 20%) 671 (29
Effects of
REIT exempt income and gamns n 28
Taxation losses 73] {2]
Deterred taxation on revaluations and derivatives 5
Adjustments In respect of prior years 1 4
Group total taxation income ) 1

A urrent taxaron expense of fril [2016/17 Cril) and & deferred raxation crea t of L [2016/°7 £1m] arose on profits atiributabie to oirt ventures and *unds The low tax
charge roflzoiathe Sroup s REIT status

Taxation expense attributable to Underlying Profit for the year ended 31 March 2018 was £l [2016/17 £nil] Cerporation taxation payable at
31 March 2018 was £22m (2016/17 £30m) as shown on the balance sheet During the year to 31 March 2018 various tax provisions in respect
of historic taxation matters and current points of uncertainty in the UK have been released and provisions rnade The net movement, which is
included within the tax credit above, 1s not material

8 Staff costs

208 017

Staff costs [tncluding Directors) fm il
Wages and salaries 70 64
Social security costs ? 8
Pension costs 7 7
Equity-settled share-based payments - 4
86 83

The average monthly number of employees of the Company durtng the year was 265 (2016/17 261) The average monthly number of Group
employees, including those employed directly at the Group s properties and their costs recharged to tenants, was 835 {2016/17 771)

The average monthly number of emptoyees of the Company within each category of persons employed was as follows Retail 58, Offices 34,
Canada Water 13, Developments 33, Storey 6, Support Functions 121

The Executive Diractors and Non-Executive Directors are the key management personnel Their emoluments are summarised below and
further detail 1s disclosed in the Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 91

2018 017

Directors’ emoluments £m rm
Short term employee benefits 5.5 50
Service cost in relation to defined benefit pension schemes 0.2 02
Eguity-settled share-based payments 11 19
6.8 71
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8 Staff costs continued

Staff costs

The Group's equity-settled share-based payments comprise the Long-Term Incentive Plan [LTIP). the Matching Share Plan [MSP) and
valrlous savihgs related share option schemes

The Company expenses an estimate of how many shares are bikely to vest based on the market price at the date of grant, taking account
of expected performance aganst the relevant performance targets and service periods, which are discussed in further detait in the
Remuneration Report

For all schemes except the Cempany’s Long-Term Incentive Plan share options, the fair value of awards are equal to the market value at
grant date The key inputs used to value share options using a Black-Scholes model granted under the Company s Long-Term Incentive Plan
are shown below

Long-Term Incentive Plan: Awards in the year ended 31 March 2018 * JZ%ﬁ
Share price and exercise price at grant date 617p
Expected option life in years 5
Risk free rate 0.8%
Expected volatility 26%
Expected dividend yield 5%
Value per option 68p

Movements in shares and options are given in note 20

9 Pensions

The British {_and Sroup of Compantes Pension Scheme ['the scheme'} is the principal defined benefit pension scheme in the Group The
assets of the scheme are held s a trustee-administered fund and kept separate from those of the Company It 1s not contracted out of SERPS
{State Earmngs-Related Pension Scheme] and it 1s not planned to admit new employees to the scheme The Group has three other smatl
defined benefit pension schemes There s also a Defined Contribution Pension Scheme Contributions to this scheme are at a flat rate of
15% of salary for non-Directors and are paid by the Company

The total net pension cost charged for the year was £7m [2016/17 £7m), of which £5m [2016/17 £4m] relates to defined contributior plans
and £2m {2016/17 £3m] relates to the current service cost of the defined benefit schemes

Afull actuarial valuation of the scheme was carried out at 31 March 2015 by consulting actuaries, AON Hewitt Associates Ltd The employer s
contributiens will be paid in the future at the rate recommended by the actuary of 72 9% per annum of basic salaries The best estimate of
employer contributions expected to be paid during the year to 31 March 201915 £5rm The major assurnptions used for the actuarial valuation were

2018 mr 2Me 2015 piopea
% pa % pa Y pa % ps %% pa
Discount rate 2.6 24 32 31 44
Salary inflation 4.9 49 48 48 52
Pensions intrease 3.3 33 32 32 35
Price inflation 3.4 34 33 33 37

The mortality assumptions are based on standard mortality tables which allow for future mortality emprovements The assumptions are
that a member currently aged 60 will live on average for a further 28 8 years if they are male and for a further 30 5 years if they are female
For a mermber who retires in 2038 at age 60, the assumptions are that they will ive on average for a further 30.4 years after retrrement if
they are male and for a further 31 6 years after retirement if they are female

Composition of scheme assets

2018 217

£m £m

Equities 54 60
Diversified growth funds 85 B4
Other assets 13 10
Total scheme assets - 152 154

The vast majonty of the scheme assets are quoted in an active market
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9 Pensions continued
The amount inctuded in the balance sheet arising from the Group's obligations in respect of it defined benefit scheme 5 as follows

2018 2017 016 2015 014

£m fm L £m fin

Present value ot defined scheme obligations 147) 67} [143) (145 [125)
Fair value of scheme assets 162 154 137 139 131
Irrecoverable surplus (5) - - - [6)
Liability recognised in the balance sheet - [13) (6] {6) -

The sensitivities of the defined benefit obligation In relation to the major actuarial assumptions used 1o measure scheme liabilities are as follows

imrrease/fideccease] in
defired scheme obligations

Change in 2018 M7
Assumption assurmpton £m £m
Discount rate +0.5% (14 (18}
Salary inflation +0 5% 1 i
RPHinflation +0 5% 12 17
Assumed hife expectancy +1 year 4 5
History of experience gains and losses
2018 217 016 25 01
£m £rr £mn Lin frn
Total actuarial gain lloss) recognised in the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income’
Amount? ¢ 12) 1) (5] (2]
Percentage of present value on scheme liabilities 8.1% 7 2% 0.7% 36% 1 6%
Mevaments slated atter adj.sting for rrecaverab lity of 3ny s.rplus
- Curnula® ve lass recogrised i the statement of comprehensive i1 worme s €40m {20°6/17 £49]
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9 Pensions continued
Movernents in the present value of defined benefit obligations were as follows

2018 7
£€m tm
At 1 April {167) [143)
Current service cost (2} i3]
interest cost (4] (5]
Actuarial gan [loss)
Gain{loss) from change in financial assumplions 7 129)
Gain on scheme liabilities anising from experncnce 7 6
Benefits paid 12 7
At 31 March 147) 167]
Movements In the fair value of the scheme assets were as follows
2018 7
£m £m
At 1 April 154 137
Interest income on scheme assets 3 4
Contributions by employer 7 7
Actuarial [loss] gain - H
Benefits pad 12 i5)
At 31 March 152 154

Through its defined benefit plans, the Group is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of which are detailed below:

Asset volatility

The labilties are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bond yields, if assets underperform this yietd, this will
create a deficit The scheme holds a signdicant portion of growth assets lequities and diversified growth funds) which, although expected
to outperform corporate bonds in the long term, create volatility and risk in the shortterm The altocation to growth assets 1s monstered
to ensure it remains appropriate given the scheme’s long term objectives

Changes in bond yields
A decrease In corporate bond yields will increase the value placed on the scheme s liabilities for accounting purposes, although this will
be partially offset by an increase in the value of the scheme's bond holdings

Inftation risk

The majority of the scheme s benefit obligations are inked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher Liabilities (atthough, in most
cases, caps on the level of inflationary increases are in place to protect against extreme inftation) The majority of the assets are either
unaffected by or only loosely corretated with inflation, meaning that an increase in inflation witl also increase the deficit

Life expectancy

The majority of the scheme’s obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member, so increases in Life expectancy will result
in an increase in the liabilities
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10 Property
Property reconciliation for the year ended 31 March 2018

Iwestment
investment
and
Cffices & Canaca development Owrer-
Retal  residential Water Developments  properties Trading occuped
Lewvel 3 Level 3 Leval 3 lewal 3 Level 3 prapertics Level 3 Total
tm £ trm tm £m £im £m £m
Carrying value at T April 2017 5,021 3,616 2856 150 9,073 334 4 9,501
Additions
- property purchases 237 - 8 - 245 5 - 250
- devetapment expenditure 5 15 22 114 84 46 - 132
- capitalised snterest and staff costs - 1 3 1 5 5 - 10
- capital expenditure on asset
management niltatives 29 - - 1 30 - - 30
271 16 33 Lé 356 54 - 422
Depreciation - - - - - - (1 4]
Disposals {134} (2] - - (13a) (62 - (yst
Reclassifications 4} (1371 - 141 - - - -
Revaluations included in income statement 40 165 211 18 202 - - 202
Revaluations included in OCI - - - - - - 13) (3l
Movement in tenant incentives and contracted
rent uplift balances 1 1 - - 2 - - 2
Carrying value at 31 March 2018 5,195 3,659 298 355 9,507 328 90 9,925
Head tease Liabilities [note 15} {62)
Valuation surplus on trading properties 134
Group property portfolie valuation at 31 March 2018 9.997
Non-controllng interests {315]
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2018 attributable to shareholders 9,682
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10 Property continued
Property reconcitiation for the year ended 31 March 2017

Investment
Investrnent
and
CHees & Carada development Owrer-
Retar residential Water Developrients properies Traong ccouped
Level 2 | evel 3 _evel 3 Level 3 Lever 3 properiics evel 3 Total
- £m fm tm fro £m Xl £rm
Carrying value at 1 April 2015 5,617 3,436 256 334 9.643 325 95 10,063
Additions
- property purchases ' 80 - 8 - 88 - - 88
- development expenditure 12 4 10 55 81 56 - 137
- capitalised interest and staff costs - - 2 3 5 5 - 10
- capital expenditure on asset
management Iniiatives 82 9 1 - 92 - - 92
174 13 21 58 266 61 - 327
Depreciation - - - - - - i m
Disposals [624] {391 - {7 {676i [26] - (696]
Reclassifications - 271 27 1271 27 (27) - -
Revaluations included in iIncome statement (105} 57 (18} 36 144] - - 44)
Movement in tenant incentives and contracted
rent uplift balances {41 (8] - - (49 1 - 148)
Carrying value at 31 March 2017 5.021 3,616 286 150 9,073 334 94 2501
Head lease habibties [note 15] (64)
Valuation surplus on trading properties 83
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2017 9,520
Non-controlling interests 1310]
Group property portfolio valuation at 31 March 2017 attributable to shareholders 2,210

Property valuation
The different valuation method levels are defined below.

Level 1: Quoted prices [unadjusted] in active markets for rdentical assets or Liabifities.

Level 2;: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are chservable for the asset or liability, either directly ll.e as prices)
or indirectly b e derived from prices).

Level 3: inputs for the asset or higbility that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs),

These levels are specred in accordance with IFRS 13 "Fair Value Measurement’ Property valuations are inherently subjective as they are
made on the basis of assumptions made by the valuer which may not prove te be accurate For these reasons, and consistent with EPRA's
guidance, we have classified the valuations of our property portfolio as Level 3 as defined by IFRS 13 The inputs te the valuations are defined
as ‘unobservable by IFRS 13 and these are analysed 1n a tabie on the following page There were no transfers between levels in the period

The Group's total property portfolio was valued by external valuers cn the basis of fair value, in accordance with the RICS Valuation -
Professional Standards 2014, ninth edition, published by The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors

The information provided to the valuers, and the assumptions and valuation models used by the valuers, are reviewed by the property
portfolio tearn, the Head of Otfices, the Head of Retail and the Ciwef Financial Dificer [Chief Executive Officer post January 2018). The valuers
meet with the external auditors and atso present directly to the Audit Commuttee at the interim and year end review of results Further details
of the Audit Committee’s responsibiliies in relation to valuations can be found in the Report of the Audit Committee lon pages 69 ta 73]

Investment properties, excluding properties held for development, are valued by adopting the investrnent method’ of vatuation

This approach involves applying capitatisation yields to current and future rentat sireams net of Income voids anising from vacancies or
rent-free periods and assoclated running costs, These capitalisation yields and future rental values are based on comparable property
and leasing transactions in the market using the valuers’ professionat judgement and market observation Other factors taken into account
in the valuations inctude the tenure of the property, ienancy details and ground and structural conditions
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10 Property continued

Inthe case of ongaing developments, the approach applied 1s the residual method of valuation, which s the investment method of valuation
as described above, with a deduction for all costs necessary to comptlete the development, including a noticnal finance cost, together with

a further atlowance for remaning risk Properties held for development are generally valued by adopting the higher of the residual method
of valuation, allowing for all associated risks, or the Investment method of valuation for the exjsting asset

Coples of the valuation certificates of Krught Frank LLP, CBRE, Jones Lang LaSalle and Cushman & Waketield can be found at

www.britishland.com/reports

A breakdown of valuations split between the Group and its share of joint ventures and funds 1s shown below

2018 mrv
Joint Jaint
ventures ventures
Group and funds Tatal Group and funds Total
£m £m £m fin £m £m
Knight Frank LLP 1,674 2,680 4,354 7031 2,883 3914
CBRE 4,511 1,403 5,914 2,489 1,380 3,869
Jones Lang LaSalle 561 - 6861 - 538 538
Cushman & Wakefield 3,251 19 3,270 - - -
Total property portfolio valuation 9,997 4,102 14,099 2,520 4,807 14,321
Non-controlling interests (315] (48) {383} (310] [71) [381)
Total property pottfolio valuation attributable to sharehotlders 9,682 4,034 13,716 9,210 4,730 13,940
Information about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs (Level 3) for the year ended 31 March 2018
Fair value at ERV per sq ft Equivalent yield Costs to complete per sq ft
31 March 2018 Valuation Min Max  Average Min Max  Average Min Max Average
Investment €m technique £ £ £ % Yo Ya £ £
Investment
Retail 5,210 methedology 2 84 24 3 9 5 - 51 2
Investment
Otfices' 3,617 methodology 8 17 68 4 5 4 - 323 53
Investment
Canada Water 283 methodology 38 38 38 4 4 4 - 1 1
Investment
Residenttal 70 methodology 15 29 22 2 é 4 - 2 {34]
Residual
Developments 365 methodology 18 b6 61 2 [ 5 - 814 641
Total 9,535
Trading properties
at fair value 462
Group property
pertfolio valuation 9,997
Sorludes owisr ociumed
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10 Property continued
Information about fair value measurements using unobservable inputs [Level 3) for the year ended 31 March 2017

b vaiue at FRY per ag fi Lgunsalent yreld Zosts ta camplete per g fi
31 Gar-:rﬁ ?6‘\7 Valuatior Min Mex Average M Max Average Min Max Average
Investient fm tect ngue L f c kS Y % f £ £
Investrment
Retail 4,987 methodology 2 77 22 4 1 5 - 48 4
Investrment
Offices!- 3,695 methodology 7 "7 54 4 7 5 - 150 20
tnvestment
Canada Water 271 methodology 15 25 22 2 5 3 - 18 10
Residual
Developments” 150 methodology i8 72 54 2 6 4 - 616 508
Total 9103
Trading properties
at fair value 417
Group property
portfolio valuation 9.520

" Incluges owner-occupied
- Includes Residertialwith an average capital value pe-sgft of 981 noluding develapments at end value and mixed use

Information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs (Level 3} on the fair value of the Group's property portfolic for the year
ended 31 March 2018

Fair value at Impact on valuations Impact on valuations Impact on valuations

31 March 2018 +5% ERV -5% ERY -25bps NEY  +25bps NEY -5% costs +5% costs

€m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Retail 5,210 210 [199] 269 [278) n/a nfa
Dffices 4,079 167 (181) 244 1219) n/a n/a
Canada Water 283 4 (5] 1 {1] 21 (20]
Residential 70 1 1] 2 12] - -
Developments 355 31 [31) 39 {35] 12 i13)
Group property portfolio valuation 9.997 413 [397) 535 (535} 34 133}

Includes trad:ng prepariies at tan vatdas

Information about the impact of changes in unobservable inputs [Level 3) on the fair value of the Group's property portfelio for the year
ended 31 March 2017

Eair valug ot Impact ar va.uations Impact on valuations Impact an valuations

31 March 2017 +5% ERV -5% ERV 25bps NEY  +25bps NEY -8, costs +0% costs

£m tn fm fm frm fm fr

Retail 45987 189 (176) 262 {238] nfa nfa
Otfices! 4,019 176 [169) 231 (208) nfa nfa
Canada Water 271 N 1 20 17) nfa nfa
Restdential 23 4 {4) 6 1) nfa nfa
Developments 150 8 12| 11} i2] 3 17]
Group property portfolio vatluation 9,520 388 13721 518 {471) 3 {71

" In~lures trading oropert es i far value

The valuationimpact of changes in unobservable inputs for the year ended 31 March 2017 have been restated
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10 Property continued
All other factors being equal.

- Ahigher equivalent yield or discount rate would lead tc a decrease in the valuation of an asset
- Anincrease in the current or estimated future rental stream would have the effect of increasing the capital value

- Anincrease In the costs to complete would lead to a decrease in the valuation of an asset

However, there are interrelationships between the unobservable inputs which are partiaily determined by market conditions, which would
impact on these changes

Additional property disclosures - including covenant information

At 31 March 2618, the Group property portfolio vaiuation of £9,997m (2016/17 £9.520m] comprises freeholds of £5,711m §2016/17 £5,576m),
virtual freeholds of £895m (2014/17 £809m), and long leaseholds of £3,391m {2016/17 £3,135m] The historical cast of properties was
£6,294m (2016117 £4,024m)

The property valuation dees not Include any investrment properties held under operating leases (2016/17 £nit}

Cumutative interest capitalised against investment, development and trading properties amounts to £101m (2016/17 £95m!)

Properties valued at £1,202m [2016/17 £1,882m] were subject to a security interest and other properties of non-receurse companies
amounted to £1,245m (2016/17 £1,158m), totalling £2,447m [2016/17 £3.040m)

Included within the preperty vatuation s £60m {2016/17 £62m) in respect of accrued contracted rental uplift incorne The balance arises

through the {FRS treatment of leases containing such arrangements, which requires the recognition of rental income on a straight-tine basis

over the lease term, with the difference between this and the cash receipt changing the carrying vatue of the property against which
revaluations are measured

11 Joint ventures and funds
Summary movement for the year of the investments in joint ventures and funds

_amnt

ventuTes Funds Total Equiry Loans Total

£ £ £m £m trm £m

At1 Aprit 2017 2.525 241 2,766 2,412 354 2,766
Additions 72 7 79 3 76

Share of profit on ordinary activities after taxation 149 2 151 151 - 151

Distributions and dividends

- Capital {23) {131 (38) (38) - {36

- Revenue [63] {151 (78l {78} - {78l
Hedging and exchange movements 8 - 8 8 -

Disposal of Tesco joint venture {68] - 168) (68 - (68

At 31 March 2018 2,600 222 2,822 2,392 430 2,822

Additional investments in joint ventures and funds covenant information

At 31 March 2018 the investments In joint ventures included within the total investments in joint ventures and funds was £2,826m
[2016/17 £2,299m), being the £2,822m total investment shown above, less the net investment of [E4m] [2016/17 £7m)in PREF, a property
fund in Continental Europe
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventures and funds continued

The summarised Income statements and balance sheets below and on the foliowing page show 100% of the results, assets and Liabilities

of joint ventures and funds Where necessary, these have been restated to the Group s accounting policies

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018

Broadgae
RFIT

td

MSC Proverty
Imtermediate
Holdings [ td

BL Sairsbury
Superstores
tid

Norges Bank

Euro Bluebell LLP Investment
Partners (GIC) Management J Samnsbury ple
City Offices  Shopping Centres

Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements ‘m fm fm
Revenue® 255 102 39
Costs [64) [23] -

191 79 39
Administrative expenses (1 - -
Net interest payable i82] (33} 4]
Underlying Profit 108 46 23
Net valuation movement 105 21 3}
Capital financing costs - - [26]
[Loss) profit on disposat of Investment properties and investments [18]) - 2
Preofit {loss] on ordinary activities before taxation 195 67 3
Taxation - - -
Profit [loss) on erdinary activities after taxation 196 &7 3
Other comprehensive income lexpenditure] 13 3 -
Total comprehensive income 208 70 3
British Land share of total comprehensive income [expense] 104 35 2
British Land share of distributions payable 35 4 31
Summarised balance sheets [Nl n {m
Investment and trading properties 4,668 1,895 523
Current assets 6 3 -
Cash and deposits 291 39 30
Gross assets 4,965 1,940 613
Current babitities {107 [41) {24
Bank and securifised debt {1,744 (6471 (251
Loans from jomnt venture partners 1445} [364) -
Other non-current Liabilities [41) {20) -
Gross llabibhies [2,357) {1,066} {275)
Net assets 2,608 874 338
British Land share of net assets less shareholder toans 1,304 437 169

fncluded within the Broadgate RUIT revenue s a £29m (£15m British L and share] payment received in fune 2017 from the Royal Bank of Scotland in relation to the.r

surrerder of a lease at 135 Bishopsgate

© USSjointventures ncluds the EdenWalk Shopping Centre Unit Trust and the Fareham Property Partnership
Hercules Unit Trust jaint ventures and sub-funds includes 0% of 1he results of Beepdale Co-Ownership Trust, Gibraitar Limited Partrerstup and Valenting

Co-Ownership Trust and 41 25% of Birstall Ca-Gwnershio Trust The balance sheet shows 50% of the assets of these jaint ventuses and sub funds
Inctuded in the cotuma headed Jther jo nt ventures and funds are contrisutions from the fsliownng Bl Goodman Linited Partrershig, The Aldgate Place L imiled

Partacr shap, Bluebution Property Management UK Limited, City of | andon Office Unit Trust and Pillar Retall Europark Fund [PREF] The Group s ownership
share of PREF 15 65%, however as the Group s not able to exercise zontrol over significant dacisions of the lund, the Group equity accounts for its interest in PREF

® Revenue includes gross rental incame at 100% share of L385m [2014/17 £437n4
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LS5 Hercules Unidt Trust Otner Total
The SontrGaie Lamitad joenl joint veritures |oin: ventures Total Group share
Partnership venures” and sub tunds’ and hurds- 2018 2018
Universities
Aviva Superannuation
Investors Scheme Group PLC
Shopping Shopping Retait
Centres Centres Parks
50% 50% Various
tm £m £m £m €m £m
18 13 36 b 469 235
14) (4) [3) 12} {1021 51)
4 9 31 4 367 184
W] - - - (2} M
(1) - 14) - (136) {68)
12 9 27 4 229 115
10 - (28] - 105 52
- - - - (26} (13)
1 - - 2 (8} (3)
23 9 (1 6 302 151
23 g 1) -] 302 151
- - - - 16 8
23 g 1 ] 318 159
1" 5 1 3 159
5 4 14 - ?3
£m tm frn £m £m £m
275 250 590 - 8,201 4,100
1 1 4 42 60 N
9 7 10 8 454 227
285 258 604 50 8,715 4,358
(4] (sl nm (15) 1207) (105}
- - [140) - 12,778) (1,288}
- f2¢) - 16) (861} (430)
(28] - 14) 5 (88) 1431
(32} (31} {155) (18] (3,932} 1,766)
253 227 449 34 4,783 2,392
127 113 226 16 2,392

The berrowimgs af jomt ventures and funds and ther subsidiaries ars non-recourse to the Groop Al jeintventures are intorporated in the Linited Kirgdom, with the
ex~aptia + of Broadgats REIT | mited and the Lden Welk Shopping Zentre Unit Trustwhi~h are incorparatec in Jzr-ay Of the furds, the Hescules Uit Trast [HUT) jeint

vintuies and sub-funds are incorporated in Jersey and PRLE in Luxembourg

These tirancia, staternents nolude the resulls and Yinarcea, posihiar of the Groun s nterest e the Farchamn fraperty Paronerss g, the Addgate Plare Limitea Partnersrip,
the B Goodman Limited Partrerst g, tre Auctinlea Parineestip and the Gibraltar Lim ted Pactnesship Arcord ngly, advantage has beer taken of the s xemptions
provicen by Requlator ¥ of the Partnershin [A runts] Requlatians 2008 ne' to attach he partersbip asoounts Lo these finanoal statements
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventures and funds continucd

The summarised income statemnents and balance sheets betow and on the following page show 100% of the results, assets and labtlities
of Jjoint ventures and funds Where necessary, these have been restated to the Group s accounting policies

Joint ventures’ and funds’ summary financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2017

Broadgate M3C Property BL Sainsbury
RFIF In:ermediate Suparstores Tesco joirt
Lid Hotdings Ltd Lig voentures:
Norges Bank
Euro Bluebell LLP Investment
Partners (GiC) Managernent 4 Sainsbury pic Tesco PLC
City Offices  Shopping Centres
Property sector Broadgate Meadowhall Superstores Superstores
Group share 50% 50% 50% 50%
Summarised income statements £m £m £ [Hae
Revenye’ 245 99 49 19
Costs (52 (23) - -
193 76 49 19
Administrative expenses - - - (2}
Net interest payable 182) 135! (211 (5}
Underiying Profrt m 4) 28 8
Net vatuation movement 85 1) {46) (29)
Capitat financing costs - 2] -
Preofit on disposat of investment properties and investments - - 3 13]
[Loss] profit on ordinary activities before taxation {74) 40 (27 (24])
Taxation - - - 2
[Loss] profit on ordinary activities after taxation 174) 49 [27) [22)
Other comprehensive incame 1 - - 1
Total comprehensive income (73 40 127 (21)
British Land share of total comprehensive [expense] income (371 20 {15) (14
British Land share of distributions payable 32 17 55 4
Summarised balance sheets £m im £m £m
Investment and trading properties 4,478 1,842 769 325
Current assets 2 5 - -
Cash and deposits 290 37 17 2
Gross assets 4,770 1,884 786 327
Current babiliies 188) 141 {22) (2]
Bank and securttised debt 11,794 [668) 1367] (185]
Loans from joint venture partners {357 [317) - -
Other non-current liabilities 1561 (23] - 4]
Gross Labilities (2,295) 11,049} 1389 191)
Net assets 2,475 835 397 136
British Land share of net assets tess shareholder loans 1,237 &7 199 &8

Inciuged within tne Broadgate REIT nel valuation movement s a f 20m payment received in December 2016 frorm UBS A G in relation to the development and
ourupation of § Broadgate, and subsequent vacation of 100 Liverpool Street nuluding 8-"0 Broadgate
" Tesco joint ventures include BLT Holdings [2010) Lirnited as at 31 March 2017

venture was reclassified as a held for sale asset

USS jmint ventures inctude the Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust and the Farehar Property Partnership
The{ eadenhall column shaws the equity accounted prof t and loss for the period Due tathe fransaction whech exchanged in March 2017, the netinvestment in this

Hercufes Unit Trust joint ventures and sub-funds includes 50% of the results of Deepdale Co-Ownership Trust, Cibraltar Limited Partnership and Valentine
Co-Ownerstup Trust and 41 25% of Birstall Co-Ownershup Trust The balance sheet shows 50% of the assets of these jont ventures and sub-funds
Included in the column headed 'Other jaint ventures and funds are contnbations fram the following BL Goodran Limnited Partnership, The Aldgate Place Limited

Partnership, Bluebutton Property Management UK Limited, City of Landan Office Unit Trust and Filiar Rotail Europark Fund [PREF] The Group » ewnership
share of PREF 13 65%, however as the Group 15 not able to exercise controd aver significant decisions of the furd, the Group equity accaunts for (s .nterest in PREF
" Revenue includes gross rental mcame at 100% share of £437m [2015/16 £451m)
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Uss Leagentalt Hercules Unit Trus Otner Total
The Southhate Lirnied joirt Holdeng Co sounlt vertures 1oint ventures Total Group share
Parinership vantares’ [Jersey) Ltd and sub-furds” and funds” 2017 2017
Universities
Superannuation
Aviva Scheme Group Oxford
Investors PLC Properties
Shopping Shopping City Offices Retail
Centres Centres Leadenhall Parks
50% 50% 50% Various
tm i £m fr f £m £m
17 14 43 35 1 522 260
15) 15) (10) (4) N} (100) (50)
12 ? 33 31 - 422 210
] - - - i) (4) (2)
() - - (4) - 152) (76)
10 ¢ 33 27 1) 266 132
(] 171 107 [16) - (183) %3]
- - - - - (12 {6)
- - - - 34 34 18
4 2 140 " 33 108 51
- - - - - 2 1
[ 2 140 11 33 107 52
- - - - - 2 1
4 2 140 1 33 109 53
2 1 78 5 17 53
1 - ) 14 4 132
frr £ £rm Ltm £m £m £m
264 247 - 603 1 8,529 4,265
1 1 3 52 &4 32
8 7 - 1G 28 399 200
273 255 - 616 81 8,992 4,497
(4] {6l - (10} {19) {192} 961
- - - (139 - (3,153} 1,577}
- [22] - - 2] {708} (354}
(28) - - [4) - 115} (58)
(32) {28} - £163) (311 {4,168] (2,085)
24 227 - 463 50 4,824 2,412
121 114 - 231 25 2,412

The barrowings of joint ventures and funds and ther subsidiaries are nan-recourse 1o the Graup All o ventures ae meorgorated in the United Kirgdom, with

the exreption of Broadgate RUIT Limited, the Fden Walk Shapping Searre Uait Trust and Leagenbali Holding Co [serseyl Lim ted we Jhare incorporated in Jer ey

Of the funds, the Heroules Und Trust (HUT] et ventures and sub funds gre ncerposated in Jersey and PREF in Luxaimbourg

Thesefinanria staterren's i luge thereq, tsand f natical posr cnofthe Granp s nrerest e Faranham Property Part wrstin the Aldqate Poace Lirted 2oringrshog,
the BL Goodman L eritea Partnersk o tee Aue minfea Partnzrshin and the Sibeattar i ted Partnerskin Ac cordingly, advantase has beentaken of the exemptions
sravided by Regulatien 7 of the Partnershp [Accounts] Requlations 2008 nat to attarh the parinerstip aoocun's to these finan el statemrerts
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NCTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

11 Joint ventures and funds continued

Joint venture held for sale

On 1 March 2017 the Group exchanged conditional contracts on an agreement to setl its interest in Leadenhall Helding Co [Jersey) Limited,
a joint venture with Oxford Properties The nef investment in the joint venture was recognised as a held for sale asset from the date of
exchange in the prior period On 24 May 2017 the transaction cornpleted and the net investment was de-recogrised

Joint venture held for sale - summarised balance sheet for the year ended 31 March
Lzagenhall Rolaimg Co
i lerseyi Limited

2018 m7
£m im
Investment property - 1.075
Current assets - 17
Current labilities ~ 13)
Loans from joint venture partners - 371
Net assets - 708
British Land share of net assets less shareholder loans - 355
Operating cash flows of joint ventures and funds (Group share)
2018 2017
£m £m
Rental income recelved from tenants 199 207
Fees and other income received - -
Operating expenses patd to suppliers and employees (22) 120)
Cash generated from operations 177 187
Interest paid (73) (84}
Interest receved 1 1
UK corporation tax paid n 12
Cashinflow from operating activities 104 102
Cashinflow from operating activities deployed as:
Surplus cash retamned within joint ventures and funds 26 43
Revenue distributions per consolidated statement of cash flows 78 59
Revenue distributions split between controlling and non-controlling interests
Attributable te non-controlling interests 2 4
Attributable to shareholders of the Company 76 55
12 Other investments
2018 2017
Investment Loans, Property, nvestment Loans, Property,
heldfor receivables plantand  Intangible held for  recenvables plant and Inta-grbee
trading and ather  equipment assets Total lrading  andother  eguioment assets Toal
£m fm £m fm £m £m tm £m fm fim
At 3 April 3 41 1" g 154 101 26 12 3 142
Additions - - 15 4 19 - 14 1 7 22
Misposals - 4] - - (21 - (2} - - 12}
Revaluation 5 3 - - 8 [8) 3 - - (5}
Depreciation/amortisation - - (2) (3) (5] - - 12) 1l 13)
At 31 March 78 42 24 10 174 73 41 11 ¢ 154

The investrment held for trading cormprises interests as a trust beneficiary The trust's assets comprise freehold reversions in a pool of
commercial properties, comprising Samsbury's superstores The interest is categorised as Level 3 in the fair value hierarchy, 1s subject
to the same inputs as those disclosed in note 10, and its fair value was determined by the Directors, supported by an external valuation.
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13 Debtors

2018 2017

€m £y

Trade and other debtors 28 22
Deposits receved relating to held for sale asset’ - 144
Prepayments, and accrued income 7 5
35 171

Prioryear balanre relates Lo deposit received an held for sale jo ntventure transaction fsee note 17 recognisec as a inantial asse, the realisaton of which was
cond tonal ang ngt quaranteed as af the prior year nalarce sheer cate

Trade and other debtors are shown after deducting a provision for bad and doubtful debts of £34m [2016/17 £14m). The charge to the income
statement In reiation to bad and doubtiul debts was £1m {2016/17 £1m]

The Directors conseder that the carrying amount of trade and other debtors 1s approximate to their fair value. There 1s no concentration
of credit risk with respect to trade debtors as the Broup has a large number of customers who are paying therr rent in advance

As at 31 March, trade and other debtors outside their payment terms yet not provided for are as follows

Outside credit terms but net impaired

Within 0-1 1-2 Mare than

Total credit terms maonth months 2 months

£m £m £m £m £m

2018 28 18 [ 4 -

2017 22 7 9 4 2
14 Creditors

2018 2017

£m fm

Trade creditars 146 127

Deposits received relating to held for sale asset! - 144

Other taxation and social security 30 32

Accruals 73 83

Deferred income 75 72

324 458

Prior year balan: e relates (o deposit receved on tield for sale jont venture transa.lon isee ~ete 11) recogrised as a hnancial L ability, the realisaton of whichowas
conditicral and not guarariced as af the proryear salance shect gats

Trade creditors are interest-free and have settlement dates within one year The Directors consider that the carrying amount of trade and
other creditors s approximate to their fair value

15 Other non-current liabilities

2018 7

£m £m

Gther creditors - 1
Head leases 62 64
Net pension hiabilities — 13
62 78
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

16 Deferred tax
The movement on deferred tax 15 as shown below

Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2018

1 April Credited to Debited Transferred to 31 March
2017 income to equity Joint ventures 2018
Em £m £m £m £m |
Interest rate and currency derivative revaluations 4 5 I8 - 4
Other timing differences 7 - ~ - 7
11 5 15) - 11
Oeferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2018
£m £m £m Em £m
Property and investment revaluations (71 - - - n
(7} - - - (7
Netdeferred tax assets 4 5 15 - 4
Deferred tax assets year ended 31 March 2017
1 April Credited 1o Bebited Transferred o 31 March
2018 mcome o equry |oint ventures 2017
tm fra fm £m frn
Interest rate and currency derivative revatuations 5 m - - 4
Other timing differences [ 1 - - 7
11 - - - i
Deferred tax liabilities year ended 31 March 2017
£m tm Em tm £rr
Property and investment revaluations 7) - - - 7
Other tirming differences (1) - - 1 -
18] - - 1 £7
Net deferred tax assets 3 - - 1 4

The following corpeoration tax rates have been substantively enacted 19% effective from 1 April 2017 reducing to 17% etfective from 1 April
2020. The deferred tax assets and Liabilities have been calculated at the tax rate effective in the period that the tax 1s expected to crystallise

The Group has recognised a deferred tax asset calculated at 17% [2016/17 17%) of £7m [2016/17 £5m] in respect of capital losses from
previous years available for offset against future capital profit Further unrecognised deferred tax assets in respect of capital losses of
£123m [2016/17 £129m] exist at 31 March 2018

The Graup has recogrised deferred 1ax assets on derivative revaluations fo the extent that future matching taxable profits are expected
te arise

At 31 March 2018, the Group had an uprecogrised deferred tax asset calculated at 17% [2016/17. 17%) of £43m [2016/17- £50m) in respect
of UK revenue tax losses from previous years

Under the REIT regime, development properties which are sold within three years of completion do not benefit from tax exemption

At 31 March 2018, the value of such properties s £176m [2016/17 £176m) and if these properties were to be sold and no tax exemption
was available, the tax anising would be £13rn [2016/17- £13m}
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17 Net debt

2018 Al
Footnute £m £m
Secured on the assets of the Group
9125% First Moartgage Debenture Stock 2020 M - 34
5 264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 359 377
5 0055% First Mortgage Amortising Debentures 2035 95 99
5 357% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2028 255 348
Bank loans 12 512 475
Lean notes 2 2z
1,233 1,335
Unsecured
5 50% Senior Notes 2027 100 102
3 895% Senior US Dollar Notes 2018 2 27 32
4.635% Sentor US Dollar Notes 2021 2 156 181
4 766% Senior US Dollar Notes 2023 2 ?7 113
5 003% Senior US Doliar Notes 2026 2 63 73
3 81% Senior Notes 2026 110 114
3 97% Semior Notes 2026 112 17
1 5% Convertible Bond 2017 - 406
0% Convertible Bond 2020 337 33
2 375% Sterling Unsecured Bond 2029 298 -
Bank loans and overdrafts 595 477
1,895 1.946
Gross debt 3 3,128 3,281
Interest rate and currency derivative Liabilities 138 144
interest rate and currency dervative assets (115) [217]
Cash and short term deposits 4.5 (105) [114)
Total net debt 3,046 3,094
Net debt attributable to non-contrelling interests (109) ne3)
Net debt attributable to shareholders of the Company 2,937 2991
[Fese are nor-rezourze sarrowings with no recourse for regay "ent to ofner Z0Mpanies of d=-e7s 1 ihe Brous
2018 2017
£m £
11 BLDC Property Holdings Ltd - 34
1 2 Hercules Unit Trust 82 475
512 509
- Frmtgal snoorterest on trese borawings weree fully hedges into Sterling ol 3 Hoating rate at the ume of 1s5ue
Tne princigat arrount of gross debt 30 31 War-h 2008 was £3,007m 12016017 £3.069 Inciuded mlhis s the proncipa. amounnt of securec borrowings and other
horrow 1gs af nue recourse companies of £1.15%m of wh ch ee barrowings of the partly-ownsd subsidiary, bercuies Ut Trust, not benshically ownen oy the
Groupare £119m
- Includeswiihin cazsane short terns geposns 1s the - ashard shart term depasits of “tercules Jdnit Trust, of whooa £ 10m0s the propor tan ~ot benefis-ally owned
by the Group
© Cashand depos-sno! subjectto a security interast a nount 1o €9°m '2016/17 £9%m|
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS CONTINUED

17 Net debt continued
Maturity analysis of net debt

2018 2q17

£m Zm

Repayable within one year and on demand 27 464
Between one and two years 163 3t
lwo and live years 1,194 1,283

five and ten years 803 783

tenand hifteenyeat s 305 332

fiteen and twenty years 636 388

3,1 2,817

Gross debt 3,128 3.281
interest rate and currency derivatives 23 73
Cash and short term deposits (105) (114}
Net debt 3,044 3,094

1.5% Convertible bond 2012 Imaturity 2017)
On 10 September 2012, British Land [Jerseyl Limited {the 2012 Issuer), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. 1ssued £400 mullion 1 5%
guaranteed convertibte bonds due 2017 {the 2012 bonds] at par On 10 September 2017, the convertible bonds were redeemed at par

0% Convertible bond 2015 (maturity 2020}

On ¢ June 2015, Briush Land (White] 2015 Lirmited {the 2015 Issuer), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group, 1ssued £350 million zero
coupoen guaranteed convertibie bonds due 2020 [the 2015 bonds) at par The 2015 Issuer is fulty guaranteed by the Company in respect of
the 2015 bonds

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 Issuer which are automatically transferred to the
Company In exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company's election, any combination of ordinary shares and cash
From 20 July 2015 yp te and including 29 June 2018, a bondholder may exercise its conversion right #f the share price has traded at a levet
exceeding 130% of the exchange price for a specified period Thereafter, and up to but excluding the 7th dealing day before ¢ June 2020
[the maturity datel. a bondholder may convert at any time

The initial exchange price was 1103 32 pence per ordinary share The exchange price Is adjusted based on certain events [such as the
Company paying dividends in any quarter above 3 418 pence per ordinary share] As at 31 March 2018 the exchange price was 1036 52 pence
per ordinary share

From 30 June 2018, the Company has the option to redeern the 2015 bonds at par if the Company s share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified period, or at any ttme once 85% by nominal value of the 2015 bonds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancelled The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on 9 June 2020 fthe maturity date) if they have not already been converted,
redeemned or purchased and cancelled
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17 Net debt continued
Fair value and book value of net debt

2018 2017

Fairvalue Bookvalue  Difference Farvaue  Bookva ue Difterence

£m £m fm £rn fm tin

Debentures and unsecured bonds 1,783 1,682 101 1,682 1,590 92
Convertible bonds 337 337 - 737 737 -
Bank debt and other floating rate debt 1,116 1,109 7 263 954 9
Gross debt 3,236 3,128 108 3,382 3,281 101
Interest rate and currency derivative habilities 138 138 - 144 144 -
Interest rate and currency derivative assets 115) (115) - [217) 1217) -
Cash and short term deposits (105) {105) - [114) [114) -
Netdebt 3,154 3,046 108 3,195 3,094 101
Net debt attributabte to non-controlung interests (110) (109) m (105) 1103) {2
Net debt attributabte to shareholders of the Company 3,044 2,937 107 3.0%0 2,991 99

The tair values of debentures, unsecured bonds and the convertible bond have been established by obtaining quoted market prices from
brokers The bank debt and other floating rate debt has been valued assuming it could be renegotiated at contracted margins The derivatives
have been valued by calculating the present value of expected future cash flows, using appropriate market discount rates, by an independent

treasury adviser

Short term debtors and creditors and other investments have been excluded from the disclosures on the basis that the fair value 1s equivaient

to the book vatue The fair value hierarchy tevel of debt held at amortised cost is level 2 {as detined in note 10)

Group loan ta value [LTV)

2018 27
£m fm
Group loan to value [LTV] 221% 22 6%
Prmcipal amount of gross debt 3,007 3,069
Less debt attributable to non-controtling interests (119} 2y
Less cash and short term deposits [balance sheet) (105} M4}
Ptus cash attributable to non-controlling interests 10 9
Total net debt for LTV calculation 2,793 2,852
Group property portfotio valuation [note 10} 9,997 2520
Investments in joint ventures and funds [note 11) 2,822 2766
Jointventure held for sale Inote 11] - 540
QOther investments {note 12) 174 154
Less property and invesiments attributable to non-controliing interests (366) [364)
Total assets for LTV calculation 12,627 12,616
Proportionally consolidated loan to vatue [LTV)
2018 il
£m frm
Proportionally consolidated loan to value [LTV) 28.4% 29 9%
Principal amgunt of gross debt 4,399 4,649
Less debt attributable to non-controlling interests (135) [i28]
Less cash and short term deposits 1331 (323)
Plus cash attributable to non-controlling (nferests 10 ?
Total net debi for proportional LTV calculation 3,943 4,207
Group property portfelio vatuation Inote 10] 9,997 9,520
Share of property of joint ventures and funds {note 10} 4,102 4,801
Other investments [note 12) 174 154
Less other investments attributable to joint ventures and funds i2] (3]
Less praperty attributable to non-controliing interests (383) [381)
Total assets for propertional LTV calculation 13,888 14,091
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17 Net debt continued
British Land Unsecured Financial Covenants
The two financial covenants applicable to the Group unsecured debt including convertible bonds are shown below

2018 2017

£m trm

Net Borrowings not to exceed 175% of Adjusted Capital and Reserves 29% 29%
Principal amount of gross debt 3,007 3,069
Less the relevant proportion of borrowings of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controlling interests {1191 2]
Less cash and deposits [balance sheet] {1605} {114}
Plus the relevant proportion of cash and deposits of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-controlling interests 10 9
Net Borrowings 2,793 2,852
Share capital and reserves [balance sheet] 9,506 9476
EPRA deferred tax adjustment {EPRA Table A) 5 3
Trading property surpluses (EPRA Table Al 134 83
Exceptional refinancing charges [see below) 233 27
Fair value adjustments of financiat instruments (EPRA Table A} 137 135
Less reserves attributable to non-controiling interests {balance sheet) (254) [253)
Adjusted Capital and Reserves 9,761 2736

In calculating Adjusted Capital and Reserves for the purpose of the unsecured debt financial covenants, there is an adjustment of £233m
(2016/17: £274m) to reflect the cumulative net amortised exceptional items relating te the refinancings in the years ended 31 March 2005,
2006 and 2007

2018 2017
£m £m
Net Unsecured Borrowings not to exceed 70% of Unencumbered Assets 23% 26%
Principal amount of gross debt 3,007 3.069
Less cash and deposits not subject to a security interest [being £91m less the relevant propoertion of cash and {84) {96!
deposits of the partly-owned subsidiary/non-centrolling interests of £7m)
Less principal amount of secured and non-recourse borrowings 1,159) (1,238}
Net Unsecured Borrowings 1,764 1,735
Group property portfolio vatuation [note 10) 9,997 %520
Investments tn joint ventures and funds {note 11) 2,822 2766
Joint venture held for sale [note 11) - 540
Other investments {note 12j 174 154
Less investments 1n jont ventures and joint venture held far sale [note 11) (2,822) [3,299)
Less encumbered assets [note 10) [2,647) [3,040)
Unencumbered Assets 7,724 6,641
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17 Net debt continued
Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2018

Arrangement
Foreign costs
2017 Cash flows Transfers? exchange Fair value amortisation 2018
Short term borrowings 464 {458) 27 - (8 - 27
Long term borrowings 2,817 361 (27) (40] {10} - 3,101
Dervatives' [73) 29 - 40 27 - 23
Total Labilities trom financing activities: 3,208 (68} - - t - 3,151
Cash and cash equivalents [114) 9 - - - - 1105}
Net debt 3,094 {59) - - il - 3,046
Reconciliation of movement in Group net debt for the year ended 31 March 2017
Arrangermen!
Foreign costs
208 Cash flows Transfers exchange Sairvalue  amortisalion m7
Short term borrowings 74 (74] 464 - - - L4
Long term borrowings 3,687 [423) l464) 49 [36] 4 2,817
Derivatives: (30) 1 - (48] 4 - (731
Totat abibties from financing activities 3,731 [496) - 1 [32) 4 3,208
Cash and cash equivalents 114 - - - - - 114}
Net debt 3,617 {496 - 1 [32) 4 3,094
Cash flows= on gervarives include £20m of net rece pts on derivative inteses!
- Cashflows ondervanives imclucs £14- of nat receipts on dervative nterest
Transfems pmo-ises cebt rnatu- ng fror wong term lo shor ' t2rm Bor-ow ngs
- Dash flows of L6Bm shown above represerts et cash flows on nterest ras. cerwvative leseoats of L9, cecceass nbank ard othar berrowings of €624 and
drawtdewns on bank ane other barrow~gs of £52%m st ewn nthe zonsol sated statzment of casr flows, along with £ 20m ol 1el receipts on derwvative interest
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17 Net debt continued
Fair value hierarchy

The table below provides an analysis of financial instruments carried at fair value, by the vatuation method The fair value hierarchy levels are

defined in note 10

2018 017
Level1 Levet 2 Level 3 Total Leve. 1 Level Z Level 3 Total
£m £m £m £m fin £ £rm {
Interest rate and currency derivative assets - (115) - {115] - 217} - [217)
Other investments - availabte for sale (14) - - (14 [14] ~ - (14)
Other investments — held for trading - - 8 98 - - 93] 93]
Assets 4] (115] 98 {31 {14] {217 (53] [324)
Interest rate and currency derivative
liabilities - 138 - 138 - 144 - 144
Convertible bonds 337 - - 337 737 - - 737
Liabilities 337 138 - 475 737 144 - 881
Total 323 23 78 444 723 173} 193 557
Categories of firancial instruments
2018 2017
£m tm
Financial assets
Fair value through income statement
Other investrments - held for trading 28 93
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships 110 215
Derivatives not in designated hedge accounting relationships 5 2
Loans and receivables
Trade and other debtors 28 166
Cash and short term deposits 105 N4
Other investments - loans and receivables 42 6l
388 651
Financial liabilities
Fair value through income statement
Convertible bonds {337 1737]
Derivatives in designated hedge accounting relationships [51 [143)
Derivatives not in designated accounting relationships (133) ]
Amortised cost
Gross debt {2,791 [2,544)
Head leases payable 62) [64)
Creditors 1237 (3731
[3,565) {3,862
Total (3.177) (3.2111

Gains and losses on financial instruments, as classed above, are disclosed in note 6 Inet financing costs), note 13 [debtors), the consolidated
Income statement and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of other
investrents and head leases payable are approximate to thewr fair value, and that the carrying amounts are recoverable

Capital risk management

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt and equity attributable to the equity holders of The British Land Company PLC,
comprising 1ssued capital, reserves and retained earrings. Risks relating to capital structure are addressed within Managing risk in
delivering cur strategy on pages 48 to 51 The Group’s objectives, policies and processes for managing debt are set out in the Financiat
policies and principles on pages 4510 47
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17 Net debt continued

Interest rate risk management

The Group uses interest rate swaps and caps to hedge exposure to the vanability in cash flows on floating rate debt, such as revolving bank
facilities, caused by movements in market rates of interest

At 31 March 2018, the fair value of these derivatives 1s a net liability of £118m Interest rate swaps with a fair value of £5m have been
designated as cash flow hedges under 1AS 39

The ineffectiveness recogrised in the Income statement on cash flow hedges in the year ended 31 March 2018 was £nil [2016/17 £l

The cash flows pccur and are charged to profit and (oss until the maturity of the hedged debt The table below summoarises variable rate debt
hedged at 31 March 2018

Variable rate debt hedged

2018 2017

£m fm

Cutstanding at one year 775 775
al two years 400 775

al five years 250 250

at lenyeai s 250 250

Fair value hedged debt
The Group uses interest rate swaps to hedge exposure on frxed rate financial labilities caused by movements in market rates of interest

At 31 March 2018, the fair value of these derivatives 1s a net asset of £95m Interest rate swaps with a far value of £110m have been
designated as fair vatue hedges under 1AS 39 (2016/17 asset of £215m)

The cross currency swaps of the 2018/2021/2023/2026 US Private Placements fully hedge the foreign exchange exposure at an average
floating rate of 144 basis points above LIBOR These have been designated as fair value hedges of the US Private Placements

Interest rate profile - including effect of derivatives

2018 €17

£m £m

Fixed or capped rate 2,107 1,604
Variable rate [net of cash) 939 1,490
3,046 3,094

All the debt is effectively Sterling denominated except for £3m {2016/17. £11m)] of Eurc debt of which £3mi 15 at a variable rate [2016/17 £11ml

At 31 March 2018 the weighted average interest rate of the Sterling fixed rate debt 1s 3 2% {2016/17 3 3%] The weighted average period for
which the rate 1s fixed 15 9 1 years 12016/17- 8 3 years) The floating rate debt 1s set for periods of the Company’s choosing at the relevant
LIBOR ler similar) rate

The propertion of net debt at fixed or capped rates of iInterest was 80% at 31 March 2018 on a spot basts The proportion of net debt at fixed or
capped rates of interest as an average over the next five-year forecast period, on a proportionally consolidated basis, was 60% at 31 March
2018 Based onthe Group s interest rate profile, at the balance sheet date, a 576 bps Increase in interest rates would decrease annual profits
by £59m (2016/17 £87m decrease) Simitarly, a 72 bps reduction would increase profits by £10m (2016/17 £5m increase based on a 34 bps
reduction] The change in interest rates used for this sensivity analysis 1s based on the largest annual change iy three-menth Sterling
LIBOR over the last 10 years. The impact assumes LIBOR does not fall below 0%

Upward maovements in medium and long term interest rates, associated with tugher interest rate expectations, increase the value of the
Group's interest rate swaps and caps that provide protection aga:nst such moves The converse 1s true for downward movements in the yietd
curve A 204 bps shift represents the largest annual change in the seven-year Sterling swap rate over the last 10 years At 31 March 2018

a 204 bps parallet upward shift 1n swap rates would increase the value of cash flow hedges and derivatives that are not hedge accounted

by £68m [2016/17 £82m) A 204 bps downward st In swap rates would reduce the value of these derivatives by £81m (2016/17 £131m)
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17 Net debt continued

Interest rate profile - including effect of derivatives continued

The 0% 2015 Convertible Bond 1s designated as fair value through profit or loss Principal components of the market value of this bond
include British Land's share price and its volatibity, and market interest rates,

The fair value of the 0% 2015 Convertible Bond at 31 March 2018 was a £337m liabiity At 31 March 2018 a 204 bps parallet upward shift
i interest rates would reduce the fair value Lability by £15m, and a 204 bps downward shift in interest rates would increase the fair vatue
lability by £15m

Fereign currency risk management

The Group s policy 1s to have no material unhedged net assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies The currency risk on
overseas investments 1s hedged via foreign currency denominated borrowings and derivatives The Group has adopted net investment
hedging in accordance with 1AS 3% and therefore the portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument that is determined to be an
effective hedge is recognised directly in eguity The ineffective portion of the gain or loss on the hedging instrument 1s recognised
immediately In the income statement

The table below shows the carrying amounts of the Group's foreign currency denominated assets and lrabilities  Provided contingent tax
on overseas investments 1s not expected to occur it will be tgnored for hedging purposes Based on the 31 March 2018 position a 26%
apprecation [targest annual change over the tast ten years) in the Euro relative to Sterling would result ina Emil change [2016/17 £nil] in
reported profits

Assets Liabilities
2018 M7 2018 27
£m fm £m fim
Euro denominated 3 11 3 1

Credit risk management

The Group's approach to credit risk management of counterparties 1s referred to in the Financial policies and principtes on pages 45to 47 and
the risks addressed within Managing risk in delivering our strategy on pages 48 to 51 The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the
financial statements represents the Group's maximum exposure to credit risk without taking account of the value of any collateral obtained

Cash and short term deposits at 31 March 2918 amounted te £105m [2016/17 £114ml Deposits and interest rate deposits were placed with
financial institutions with ‘BBB~+ or better credit ratings

At 31 March 2018, the fair vaiuve of all interest rate dervative assets was £115m [2016/17 £217m)

At 31 March 2018, prior to taking into account any offset arrangements, the largest combined credit exposure to a single counterparty
arising from money market deposits, liguid investments and derivatives was £4%m (2016/17 £126m) This represents G 4% (2016/17 09%)
of gross assets

The deposit exposures are with UK banks and UK branches of international banks

The Group's exposure to credit risk in respect of its trade receivabies is analysed in note 13 Provisions are made {aking into account historic
credit tosses and the creditworthiness of debters

Liquidity risk management
The Group s approach to liquidity risk management 1s discussed in the Financial policies and principies on pages 45 to 47, and the risks
addressed within Managing risk in delivering our strategy on pages 48 1o 51

The following table presents a maturity profile of the contracted undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date
on which the Group can be required to pay The tabte includes both interest and principal flows Where the interest payable is not fixed,
the amount disclosed has been determined by reference to the projected interest rates implied by yield curves at the reporting date

For derivative financial instruments that settle on a net basis le.g. interest rate swaps) the undiscounted net cash flows are shown and for
derivatives that require gross settlement [e.g cross currency swaps) the undiscounted gross cash flows are presented Where payrent
obligations are in foreign currencies, the spot exchange rate ruling at the balance sheet date 1s used Trade crediters and amounts owed
to joint ventures, which are repayable within one year, have been excluded from the analysis

The Group expects to meet its financial Liabilities through the various available liquidity seurces, including a secure rental income profile,
asset sales, undrawn commutted borrowing facilities and, in the longer term, debt refinancings
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17 Net debt continued

Liquidity risk management continued

The Group leases gut all its investment properties under operating leases with a weighted average lease length of eight years This secure
income profile i1s generated from upward only rent reviews, long leases and high eccupancy rates The future aggregate minimum rentals
receivable unger non-cancellable operating teases are also shown in the table below income from Joint ventures and funds is not included
below Additional higuidity wiil arise from letting space in properties under construction as well as from distributions receved from joint
ventures and tunds

2018
Three
Within  Following to five Over five
one yeal' year yoars yedrs Total
£m £m £m £m £&m
Debt' 30 1566 1,173 1,680 3,049
Interest on debt 92 94 232 475 893
Derwvative payments 34 16 182 259 471
Head lease payments 2 2 7 267 278
Total payments 158 278 1,594 2,681 £,
Derivative receipts (52) (20) (209) (196} (4771
Net payment 106 258 1,385 2,485 4,234
Operating leases with tenants 424 399 948 1,490 3,281
Liguidity surplus [deficit] 318 141 417 {995} (953}
Cumulative liquidity surplus {deficit) 318 459 42 (953
077
Tnree
Within Fallowng to five Over five
ore year yior years years Total
fm £m £m £ £m
Debt! 459 33 1,240 1,420 3152
Interest an debt 89 86 235 468 878
Derivative payments 12 4b 189 263 508
Head lease payments 2 2 7 254 265
Total payments 562 165 1,671 2,405 4803
Derwative receipts (24] 161 (2551 251) [593)
Net payment 536 104 1,416 21354 4,210
Operating leases with tenants 405 382 984 1,750 3,521
Liguidity [deficit} surplus 3 278 1432} (4041 1689
Cumulative liguidity [deficit) surplus 131} 147 [285) [689)

Gross deni e’ £3128:n [2016/17 £3,281r] represents ne totat o £3,0£9m 12076/17 £3.152m), ess anamortised sssue costs of L13m 2016117 £1 Ay plusiar valus
dUSImMEnts I gebt of £97m [2016/17 £744™)

Any short term Liquidity gap between the net payments required and the rentals receivabie can be met through other liguidity sources
avallable to the Group, such as committed undrawn borrewing facilities The Group currently holds cash and short terrn deposits of E105m of
which £91m is not subject to a security Interest [see footnote 5 to net debt table on page 131) Further liguidity can be achieved through sates
of property assets or investments and debt refinancings

The Group s property portfolio 1s valued externally at £9,997m and the share of joint ventures and funds’ property s valued at £4,102m
The committed undrawn borrowing facilities available to the Group are a further source of Liquidity The maturity profile of committed
undrawn borrowng facitities 15 shown below

Maturity of committed undrawn borrowing facilities

2018 2017

£m trm

Matunity date  over five years 60 125
between four and five years 90 1150

between three and four years 1,010 58

Total facilities available for more than three years 1,160 1,293
Between two and three years 85 149
Between one snd two years 86 -
Within cne year - 2
Total 1,331 1.444

The above facilities are comprised of British Land undrawn facilities of £1,245m excluding the extension of the £735m facility, plus undrawn
facilities of Hercules Unit Trust totalling £86m
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18 Leasing

Operating leases with tenants

The Group leases out all of its Investment properties under operating leases with a weighted average lease length of eight years
(2016/17 eight years) The future aggregate minimum rentals recevable under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows

2018 2017
£Em tm
Less than one year 424 405
Between one and two years 399 382
Between three and five years 968 984
Between six and ten years 06 280
Between eleven and fifteen years 393 460
Between sixteen and twenty years 145 181
After twenty years 46 129
Total 3,281 3,521
Operating tease commitments
The future aggregate minimum rentals payable under non-cancellable cperating leases are as follows
2018 2017
£m £
Less than one year 3 3
Between one and two years 3 3
Between three and five years 8 9
Between six and ten years 7 ?
Total 21 24

The Group s leasehold investment properties are typically under non-renewable leases without sigrmificant restrictions Finance lease
liabilites are payable as follows, no contingent rents were payabte in either period

2018 2087

Minimum Minirmarn

lease lease
payments Interest Principal paymenis Interest #rincipal
£m £m £m fm fm fr

British Land Group

Less than one year 2 2 - 2 2 -
Between one and two years 2 2 - 2 -
Between two and five years 7 7 - 7 7 -
More than five years 267 205 62 269 2065 64
Total 278 216 62 280 216 64

Less future finance charges (216) [216)

Present value of lease obligations 62 b4

More than five years 62 b4

Present value of lease obligations 62 b4
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19 Dividend
The fourth quarter interim dividend of 7 52 pence per share, totalling £74m (2016/17 730 pence per share, totalling £75m), was approved
by the Board on 16 May 2018 and is payable on 3 August 2018 to shareholders on the register at the close of business on 2% June 2018

The Board will announce the availability of the Scrip Dividend Alternative, if avadtable, via the Regulatory News Service and on its website
iwww.britishland.com/dividends). no iater than four business days before the ex-dividend date of 28 June 2018 The Board expects to
announce the split between Property Incomne Distributions [PID] and non-PID income at that ime Any Scrip Dividend Alternative will not
be enrhanced PID dividends are paid, as required by REIT legislation, after deduction of withholding tax at the bagsic rate [currently 20%),
where appropriate Certain classes of sharenelders may be able to elect to receive dividends gress Please refer to our website
www.britishland.com/dividends for details

Penzz por 2018 M7
Payment date Dividend shar £m fm
Current year dividends
D3 08 2018 2018 &th mterim 752
04 05 2018 2018 3rd interim 752
09062 2018 2018 2nd interim 752 75
1¢:11 2017 2018 1stinterim 7.52 77
3008
Prior year dividends
04 08 2017 2017 4th interim 730 75
0505 2017 2017 3rd interim 730 75
10 02 2017 2017 2nd mtenm 730 75
11112016 2017 1st mterim 730 75
2920
0508 2016 2016 4th interim 709! 73
0605 2016 2016 3rd interim 709 73
Dividends in consolidated statement
of changes in equity 302 296
Dividends settled in shares - -
Divndends settied in cash 302 296
Tirning difference relating to payrent
of withhotding tax 2 {1
Dividends in cash flow statement 304 295
Chadend spl t ha 1 #10, half nan-F.0
20 Share capital and reserves
2018 w17
Nurnber of ordinary shares in issue at 1 April 1,041,035,058 1.040,562,323
Share 1ssues 429,206 472735
Repurchased and cancelled 147,607,139) -
At 31 March 993,857,125 1, 041,035,058

Of the 1ssued 25p ordinary shares, 7,376 shares were held in the ESOP trust 12016/17 77831, 11,266,245 shares were held as treasury shares
[2016/17 11,266,245) and 982,583,504 shares were in free 1ssue (2016/17 1,029,761,030] No treasury shares were acquired by the ESOP trust
during the year All\ssued shares are fully paid In the year ended 31 March 2018 the Company repurchased and cancelled 47,607,139 ordinary
shares at a weighted average price of 6320 pence

Hedging and translation reserve

The hedging and translation reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow and foreign
currency hedging instruments, aswell as all foreign exchange differences arising frem the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations The foreign exchange differences also include the translation of the habilities that hedge the Company’s net investment in a
foreign subsidiary

Revaluation reserve
The revaluation reserve relates tc owner-occupied properties and investments in joint ventures and funds

Merger reserve
This comprises the premium on the share placing 1n March 2013 No share premium s recorded it the Company s financial statements,

through the operation of the merger relief provisions of the Companies Act 2006
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20 Share capital and reserves continued
At 31 March 2018, options over 7,517,263 ordinary shares were outstanding under employee share option plans The options had a weighted
average life of 4 6 years Details of outstanding share options and shares awarded to empleyees inciuding Executive Directors are set aut

below and on the following page
Lxerese gates

ALY Apnit Vested bt Exercised/ At 31 March Exeruise
Date of grant 2007 Granted not exernised Vesled capaed 2018 price pene from Te
Share options Sharesave Scheme
260612 42 698 - - [40,403) [2,295) - 39200 2 e17 010318
190613 317 - - - 1317) - 511 00 01916 280217
190613 15,202 - - - 1352) 14,850 51100 01918 010319
23 06.14 116,937 - - 112,776) 13,761 - 574 00 01917 010318
230614 98,450 - - - 115,938) 82,512 574 00 01%19 010320
22 06.15 39,205 - - - [11,305) 27,900 %700 01918 010319
220615 20382 - - - [5,376) 15,006 687.00 0rez20 010321
20.06 16 92,101 - - [559] [45,616) 45,926 608 00 01919 010320
20 06.16 59300 - - - 137.297) 22,003 608 00 0192r 010322
2190617 - 265,883 - - {9.064] 256,819 508 00 01920 010327
210617 - 98,960 — - 12,420) 96,540 508 00 01922 010323

484,192 364,843 - {153,738] [133,741] 561,556

Leng-Term Incentive Plan - options vested, hot exercised

26 06 09 10,333 - - - - 10,333 38700 290612 290619
2112 09 69710 - - as7 - 58553 44600 211212 12w
110610 1,207,153 - - 174,884) S 1,132,289 44700 190613 1106 20
141210 59,933 - - 4,800) - 55133 51000 151213 141220
2806 11 823,253 - - {10,434) - 812,819 57500 280614 280621
1912 11 76,826 - - 6,651 - 70,175 45100 191214 191221
140912 1,055,907 - - [85254) {2096} 968,557 53800 140915 140922
201212 77,345 - - [6,522) 8416} 62,197 56300 201215 201222
050813 333,028 - - (27280}  [11,670) 294,078 60100 050816 050823
05.12.13 208.015 - ~ [23151)  (12955) 171,909 40000 051216 051223
3,921,503 - - {250,143) 135337} 3,636,023

Long-Term incentive Plan - unvested options

23.6 14 763,854 - - — (743854} - 684 33 230617 230624

121214 26127 - - - (26,127} - 757 83 121217 121224

22615 1,021,853 - - - 1132731) 889,122 824 50 220618 220625

22616 1,317,362 - - - (95,742) 1,221,620 730 50 220619 2206 24

28617 - 1,258,685 - - 143.743) 1,208,942 61717 280620 2806 27
3,129,196 1,258,685 - - {1.068,197) 3,319,684

Total 7,534,891 1,623,528 - (403,881} 1,237.275] 7.517,263

Weighted average exercise

price of options {pencel 621 593 - 522 690 609
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20 Share capital and reserves continued

Share price
AT Apal Exercised/ At 31 March ot grant date
Date of grant m7 Granted Vested Lapsed 2018 pence  Veshing date
Perfermance Shares Long-Term Incentive Plan
25614 1,302,354 - - 11,302,254 - 684.00 23617
1212 14 4,354 - - 14,354 - 75783 121217
22615 1,151,19¢ - - {82,741 1,068,458 B24 50 22618
224616 1,273,754 - - 1136,704] 1,137,050 73050 22619
28617 - 1,948,771 - [51,159] 1,897,612 61717 28 6 20
3,731,661 1948771 - [1,577.312] 4,103,120
Matching Share Plan
0614 289,540 - 144,780} (1447820) - 702.40 30617
29615 282170 - - - 282,170 806 00 29618
29616 318,932 - - (5.756] 313,176 80700 24619
890,662 - 144,780} [150,536] 595,346
Total 4622323 1948771 (144,780 [1.727.84B) 4,698,466
Weighted average price of shares (pencel 749 617 702 695 716

21 Segment information

The Group allocates resources to investment and asset management according to the sectors it expects to perform over the mediurm term
Its three principal sectors are Offices, Retal and Canada Water The Retail sector includes leisure, as this 1s often incorporated into Retail
schermes Residential properties were included within Offices in the prior year, but have been reclassified within Other/unallocated in the

current year, with the prior year comparstives represented

The relevant gross rental income, net rental income, operating result and property assets, being the measures of segment revenue, segment
result and segment assets used by the management of the business, are set out below Management reviews the performance of the
business principally on a prepertienally consotidated basis, which includes the Group s share of joint ventures and funds on a line-by-line
basss and excludes non-caontrotling interests inthe Group's subsidiaries The chief operating decision maker for the purpose of segment

information is the Executive Cornmittee

Gross rental income 1s derived from the rental of buildings Operating result is the net of net rentat income, fee income and admintstrative
expenses No customer exceeded 10% of the Group ¢ revenues in either year
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21 Segment information continued
Segment result

Difices Relan Canads Water Ntherfurallocawed Toral
2018 217 2018 2017 2018 217 2018 017 2018 2017
£m Em £m [ ad £m £m £m £m im £
Gross rental income
British Land Group 139 139 273 276 8 g 4 3 424 427
Share of joint ventures and funds 102 116 87 100 - - - - 18% 216
Total 24 255 360 37 8 g 4 3 813 643
Net rental income
British Land Group 131 131 254 262 7 8 4 2 3%6 403
Share of joint ventures and funds 98 112 82 95 = - - - 180 207
Total 229 243 336 357 7 8 4 2 576 610
Operating result
British Land Group 126 127 248 252 4 5 (42) 147 336 337
Share of joint ventures and funds 95 109 79 96 - - 12) ] 172 204
Total 221 236 327 348 A 5 [44) |48] 508 541
2018 2017

Reconciliation to Underlying Profit £m £m
Operating result 508 541
Net financing costs (128) 151)
Underlying Profit 380 3%0
Recenciliation te profit on erdinary activities before taxation
Underlying Prohit 380 390
Capital and other 107 1209)
Underlying Profit attributable to non-controlling interests 14 14
Profit on ordinary activities before taxation 501 195
Reconciliation to Group revenue
Gross rentat inceme per operating segrment resutt 613 643
Less share of gross rental income of joint ventures and funds &9 [216)
Plus share of gross rental income attributable ta non-controtling interests 17 15
Gross rentat income [note 3) (1Al 442
Trading property sales proceeds 78 33
Service charge income 46 62
Management and performance fees lfrom joint ventures and funds) [ 9
Other fees and commissions 48 43
Revenue [Consolidated Income Statement} 43¢ 589

A reconciliation between net financing costs in the consolidated income staterent and net financing costs of £128m [2016/17 £151mlin the
segmental disclosures above can be found within Table A in the supplementary disclosures Of the total revenues above, £nit [2016/17 £nil)

was derived fram outside the UK

Segment assets

Offices Retail Canada Water Otterfunallocated Tatal
2018 217 2018 2017 2018 MW7 2018 2007 2018 01/
£m £m £m frm £m ern £m frn £m tm
Property assets
British Land Group 4,371 4,069 4,915 L7146 283 27 13 154 9,682 9,210
Share of joint ventures and funds 2,334 2,776 1,681 1,938 - - 19 16 4,034 4,730
Total 6,705 6,845 6,596 6,654 283 271 132 170 13,716 13,940
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21 Segment information continued
Reconciliation to net assets

2018 a7
British Land Group £m £
Property assets 13,716 13,940
Other non-current assats 185 156
Non-current assets 13,901 14,096
Other net current Liabilities {3681 [364)
Adjusted net debt (3,973} (4,223)
Other non-current liabilities - 0
EPRA net assets [diluted) 9,560 9498
Non-controliing interests 254 255
EPRA adjustments {308) 277]
Net assets 9,506 2476
22 Capital commitments
The aggregate capital commitments to purchase, construct or develop investment property, for repairs, matntenance or enhancements,
or for the purchase of investments which are contracted for but not provided, are set out below

2018 2017

£m frm

British Land and subsidiaries 239 84
Share of joint ventures 193 19
Share of funds - 2

432 107

23 Related party transactions

Details of transactions with joint ventures and funds are given innotes 3, 6 and 11 During the year the Group recogrised joint venture
management fees of £6m (2016/17 £9m) Details of Directors remuneration are given in the Remuneration Report on pages 76 to 91
Detalls of transactions with key management personnel are provided in note & Details of transactions with The British Land Group of

Companies Pension Scheme, and other smaller pension schemes, are given innote 9

24 Contingent liabilities
Group, joint ventures and funds

The Group, joint ventures and funds have contingent liabitities in respect of iegal claims, guarantees and warranties arising in the ordinary
course of business Itis not anticipated that any material tiabilities will arise from contingent liabilities
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25 Subsidiaries with material non-controlling interests

Set out below s summarised financial information for each subsidiary that has non-controlling interests that are material to the Group
-The information below 15 the amount before Intercompany eltminations, and represents the consolidated results of the Hercules Unit
Trust group

Sumsnarised income statement for the year ended 31 March

Herzules Unt Teost
2018 207
£m £
Profit oh ordinary activities after taxation 53 10
Attributable to acn-controlling interests 14 3
Attributable to the shareholders of the Company a9 7

Sumimarised balance sheet as at 31 March
Hercules Urit Trust

2018 017

£m {m

Total assets 1,548 1,509
Total Liabilities (565) 1531
Net assets 983 978
Non-contrelling interests (254) [255])
Equity attributable to sharehelders of the Company 729 723

Summarised cash flows
Hercules Limit Trust

2018 2017

£m fm

Netincrease in cash and cash equivalents 3 10
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April 40 30
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 March 43 40

The Hercules Unit Trust is a closed-ended property Unit Trust The unit price at 31 March 2018 1s £684 {2016/17 £684) Non-controlling
interests collectively own 23 0% of units in1ssue The British Land Company PLC owns 77 0% of units in issue, each of which confer eguat
voting rights, and therefore is deemed to exercise control over the trust

26 Subsequent events
There have been no significant events since year end
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27 Audit exemptions taken for subsidiaries
The following subsidiaries are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of individual accounts by virtue
% of Section 479A of that Act

Cornpanies Bous: Cornpanies House
Narme regnuinber  Namc req number
20 Brock Street Limited 07401697  BL Holdings 2010 Ltd D7353%66
39 Victoria Street Limited 07037133 Boldswitch Lirmnited 023070%6
* Adamant Investment Corporation Limited 00225149  British Land in Town Retail Limited 03325066
Apartpower Limited 0283205%  British Land Property Advisers Limited 02793828
Bayeast Property Co Limited 00635800  Cavendish Geared Limited 02779043
Bl Broadgate Fragment 1 Limited 09400407 Exchange House Holdings Limited 02037407
BL Broadgate Fragment 2 Limited 09400541  Hempel Heldings Limited 05341380
BL Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited 02400411 Hilden Properties Limited NID62887
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited 0940040%  Hyfleet Linuted 02835%1%
BL Broadgate Fragment 5 Limited 09400413 Ivoryhill Limited 02307407
BL Broadgate Fragment é Limited 094006414  Lancaster General Partner Limited 05452195
81 Chfton Moor Limited 07508019  Longford Street Residential Limited 08700158
BL CW Developments Limited 10664198  Moorage [Property Developments] Limited 01185513
BL CW Developments Plot Al Ltd 10782150 Osnaburgh Street Limited 05886735
BL CW Developments Plot AZ Ltd 10782335  Paddington Central | (GP) Lirnited 03891374
BL CW Developments Plot G1 Ltd 10782458  Parwick Investments Lirmnited 00454239
BL CW Lower GP Company Limited 10663292 Piccadilly Residentiat Limited 10525984
BL €W Lower LP Company Limited 10663474 Pillar Nugent Limited 02567031
BL CW Holdings Plot A1 Company Limited 10781493 Pillarman Limited 02712307
BL CW Holdings Plot A2 Company Limited 10781503  PillarStore No 3 Limited 03589118
BL CW Holdings Plot G1 Company Limited 10781471 Shoppig Centres Limited 02230056
BL Cwmbran Limitad 0778025%  Surrey Quays Limited 05294243
BL Eden Walk Limited 10620935  TBL (Bursledon) Limited 03854557
BL HC Property Holdings Limited 06894046  TBL [Lisnageivin] Limited 03853983
BL Health Clubs PH No 1 Limited 05643248 TBL [Maidstone] Limited 03854415
BL Health Clubs PH Mo 2 Limited 05643261 TBL Holdings Linmited 03837311
BL Lancaster Investments Ltd 10563072  Teesside Leisure Park Lirmited 02672136
BL Osnaburgh St Residential Ltd 06874523  United Kingdom Property Company Lrmited 00266486
BL Residential No 1 Lirmited 05291937  Vintners Place Limited 02149495
BL Residential No 2 Limited 05291956  Wates City of London Properties Limnited 01788526
BLO [Ebury Bate) Lirmited 03863852  Wates City Point Limuited 02973114
BLD Properties Limited 00732787

The following partnerships are exernpt from the reguirements to prepare, publish and have audited individual accounts by virtue of regulation
7 of The Partnerships [Accounts] Regulations 2008 The results of these partnerships are consotidated within these Broup accounts

Namo Narre

BL Shoreditch Limited Partnership Paddington Block A LP

BL Chess No 1 Limited Partnership Paddington Block B LP

BL CW Lower Limited Partnership Paddington Centrat | LP

BL CW Upper Limited Partnership Faddington Central Il LP

BL Lancaster Limited Partnersiup Paddington Kiosk Lp

Hereford Shopping Centre Limited Partnership Power Court Luton Lirnited Partnership
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COMPANY BALAMNCE SHEET
PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH FRS 101 AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

2018
RIS £m n
Fixed assets
investments and loans to subsidraries D 28,148 27518
Investments n joint ventures D 376 431
Gther investments D 34 35
Interest rate dervative assets o 118 217
Deferred tax assets 10 -
___28,683 28201
Current assets
Debtors G [ 7
Cash and shert term deposits E 32 49
38 56
Current liabilities
Short term borrowings and overdrafls E (271 1631
Creditors H (88} [105]
Amounts due to subsidiaries {20,645} 19,4101
{20,740) 119,578l
Net current liabitities [20,722) 119,522
Tota! assets less current liabilities PALYl B.679
Nan-current liabitities
Cebentures and loans E {2,250) (1.978!
Interest rate derivative liabitities £ (133) {134]
Amounts due to substdiaries - {331}
Deterred tax and other non-current labilities - 13]
{2,383) 12,4486)
Net assets 5578 6,233
Equity
Called up share capital | 248 260
Share premium 1,300 1,298
Other reserves 7 (134]
Merger reserve 213 213
Relamned earnings 3,810 4,596
Total equity 5,578 6,233

The loss after taxation for the year ending 31 March 2018 for the Company was £192m lyear ending 31 March 2017 €121m proht)

Churis jjrigg

John Gildersleeve
Chairman Chief Executsve Officer

Approved by the Board on 14 May 2018

Company nurnber 621420
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Frofir and

Share loss Totat

premum account equity

£m fm £m

Balance at 1 April 2017 1,298 4,596 6,233
Share 1ssues 2 - 2
Purchase of own shares - (289) {301)
Dividend paid - {302) (302)
Net actuarial gain on pension schemes - 9 9
Loss for the year after taxation - {192 (192]
Transferred to the income statement [cash flow hedges) - - 129
Balance at 31 March 2018 1,300 3,822 5,578
Balance at 1 April 2016 1,295 4,789 6,637
Share 1ssues 3 - 3
Dividend paid - 1294 (294)
Fair value of share and share option awards - 2 2
Purchase of own shares - 18l 8
Net actuarial loss on pension schemes - 12l (12)
Profit for the year after taxation - 12% 121
Dervative valuation movement - - (14)
Balance at 31 March 2017 1.298 4,596 6,233

The value of distributable reserves within the profit and loss account 1s £2,074m [2016/17 £2,211m]
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(A) Accounting policies

The financial staterments for the year ended 31 March 2018 have
been prepared on the historicat cost basis, except for the revaluation
ot derivatives These financial statements have also been prepared
in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework | FRS 101} The amendments to FRS 101
[2015/16 Cycle) issued in July 2016 and effective immediately have
been applied

In preparing these financial statements, the Company applies the
recognition, measurement and disclosure requirements of
Infernational Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU
[Adopted IFRSs’), but makes amendments where necessary in order
to comply with the Companies Act 2006 and has set out belew where
advantage of the FRS 101 disclosure exernptions has been taken

The Company has taken advantage of the following disclosure
exemptions under FR5 101

la) the reguirements of IAS 1 to prowide a balance sheet at the
beginning of the period in the event of a prior period adjustment,

[b) the requirements of IAS 1 to provide a statement of cash tlows
for the period,

[c] the requirements of IAS 1 to provide a statement of compliance
with IFRS,

{d) the reguirements of IAS 1 to disclose information on the
management of capital,

{e] the requirements of paragraphs 30 and 31 of IAS 8 Accounting

Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors to disclose

new IFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective,

lfl the requirements in 1AS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose
retated party transactions entered into between two or more
members of a group, provided that any subsidiary which 1s a
party to the transaction 1s wholly-owned by such a member,

g} the requirements of paragraph 17 of IAS 24 Related Party
Disclosures to disclose key management personnel
compensation,

[h) the requirements of IFRS 7 te disclose financial instruments, and

) the requirements of paragraphs 21-99 of tFRS 13 Fair Value
Measurerment to disclose information of fair value valuation
technigues and inputs

Geing concern
The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis
as explained in the corporate governance section cn page 51

150 British Land | Annual Repert and Accounts 2618

- Investments and loans

Investments and loans in subsidiaries and joint ventures are stated

¢+ at cost less provision for imparirment

Significant judgements and sources of estimation uncertainty

The key source of estimafion uncertainty relates to the Company's
investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures In estimating the
requirement for impairment of these investments, management
make assumptions and Judgements on the value of these
investments using inherently subjective underlying asset valuations,
supported by independent valuers

(B) Dividends
Details of dividends paid and propased are incluged in note 19 of the
consoclidated financial statements

(C) Emplovee information

Employee costs include wages and salaries of £39m [2016/17 £37m),
social security costs of £5m (2016/17 £5mi and pension costs of £5m
{2016/17 £5m) Details of the Executive Directors remuneration are
disclosed inthe Remuneration Report

Audit fees in relation to the parent Company cnly were £0 3m
{2016/17 £0 2m)




(D) Investments in subsidiaries and joint ventures, loans to subsidiarics and other investments

Inves merts

Sharesin [ oansto inamt Other
subsidianios  sucsidiaries vertures invesimeants Total
£ fin fin im £m
On 1 April 2017 19706 7812 431 35 27984
Addibons - 1,852 32 5 1,889
Disposals - (1,071 187) (2 (1,160}
Depreciation/amortisation - - - (4] (&)
Provision for impairment i3] 148l - - (151}
As at 31 March 2018 19,703 8,445 374 34 28,558
The historical cost of shares in subsidiaries s £20,025m [2016/17. £20,025m) Investments in joint ventures of £376m [2016/17 £431ml
includes £183m [2016/17 £245m) of loans to joint ventures by the Company Results of the joint ventures are set out In note 11 of the
censolidated financial statements The historical cost of other investments 1s £50m {2016/17 £48m)
(E) Net debt
2018 N7
£&m [
Secured on the assets of the Company
5 264% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2035 369 377
5 D055% First Mortgage Amortising Dekentures 2035 95 29
5 357% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2028 255 348
719 824
Unsecured
5 50% Senior Notes 2027 100 102
3 895% Semor US Dollar Notes 2018’ 27 32
4 635% Semor US Dollar Notes 20271 156 181
4 766% Sentor US Dollar Notes 2023! 97 13
5 003% Senor US Dollar Notes 2026’ 63 73
3 B1% Senior Notes 2026 110 114
3 97% Senior Notes 2026 12 117
Fair value of options te 1ssue under 1 5% convertible bend 2017 - 5
Fair value of options to 1ssue under 0% convertible bond 2020 - 3
2 375% First Mortgage Debenture Bonds 2029 298 -
Bank loans and overdrafts 595 477
1,558 1.217
Gross debt 2,277 2041
interest rate and currency dervative liabilihies 133 134
tnterest rate and currency derivative assets (15) (217}
Cash and short term deposits (32) (49)
Net debt 2,263 1,909

Prinwpal and interest on these bar rawings were ‘ully hedged inte Sterting at a floating raie ar ine time of ssue

1.5% Convertible bond 2012 [maturity 2017)

Or 10 September 2012, British Land [Jersey) Limited [the 2012 Issuer], a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 1ssued £400 million 1 5%

guaranteed convertible bonds due 2017 [the 2012 bonds) at par On 10 September 2017, the convertible bonds were redeemed at par
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(E) Net debt continued

0% Convertible bond 2015 (maturity 2020)

Dn 9 June 2015, British Land [Whate) 2015 Lirnited [the 2015 Issuer), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, 1ssued £350 million zero
coupon guaranteed convertible bonds due 2020 {the 2015 bonds] at par The 2015 Issuer 15 fully guaranteed by the Company in respect
of the 2015 bonds

Subject to their terms, the 2015 bonds are convertible into preference shares of the 2015 Issuer which are automatically transferred to
the Company in exchange for ordinary shares in the Company or, at the Company s election, any combination of ordinary shares and cash
From 20 July 2015 up to and including 29 June 2018, a bondhotder may exercise its conversion nght if the share price has traded at a level
exceeding 130% of the exchange price for a specified period Thereafter, and up to but excluding the 7th dealing day before 9 June 2020
[the matunity datel, 2 bondholder may convert at any time

The initiat exchange price was 1103 32 pence per ordinary share The exchange price s adjusted based on certain events (such as the
Company paying dividends In any quarter above 3.418 pence per ordinary share] As at 31 March 2018 the exchange price was 1036 5Z pence
per ordinary share

From 20 June 2018, the Company has the option to redeem the 2015 bonds at par If the Company's share price has traded above 130% of

the exchange price for a specified period, or at any time once 85% by nominal value of the 2015 honds have been converted, redeemed, or
purchased and cancetled The 2015 bonds will be redeemed at par on 9 June 2020 (the maturity date):f they have not already been converted,
redeemed or purchased and cancelled

The intercompany loan between the Issuer and the Company arising from the transfer of the loan proceeds was inhally recognised at fair
value, net of capitalised issue costs, and 1s accounted for using the amortised cost method In addition to the intercompany loan, the Cempany
has entered into a derwative contract relating to its guarantee of the obligations of the issuer in respect of the bonds and the commitment to
provide shares or a combination of shares and cash on conversion of the bonds This derivative contract is included within the batance sheet
as a liability carried at fair value through profit and loss

Maturity analysis of net debt

2018 2017

£m fm

Repayable within one year and on demand 27 63
between one and two years - 33
two and five years 506 442

five and ten years 804 782

ten and fifteen years 205 332

fifteer and twenty years 635 389

' 2,250 1,978

Gross debt 2,277 2,041
Interest rate derivatives 18 [83)
Cash and short term deposits (32) [49)
Net debt 2,263 1,909

(F} Pension
The British Land Group of Companies Pension Scheme and the Defined Contribution Pension Scheme are the principal pension schemes
of the Company and details are set out in note 9 of the consolidated financial staterents
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(G) Debtors

2018 2017
£m tm
Trade and other debtors [ 3
Prepayments and accrued income - 4
[ 7

(H) Creditors
2018 2017
£€m L
Trade creditors 12 12
Corporation tax 21 29
Other taxation and social security 21 32
Accruals and deferred income 34 32
B8 105

(I) Share capital

Ordinary shares

L of 23peach

Issued, called and fully paid
At 1 April 2017 260 1,041,035,658
Share 1ssues - 429206
Repurchased and cancelled [12) [47.607139]
At 31 March 2018 248 993,857,125
Crdinary shares
£rn of 25p each

issued, called and fully paid
At 1 April 2016 260 1,040,562.323
Share 1ssues - 472735
At 31 March 2017 260 1,041,035,058

(J) Contingent labilities. capital commitments and related party (ransactions
The Company has contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims, guarantees and warranties arising i the ordinary course of business
It 15 not anticipated that any material Latitsties will arise from the contingent babitities

At 31 March 2018, the Company has £nil of capital commitments [2016/17 €1m)

Retated party transactions are the same for the Company as for the Group For details refer to note 23 of the consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

(K) Related undertakings

Disclosures relating to subsidiary undertakings

The Cormpany’s subsidiaries and other related undertakings at

31 March 2018 are bsted betow Companies which have bzen
dissclved since 31 March 2018 are marked with an asterisk [¥)

All Group entities are included in the consclidated financial results

Unless otherwise stated, the Company holds 100% of the voting
rights and beneficial interests in the shares of the following
subsidiaries, partnerships, associates and joint ventures Unless
otherwise stated, the subsidiaries and related undertakings are

regrstered in the United Kingdom

The share capitat of each of the companies, where applicable,

comprises ordinary shares unless otherwise stated

The Company holds the majority of its assets in UK companies,
althaugh seme are held in overseas companies [nrecent years
we have reduced the number of overseas companies (n the Group

Unless noted otherwise as per the following key, the reqistered
address of each company 1s York House, 45 Seymour Street,

London W1H 7LX

85t George s Street, Douglas IMT 1AH, Isle of Man

- 47 Fsplanade, St Helier, Jersey IF1 080

" Barratt House, Cartwright Way, Forest Business Park, 8ardon Hitl, Cralwille,

Lewestershure LEAT TUF
- 13-14 Esplanade, St Heber, Jercey JE11FE
© 44 Esplanade, St Helier, lersey JE4 WG

© 14 Portede France, 4360 Loch-sur-Alzetts, | uxembourg

T 138 Unwversity Streel, Be fast, BT7 1H

- The Corparation Teust Company, 1209 Grange Street, Wilmengtaon,

DE 19801, LISA

Direct holdings

UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status
Linestair Limited UK Tax Resident
London and Henley Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident

Meadowhall Pensions Scheme
Trustee Limited

UK Tax Resident

MSC Property Intermediate Holdings
Lirnited [50% interest)

UK Tax Resident

Plantatton House Limited

UK Tax Restdent

Priory Park Merton Limied

UK Tax Resident

Regis Property Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

The British Land Corporation Limited

UK Tax Resident

Vitalcreate

UK Tax Resident

Indirect holdings

Company Name

UK /Overseas Tax
Resident Status

1 & 4 & 7 Triton Limiteg

UK Tax Resident

10 Brock Street Limited

UK Fax Resident

10 Portman Square Umit Trust [Jersey]
junits)?

Overseas Tax Resident

16 Triton Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

17-12 Bedtord Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

18-20 Craven Hill Gardens Limited

UK Tax Resident

20 Brock Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

20 Triton Street Limited

UK Tax Resident

338 Euston Road Limited

UK Tax Resident

350 Euston Road Limited

UK Tax Resident

39 Victoria Street Limited UK Tax Resident
8-10 Throgmorton Avenue Limited UK Tax Resident
Adamant Investment Corporation Limited UK Tax Resident

Adshilta Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

UK/Overseas Tax | ~ldgate Place [GP] Limited [50% interest)”
Company Name Resident Status Aparipower Lirruted UK Tax Resident
BL Biuebutton 2014 Limited UK Tax Resident | Ashband Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Davidson Limited UK Tax Resident | B L Unit Trust {Jersey] [Units) Overseas Tax Resident

BL ESOP Limited lisle of Man)
fin liguidation)*

QOverseas Tax Resident

BL Furopean fund Management LLP

UK Tax Resident

BL Exemnpt Insurance Services Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Guaranteeco Limited UK Tax Resident
Bi Intermediate Holding Company Limited UK Tax Resident
BLSSP (Fundingj Limited UK Tax Resident
Bluebutton Property Management UK UK Tax Resident

Limited (50% nterest)

Boldswitch [No 1) Limited

UK Tax Resident

B L Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

B L CT [12697] Limited [Jerseyl

UK Tax Resident

B L C.T. [21500] Liruted [Jersey)?

UK Tax Resident

B U 11193] Limited [Jersey)’

UK Tax Resident

Balsenia Limited*

UK Tax Resident

Barnclass Limited

UK Tax Resident

Barndrili Limited

UK Tax Resident

Bayeast Property Co Limited

UK Tax Resident

Bexile Limited

UK Tax Resident

N 3]

Boldewitch Linvied UK Tax Reoident BF Propco [No §) Limited K Tax Resident
BF Propeo [No 13) Limited UK Jax Resident

British Land (Jersey] Limited [Jersay) UK Tax Resident

[Founder Shares) BF Propco {No 19) Limited UK Tax Resident

British Land IWhitel 2015 Limited [Jersey) UK Tax Resident | BF Propco [No 3} Limited UK Tox Resident

[Faunder Shares): BF Propco [No 4) Limited UK Tax Resident

British Land City UK Tax Resident | BF Propco [No 5] Limited UK Tax Resident

British Land City 2005 Lirmited UK Tax Resident | BF Preperties [No 4) Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Company Secretarial Limited UK Tax Resident | BF Properties {No 5] Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Financing Limited UK Tax Resident | Birstali Co-Ownership Trust UK Tax Resident
Briish Land Properties Lirnited UK Tax Resident | (Member interest] [4] 25% nterest|

British Land Real Estate Limited UK Tax Resident | BL IMaidenhead] Company Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Securities Lirmited UK Tax Resident | BL ISP Cannon Street Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Secunitisation 1999 UK Tax Resident | BLISP] Investment [1] Lumited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate {Funding) PLC UK Tax Resident | BL {SPI Investment (2) Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Estates Insurance Mediation UK Tax Resident | BL [SP) Investment (3] Limited UK Tax Resident
Services Limited BL (SP) Investment [4] Lirnited UK Tax Resident
Hyfleet Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Bradford Forster Limited UK Tax Resident
Kingsmere Productions Limsted UK Tax Resident | BL Brislington Limited UK Tax Resident
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UK/Qverseas Tax UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status Company Name Resident Status
Bl Broadgate Fragment 1 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL HC Health And Fitness Holdings Lirnited UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 7 Limited UK Tax Ressdent | BL HC Invic Leisure Limited UK Tax Resident
EL Broadgate Fragment 3 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL HC PH CRG LLP iMember interest) UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 4 Limited UK Tax Resident ! BL HC PH LLP {Member interest) UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment 5 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL HC PH No 1 LLP [Member interest] UK Tax Resident
BL Broadgate Fragment é Limited UK Tax Resident | BL HC PH No 2 LLP [Member interest] UK Tax Resident

BL Broadway {nvestment Limited

UK Tax Resident

BL HC PH No 3 LLP {Member inferest)

UK Tax Resident

BL Chess Limiteg

UK Tax Resident

BL HC Property Holdings Limited

UK Tax Resident

Bl Chess No 1 Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident | BL Health Clubs PH No 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
[Partnership interest) BL Health Clubs PH No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Gity Offices, Hotding Company Limited UK Tax Resident | B High Street and Shopping Centres UK Tax Restdent
BL Clifton Mocr Lirited UK Tax Resident | Holding Company Lirnited

BL CW Developments Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Holdings 2010 Limited [50% interest) UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot Al Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Lancaster [nvestments Limned UK Tax Resigent
BL CW Developments Plot AZ Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Lancaster Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot D1/2 UK Tax Resident | [Partnership interest)

Company Limited BL Leadenhall [Jersey] Ltd [Jersey} Qverseas Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Piot G1 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Leadenhall Holding Co [Jersey] Lid Overseas Tax Resident
BL CW Developments Plot Kt UK Tax Resident | 1Jerseyl”

Company Limited BL Leisure and Industrial Holding UK Tax Resident
BL CW Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident | Sompany Lirmited

BL CW Heldings Plot Al Company Limited UK Tax Reardent | BL Marble Arch House Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Holdings Plot A2 Company Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Maytair Offices Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Heldings Plot [11/2 Company Limsted UK Tax Resident BL Meadowhall Holdings Lirmted UK Tax Resident
BL CW Holdings Plot G1 Company Lirmited UK Tax Reaident BL Meadowhall Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Holdings Plot K1 Company Limited UK Tax Resident BL Meadowhall No 4 Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Lower GP Campany Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Newport Limited UK Tax Resident
BL CW Lewer Limited Partrership UK Tax Resident | BL Office [Non-City) Holding UK Tax Resident
[Partnership iterest) Company Limited

BL CW Lower LP Company Lirited UK Tax Reardent | BL Office Holding Company Linited UK Tax Restdent
BL CW Upper GP Company Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Osnaburgh St Residential Lid UK Tax Resident
BL CW Upper Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident | BL Piccadiily Residential Limited UK Tax Resident
{Partnership interest) BL Prccadriily Residential Management UK Tax Resident
BL CW Upper LP Company Limited UK Tax Residertt | Lo Limted

BL Cwmbran Limeted UK Tax Resident | BL Piccadilly Residential Retasl Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Debs Limited (Jerseyl* Overseas Tax Resdent | BL Fesidential No 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Department Stores Holding UK Tax Reodent | BLResidential No 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Company Limited BL Residual Holding Company Limited UK Tex Resident
BL Doncaster Wheatley Limited UK Tax Recident | BL Retail Holding Company Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Ealing Limtted UK Tax Resident | BL Retatl Investments Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Eden Walk 2012 Limited Jersey)? Overseas Tax Resident | BL RetallWarehousing Holding UK Tax Resident
BL Eden Walk Limited UK Tax Resident | company Limited

BL European Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident %%ia};r}'ltzl:r)ggﬁuperstores Limited UK Tax Resident
ﬁ::ﬂ;ggs%!;llmtl:;ggﬂumtted Partnership UK Tax Resident | g"eporeditch General Partner Limited UK Tax Resident
Blgrf;lg;czi Uplift Fund Nominee No 1 Lirnited Overseas Tax Resident ﬁ;éi?]c;iﬂg?nit‘ég;%d Partnership UK Tax Resident
BL Fixed Upuft Fund Nominee No 2 Limited Overcens Tax Resident BL Shoreditch No 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
[Jerseyl I BL Shoreditch No 2 Limited LK Tax Resident
BL Fixed Uplift General Partner Limited UK Tax Resident : BL Superstores Holding Company Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Fixed Uplift Norninee 1 Limited UK Tax Resident BL Triton Building Restdential Limited UK Tax Resident
BL Fixed Uplft Nominee 2 Limited UK Tax Resident ‘ BL Tunbridge Wells Lirnited UK Tax Resident

BL Goodman IGeneral Partner) Limited
{50% interest)

UK Tax Resident |

BL Unitholder No 1 {J] Limsted (Jersey)?

Overseas Tax Resident

BL Unitholder No 2 |J] Lirnited iJerseyl?

Overseas Tax Resident

Bl Goodman {LP] Limited UK Tax Resident | Bt Universal Limited LK Tax Resident
BL GP Chess No 1 Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Wardrobe Court Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
BL HB Investments Limited UK Tax Resident t BL West [Watling Housel Limited UK Tax Resident
BL HC IDSCH) Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Whiteley Limited UK Tax Resident
BL HC [DSCLY Lirnited UK Tax Resident | BL Woolwich Limited UK Tax Resident
Bt HC Dollview Limited UK Tax Resident | BL Woolwich Norminee 1 Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Bl HC Hampshire PH LLLP [Member interest) UK Tax Resident . BL Woolwich Nominee 2 Lirnited UK Tax Resident
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cial statements

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

British Land Laisure Limited

Drake Property Nominee [No 1] Lirmited

UK Tax Resident

UK /Overseas Tax / UK/Overseas Tax
Company Name Resident Status J Company Name Resident Status
Blackglen Lirmited UK Tax Resident | Casegood Enterprises UK Tax Resident
Blackwall (1] UK Tax Resident J Caseplane L'imited UK Tax Resident
Blaxmill (Twenty-nine] Limited UK Tax Resident ; Cavendish Geared Il Lirnsted UK Tax Resident
Blaxmill [Thirty) Limited UK Tax Resident | Cavendish Geared Limited UK Tax Resident
BLD [A] Limtted UK Tax Resident | Caymall Limted UK Tax Resident
BLD [Ebury Gate} Limied UK Tax Resident | Chantway Limited UK Tax Resident
BLD (SJ) investments Limited UK Tax Resident ‘ Cheshine Properties Limited UK Tax Resident
BLD (SJ} Limited UK Tax Resident | Christlu Nomitnees Limited UK Tax Resident
BLD Land Limited UK Tax Resident ‘ !Cny of,ll_é);\g[‘o%mflce Ur}llt Trust {Jersey} Overseas Tax Resident
BLD Propertes Limited UK Tax Resident ¢ (Units interest)
BLD Property Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident g;ai?;?teE;taie Property Management UK Tax Resident
BLU Estates Limited UK Tax Resident
Corngenic Limted UK Tax Resident
BLU Property Managernent Limited UK Tax Resident
" Cormish Residential Properties UK Tax Resident
Bi U Securities Lymited UK Tax Resident J Tradsng Limited
British Land [Jomnt Ventures) Limited UK Tax Resident | Cornmish Residential Property UK Tax Resident
British Land Acgquisitions Limited UK Tax Resident J Investments Limited
British Land Agua Partnership (2] Limited UK Tax Resident | Crescent West Properties UK Tax Resident
Brittsh Land Aqua Partnership Limited UK Tax Resident ‘ Deepdale Co-Dwnership Trust UK Tax Resident
British Land City Offices Limited UK Tax Resident | 137 66% interest]
British Land Construction Lirnited UK Tax Resident | Derby Investrnent Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Department Stores Limited UK Tax Resident | Dinwell Limited UK Tax Rasident
British Land Developments Limited UK Jax Resident | Drake Circus Centre Limnited UK Yax Resident
British Land Fund Management Limited UK Tax Resident | Drake Circus GP. L L C (in bgquidation) Overseas Tax Resident
[timited States)®
British Land Hercules Limited UK Tax Resident |
Drake Circus Leisure Lirited UK Tax Resident
British Land In Town Retail Lumited UK Tax Resident
- Drake Circus Limited Partnership Dverseas Tax Resident
British Land industrial Limited UK Tax Resident (in biguidation] [Partnership wnterest]
British Land Investment UK Tax Rasident | {itnited States)?
rake Property Holdings Limite: ax Resident
Management Limited Drake Property Holdings Limited UK Tax Resid
British Land Investments N V [Netherlands) UK Tax Resident ‘

UK Tax Resident | Drake Property Nominee [No 2] Limited UK Tax Resident

BriishLand Offices [Non-Cityl Limited UK TaxResident | Eyen walk Shopping Centre General UK Tax Residant
British Land Offices (Non-City) UK Tax Resident | Partner Limited [50% interest)
No 2 Limited , Eden Walk Shopping Centre Unit Trust® Dverseas Tax Resident
British Land Otffices Lumited UK Tax Resident | [50% interest] [Jersey} (Unuts]
Briish Land Offices No 1 Lirmited UK Tax Resident | Elementwirtue Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Property Adwisers Limited UK Tax Resident | Eik Milt Oldham Limnited UK Tax Resident
British Land Property Management Limited UK Tax Resident | Fuston Tower Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Regeneration Limited UK Tax Resident | Exchange House Holdings Limited UK Tax Regident
British Land Retail Warehouses Lirmited UK Tax Resident | Finsbury Avenue Estates Limited* UK Tax Resident
lin iguidatien) l Four Broadgate Limited UK Tax Resident
British Land Superstores [Non Securitised) UK Tax Resident , Frp Group Limited UK Tax Resident
MNumber 2 Limited I Garamead Properhes Limsted UK Tax Resident
Broadgate {PHC 8] Limited UK Tax Resident E

Gardenray Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Adjoining Properties Limited UK Tax Resident

Gibrattar General Partner Limited UK Tax Resudent
Broadgate Business Centre Lirited UK Tax Resident | 38 48% interest)
Broadgate City Lymited UK Tax Resident | Gy rattar Nominees Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Court invastments Limited UK Tax Resident | (38 48% nterest}
Broadgate Estates Limited UK Tax Resident | Giltbrook Retarl Park Nottingham Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Estates People Management UK Tax Resident | Glenway Limited UK Tax Resident
Lirmited Hempel Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Exchange Square UK Tax Resident Hempel Hotels Limited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate investment Holdings Limited Hercules Property UK Holdings Lirnited UK Tax Resident
Broadgate Properties Limited UK Tax Resident | percules Proparty UK Limited UK Tax Residant
Broadgate REIT Limited 150% miterest)’ UK Tax Resident | Hercules Ut Trust (76.96% interest) Overseas Tax Resident
Broadgate Sguare Limited UK Tax Resident | {Jerseyl {Uruts)

Broughton Retail Park Lirmnited [Jerseyl
Units) {76.96% interest)

Overseas Tax Resident

Broughton Unit Trust (76.96% interest)?

Overseas Tax Resident

Heretord Old Market Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

Hereford Shopping Centre GP Limited

UK Tax Resident

Hereford Shopping Centre Limited

UK Tax Resident

UK Tax Resident

Brunswick Park Lirmited UK Tax Resident | Partnership
BVP Developments Limited UK Tax Resident | Hilden Properties Limited” UK Tax Resident
Canada Water Offices Limmited UK Tax Resident | Horndrift Limrted UK Tax Resident
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Company Name

UK/Qverseas Tax
Resident Status

Company Name

UK/Overseas Tax
Resident Status

HUT invesiments Limited {Jersey)
176 96% (nteresti-

Overseas Tax Resident

Pagdington Central | Unit Trust [Jerseyl
{Units)

Overseas Tax Resident

HUT Retail Investments GP Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central Il [GP) Limited

UK Tax Resident

HUT Retail investments Limited
Partnershup (Partnership interest}

UK Tax Resident

HUT Retail investments Nominee Lirited

UK Tax Resident

Industrial Real Estate Limited

UK Tax Resident

Insistmetal 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Ivorydell Limited

UK Tax Resident

Ivorydell Subsidiary Limited

UK Tax Resident

Ivoryhill Limited

UK Tax Resident

Jetbloom Limited UK Tax Resident
L & H Developments Limited UK Tax Resident
Lancaster General Partner Limited UK Tax Resident
Liverpool One Management Company UK Tax Resident
Limited [50% interest)

Liverpool One Management UK Tax Resident
Services Limited

London and Henley [UK] Limited UK Tax Resident
London and Henley Limited UK Tax Resident |
Lonebridge UK Limited UK Jax Resident
Longford Street Resident:al Limited UK Tax Resident
Ludgate Investment Holdings Lirnited UK Tax Res:dent
Ludgate West Limited UK Tax Resident
Manbrig Properties UK Tax Resident

Marble Arch House Uit Trust (Jersey]
{Unuts)

Dverseas Tax Resident

Mayfair Properties

UK Tax Resident

Mayflower Retail Park Basildon Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Centrat || LP [Partnership

| interest)

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central Il Unit Trust [Jersey}
(Urnts)-

Overseas Tax Resident

Paddington Central IV Unit Trust |Jersey)
{Units)-

Overseas Tax Resident

Paddington Kiosk [GP) Ltd

UK Tax Resident

Paddingten Kiosk LP {Partnership interest) UK Tax Resident
PaddingtenCentral Management Company UK Tax Resident
Limited [87 5% interest)

Pardev (Luton] Lirited UK Tax Resident
Parwick Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
Parwick Investments Limited UK Tax Resident
PC Baltic Wharf Limited UK Tax Resident
PC Canal Limited UK Tax Resident
PC Lease Nominee L td UK Tax Resident
PC Partnership Nominee Ltd UK Tax Resident
Piccadilly Residential Limited UK Tax Resident
Pillar [Beckton} Limited UK Tax Resident
Pular [Cricklewood] Limited UK Tax Resident
Pitlar [Dartford) Lirited UK Tax Resident

Pillar [Fulham] Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pidlar Auchinlea Limited

UK Tax Resident

Pillar Broadway Limited

UK Tax Resident

Piltar City Plc

UK Tax Resident

Pillar Dartford No T Limited

UK Tax Resident

Meadowbanrk Retait Park Edinburgh Limited UK Tax Resident Pillar Denton Lirnited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhail Centre [1999] Limited UK Tax Resident | Pular Developments Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Centre Lirmited UK Tax Resident | Piar Estates Limited UK Tax Resident
Mzadowhall Centre Pension Scheme UK Tax Resident | Pilar Estates No 2 Limted UK Tax Resident
Trustees Limnited Piilar Europe Management Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhatt Estates (UK] Linited UK Tax Resident | Pillar Farnborough Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhail Group [MLP) Limited UK Tax Resident | Pillar Fort Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Holdings Ewnited UK Tax Resident © Pillar Fulham Ne 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Opportunities UK Tax Resident | Pillar Gallions Reach Limited UK Tax Resident
Nominee 1 Limited Pillar Glasgow 1 Limited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Opportunities UK Tax Resident | Pillar Glasgow 2 Limited UK Tax Resident
Norninee 2 Limited , Pillar Glasgow 3 Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Meadowhall Training Limited UK Jax Resident  pjllar Hercules No 2 Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Mercar UK Tax Resident * pillar Kinnaird Limited UK Tax Resident
Mercari Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident | pyjlar Nugent Limited UK Tax Resident
Minhill Investments Limited UK Tax Resident | pyiar £rojects Limited UK Tax Resident
Moorage [Property Devetopments) Limited UK Tax Resident | pilsar Property Group Linited UK Tax Resident
Nugent Shopping Park Lirited UK Tax Resident | pi|larCarsse Management Lisnted UK Tax Resident
One Hundred Ludgate Hill UK Tax Resident | [50% interest]

One Sheldon Square Lirnited [Jerseyl-

GOverseas Tax Resident

Pillarman Limited [50% interest)

UK Tax Resident

Orbital Shopping Park Swinden Limited

UK Tax Resident

PillarStore Limited

UK Tax Resident

Osnaburgh Street Limited UK Tax Resident | PillarStere No 3 Limited UK Tax Resident
Paddington Block A {GP] Ltd UK Tax Resident : Plymouth Retail Limited UK Tax Resident
UK Tax Resident | Power Court GP Limited UK Tax Resident

Paddington Block A LP [Partnership
interest)

Paddington Block B [GP} Ltd

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Biock B LP [Partnership
interest)

UK Tax Resident

Power Court Luton Limited Partnership
[Partnership interest]

UK Tax Resident

Power Court Nominee Lirnited

UK Tax Resident

Power Court Nominees No 2 Limited

UK Tax Resident

Paddington Central | (GP) Limited

UK Tax Resident

PREF Management Company SA

Overseas Tax Resident

Paddington Central | LP [Partnership UK Tax Resident | ILuxembourg)
interest) Preject Sunrise Investrments Linited UK Tax Resident
Paddington Central i Nominee Limited UK Tax Resident | Project Sunrise Lirnited UK Tax Resident
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

[50% interest]

UK/Overseas Tax j UK /Overseas Tax

Company Narme Resident Status | Company Name Resident Status
Project Sunrise Properties Limited UK Tax Resident | Tollgate Centre Colchester Limited UK Tax Resident
Reboline Limited UK Tax Resident ! TPP Investments Limited UK Tax Resident
Regent's Place Holding Company Limited UK Tax Resident ‘ Tweed Premier 1 Limited” UK Tax Resident
Regenis Place Management Company UK Tax Resident | Tweed Premier 2 Limned* UK Tax Resident
Limied | Tweed Premier 4 Limited UK Tax Resident
Regents Place Residential Limited UK Tax Resident J Union Property Corporation Limited UK Tax Resident
Renash* UK Tax Resident | Union Property Holdings [London] Limited UK Tax Resident
Rigphone Limited UK Tax Resident J United Kingdom Property Company Lirmited UK Tax Resident
Ritesoi” UK Tax Resident | valentine Co-ownership Trust UK Tax Resident
Rohawk Properties Limited UK Tax Resident | [Member interest] 38 48% interest)
Salmax Properties UK Tax Resident } Valenting Unit Trust Lersey) {Units) Qverseas Tax Resident
Seymour Street Homes Lirnited UK Tax Resident | (76 96% wnterest]
Shopping Centres Limited UK Tax Residenst | Yicinitee Limited UK Tax Resident
Six Broadgate Limited UK Tax Resident r Vintners' Place Limited UK Tax Resident
Southgate Generat Partner Limited UK Tax Resident } Wardrobe Court Limited UK Tax Resident

I

1

Southgate Property Unit Trust [Jerseyl
[Uruts] 150% interest)

Overseas Tax Resident !

Speke Unit Trust [67 34% interest} {Jerseyl
[Units)

Overseas Tax Resident

Wardrobe Holdings Limited UK Tax Resident
Wardrobe Place Limited UK Tax Resident
Wates Crty of London Properties Limited UK Tax Resident
Wates City Point Limited UK Tax Resident
Wates City Property Management Limited UK Tax Resident

|

|
Sprint 118 Limited UK Tox Resident l Westbourne Terrace Partnership UK Tax Resident
St James Parade [43] Limited UK Tax Resident | (Partnership interest)
St James Retail Park Northampton Lirmited UK Tax Resident | westside Leeds Limited UK Tax Resident
St Stephens Shopptng Centre Limited UK Tax Resident i Whiteley Nominee 1 Limitad UK Tax Resident
Stockton Retail Park Limuted UK Tax Resident Whiteley Nominee Z Limited UK Tax Resident
Storey Spaces Limited UK Tax Resident | whiteley Shopping Centre Umt Trust Overseas Tax Resident
Surrey Quays Limited UK Tax Resigent | [Jersey [Units]
Sydale UK Tax Resident | WK Holdings Limited UK Tax Restdent
T [Partnership) Limited UK Tax Resident | York House W1 Limited UK Tax Resident
Taltress Limited UK Tax Resident
TBL [Brent Park] Limited UK Tax Resident
TBL [Bromley} Limited UK Tax Resident
TBL. [Burstedon] Lim)ted UK Tax Resident
18l {Bury] Limnited UK Tax Resident
TBL [Ferndown] Limited UK Tax Resigent
TBL [Lishagelvin) Limnied LIK Tax Residert
TBL [Madstone] Limited UK Tax Resident ’
TBL [Milton Keynes] Limited UK Tax Resident
TBL [Peterboroughl Lirvited UK Tax Resident
TBL Holdings Ltrmited UK Tax Resident
TBL Properties Limited UK Tax Resident

Teesside Lewsure Park Limited
151% interest)

UK Tax Resident

The Aldgate Place Limited Partnership UK Tax Resident
|Partnership interest] [50% interest}

The Dartford Partnership [Member interest) UK Tax Resident
{50% interest]

The Gibraltar Limsted Partnership UK Tax Resident
[Partnership interest] [38 48% interest)

The Hercules Property Linited Partnership UK Tax Resident
[Partnership interest] [40.68% interest)

The Leadenhall Development Company UK Tax Resident
Limuted 150% interest)

The Liverpool Exchange Company Lirmnited UK Tax Resident
The Mary Street Estate Limited UK Tax Resident
The Meadowhall Education Centre [Lirited UK Tax Resident
by guarantee) {50% interest)

The Retail and Warehouse Company Limited UK Tax Recident
The TBL Property Partnership UK Tax Resident
IPartnership interest)

The Whiteley Co-Ownership UK Tax Resident

{Member interest] {50% interest)
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SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES

UNAUDITED UNLESS OTHERWISE STATED

Table A: Summary incomme statement and balance sheet {Unaudited)

Summary income statement based on propertional consolidation for the year ended 31 March 2018
The following pro forma information 1s unaudited and does not form part of the consolidated primary statements or the notes thereto
it presents the results of the Group, with its share of the results of joint ventures and funds included on a line-by-line basis and excluding

non-controlling interests

Year ended 31 March 2018

Year enced 31 March 2017

Joint Less Jant Loss

ventures non-controlling Proportionally ventures nen-contrelung Proooriiorally

Group  andfunds interests  consolidated Grodp and funds rterests  consolidated

£m £m £€m £m tm {m Fre frn

Gross rental income 441 193 (21) 613 442 220 (19} 643
Property operating expenses (29) (9) 1 (37) {25] [10) 2 (33}
Netrental income 412 184 (20] 576 417 210 7] 810
Administrative expenses (82} 4] - {83} {84] (2] - 1861
Net fees and other income 13 - 2 15 17 - - 17

Ungeared income return 343 183 18] 508 350 208 171 541
Net financing costs {64 168) 4 (128] (78] (76} 3 11511
Underlying Profit 279 115 (14) 380 272 132 [14) 3%0
Underlying taxation - - - = - - - -
Undertying Profit after taxation 279 115 14) 380 272 132 [14) 390
Valuation movement 254 [237]
Other capital and taxation [net)’ 31 1433)
Capital and other 285 1670)
Total return 665 {280]

incluges other comp-shanaive income, movermnent in dilut on ¢ =ha~e opt ons anc the mavamer finte ns excludec for EPRA NAV

Summary balance sheet based on proportienal consolidation as at 31 March 2018
The following pro forma information 1s unaudited and does not form part of the censclidated primary staternents or the notes thereto

It presents the composition of the EPRA net assets of the Group, with its share of the net assets of the jont venture and fund assets and
habilites included on a ling-by-line basis, and exclading non-controlling interests, and assuming full dilution

Marw to

rrarke: on
Share o' less Ger va' ves Ya.uation EPRA Net EFRA Net
joint non and realec surplus on assets assets
venlures ~ontra l:ng Share  Oeerred oenl Aeed trading 31 March 31 March
Group &tures nterests  oplions tax ad ustrments leaszs  properties 2018 2017
£r £m frr Ern £ {n £ £ £€m fr
Retail properties 5,262 1,759 [383) - - - (42) - 6,596 6,654
Oftice properties 4,265 2,334 - - - - (15} 121 6,705 7015
Canada Water properties 298 - - - - - (15) - 283 271
Other properties 100 19 - - - - - 13 132 -
Total properties 9,925 4,112 {383] - - - [72) 134 13,716 13,940

investments In joint ventures

and fungds 2,822 [2,822) - - - - - - - -
Other investments 174 12) - - - - - - 172 151
Other net iabitities] assets (369) [99) 4 az 5 - 72 - (385) 370)
Net debt 13,046) [1,189) 125 - - 137 - - {3,973) 14,223)
Net assets 9,504 - 12541 32 5 137 - 134 9,560 9498
EPRA NAV per share [note 2) 9467p 915p
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Finneial statements

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

UNAUDITED

Table A continued

EPRA Net assets movement

Year ended Veur ended
31 March 2018 31 March 201/
Pence per Fapre pet
£m share ‘m share
Opening EPRA NAV 9,498 915 10.074 219
Incarme return 380 37 390 34
Capitai return 285 29 [670) n3)
Dividend paid {302) {29) (2961 [27]
Purchase of own shares {301} 15 - -~
Closing EPRA NAY 9,540 967 9,498 215
Table B: EPRA Performance measures
EPRA Performance measures summary tabie
2018 207
Penca per Fen-e per
fm share £m sharg
EPRAEarnings - basic 380 375 390 379
- diluted 380 37.4 390 378
EPRA Net Initiat Yeeld 4.3% 4 3%
EPRA 'topped-up’ Net Initial Yield 4.6% 4 5%
EPRA Vacancy Rate 3.2% 4 8%
2018 2017
Net asset Net asse
value per vae per
Netassets share pence Net assets share pence
EPRANAV 9,560 967 9,498 415
EPRA NNNAY 9,044 pall 8,938 861
Calculation and reconcitiation of EPRA/IFRS earntngs and EPRA/IFRS earnings per share
(Audited) 2?{1: ’?li
Profit attributable to the shareholders of the Company 493 192
Exclude
Group - current taxation 1} 1)
Group - deferred taxahon (5) -
Joint ventures and funds - deferred taxation - in
Group - valuation movement (202) 144
Group - {profit] toss on disposat of investiment properties and investments na 5
Group - profit on disposal of trading properties (14} (7}
Joint ventures and funds - net valuation movement hincluging result on disposals) 149) 75
Jomt ventures and funds - capital financing costs 13 b
Changes Iin fair value of financiat instruments and assoctated close-out costs 163 13}
Non-controlling interests in respect of the above - 1)
Underlying Profit 380 350
Group - underlying current taxation - -
EPRA earnings - basic 380 390
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - -
EPRA earnings - dituted 380 3%0
Profit attributable to the sharehotders of the Company 493 193
Dilutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - (33}
IFRS earnings - diluted 493 160
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Table B continued

2018 2017
Number Numkbsr
million miliion
Weighted average number of shares 1,024 1040
Adjustment for treasury shares 1 111)
IFRS/EPRA Weighted average number of shares [basic) 1,013 1029
Dilutive effect of share options 1 1
Dilutive etfect of ESOP shares 2 3
Ditutive ettect of 2012 convertible bond - b8
IFRS Weighted average number of shares [diluted) 1,016 1,091
Dilutive effect of 2912 convertible bond - 158)
EPRA Weighted average number of shares [diluted] 1,014 1,033
Net assets per share (Audited]
2018 2017
Pence Pence
€m  pershare tir per share
Balance sheet net assets 2,506 9,476
Deferred tax artsing on revaluation movements 5 3
Mark-to-market on derivatives and related debt adjustments 137 155
Dilution eftfect of share options 2 36
Surplus on trading properties 134 83
Less non-controlling interests (254} [255)
EPRA NAV 9,560 767 2,498 215
Deferred tax arising on revaluabion movemenis [31) 9}
Mark-to-market on derivatives and related debt adjustments (137} 155)
Mark-to-market on debt (348} 1386]
EPRA NNNAV 9,044 14 8,938 861
EPRANNNAV IS the EPRA NAV adjusted to retlect the farr value of the debt and dervatives and to include the deferred taxation on
revaluatrons and derivatives
2018 2007
Number Numuer
million mmithar
MNumber of shares at year end 994 1,040
Adpustment for treasury shares (1) nn
IFRS/EPRA number of shares (basic) 983 1,029
Ditutive effect of share options 1 3
Ditutive effect of ESOP shares 5 6
Difutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - 58
IFRS number of shares [diluted} 989 1,094
Diiutive effect of 2012 convertible bond - {58)
EPRA number of shares [diluted) 989 1,038
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Finaneial statements

SUPPLEMENTARY DISCLOSURES CONTINUED

UNAUDITED

Table B continued

EPRA Net Initial Yield and ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield (Unaudited]

2018 2017

£m tm

Investment property - whaolly-owned 9,682 9.210
investrnent property — share of joint ventures and funds 4,034 4730
Less developments, residential and land {1,315) 17¢8]
Completed property portfolio 12,401 13,142
Allowance for estimated purchasers’ costs 799 897
Gross up completed property portfolio valuation [A) 13,200 14,039
Annualised cash passing rental iIncome 584 607
Property outgoings {11} [9)
Annualised net rents (B) 573 598
Rent expiration of rent-free periods and fixed uplifts' 28 30
‘Topped-up’ netannualised rent {C) 601 628
EPRA Net Initial Yietd (B/A} 4.3% 4 3%
EPRA ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield {C/A) 4.6% 4 5%
Including fixed/mimmum uplifis received i Lieu of rental growth 1 1
Total ‘topped-up’ net rents (D) 612 639
Overall ‘topped-up’ Net Initial Yield [D/A) 4.6% 4 6%
‘Topped-up’ net annualised rent 601 628
ERV vgcant space 21 34
Reversions 32 38
Total ERV (E) 654 760
Net Reversionary Yield (E/A) 5.0% 50%

The weighted average period nver wnich rent Tree pernods expire i 1 yoar "2006/°7 1 year]

EPRA Net initial Yietd INIY) basis of catculation

EPRA NIY s calculated as the annuzalised net rent [on a cash fiow basis), dvided by the gross value of the completed property portfolio

The valuation of cur completed property portfolo 15 deterrmned by our external valuers as at 31 March 2018, plus an allowance for estimated
purchaser’s costs Estimated purchaser’s costs are determined by the relevant stamp duty tiabitity, plus an estimate by our valuers of agent

and legal fees on notional acqursition The net rent deduction allowed for property outgoings 15 based on our valuers’ assumptions on future

recurring non-recoverable revenue expenditure

In calculating the EPRA topped-up NIY, the annualised net rent 1s increased by the total contracted rent from expiry of rent-free periods and
future contracted rental uptifts where defined as not in Lieu of growth Overall topped-up NIY 1s calculated by adding any other contracted
future uplift to the topped-up’ net annualised rent

The net reversionary yietd 1s calculated by dividing the total estimated rental value {ERV) for the completed property portfolio, as determined
by our external valuers, by the gross completed property portfolio vaiuation

The EPRA vacancy rate Is calculated as the ERYV of the unrented, lettable space as a proportion of the total rental value of the completed
property portfolic

EPRA Vacancy Rate
2018 2017
£m tm
Annualised potential rental value of vacant premises 21 34
Annualised potential rental value for the completed property portfolio 664 710
EPRA Vacancy Rate 3.2% 4 8%

The above is stated for the UK portfolio anly A discussion of significant factors affecting vacancy rates i1s included within the Strategic Report
|pages 32 to 34)
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Table B continued

EPRA Cost Ratios [Unaudited)

2018 07
£m fm
Property operating expenses 28 23
Administrative expenses 82 84
Share of joint ventures and funds expenses 10 12
Less Performance and management fees [from joint ventures and funds} (8) 12}
Net other fees and commissions (7] 18]
Ground rent costs (2] 2}
EPRA Costs (including direct vacancy costs) {A) 103 100
Direct vacancy costs (12l 12
EPRA Costs (excluding direct vacancy costs) (B) 91 88
Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs 422 412
Share of joint ventures and funds [GRI less ground rent costs) 189 229
Tetal Gross Rental Income less ground rent costs (C) &11 641
EPRA Cost Ratio lincluding direct vacancy costs) {A/C) 16.9% 15 6%
EPRA Cost Ratio lexcluding direct vacancy costs} (B/C} 14.9% 137%
Overhead and operating expenses capitalised inciuding share of joint ventures and fundsl 5 5
Inthe current year, employee costs in relation to staff ime on development projects have been capitalised mto the base cost of relevant
development assets
Table C: Gross rental income
2018 a7
£€m £m
Rent receivable 404 633
Spreading of tenant incentives and guaranteed rent increases "zl 8
Surrender premia 21 2
Gross rental income 613 643
The current and prior year infermation is presented on a proportonally consolidated basis, exciuding non-controlling interests
Table D: Property related capital expenditure
2018 2017
Joint Jainy
ventures ventures
Group  andfunds Total Group and funds Total
Acquisitions 250 - 250 88 - 88
Development 132 52 184 131 14 145
Like-for-like portfolio 23 27 50 &7 47 114
Other 17 5 22 20 Z 22
Total property related capex 422 84 506 306 463 369

The above 1s presented on a proportionally consolidated basis, excluding non-coptrothing interests and business combinations The ‘Other’
category contains amounts owing to tenant ncentves of £10m [2016/17 €£10m), capitalised staff costs of £3m [2016/17 £5m} and capitalised

interest of £7m {2016/17 €7m}
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Other informarion

Other information

Other information {unaudited)
Acguisitions and isposals
Portfolio vatuation by sector
Gross rental income
Portfolio yield and ERV movements
Retail portfolio valuation ~ previous classification basis
Portfolio net yields
Totat property return [as catculated by (PD)
Occuplers representing over 0 5% of total contracted rent
Major hotdings
Lease length and occupancy
Portfolio weighting
Annualised rent and estimated rentat value [ERV]
Rent subject te open market rent review
Rent subject to lease break or expiry
Recently completed and committed developments
Near term development pipeline
Medium term development pipeline
Sustainability performance measures
Ten year record
Shareholder information
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A Nordic forest was created at Broadgate this winter,
with an artisan market, a tepee cinema and The Hideaway,
a specialist dining experience.
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Other information

UNAUDITED
Acquisitions
Annua.
Prce Price Passing
["00%:  [BL Sharz] Rent
Since 1 April 2017 Sactor £m £m frn-
Completed
Tesco, Brislington - Tesco exchange transaction’ Retail 46 23 2
Harlech, Newport - Tesce exchange transaction’ Retail 41 20 1
10 - 40 The Breoadway, Ealing Retail 49 49 2
Hercules Umit Trust units® Retail 4 4 -
The Woolwich Estate Retaid 103 103 &
Rotherhithe Police Station Canada Water 7 7 -
Totat 250 206 ¥
't Partof a Tesco IV swap transaction resulting i a net £73m disposal of superstore assets
* BL share of annualised rent topped up for rent frees
Units purchased representing £4m purchased GAV
Disposals
Annual
Price Price Passing
[100%] (Bl Sharel Rent
Since 1 April 2017 Sector Lm tm £m*
Completed
The Leadenhall Building’ Otfices 1,150 575 17
Superstores? Retall 545 302 8
B&Q, Bury and Grimsby Retail 56 26 4
Virgin Active, Sunderland and Coventry Retail 8 8 1
Richmond Homebase® Retail 45 45 1
Other Retasl/Offices 10 10 1
The Hempel Collection Residential 52 52 -
Clarges, Mayfair Residential 193 193 -
Aldgate Place Residential 2 1 -
Exchanged
Clarges, Mayfair Residential b6 66 -
Total 2,127 1,308 42

Exchanged during the year ended 31 March 2017
2 0twhizh £176m [BL share] was part of a Tesco IV swap transactionreseltingin anet £73m disposal of superstore asse's
- Lxchanged inyear and cornpleted post year end
» Fxchangedorierto FY18 Of which £148m campleted post per:ars end
* BL share of annuatised rent topped up lor rent frees
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Portfolio valuation by sector

Change %
Vs and
Group Funds Tatd,

At 31 March 2018 fm tm £ H1 H? LY
Regional 1,132 1,898 3,030 01 02z 02
ocal 1,840 458 2,298 09 [0 &) {1.5
Multi-let 2,972 2,356 5,328 (0.4) 0.2) (0.5}
Department stores and leisure 593 1 594 24 26 51

Superstores 99 261 360 08 1153 63
Sotus and other 314 - 34 58 6.7 65
Retail 3,978 2,618 6,696 0.3 - 0.3
West End 4,255 - 4,255 32 26 5.8
City 116 2.334 2,450 17 13 28
Offices 4,37 2,334 6,705 2.6 21 4.5
Residential’ 113 19 132 3.6 [2.6) 1.6
Canada Water 283 - 283 14.5) 13.0) 17.0]
Total 8,745 4971 13,716 1.4 0.9 2.2
Standing Investments B,34% 4,583 12,932 1.2 0.4 1.6
Developments 396 388 784 33 6.4 9.6

Valuatior movement curing the year [altar teking & court of zapital 2axpeadturet of prepect o= held at 'he balarce sheet date, including deve opments (zlass fied by

end use], purinases and 2eles
Stand alone resicental

Gross rental income!

12 rmonthato 3° March 2018

Arrualised as at 37 Mar-+ 2018

Vs anc Vs and

Greup Sunds “ctal Sroup Fun~ds Total
Accounting Basis £m tm £r £m £m frm
Regional 62 8¢ 151 61 a8 149
Local 92 29 121 20 26 116
Multi-let 154 18 272 151 114 265
Department stores and leisure 43 - 43 40 - 40
Superstores 4 22 26 4 8 22
Solus and other 19 - 19 17 - 17
Retail 220 140 360 212 132 344
West £nd 133 - 133 134 - 134
City & 102 108 5 80 85
Offices 139 102 241 139 80 21%
Residential? 4 - 4 5 - 5
Canada Water? 8 - 8 8 - 8
Total 3N 242 613 364 212 576

T Grossrental inromez will differ from annualized remts due to a, rount ng adjustments far toeo and eunamam centractad rertal upltts ard logse ow 2rives

Stand-alone resigential
Refler s sland ng imvesrnent an y
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UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Portfolio vield and ERV movements?

LRY Growth %

NEY Yiald Moverient hog -

NZY

At 31 March 2018 Y H1 k2 kY H1 12 FY
Regional 50 12 11 23 4 3 7
Local 55 11 01 12 1 2 13
Mutti-let 52 13 0.7 1.9 7 2 9
Department stores and leisure 57 59 03 62 (KR 4 [7}
Superstores 54 2 1 23 {7 (3] {9
Solus and other 52 (58] 00 [5 8} 16 {9 7
Retail 53 1.0 0.5 1.6 5 2 [
West End 43 10 15 25 1 12) 3]
City 45 13 0z 15 1 1 2
Offices 4.4 1.2 1.4 2.1 16) {1] (71
Canada Water® 3.9 (1.1] 0.0 (111 11 26 37
Total 4.8 1.0 0.7 1.8 {0) 1 1

Exciuoing developments under constraction assets neld for development and residential assets

As calculatad by PG

includirng netonal purchaser s costs
- Fxcludes Eustan Towe-, as we mave closer to tenant break in 2621, valustion row refiects returbishment assumpt onwhich, fincluded, woule aistort these movements

Reflects standing investment only

Retail portolio valuation — previous classification basis

Valuation Cnange %° ERV Growth % NEY Yield Moverment bps-
At 31 March 2018 tm f1 H?2 FY H1 H? Fv H1 H2 FY
Shopping Parks 3,180 HUR)| 03 02 08 02 09 n {0 10
Shopping Centres 2,359 0z fa 51 a3 a7 14 21 3 4 7
Superstores 360 08 i15) 03t 2 (1 23 17} 13 (9
Department Stores 26% 21 {08) 05 2 0) 14 14 110} 8 12}
Leisure 428 25 35 62 77 {00 77 (15} 2 (7}
Retail 6,596 0.3 - 0.3 1.0 0.5 1.6 5 2 [

Group s share of propartics 1n joint ventures and *unds includis g HUT at ownership share

- Valuaton movemnent daring the year [after taking account of capital expenditurel of preperties hed at the balance sheet date, including develop~ents [class hed by end

usel, purchases and sales
T Ascaltuated by IPD
= Incuding notional purchaser s costs
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Portfolio net yields'

EPRAtoppen  Overalltappec Nzt Net
EPRA N up net ninal up net mitial cquivalent reversonary
imtial yietd yred vield yield yie d
At31 March 2018 Y %' Yo~ K £
Regional 45 47 47 50 30
Local 50 51 52 55 55
Mutti-let 4.7 4.9 49 5.2 5.3
Department stores and leisure 57 57 68 57 45
Superstores 57 57 57 54 52
Solus and other 51 51 51 52 42
Retail 49 5.0 5.2 5.3 5.1
West End 35 40 40 43 47
City 47 42 42 45 49
Offices 3.8 4.1 4.1 4.4 4.8
Canada Water® 31 3.2 3.2 3.9 3.9
Total 4.3 4.6 4.6 4.8 5.0
0Ona proportiorally consolidates ba-is iz luding the Grous s share of joint venta-es and lurds
Inzludng netioral purchaser s Zosls
- Excluding corrmitted devetopments, ascets held fer development and res dential assets
In-tud ng rent contracted fram expiry of rent-free perods ard fixed uplif's not o | eu of rental growtr
- Inz'ud ng fixed/mininum up 15 [excludec from EPRAget mition]
Reflec s stancing nvestment anly
Total property return {as caleulated by IPD)
Retall OFies Total
British Land IPT British Land IF0 8ntish - ard IPD
Full Year to 31 March 2018 % Yo Y kS Y Ya
Capital Return 04 11 52 42 25 53
- ERV Growth 14 09 21 11 18 20
- Yietd Expansion’ 4 bps -1 bps -7 bps <21 bps 1 bps -26bps
Income Return 53 50 36 39 4 4 46
Total Property Return 5.7 6.2 5.0 8.3 7.0 10.1

Onap-osortional y consalidated basis inc uding the Grone = sharz of joinl ve Mures and funds
Ner eguivalent yie.d maover-ent
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Other infor

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

QOccupiers representing over 0.53% of total contracted rent

At 31 March 2018 %o o lotal -ent ot total rent
Tesco' 43 Asda Group 10
J Samnsbury 38 Microsoft 10
Debenhams 35 JD Sports 10
UBS AG 33 Sports Direct 09
HM Government 28 Virgin Active 09
Next 25 Deutsche Bank 08
Kingfisher 25 Reed Smith 08
Facebook 19 Steinhoff 07
Dentsu Aegis? I8 Mayer Brown 07
Marks & Spencer 18 Ha&M 07
Spirit Group 17 TGl Fridays 07
Wesfarmers [Homebase/Bunnings) 37 River island 07
Visa Inc 16 Mothercare 06
Alliance Boots 16 NEX Grotp 06
Dixons Carphone 15 Primark 06
Arcadia Group 14 Credit Agricole 06
Herbert Srmith 13 Pets at Home 06
TK Maxx 12 Henderson 0o
Gazprom [ Hutchison 05
Vodafone 10 Aramce 05
Dawid Lloyd 10 Misys 05
New Look* 10

includes £3 Tmat Surrey Quays Shopprrg Centre

- Represents currert eccupaton of 10 Tniten Street covering 118,000 sq ft of space Takinginto aczount ther pre (=t of 310000 <q 1t at 1 Tr.ton Sguare, " of cantracted
rentwauld rse oS 2% As part ofthes new tetling, Dentsu Aeg.s have anoplion to return i er existing spare 3t 10 Triton Streetin 2021 11 this option s exercse¢, tere
s anadjustrent to tne rent frec periad ' respecr of the letr got 1 Triran Sguare to compensate Snitish Land
Takngiria account reat adjustments folowing CVA

Major holdings

dritish_and Dccupancy | ease

sharo Sgft Rert rate length

At 31 March 2018 Yo 000 fmpa Y- Vis -
Broadgate 50 4,850 176 972 79
Regent’'s Place 100 1,740 75 981 74
Paddington Central 100 258 44 $70 462
Meadowhall, Sheffield 50 1,500 89 979 63
Teesside, Stockton 100 569 17 954 51
Drake's Circus, Plymouth 100 1,082 21 985 91
Eaiing Broadway 100 540 15 95.2 52
Glasgow Fort 77 510 21 991 60
Sainsbury’s Superstores® 51 1,457 34 1aoc 88
10 Portman Square 100 134 10 100 0 71

Annualised EPRA tuntracted rent incluging 100% of joint ventures and tunds
- including acromrmodation under offes or subject 1o asset managemert
Weighted average ta first break
« Excludes committed and near term developments
* Camprises stand-alone stores
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Lease length and occupancy

Average ease length year s

Jcoupanty rate %

At 31 March 2018 Toexpiry Toureak  FPRAOccapancy Q.zupanzy-
Regionat 77 66 96 8 971
Local 74 63 974 981
Multi-let 7.6 6.5 271 7.6
Department stores and leisure 16 4 16 4 998 9% 8
Superstores 94 24 1000 1000
Solus and other 16 e 190 0 1000
Retail 8.8 7.9 97.6 98.0
West End 8é 70 946 2 26 4
City 89 79 971 971
Offices 8.7 7.3 96.5 $6.7
Canada Water? 6.1 6.0 9.4 98.0
Total 8.7 7.7 271 972.4

Space allorated o S0y 1s shown as octusizd wheee here 12 a Storey tenant 11 place otheswise it 15 shown as vatant O1f es occupancy would rise trom 96 7%
to 371% and total e .pancy wou'd rise from 77 4% 0 97 7%l S.orey space wer e assuried to be fully ler

- includes acoormimedabion unde offer orsubjedt (o asset managemen

Retierts starding investmont anvy

- IPunets let o occupiers wha save entered | cuidaton post 3% March 1d are treated a5 varant, then the orcupancy rete for Retaill would reduce from %8 0% (o 97 5%,

ardtotal occupancy woult regace frem 97 8% tn 97 7%,

Portfolio weighting

2008 2018 2018
2007 [zurrert] l~urrert] [profarmal
At 31 March t o frm Yo
Regional 213 221 3.030 213
Local 154 167 2,298 159
Multi-tet 367 38.8 5,328 37.2
Department stores and leisure 41 43 594 41
Superstores 45 26 360 25
Solus and other 25 23 314 22
Retail 47.8 48.0 6,596 46.0
West End 284 310 4,255 34
Cuty 207 179 2,450 195
Offices 4%.1 48.9 6,705 511
Residential? 1.2 1.0 132 0.7
Canada Water 1.9 2.1 283 2.0
Total 100.0 100.0 13,716 100.0
London weighting 58% 59% 8,037 60%

Craopropertaorally consel gated bas s meluding the Group s share of joint vertures anc funds

Frg farma ror developr-=nts UNg:t corstruction of oot mated end valug (4% usterimined by the Groeup s =xternal valuer )
© Stand alone ~esideriial
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Other indon

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Annualised rent and cstimated rental value (ERV)

Anndali-edrert

|vaiuat an kasi= £m FRVEm Average rert { p3t
e and
At 31 March 2018 Groug Funds Tata, lola Contacted LRV
Regional 63 88 151 168 322 342
Local 98 26 124 137 241 259
Multi-let 161 114 275 308 280 299
Department stores and leisure 36 - 34 29 16 4 120
Superstores 5 16 21 19 227 206
Solus and other 17 - 17 14 20¢ 171
Retait 219 130 349 347 25 4 259
West End® 133 - 133 179 58 2 671
City® ] 88 93 108 511 571
Dffices? 138 a8 226 287 552 629
Residential® 5 - 5 & - -
Canada Water® 8 - 8 10 172 217
Total 370 218 588 668 314 339

{n a proporiionally consolidated bas:s inctuding the Group & share of jorn ventures and funds
Gross rents plus, where rent reviews are outstanding, any increascs to ERV as determined by the Group s external valuers], less any ground rents payabie under head
leases, excluces contracted cent subject to rent free and future uplitt

- Annualised rent, plus rent subject torent free
£psf metrics shown fer office space ony

- Stand-alone residential

» Reflects standing mvestment anly

Rent subject to open market rent review

For perind to 31 March

me 200 201 2022 2023 2019 21 2019-23
At 31 March 2018 £m fm tm £m £ Lim £m
Regional 19 1 18 14 n 48 73
Locat 18 n 12 6 18 41 65
Multi-tet 37 22 30 20 29 89 138
Department stores and leisure 7 - - - - 7 7
Superstores 3 8 b i 1 17 19
Solus and other - - - - - - -
Retail 47 30 36 21 a0 113 164
West End 27 15 10 9 13 52 Th
City 15 4 9 - - 28 28
Offices 42 19 19 9 13 80 102
Canada Water' 1 - - - - 1 1
Totat 90 49 55 30 43 194 267

Ona prapar bionalty consalidatea baws mcluding tha Group = sharce of joint ventures and funds
Reller s standing 'nvestment anly
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Rent subject to lease break or expiry

For period to 31 March

2019 2070 201 2027 2024 2019 2t ?UW*_?T!
At 31 March 2018 £m fm {m tm trr. L tm
Regional 14 14 9 14 20 37 71
tocat 12 10 10 12 13 32 37
Multi-let 26 24 19 26 33 69 128
Department Stores and Leisure - - - - - - -
Superstores - - - - 2 - 2
Solus and other - - 1 - - 1 1
Retail 26 24 20 26 35 70 13
West End 5 4 18 21 25 27 73
City 10 10 8 2 3 28 a3
Dffices 15 14 26 23 28 55 106
Canada Water' 1 0 1 0 1 2 3
Total 42 38 &7 49 &4 127 240
% of contracted rent 6.9% 6.2% 7.8% 8.0% 10.3% 20.9% 39.2%
On s proper ticnally consoadatzc basis ing ading the Growp s share of soin* veniLes and 'unds
Retfiects stand ng investment only
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Gither information

UNAUDBITED CONTINUED

Recently completed and committed developments

Let ang
Britisn _arc 100% [ Current Cos lo nnder
Lare sght calengar value o™ FRY offer
At31 March2018 Selor Yo Gao year [ 4l Lim frnm £
Ciarges Mayfair - retail and residential®>  Mixed Use 100 104 Q42017 473 14 07 -
Speke [Letsure} Retail 67 66 Q12018 15 3 11 0¢
Total Completed in Year 170 488 17 1.8 0.9
100 Liverpool Street Office 50 522 Q12020 166 17 187 5.0
1 Triton Square® Office 100 366 Q42020 210 185 231 218
1 Finsbury Avenue Ottice 50 291 Q1201¢ 105 26 8.1 24
135 Bishopsgate Dffice 30 328 Q2200% 87 51 85 42
Plymouth [Leisure) Retall 100 107 042019 4 a8 © 3 12
Total Committed 1,614 572 427 62.5 34.6
Retall Capex® 69

" Fram 1 April 2018 Cast lo come excludes notonal interest ag interest s capitalised Indwidually on éach oevelopment af our capitalisation rate

* Estimated headline rertal value net cf rent payakle Lnder head easzs lexc luding terant mcentives

© Currentvalue includes £319m [af total £344m) units exchanged and nat completed as at 31 Marcen 2018 Salas of £168m cornpleted post period enc

* LRVlet and under offar of £ 21 Brm represents space taken by Dentsu Azgis As part of this lathing, Dentsu Aegis have an ophion 1o return ther exshing space 21 10 Traton
Street in 2021 1his option 1 exercised, there 15 an adjustment to the rent free period in respect of the lett ng at 1 triton Sauare to compensate British Land

' Capex committed ang underway within our investment porttolio relating to teasing and asset management

Near term development pipeline

Brursh tand 100% txpected Current Costtg Let and
share aqft start value come LRY under oifer Planning
At31March 2018 Sertor % 00g on site frm fm £ im status
Gateway Building Leisure 100 105 Q32018 7 123 60 - Consented
Blossom Street, Cffice 100 340 Q22019 17 250 186 -
Shoreditch Consented
Bradford [Leisure] Retail 100 49 Q1209 1 16 09 - Pre-submission
Jeesside [Leisure) Retail 100 84 Q12019 30 47 47 - Res to Grant
Total near term 578 55 436 30.2 -
Retail capex’ 101

From 1 Aprit 2018 Cest to corme ex. ludes notional interest asinterestis captalised indwidually cn each developmert al our canitalisation ratre
© Estimated headling rental value net of rent payable under fiead leases (excludirg tenant imwentives!
© Forecast capital commitmeants withen our imvestment portfolio over the nex: 12 months refating to leasingand asse’ enhancement

Medium term development pipeline

Brinsh Land 100%

share sgf
At 31March 2018 Sectar b ‘060 Pranr ing stats
2-3 Finsbury Avenue Office 50 563 Consented
1-2 Broadgate Office 50 507 Pre-submission
5 Kingdom Street’ Dftfice 100 332 Consented
Meadowhall [Leisure) Retail 50 330 Resolution to Grant
Peterboraugh [Lersure] Retail 100 208 Subrmutted
Ealing — 10-40 The Breadway Retail 100 298 Pre-submission
Aldgate Place Phase 2 Residential 50 145 Consenrted
Eden Walk retail and restdential Mixed Use 50 533 Consented
Chester Masterplan Retal 77 45 Pre-submission
Plymouth, George Street Retaii 100 31 Pre-submussian

Total medium term excluding Canada Water 2,992
Canada Water - Phase 1* Mixed Use 100 1,848 Submitted outline

" Planning cansen! for previous 240,000 sq {1t scheme
! Canada Water site covers 5m sq ft in total based on net area [gross area of 7m sg ftl
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Sustainability performance measures

We report on all assets where we have day-to-day operational or management influence lour ranaged portfolio] and all developments over
£300,000 with ptanning permission, on-site or completed in the year The exceptionis EPC and fleod risk data, where we report onall assets
under management Asat 31 March 2018, our managed portfolio comnprised 73% of our assets under management Please see the scope

columnn for indicator specific reporting coverage

Selected data has been independently assured since 2007 Selected data for 2018 has been independently assured by PwC inaccerdance with
ISAE 3000 [Revised] and ISAE 3410 For the 2018 PwC assurance staternent and more detailed data, please see our Sustainability Accounts
2018 www.britishland.com/data British Land has been a signatory to the United Nations Global Compact since 2009 For our 2018

Communication on Progress, visit www.britishland.com/sustainabilityreport

Performance Scope’
tassz’'s or
2018 M7 uriitsl
Continued inclusion tn three out of four sustamnabibty indices DJSI Europe, DJSI Worlg, 4/4 L/4 -
FTSE4Good and GRESB
Progress implementing Sustamnability Action Plans at strategic assets 72% nr 41/47
Progress implementing Sustainability Brief for Developments at all projects over £5m 100% nr 17/17
2020
Q Wellbeing [Customer Orientat:on] target!
Deliver a WELL certified commercial office to shell and core, and set corporate policy Deliver Ontrack Ontrack -
for future developments
Develop and pilot retail wellbeing specification Deliver Inprogress Onirack -
Increase the sense of wellbeing for shoppers, retailers and occupiers at our places Increase Ontrack Onirack -
Define and trial a methodelogy for measuring productmty in offices Deliver Completed Ontrack -
Research and publish on how development design impacts public health cutcomes Delver Ontrack Ontrack -
Pilot interventions to improve local air quality’ 3 Target n/a -
established
Inury Incidence Rate (RIDDOR] Offices 12.88 2351 4343
Retad 0.01 001 58/58
Injury Frequency Rate {RIDDOR} Developments 0.13 008 38/38
&> community [Right Places)
Implement our Local Charter at all key assets and major developments 100% Charter nr -
updated
British Land employee skills-based velunteering 20% 16% 16% -
British Land employee volunteering 70% 79% 0% -
Community pregramme beneficiaries 39,798  35.600 -
) Futureproofing (Capital Efficiency]
Developments on track to achieve BREEAM Excellent for offices and Exceltent 100% 2% 100% 16/16
or Very Good for retail
Carbon [Scope 1 and 2) iIntensity reduction versus 2009 [index scored) 55% 54% 44% 70/73
Landlord enet gy intensity reduction versus 2009 [index scored) 55% 40% 35% 70/73
Etectricity purchased from renewable sources! 100% 97% 93% 94/105
Average reduction inembodied carbon emissions versus concept design on major developments 15% nr nr -
Waste diverted from landfill managed properties and developrnents 100% 99% 98% 105/125
Portfolio with green building ratings (% by floor area) 18% 16%  234/234
Energy Performance Certificates rated F or G (% by floor areal 5% 4% 2558/2660
Portfolio at high risk of flood (% by value] 3% 3%  230f234
High fload risk assets with flood management plans [% by value) 100% nr 13/15
& skillsand opportunity [Expert People)
People supported into employment’ [cumulative] 1,700 770 542 -
Strategic suppliers agreed with terms of our Supplier Code of Conduct 100% Code Launched nfa -
Prioritised supplier workforce who are apprentices 3% 1.2% nrt 209/232
Pilot a Living Wage Zone at a London campus’ Detiver - - -
Workforce paid at least Living Wage Group emptoyees 100% 100% -
Foundation rate Supplier workforce at managed properties 70% 72% 92/101
Developments, supply chain spend within 25 mites 7% 60% 1/12
Informed by A higorous materiality review, we bave intrgdored new 2020 targets far air aas ity, employment fai- wages and renewable eloctoimity toing rease for <
cnpriority-ssuss For nore nfor-iatonon-harces loour forgets a-d detad or performance, gee www.bntishland.com!suslalnabilityfperformance/largels
YN8 repn ing wcops
;SJ; p‘\EFE:‘[IjSWIIlg\/ d:tpa 15 oty errparabls and ~o15 0ot fecoried
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Ocher information

UNAUDITED CONTINUED

Sustainability performance measures continued

EPRA best practice recommendations on sustainability reporting
Briish Land has received EPRA Gold Awards for sustainability reporting six years running This year, EPRA expanded best
practice recommendations for sustainability reporting to include social and governance performance measures, as well as
environmental We are pleased to have reported on the majority of environmental and social measures in our summary below
For information on governance measures, please see pages 56 to 75 For our full methodology and mere detailed data on all
these indicators and additional indicators, please see our Sustainability Accounts 2018 www.britishland.com/data

Scape
lassats or
2018 2017 2006 units)
Environmental performance’
Tetal electricity consumption [MWh) 162,833 172127 172,238 947105
Total district heating and cooling consumption [MWHh]) 0 0 0 0/0
Tetal fuel consumption [MWh] 37,500 39319 38,234 46/52
Building energy intensity [kwhi Offices [per m?] 145.71 15870 15564 28/29
Retail - enclosed lper m?) 154.48 161 89 156 97 &/7
Retail - open air [per car parking space]  168.13 150 01 133 66 36/37
Total direct (Scope 1) greenhouse gas emissions [tonnes COLe) 6,967 7,602 7927 102/113
Totalindirect [Sceope 2) greenhouse gas emissions Location based 27,301 34,149 38,710 102/113
[tonnes COel Market based 1,875 6,630 36734 102/113
Greenhouse gas intensity from building energy Oifices [per m?) 0.055 0049 G075 28/29
consumption [tonnes CO;e) Retal - enclosed [per m‘) 0.056 0067 0073 6/7
Retail - open air
{per car parking space} 0.062 0 084 0043 38/37
Total water consumption [m?) 616,221 663,541 653,490 41/70
Building water intensity [m?) Offices [per FTE) 15.56 14 5% 1508 26/28
Retail - enclosed {per 10,000 visitors) nr 947 10 29 -
Retail — open air [per 10,000 visitors) nr 286 179 -
Total non-hazardous waste by disposal route Re-used and recycled 11,207 12166 12,899 67/87
[tonnes and %) [56%]) [57%) [61%)
Incinerated 8,887 9,236 8,132 67/87
(44%] [43%I [38%I
Landfilled [ 35 184 67/87
(0%) 0% (1%
Total hazardous waste {tonnes] 4 nr nr 28/87
Sustainably certified assets - A B 23% 25% nr_2558/2660
Energy Performance Certificates CtoE 22%, 71% nr 2558/2660
(% by floor area) FtoG 5% 4% ne 2558/2660
Social performance?
Employee diversity - gender Male 51% 53% 52% -
Fermnale 49% 47% 48% -
Employee gender pay ratio Executive Directors 18% 86% 105% -
[median remuneration, female to male) Sencor management 116% 92% nr -
Middle and non-management 87% 8%% nr -
Ernployee training — average hours 14.2 132 16 0 -
Employee annual performance review 100% nr nr -
Employee hew hires rate 20% 26% 36% -
Employee turnover - departures rate 15% 15% 7% -
Employee health and safety Absentee rate 1% 1% 1% -
Injury frequency rate 0 nr nr -
Lost day rate 0% nr nr -
Work-related fatalities 0 0 0 -
Asset health and safety Proportion subject to health and
safety review (%] 100% 100% 100% 113/113
Incidents of non-compliance a nr e 13/113
Progress implementing our Local Charter at key Charter Target

assets and major developments

updated established

' Asper EPRA best practice recormnmendations, totat energy and water data covers energy and water pracured by British Land Energy and carbon intensity data covers
coInmoen parts and shared services for Offices and common parts for Retall Water intensity data covers whole buitdings for Offices and commien parts for Retail
Per m?comprises net internal areas for Offices and common parts for Retail

 Social performance dala s for Britsh Land Group overail

© 2018 reporung scope
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TEN YEAR RECCRD

The table below summarises the last ten years results, cash flows and balance sheets.

2018 2017 26%4 2015 7014 2013 2012 2011 7010 2009
£m frm fm trm tm fm &m tm fm £m
Income’
Gross rental income 613 643 654 618 597 567 572 541 561 650
Net rental income 576 610 620 585 562 541 546 518 545 598
Net fees and other income 15 17 17 17 15 15 17 18 15 20
interest expense {net) (128) 1511 (180 (201} {202] [206) [(218] {212} (246) (292
Administrative expense 183) (86} [94]) (88} {78) [76) 176) 168) [65) 158
Underlying Profit 380 390 363 313 297 274 269 256 249 268
Exceptional costs
inot Included 1n Underlying Profitl: - - - - - - - - - ms)
Dividends declared 302 296 287 277 266 234 23 231 225 198
Summarised halance sheets
Total properties at valuation'” 13,716 13940 14,648 13677 12,040 10,499 10,337 9572 8,539 8,625
Net debt (3,973)  [4,223] [4,765) (49181 (4.890) [4,266) 1{4.690) (41731 [4.08%  14941)
Other assets and Lizbilities (183) (219] 191 276 [123) [268) [266) 1298) [51) {297}
EPRA NAV/Fully diluted adjusted
net assets 9,550 2,498 10,074 9,035 7.027 5,967 5,381 5,501 4,407 3,387
Cash flow movement - Group only
Cash generated from operations 351 379 34 s 243 197 nm 182 248 406
Other cash flows from operations 2 16} 147) [33) [24) 71 {5) 28 12} {201
Net cash inflow from operating activities 353 363 294 285 219 190 206 210 136 205
Cash inflow [outflow] from capital
expenditure, Investments, acquisitions
and disposals 346 470 230 11 [640) (202 (347 [240] 139 418
Equity dividends paid (304} [295] [235) [228] {159) (203} i212) 139 [154] (188
Cash loutflow! inflow from management
of liguid resources and financing [404) 15381 1283 20 407 213 630 157 [485) (581
[Gecrease) iIncrease in cash® [L]] - b (34} 7 (2] 77 12] [542) 377
Capital returns
Growth Ireduction) in net assels’ 07% [57%) N5% 286% 178% 109% 55%  15.7%  301% [511%]
Total return 8.9% 27% 2%  245% 20.0% 4 5% 9 5% 177%  335%  [616%])
Total return - pre-exceptional 8.9% 27% Y4 2% 245% 200% 4 5% 9 5% 177% 335% (60 3%)
Per share information®
EPRAnet asset value per share 267p 915p ?19p 82% 488p 5%6p 595p 5467p 504p 398p
Memorandum
Dividends declared in the year 30.1p 29 2p 28 4p 277p 27 0p 26 4p 26 1p 26 Gp 26.0p 298p
Dividends paid in the year 29.6p 28 8p 28 Dp 273p 267p 26 3p 26 0p 26 Gp 273p 30 0p
Dituted earnings
Underlying EPRA earnings per share 37.4p 378p 341p 30 6p 294p  3D3p 297p 28 5p 28 4p 41 0p
IFRS earnings {loss] per share* 48.5p 147p  1197p  1673p  102p  315p  S538p 952Zp 1326p {614 1pl
In~ludirg share of joint venturas ond funds
Y Hepresents movement in giluted FPRANAY
Inclading sueplys over hook valus cf tracing and developr =nt prope-ties
= Inzluding restatement in 2016 and exzept onal fina ~ce costs e 2007 £119 rmilen
" Represtils Moweinesd in cash and rash equ valents under IFRS apg movernents urw ash under LK GAAR
Adjusted 1ar the nights 1ssue of 341 millien seares in Marct 2009
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Other information

SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Financial calendar

2018/1%

Fourth quarter ex-dividend date
Fourth guarter dividend payment date
First quarter ex-dividend date

First quarter dividend payment date
Half yearresults

28 June 2018

3 August 2018

4 October 2018

%9 November 2018
Novernber 2018

Second quarter ex-dividend date
Second quarter dividend payment date
Third quarter ex-dividend date

Third quarter dividend payment date
Full year results

Fourth quarter ex-divideng date
Fourth quarter dividend payment date

January 2019
February 2019
March 2019
May 2019

May 2019
June 2019

August 2019

If offered, the Board will announce the availability of a Scrip dvidend alternative via the Regulatory News Service no later than four business
days before each ex-dividend date Scrip dividend alternatives will not be enhanced The split between PID and non-PiD income for each

dividend will be announced at the same time

Analysis of shareholders - 31 March 2018

Nurnber Balance as at
Range of holding=s kS 31 March 2018 %
1-1,000 5.5%6 54 28 2,434,863 024
1,001-.5,000 3125 0N 6,968 461 070
5,001--20,000 692 671 6,654,277 0.67
20,001-50,000 249 242 7939791 080
50.001-Highest 647 628 969,859,733 9759
Total 10,309 100 80 993,857125 106 00

Nurmber Balanca as al
Holder type ¢! nowders ke 31 Mach 2018 i,
Individuals 6134 5950 10,999,208 1
Nominee and mstitutional investors 4175 4050 982857917 98 89
Total 10,309 100 0G 993,857,125 100,00

Lx luding 11,264,245 shares held in treasury
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Registrars
British Land has appointed Equiniti Limited [Equiniti] to administer
its shareholder register Equiniti can be contacted at:

Aspect House

Spencer Road

Lancing, West Sussex BN9? 6DA

Tel 0371384 2143 (UK callers]

Tel +44 {0121 415 7047 [Overseas cailers)

Lines are open from 8 30am to b 30pm Monday to Friday
excluding public holidays

Website www.shareview.co.uk

By registering with Shareview, shareholders can

- Viewyour Briish Land shareholding online
- Update your details
- Elect to receive shareholder railings etectronicatly

Equinitiis also the Registrar for the BLD Property Holdings
Limited Stock

Share dealing facilites

By registering with Shareview, Equiniti atso provides existing and
prospective UK shareholders with a share dealing facility for buying
and selling British Land shares online or by phone

For more information, contact Equiniti at www.shareview.co.uk/
dealing or call 0845 603 7037 IMonday to Friday excluding public
helidays from 8 3Cam to 4 30pm) Existing British Land shareholders
will need the reference number given on your share certificate

to register Similar share dealing facilities are provided by other
brokers, banks and binancial services

Website and shareholder communications

The British Land corporate website contans a wealth of materal
for shareholders, wnicluding the current share price, press releases
and imnformation dividends The website can be accessed at
www.britishland.com

British Land encourages its shareholders to receive sharehotder
communications electronically This enables shareholders to
receve information guickly and securety as well as i a more
environmentally friendly and cost-effective manner Further
information can be obtained from Shareview or the

Shareholder Helpline

ShareGift

Sharebolders with a smail number of shares, the value of which
rmakes it uneconomic to sell them, may wish to consider donating
their shares to charity ShareGift s a registered charity [No 1052686]
which cellects and sells unwanted shares and uses the proceeds

to support a wide range of UK charities A ShareGift donation form
can be obtamned from Equiniti

Further nformation about ShareGift can be obtained from their
website at www.sharegift.org

Honorary President

In recogrition of hus work building British Land into the industry
leading company 1t 1s teday, Sir John Ritblat was appomted as
Honorary President on his retirement from the Board in
December 2006

Registered office

The British Land Company PLC

York House

£5 Seymour Street, London W1H 7LX
Telephone +44 (0120 7486 4466
Website. www.britishland.com

Dividends

! As a REIT. British Land pays Property Income Distribution [PID)

and non-Property income Distribution [non-PiD) dividends More
information on REITs and PIDs can be found in the Investors section
of our website at www.britishland.com/dividends

British Land dividends can be paid directly into your bank or building
society account instead of being despatched to you by cheque More

©informatton about the benefits of having dividends paid directly into
. your bank or building society acceunt, and the mandate form to set
© this up, can be found In the Investors section of our website at

www.britishland.com/investors/dividends/
dividends-direct-to-your-bank

Scrip Dividend Scheme

British Land may offer shareholders the opportunity to participate

in the Scrip Dividend Scheme by offering a Scrip Alternative to a
particular diwvidend from time to ime The Scrip Dividend Scheme
aliows participating sharehoiders to receive additicnal shares
instead of a cash diidend For more information pltease visit the
Investors section of our website at www.britishland.com/dividends/
scrip-dividend-scheme

Unsalicited mail

8ritish Land 1s required by law to make its share register avallable
on request to other erganisations This may result in the receipt of
unsoticited mail To lmit this, shareholders may register with the
Matling Preference Service For more information, or to register,
visit www.mpsonline.org.uk

Shareholders are alse advised to be vigilant of share fraud which
inctudes telephone calls offering free investment advice or offers
to buy and sell shares at discounted or highly inflated prices

i1t sounds too good to be true, it often 1s Further information
can be found on the Financial Conduct Authority's website
www.fca.org.uk/scams or by calling the FCA Consumer
Helpline on D800 111 6768

Tax

The Group elected for REIT status on 1 January 2007, paying a £308m
conversion charge to HMRC in the same year As a censequence of
the Group s REIT status, tax s not levied within the corporate group
on the qualifying property rental business but i1s instead deducied
from distributions of such income as Property Income Distributions
to shareholders Any income which does not fall within the REIT
regime is subject te tax withun the Group in the usual way This
includes profits on property trading activity, property retated fee
income and interest ncorme We continue to comfartably pass all
REIT tests ensuring that our REIT status s maintained

We wark proactively and openly to raintain a constructive
relationstup with HMRC We discuss matters in real-time with HMRC
and disclose all relevant facts and circumstances, particularly where
there may be tax uncertainty or the law i1s unclear HMRC assigns
risk ratings to all large companies We have a low appetite for tax
risk and HMRC considers us to be ‘Low Risk la status we have held
since 2007 when the rating was first introduced by HMRC]

Further information can be found in our Tax Strategy at
www.britishland.com/governance
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Forward-looking statements

This Annial Report containg ceriain Torward-looking’ staternents Such
statements reflect cutrent views an, among other lhmgs, o markets,
activities, projec 1ions, objed hives and prospects Such torward looking
staternents can sometimes, but ot always, be dentified by their reference
ta a date or point i the future or the use of forward-locking' termimatogy,
including terims such as ‘believes’, estimates’, anticipates’ expedts,
forecasls, ‘intends’, due, plans’, projects’, goat’, autlook’, schedule
targel’, aun’, may. bhkely to’, will, would’, could , should” ot similar
expressians or in each case ther negative or other variations o1 cornpar able
termimaology By their nature, forward tooking statements mnvolve imherent
risks, assumplions and uncertainties because they relate to future events
and depend on circumstances which may of may not ocour and may bhe
beyond our ability 1o control or predict Forwaid-locking statements
should be regarded with cavtion as aclual resuits may differ imaterially
fromn those expressed in or imphied by such statements

lnportant factors that could cause actual resulls, performance or
achievements of British Land to differ matenally frem any outcomes or
results expressed o1 inplied by such forward-looking staternents include,
arntong other things la) general business and political, saqiat and
economic condiions globally, b) the consequences of the referendum

on Briam leaving the CU. o] industry and market trends including
demand in the property mvestment mar ket and property price volatibiyl,
13l competition, el the behaviour of olher market paiticipants, {f] changes
ingovernment palicies or faws and requiation which atfect British Land,
including in refation to the environment, health and salely and taxation

{in particular, in respect of Briish Land’s status as a Real Estate
Investrment Trustl, [g) intlation and consumer contidence, [h) labour
relations and work sloppages, Il natural disasters and adverse weather
conditions, fj) terrorism and acis of war, ik) Brinsh Land s overall business
strategy, risk appetite and investment choices its portfolio management,
{t) legat or other proceedings against or aftecting British Lang,

fin] deterior ation of rehabidity and secunity of its 1T infrastruclure,

In) changes 0 occupler demand and tenant default, fo) changes in finanaial
and equity inarkets including interest and exchange rate Huctuations,

Ip) changes in accounting practices and the interpretalion of accounting
standards and Iql the avadability and cost ot finance The Company’s
pricipal risks are described ingreater detail in the section of this Annual
Report headed Managing risk in delivering our strategy and principal risks
Forwatd-looking statements in this Apnual Report, or the Brilish L and
webstte or made subsequenily, which are attributable to Briish Land or
persons acting on its hehatt should therefore be construed in hght of all
such faclors

Information contained in this Annuat Report relating to Briush | and or its
share price or the yield an its shares are not gear antees of, and should nol
be retied upon as an indwator of, future performance, and nothing i thes
Annual Repart should be construed as a proht forecast or profit estimate
Any forward-looking staternents made by or on behalf of Bribsh L and
speak only as of the date they are made Such forward looking statemenis
are expressly qualified in their entirety by the factors referred to above and
no representation, assurance, guarantee or warranty 1s qiven in relation to
them [whether by Brinsh Land or any of its assouiates, Directors, officers,
ernpioyees or advise: s}, including as to their comipleteness, accuracy or
the basis on which they were prepared

Other than in accordanc e with our legal and requtatesy obligations
[including under the UK Financial Conduct Authority s Listing Rules,
isctosure and Transpar ency Rules and the Market Abuse Regutations),
British Land dees nolintend or undertake to updale or 1evise forward
looking statements to reflect any changes v British Land’s expectations
with regard thereto or any changes inntormation, events, conditions or
cereurnstances o which any such statement 1s based This decurnent shall
not, under any circumstances, cteate any implication that there has been
ne change in the business or affairs of British Land since the date ot this
docurnent or that the information contamed hereimn s correct as at any
time subsequent to this date
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